
 
 
 
 
 
 Date: 29 June 2006 
 
 
TO: 
 
 
TO: 

All Members of the Executive 
FOR ATTENDANCE 
 
All Other Members of the Council 
FOR INFORMATION 

  

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the EXECUTIVE to be 
held in the GUILDHALL, ABINGDON on Friday, 7th July, 2006 at 
2.30 pm. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Terry Stock 
Chief Executive  
 
 

Members are reminded of the provisions contained in Part 2 of the Local Code of Conduct, and Standing 
Order 34 regarding the declaration of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Open to the Public including the Press 
 

A large print version of this agenda is available.  Any background 
papers referred to may be inspected by prior arrangement. Contact 
Steve Culliford, Democratic Services Officer on telephone number 
(01235) 540307. 
 
  
Map and Vision   
 

(Page 11) 
 

A map showing the location of the venue for this meeting, together with a copy the Council Vision is 
attached.   
 
STANDING ITEMS  
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   
2. Minutes  
 

 
 

 To adopt and sign as a correct record the public minutes of the meeting of the Executive held 
on 2 June 2006, (previously circulated).   
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 
 

 To receive any declarations of Personal or Personal and Prejudicial Interests in respect of items 
on the agenda for this meeting.   
 
In accordance with Part 2 of the Local Code of Conduct and the provisions of Standing Order 
34, any Member with a personal interest must disclose the existence and nature of that interest 
to the meeting prior to the matter being debated.  Where that personal interest is also a 
prejudicial interest, then the Member must withdraw from the room in which the meeting is 
being held and not seek improperly to influence any decision about the matter unless he/she 
has obtained a dispensation from the Standards Committee. 
 

4. Urgent Business and Chair's Announcements  
 

 
 

 To receive notification of any matters which the Chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and to 
receive any announcements from the Chair. 
 

5. Statements and Petitions from the Public Under Standing Order 32  
 

 
 

 Any statements and/or petitions from the public under Standing Order 32 will be made or 
presented at the meeting.   
 

6. Questions from the Public Under Standing Order 32  
 

 
 

 Any questions from members of the public under Standing Order 32 will be asked at the 
meeting. 
 

7. Referral under the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules  

 

 (Pages 12 - 15) 
 

 Call-In of Executive Decision – Internal Audit Plan 2005/06 Outturn 
Improvements in the Internal Control Environment 
 
In the 2005/06 Internal Audit annual report, which was considered by the Executive on 5 May 
(ref. 287/05), the Assistant Director (Audit) highlighted three areas of the internal control 
environment which needed to be improved: 

(a) The full implementation of the Debt Strategy, which is essential to achieving and 
maintaining robust control over debt [owed to the Council] 

(b) The review of the Council's risk registers following the senior management 
restructure and the production of business continuity plans 

(c) Improvements in reconciliation of income and the resolution & ownership of 
discrepancies 

 
At its 18th May meeting the Scrutiny Committee recommended that the Executive receives a 
progress report on each of these areas.  The Executive agreed to this recommendation.   
 
A progress report is attached.  Members are asked to note progress made to date in context.  
The Chief Finance Officer is satisfied that the internal control environment is adequate.  As 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

more of the outstanding actions are completed, so the control environment will further improve.  
However, none of the outstanding actions are critical and should not displace service plan 
priorities.     
  
Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to consider the progress made to date and indicate, if necessary, whether 
further action is required.   
 

8. Referrals from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Other Committees  
 

 (Pages 16 - 18) 
 

 Notice of Motion – Referred from Council 17 May 2006 
 

At its meeting held on 17 May 2006. the Council received the following motion and referred it to 
the Executive for determination: 
 
Motion to be proposed by Councillor Peter Saunders, seconded by Councillor Robert Sharp: 
 
“This Council requests the Executive to reconsider how rural parishes can get fairer funding 
from the Vale for street cleansing and grass cutting”.  
 
This item was deferred at the last meeting of the Executive on 2 June 2006 to allow the 
collation of further information to assist the Executive.   
 
To receive and consider the attached briefing paper of the Strategic Director.   
 

9. Financial Monitoring  
 

 (Pages 19 - 21) 
 

 Members are requested to consider any significant budget variances and any requests for 
virement or permanent budget adjustment. 
 
 

KEY DECISIONS  
 
 

10. Forward Plan  
 

 (Pages 22 - 25) 
 

 To receive the Forward Plan containing Executive decisions to be taken from July to October 
2006.   
 
Recommendation 
 
that the Forward Plan be received.   
 
 

OTHER MATTERS  
 
 

11. Local Area Agreement  
 

 
 

 The Local Area Agreement for Oxfordshire was due to be signed by the County Council by 30 
June 2006.  An oral report will be made at the meeting.   
 

12. Revised Comprehensive Performance Assessment Action Plans  
 

 
 

 To note that the revised Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) Action Plans 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

(referred to at the last meeting in the Corporate Governance report) have been produced and 
are included in the Best Value Performance Plan.  The Best Value Performance Plan was due 
to be approved by 30 June 2006, under delegated authority.   
 

13. Securing Improvement - Audit Commission Report  
 

 (Pages 26 - 44) 
 

 To receive the attached Audit Commission report on Securing Improvement and invite the 
Strategic Director to bring back to a future meeting of the Executive a proposed response to its 
recommendations.   
 

14. Performance Management - Audit Commission Report  
 

 (Pages 45 - 60) 
 

 To receive the attached Audit Commission report on Performance Management and invite the 
Strategic Director to bring back to a future meeting of the Executive a proposed response to its 
recommendations.   
 

15. Affordable Housing Inspection  
 

 (Pages 61 - 64) 
 

 To receive and consider report 36/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary 
 
The Executive will be aware that the Housing Inspector carried out an inspection of the 
Council’s Affordable Housing Service during April 2006. 
 
The Council has now received the final report from the Housing Inspector and a copy is 
available on the web site. This report summarises the findings of this report, and sets out the 
key messages for the Council as it seeks to drive forward continuous improvement. 
 
The contact officer for this report is Paul Staines, Assistant Director (Housing & Community 
Safety) 01235-547621  
 
Recommendations 
 
That the Executive receive and note the findings of the Housing Inspector and  
 
Request that the Assistant Director (housing and community safety) ensure that the 
recommendations of the inspector are incorporated into the service development plans for the 
housing service 
 
Request that officers use the recommendations of the Inspector to drive service   developments 
across the Authority as part of the Council’s drive towards an improved CPA rating. 
 
 

16. Financial Out-turn 2005/06  
 

 (Pages 65 - 84) 
 

 To receive and consider report 37/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary  
 
The report details, in accordance with the Corporate Planning Framework, the outturn position for 
2005/06, subject to audit.   
 
The Contact Officer for this report is Steve Bishop, Strategic Director (& Chief Finance Officer), 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

(01235 540332). 
 
Recommendations  
 
Members are requested to: 
 
Note the overall outturn position of the Council as well as the outturn of individual service areas 
and cost centres; and, 
 
Take into account the impact of the outturn position in the Integrated Service and Financial 
Planning process when setting the 2006/07 Revised Budget and 2007/08 Original Budget. 
 

17. Vale of White Horse Local Plan to 2011 - Supplementary Planning Guidance  
 

 
 

 To receive and consider report 27/06 of the Strategic and Local Planning Advisory Group and 
the recommendations of the Development Control Committee.   
 
MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO BRING TO THIS MEETING THE SUPPLEMENTARY 
PAPERS SENT WITH THE DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA FOR THE 
MEETING HELD ON 3 JULY 2006.  THIS DOCUMENT WAS SEPARATELY STAPLED 
FROM THE MAIN AGENDA.   
 

18. Didcot Growth Point Bid  
 

 
 

 South Oxfordshire District Council has made an initial submission to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government expressing interest in the designation of Didcot as a 
growth point.  Designation could unlock additional funding for services and infrastructure which 
South Oxfordshire District Council feel would assist in making Didcot a more sustainable and 
self-contained community.  South Oxfordshire has not yet formally decided that it wishes to 
seek growth area status for Didcot as councillors do not want to commit themselves to such a 
significant decision without understanding the scale of Government investment that might be 
available.  The submission is caveated by two provisos that South Oxfordshire District Council 
will want to see met before taking a formal decision.  The provisos are: 
i) any decision to expand Didcot above the current level of growth proposed in the South 

East Plan must go through the proper planning process; and  
ii) the level of investment offered by Government must be sufficient to enable real inroads 

to be made into delivering the infrastructure that Didcot needs. 
 
An increase of 1,500 dwellings above the current allocation of 3,000 dwellings for Didcot is 
proposed to meet the criteria laid down by Government for being designated as a new growth 
point. 
 
Clearly this Council will need to be involved in the growth point bid.  At this stage it is not 
appropriate for this Council to say whether it supports the growth point bid or not as more 
information is needed as to what it would involve.  However, it is necessary for officers of this 
Council to work with officers of South Oxfordshire District Council to clarify the nature of the 
growth bid and the potential impact of the proposed increased levels of growth.  It is also 
suggested that members of the two Councils may wish to discuss together the implications of 
such a significant decision.  Nevertheless, the ultimate decision of whether to support the 
growth point bid must remain with each District Council separately. 
 
Recommendation 
 
that authority be delegated to the Deputy Director (Planning and Community Strategy) in 
consultation with the Executive portfolio holder for planning to set up an appropriate mechanism 
at officer and member levels to work with South Oxfordshire District Council to assess the 
implications of making a growth point bid for Didcot to the Department of Communities and 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

Local Government.   
 

19. Draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West 2006-2026  
 

 (Pages 85 - 101) 
 

 (Wards Affected: Craven; Faringdon and The Coxwells; Shrivenham; Stanford; )    

 To receive and consider report 30/06 of the Deputy Director (Planning and Community 
Strategy).   
 
Introduction and Report Summary 
 
The draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West, (the South West Plan) has been published 
for consultation purposes. The document looks ahead to 2026, and will supersede the current 
Regional Planning Guidance for the South West (RPG10). Although the Vale is not in the South 
West, the Vale’s western boundary is co-terminous with part of the south west’s regional 
boundary. Although in the area covered by the South West Plan, the town of Swindon is just ‘over 
the border’ and therefore policies in the South West Plan relating to the Borough and its 
surrounding area are of particular significance to this Council.  
 
The documents published for consultation include; the draft Regional Spatial Strategy itself, an 
Implementation Plan; a Strategic Sustainability Assessment; and a Pre-Submission Consultation 
Statement.   
 
These documents are currently held in the Planning Strategy team. Please contact Nick Burroughs 
or Katie Barrett if you wish to inspect them.   
 
The consultation period runs from 6 June to 30 August 2006.   
 
In summary, Swindon is identified in the South West Plan as one of 21 ‘Strategically Significant 
Cities and Towns’.  Relevant policies are included to, among other things; realise and develop the 
role of Swindon as a service and employment centre providing a high quality lifestyle for residents 
within and adjoining the town (SR1), ensure that social, cultural and educational requirements for 
the Swindon sub-region are provided for (SR7), maximise economic opportunities within the 
Swindon travel to work area (SR8), make the best use of land for development by the provision of 
a strategic urban extension on the eastern side of Swindon to the north and south of the A420 
(SR9).   
 
This report summarises key elements of the proposed strategy and outlines suggested responses 
to the South West Regional Assembly.   
 
The Contact Officer for this report is Nick Burroughs, Planning Strategy team, tel. 01235 520202 
extn 496. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Strategic and Local Plan Advisory Group recommends the Executive to 
make representations on the South West Plan set out as comments in bold in Section 4 of this 
report.   
 

20. Planning Delivery Grant  
 

 (Pages 102 - 107) 
 

 To receive and consider report 38/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary 
 
On 5 May the Executive was advised of the details of the 2006/7 Planning Delivery Grant (PDG) 
awarded to the Council, by the then Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) as announced on 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

30 March.  A further report was promised to bring forward spending proposals following discussion 
with the Executive’s Planning Portfolio Holder.  These discussions have now taken place and this 
report provides a brief overview of the current PDG position and puts forward proposals which 
would commit the remaining uncommitted grant.  Delegated authority is sought for the Deputy 
Director (Planning & Community Strategy) in consultation with the Planning Portfolio Holder, to 
take forward and implement the proposals. 
 
The Contact Officer for this report is Rodger Hood (Deputy Director, Planning & Community 
Strategy) (01235 540340). 
 
Recommendations  
 
The Executive is recommended to: 
 
consider and endorse the proposals for planning delivery grant spending as set out in this report; 
 
delegate authority to the Deputy Director (Planning & Community Strategy) in consultation with the 
Planning Portfolio holder to take forward and implement the proposals ensuring that spending 
remains within the available budget.   
 

21. Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy  
 

 (Pages 108 - 121) 
 

 To receive and consider report 39/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary  
 
This report recommends the adoption of a Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy 
to guide the Council’s enforcement work on envirocrimes. This will be a working document 
subject to consultation and finalization in September 2006. In pursuit of this, the report 
recommends the adoption of a charging regime for Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and other 
actions to allow their implementation from September 2006 onwards. It also indicates the 
offences for priority action. 
 
The report also recommends consolidation of already agreed envirocrimes policies into a 
consolidated Environmental Health Enforcement Policy for consultation and finalization in 
September 2006 
 
The contact officer for this report is David Stevens, Assistant Director (Environmental Health) 
telephone 01235 540378 
 
Recommendations  
 
(a) that Members approve the draft Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy 

attached at Appendix 1. 
 
(b)  that Members recommend to Council the Charging Scheme for FPNs as attached at 

Appendix 3 
 
(c) that Members note the level of existing support for a Local Environmental Quality 

Enforcement Strategy outlined in Appendix 2 and agree that the proposed route for 
consultation and engagement should be to: 

 
(i) apply the draft Strategy as an interim strategy pending consultation  
 
(i) address the outcome of public consultation over July and August 2006 
 
(ii) finalise the Strategy in September 2006 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

 
(d) that Members approve the approach to enforcement policy changes, namely to 

 
(i) consolidate previously agreed FPN criteria and Fly-Tipping prosecution 

presumption into the Environmental Health Enforcement Policy  
 
(ii)  consult on the consolidated Environmental Health Enforcement  Policy  
 
(iii)  bring the Environmental Health Enforcement Policy to September Council  

 
(e) that Members note the proposed implementation and priorities for FPNs from 

September 2006 after a period of public awareness raising 
 
(f) that Members note that with existing resources it will be possible to provide a low level 

reactive response to incidents but not to extend this to patrolling or surveillance 
activities and that both the level of activity and related resource needs will be kept under 
review.   

 
22. Tree Policy  
 

 (Pages 122 - 158) 
 

 To receive and consider report 40/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary  
 
The Government recognizes the value of trees and the need to plan for a more sustainable 
future so it encourages Local Authorities to produce long term plans for the care of its trees. 
This policy document is our response to this encouragement and it sets out a series of actions 
that will help maintain and increase the number of trees within the Vale. 
 
The contact officer for this report is George Reade, Landscape Officer (Arboriculture) 01235 
520202 x 504.   
 
Recommendations  
 
that the Council adopts the policy document.   
 

23. Viability of the Direct Services Organisation  
 

 (Pages 159 - 166) 
 

 To receive and consider report 41/06 of the Strategic Director.   
 
Introduction and Report Summary 
 
This report relates to the Direct Services Organisation (DSO) performance and financial review 
and its viability as a Council service. 
 
It also relates to Address Management which has been integrated into the DSO administration. 
 
The Contact Officer for this report is Bill Farrar, Deputy Director (Commercial Services), Tel: 
01235 540202 ext 356 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Executive is recommended to: 
 
Recognise the high performance of the DSO during the past 12 months and its continuing 
improvement. 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

 
Endorse the continuation of the DSO subject to its ongoing financial viability and achievement 
of its Business Plan. 
 

24. Gambling Act 2005 – Draft Statement of Gambling Policy  
 

 (Pages 167 - 169) 
 

 Appended to this agenda is the covering report 35/06 of the Assistant Director (Environmental 
Health) to the Licensing Committee.  The Committee met on the 5th July to consider the report in 
detail and make recommendations to Council.  The covering report is on this agenda for the 
Executive's information only.   
 
The Gambling Bill was introduced into Parliament on 18th October 2004. Following 
consideration by the House of Commons and the House of Lords, it received Royal Assent on 
7th April 2005, and became the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 will modernise gambling legislation, which is currently regulated by the 
Gaming Board, local magistrates and local authorities. The existing three Acts, the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act 1963; the Gaming Act 1968; and the Lotteries and Amusements Act 
1976 will be consolidated into a single Act. These will all be repealed in September 2007.   

 
The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the scope of the Gambling Act.  It also sets 
out a programme to develop a draft statement of policy, to consult upon its contents and to 
publish a final statement in line with legal requirements. 
 
Recommendation 
 

Members are requested to note the scope and likely implications of the Gambling Act 2005 and 
the proposals for drafting, consultation and finalisation.   
 

25. Green Travel Plan  
 

 (Pages 170 - 179) 
 

 Attached is the final version of the Green Travel Plan and Members' endorsement is sought.   
 
Recommendations 
 
(a) that the Green travel Plan be adopted;  
 
(b) that authority be delegated to the Deputy Director (Planning and Community Strategy) 

to make any minor editorial amendments; and  
 
(c) that authority be delegated to the Deputy Director (Planning and Community Strategy) in 

consultation with the Executive Portfolio Holder with responsibility for the Green Travel 
Plan to approve arrangements for its launch.   

 
26. Exclusion of the Public, including the Press  
 

 
 

 The Chair to move that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public, including the press, be excluded from the remainder of the meeting to prevent the 
disclosure to them of exempt information, as defined in Section 100(I) and Part 1 of Schedule 
12A, as amended, to the Act when the following items are considered:- 
 
Item 27  Minutes 

(Category 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information.) 

 



Executive  Friday, 7th July, 2006 
   

Item 28  Energy Contracts 
(Category 3) 

 
Item 29 Property Matters 

(Category 3) 
 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION UNDER SECTION 100A(4) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972  
 

 
 

STANDING ITEMS  
 
 

27. Minutes  
 

 
 

 To adopt and sign as a correct record the Exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held 
on 2 June 2006, (previously circulated). 
 
 

OTHER MATTERS  
 
 

28. Energy Contracts  
 

 (Page 180) 
 

 To receive and consider the attached briefing note of the Assistant Director (Estates).   
 

29. Property Matters  
 

 (Pages 181 - 185) 
 

 To consider any property matters.   
 

 
 



Agenda Annex

Page 11



Im
p

ro
v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i

n
 t

h
e
 I
n

te
rn

a
l 
C

o
n

tr
o

l 
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
 P

ro
g

re
s
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

 t
o

 E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
 7

th
 J

u
ly

 2
0
0
6
 

  
A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
 2

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0
6
 

(a
) 

T
h
e
 f

u
ll 

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 D

e
b
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 e

s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
to

 a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 a

n
d
 m

a
in

ta
in

in
g
 r

o
b
u
s
t 

c
o
n
tr

o
l 
o
v
e
r 

d
e
b
t 
[o

w
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il]

 
 

i.
 

 
F

o
rm

a
l 
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
o
f 

th
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
(S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 (

J
u
ly

 2
0
0
5
) 

ii.
 

 
T

ra
in

in
g

 o
f 
k
e
y
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 
S

D
 (

S
B

) 
D

o
n
e
 (

A
u
g

u
s
t 
2
0
0
5
) 

iii
. 

 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 c

a
m

e
 i
n
to

 f
o
rc

e
 o

n
 1

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
6
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

iv
. 

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

: 
 C

a
s
h
ie

rs
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 d
ir
e
c
t 

d
e
b
it
 a

rr
a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 a

n
d
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 R

a
te

 p
a
y
e
rs

 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 a

n
d
 A

p
ri
l.
 

D
e
p
u
ty

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
(O

D
 &

 S
) 

D
o
n
e
 

v
. 

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 2

: 
 P

ro
m

in
e
n
tl
y
 d

is
p
la

y
 d

ir
e
c
t 

d
e
b
it
 f

o
rm

s
 i
n
 c

a
s
h
 o

ff
ic

e
s
 

D
D

 (
O

D
 &

 S
) 

D
o
n
e
 

v
i.
  

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 3

: 
 P

u
b
lis

h
 d

ir
e
c
t 

d
e
b
it
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l 

fe
a
tu

re
 a

n
d
 f

o
rm

 i
n
 '
V

a
le

 
V

ie
w

s
' 

D
D

 (
O

D
 &

 S
) 

o
/s

 

v
ii.

  
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 4

: 
 T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
liv

e
 d

e
b
ts

 f
o
r 

b
e
d
 &

 b
re

a
k
fa

s
t 

a
n
d
 t

e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 

re
n
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 n

e
w

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
n
ts

 s
y
s
te

m
 

S
D

 
(S

B
) 

&
 

A
s
s
is

ta
n
t 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
(H

o
u
s
in

g
) 

D
o
n
e
 

v
iii

. 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 5

: 
 M

o
n
th

ly
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

y
s
te

m
 d

e
b
t 
re

p
o
rt

s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

fo
r 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

 
A

D
 (

H
o
u
s
in

g
) 

o
/s

 

ix
. 

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 6

: 
 I

n
v
o
ic

e
 r

e
q

u
is

it
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
n
t 

b
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
s
 t

o
 F

in
a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
ic

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 -

 a
ll 

w
it
h
in

 5
 w

o
rk

in
g

 d
a
y
s
 

A
ll 

B
e
in

g
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 

b
y
 

m
o
s
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

a
re

a
s
. 

 
S

D
 

(S
B

) 
a
d
d
re

s
s
in

g
 

n
o
n
-c

o
m

p
ly

in
g
 

a
re

a
s
. 

x
. 

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

7
: 

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

a
re

a
s
 

to
 

c
h
e
c
k
 

b
a
d
 

d
e
b
to

r 
re

c
o
rd

 
a
n
d
 

c
e
a
s
e
/w

it
h
h
o
ld

 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

g
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

u
n
ti
l 

d
e
b
t 

is
 

re
p
a
id

 
(w

h
e
re

 
s
ta

tu
to

ri
ly

 p
e
rm

it
te

d
 t

o
 d

o
 s

o
) 

A
ll 

o
/s

 (
s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
s
 t

o
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
 

th
e
ir
 
o
w

n
 
b
a
d
 
d
e
b
to

r 
re

c
o
rd

s
 

u
s
in

g
 

th
e
 

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 

d
e
b
t 

re
p
o
rt

s
 

a
n
d
 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

w
ri
te

-o
ff

s
) 

x
i.
  

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 8

: 
 A

g
re

e
 p

ro
m

p
t 

p
a
y
m

e
n
t 

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 
s
e
c
to

r 
b
o
d
ie

s
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

o
/s

 
(s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

a
rr

e
a
rs

 
e
v
id

e
n
c
e
d
 

in
 

F
e
b
 

0
6

 
a
u
d
it
 

te
s
ti
n
g

) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 12



 
A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
 2

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0
6
 

x
ii.

  
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 9

: 
 S

u
n
d
ry

 D
e
b
to

r 
S

e
c
ti
o
n
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 9

8
%

 r
e
c
o
v
e
ry

 r
a
te

 f
o
r 

liv
e
 d

e
b
ts

 (
e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

o
v
e
rp

a
y
m

e
n
ts

) 
S

D
 (

S
B

) 
N

o
t 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 

to
 

d
a
te

. 
 

C
o
n
tr

a
c
tu

a
l 

re
m

e
d
ie

s
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 
w

h
e
n

 
s
u
n
d
ry

 
d
e
b
ts

 
tr

a
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t
o
 C

a
p
it
a
 

x
iii

. 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

0
: 

 P
ro

d
u
c
e
 m

o
n
th

ly
 o

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 d

e
b
t 

re
p
o
rt

s
 f

o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e

 
a
re

a
s
 t
o
 c

h
e
c
k
 a

n
d
 t

o
 w

it
h
h
o
ld

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

a
s
 p

e
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 7

) 
S

D
 (

S
B

) 
O

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 
d
e
b
t 

re
p
o
rt

s
 
a
re

 
s
e
n
t 

to
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

a
re

a
s
 

fo
r 

c
h
e
c
k
in

g
. 

 
N

o
 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 

o
f 

n
o
n
-c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
. 

x
iv

. 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

1
: 

 O
ld

 l
o

w
 v

a
lu

e
 d

e
b
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 w

ri
tt

e
n
 o

ff
 a

n
d
 c

re
d
it
 b

a
la

n
c
e
s
 

to
 b

e
 t
ra

n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 o

u
t 
o
f 

liv
e
 d

e
b
ts

 
S

D
 (

S
B

) 
D

o
n
e
 

x
v
.  

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
c
ti
o
n
 
1
2
: 

 
S

h
o
rt

e
n
 t

h
e
 
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 
p
a
y
m

e
n
t 

te
rm

s
 t

o
 
1
4
 

d
a
y
s
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

x
v
i.
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

3
: 

 E
n
g

a
g

e
 a

n
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 

a
g

e
n
c
y
 t

o
 t

ra
c
e
 d

e
b
to

rs
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e
 

le
ft

 t
h
e
 a

re
a
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

x
v
ii.

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

4
: 

 E
n
g
a
g

e
 a

n
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
d
e
b
t 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 a
g

e
n
c
y
 t

o
 r

e
c
o
v
e
r 

o
ld

 
d
e
b
ts

 
S

D
 (

S
B

) 
D

o
n
e
 -

 o
v
e
r 

£
5
0
k
 r

e
c
o
v
e
re

d
 t

o
 

d
a
te

  
x
v
iii

.
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

1
5
: 

 
P

ro
d
u
c
e
 

m
o
n
th

ly
 

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 

o
v
e
rp

a
y
m

e
n
t 

re
p
o
rt

s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
a
tt

a
c
h
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

x
ix

. 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

6
: 

 I
n
s
e
rt

 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

o
f 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

th
e
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
to

 d
e
d
u
c
t 
fr

o
m

 s
a
la

ry
 a

n
y
 o

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 d

e
b
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

&
 H

e
a
d
 o

f 
H

R
 

o
/s

 

x
x
.  

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

7
: 

 P
ro

d
u
c
e
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
p
ri
n
to

u
ts

 o
f 

w
ri
tt

e
n
-o

ff
 d

e
b
ts

 f
o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e

 
a
re

a
s
 

to
 

c
h
e
c
k
. 

 
A

n
d
, 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

a
re

a
s
 

to
 

c
h
e
c
k
 

w
ri
tt

e
n
-o

ff
 

d
e
b
t 

re
c
o
rd

s
 

w
it
h
h
o
ld

in
g

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

g
o
o
d
s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 u

n
ti
l 

d
e
b
t 

is
 r

e
p
a
id

 (
w

h
e
re

 s
ta

tu
to

ri
ly

 
p
e
rm

it
te

d
 t
o
 d

o
 s

o
) 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

 A
ll 

o
/s

 

x
x
i.
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
c
ti
o
n
 
1
8
: 

 
P

ro
d
u
c
e
 
w

o
rk

 
in

s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
s
 
c
o
v
e
ri
n
g

 
th

e
 
re

q
u
is

it
io

n
 
o
f 

in
v
o

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 i
s
s
u
in

g
 o

f 
d
e
b
to

r 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 
A

ll 
D

o
n
e
 

x
x
ii.

 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 1

9
: 

 I
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 u

s
e
fu

l 
lo

c
a
l 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i

n
d
ic

a
to

rs
 t

o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

d
e
b
t 
re

c
o
v
e
ry

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

x
x
iii

.
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
: 

 M
o
n
th

ly
 d

e
b
t 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

 r
e
p
o
rt

s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

e
n
t 

to
 t
h
e
 S

D
 

(S
B

) 
fo

r 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

 
S

u
n
d
ry

 D
e
b
to

r 
S

e
c
ti
o
n
 

D
o
n
e
 

Page 13



 
A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
 2

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0
6
 

x
x
iv

.
R

e
v
ie

w
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 a

ft
e
r 

6
 m

o
n
th

s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 s

u
g

g
e
s
te

d
 b

y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
s
 a

n
d
, 

if
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

, 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
 c

h
a
n
g

e
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

o
/s

 (
p
la

n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

O
c
t 

0
6
) 

x
x
v
. 

In
s
tr

u
c
t 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

s
ta

ff
 t

o
 t

a
k
e
 m

o
re

 p
ro

a
c
ti
v
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 (

a
s
 p

e
r 

p
a
ra

 4
.2

.7
 o

f 
in

te
rn

a
l 
a
u
d
it
 r

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 S

u
n
d
ry

 D
e
b
to

rs
) 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

o
/s

 

(b
) 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 r

is
k
 r

e
g

is
te

rs
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

e
n
io

r 
m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 p

ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 p

la
n
s
 

 
i.
 

 
T

h
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 r
is

k
 r

e
g

is
te

r 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 M
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

G
ro

u
p
 t

w
ic

e
 a

 y
e
a
r 

S
D

 (
T

S
) 

D
o
n
e
 (

la
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 M

a
y
 0

6
) 

ii.
 

 
R

is
k
 r

e
g

is
te

rs
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
a
lig

n
e
d
 u

n
d
e
r 

n
e
w

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 b

y
 3

1
 A

u
g
 

0
6
 

S
e
n
io

r 
M

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
T

e
a
m

 
o
/s

 

iii
. 

 
T

h
e
 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 

n
o
te

s
 

a
n
d
 

te
m

p
la

te
 

fo
r 

th
e
 

m
o
n
th

ly
 

A
s
s
t 

D
ir
e
c
to

r-
P

o
rt

fo
lio

 
H

o
ld

e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

s
 
s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 
a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 
to

 
in

c
lu

d
e
 
a
 
'w

a
tc

h
in

g
 
b
ri
e
f'
 
o
f 

ri
s
k
 

re
g

is
te

rs
. 

P
ri
n
c
ip

a
l 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

O
ff

ic
e
r 

(P
P

M
O

) 

D
o
n
e
 

iv
. 

 
R

is
k
 
re

g
is

te
rs

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 
k
e
p
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 
a
t 

th
e
 
m

o
n
th

ly
 
A

s
s
t 

D
ir
e
c
to

r-
P

o
rt

fo
lio

 H
o
ld

e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
. 

A
ll 

D
o
n
e
  

v
. 

 
T

h
e
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 n

o
te

s
 a

n
d
 t

e
m

p
la

te
 f

o
r 

th
e
 h

a
lf
-y

e
a
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 r

e
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
 a

n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
 t

o
 i

n
c
lu

d
e
 a

 f
o
rm

a
l 

re
v
ie

w
 o

f 
ri
s
k
 r

e
g

is
te

rs
. 

P
P

M
O

 
D

o
n
e
 

v
i.
  

R
is

k
 r

e
g

is
te

rs
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 f

o
rm

a
lly

 r
e
v
ie

w
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 A

D
/D

D
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 h

a
lf
-

y
e
a
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 r

e
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
re

p
o
rt

. 
A

ll 
D

o
n
e
 
(a

s
 
e
v
id

e
n
c
e
d
 
b
y
 
A

p
ri
l 

0
6
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
) 

v
ii.

  
B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 -

 a
s
 a

n
 i

n
te

ri
m

 m
e
a
s
u
re

 p
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 r
is

k
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 d

is
tr

ic
t’
s
 a

b
ili

ty
 t

o
 r

e
s
p
o
n
d
 t

o
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
m

a
jo

r 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
ty

 
E

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 

P
la

n
n
in

g
 

O
ff

ic
e
r 

(E
P

O
) 

D
o
n
e
 (

N
o
v
 0

5
) 

v
iii

. 
A

p
p
o
in

t 
E

P
O

 A
s
s
is

ta
n
t 

 
D

e
p
u
ty

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
(C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
) 

o
/s

 

ix
. 

 
F

u
lly

 
a
d
d
re

s
s
 

th
e
 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 
o
f 

th
e
 

C
iv

il 
C

o
n
ti
n
g

e
n
c
ie

s
 A

c
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 o

w
n
 d

is
a
s
te

r 
re

c
o
v
e
ry

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 i
n
 

lia
is

o
n
 w

it
h
 d

e
p
u
ty

 d
ir
e
c
to

rs
. 

D
D

 (
C

S
) 

o
/s

 

(c
) 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 r

e
c
o
n
c
ili

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
in

c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 &

 o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 

d
is

c
re

p
a
n
c
ie

s
 

 
i.
 

 
In

tr
o
d
u
c
e
 'g

lo
b
a
l' 

b
a
n
k
 r

e
c
o
n
c
ili

a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

 m
o
n
th

ly
 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

D
o
n
e
 

Page 14



 
A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
 2

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0
6
 

ii.
 

 
In

tr
o
d
u
c
e
 m

o
n
th

ly
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 C

h
ie

f 
F

in
a
n
c
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

to
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

a
n
d
 s

ig
n
 o

ff
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 k

e
y
 r

e
c
o
n
c
ili

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
: 

•
 

B
a
n
k
 r

e
c
o
n
c
ili

a
ti
o
n
 

•
 

C
a
s
h
 b

o
o
k
 

•
 

M
is

c
e
lla

n
e
o
u
s
 c

a
s
h
 

•
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 c

a
s
h
 

•
 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 R

a
te

s
 c

a
s
h
 

•
 

S
u
n
d
ry

 D
e
b
to

rs
 

•
 

M
o
rt

g
a
g

e
s
 

•
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
n
ts

 

•
 

T
re

a
s
u
ry

 m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
 

•
 

T
o
p
 6

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 s

tr
e
a
m

s
 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 

M
a
n
a
g

e
r 

&
 

S
D

 (
S

B
) 

D
o
n
e
 

iii
. 

 
T

h
e
 c

a
s
h
 o

ff
ic

e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
a
la

n
c
e
 t

h
e
ir
 t

a
k
in

g
s
 o

f 
c
a
s
h
 a

n
d
 c

h
e
q

u
e
s
 e

a
c
h
 d

a
y
 t

o
 

th
e
ir
 r

e
c
e
ip

ti
n
g

 s
y
s
te

m
. 

 C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
l 

u
n
d
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

v
e
rs

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 l

o
o
k
e
d
 a

t 
in

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 

c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y
, 

w
it
h
 p

e
rh

a
p
s
 m

o
re

 t
ra

in
in

g
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
. 

 D
a
ily

 b
a
la

n
c
e
s
 

w
ill

 h
e

lp
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 m

o
n
e
y
 s

e
n
t 

to
 t

h
e
 b

a
n
k
 i
s
 c

o
rr

e
c
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 c

o
rr

e
c
t 

a
m

o
u
n
t 
a
p
p
e
a
rs

 o
n
 t

h
e
 b

a
n
k
 s

ta
te

m
e
n
t.
 

(A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r'
s
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t

o
 M

a
y
 0

5
 M

a
in

 A
c
c
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 a

u
d
it
 a

c
ti
o
n
 

p
la

n
) 

D
D

 (
O

D
 &

 S
) 

o
/s

 

iv
. 

 
P

ro
v
id

e
 f

u
ll 

y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g

 p
a
p
e
rs

 f
o
r 

th
e
 C

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 F

u
n
d
 a

n
d
 C

o
n
tr

o
l 

A
c
c
o
u
n
t 
re

c
o
n
c
ili

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
o
r.

 
A

c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

(T
o
 

b
e
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

a
t 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

a
u
d
it
 -

 J
u
ly

/A
u
g
 0

6
) 

   

Page 15



  Page 1 of 3 

Briefing Paper to 7 July 2006 Executive Meeting 
 

Street Cleansing across the District 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Executive wishes to review the arrangements for street cleansing in light of Councillor Peter 

Saunders' proposed motion to Council. 
2. This briefing paper summarises: 

• the Council's statutory obligations 

• the current cleansing arrangements undertaken by Cleanaway on the Council's behalf 

• recent Council policy on grant aid to parishes for street cleansing 
 
What is covered under 'street cleansing'? 
3. The street cleansing service covers: 

• Litter Collection from Relevant Land i.e. streets, pavements, alleyways, public car parks, 
lay bys, verges, traffic islands, cycleways, subways, bridleways and other public areas 
under the Council’s control. Note: Parks & open spaces are dealt with under the 
Grounds Maintenance services contract, for which the DD (Procurement & Contract 
Management) has responsibilities. 

• Litter Bin Emptying 

• The Sweeping of kerbed highways 

• Pavement Sweeping 

• Seasonal and routine leaf-fall removal 

• The clearance of fly-tips from Relevant Land 

• The removal of dead animals from Relevant Land 

• The emptying of dog waste bins. 

• The collection of litter on fast roads (including the A420 and the A34 trunk road). 
 
Statutory Obligations 
4. Through the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse, the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

requires Councils to keep land under their control clean to specific standards as illustrated by 
photographs contained in the Code. Councils do not have any discretion as to whether they will 
meet the Code’s requirements. 

5. Councils are required to categorise land into zones, dependant on the density of population and 
usage of the land. The speed of response specified by the Code is determined by category of 
Zone and the extent of defacement by litter. The extent of defacement is measured in grades A to 
D where Grade A is free from litter and detritus and Grade D is heavily defaced. If a Council fails 
to achieve the response times, there is a potential for the matter to be referred to a Magistrate’s 
Court. 

6. Below is a brief description of the Zone Categories applicable to the Vale:   
Category 1 Zones Town Centres, Shopping Centres, Busy Public Places 
Category 2 Zones High Density Residential Areas 
Category 3 Zones Low Density Residential Areas 
Category 7 Zones Rural Roads 

 
The current Contract Specification 
7. Under the terms of the Contract awarded to Cleanaway Limited, the Council expects its statutory 

obligations to be fully met. This is achieved by a combination of core inputs and responsive 
actions. 

8. The fundamental core inputs are: 
Zones 1 & 2, and Shopping Areas – Cleanse to Grade A standard (including emptying of 
litter bins) by 8am every day except Christmas Day. 
Zone 3 – Cleanse to Grade A standard once per week. 
Zone 7 – Cleanse to Grade A standard once every eight weeks. 

9. Should the standard in any area fall below Grade A, Cleanaway are required to meet the following 
response times: 

Agenda Item 8

Page 16



  Page 2 of 3 

Zone Grade Restore to 
Grade A  

Category 1 D 
C 
B 

1 hour 
3 hrs 
6 hrs 

Category 2 D 
C 
B 

3 hrs 
6 hrs 
12 hrs 

Shopping 
Areas 

D 
C 
B 

3 hrs 
6 hrs 
12 hrs 

Category 3 D 
C 
B 

6 hrs 
12 hrs 
1 week 

Other Areas 
(Category 7) 

D 
C 

5 days 
2 wks 

 
10. Plans illustrating the various zones in the District will be provided at the Executive meeting.  

These zones have remained unchanged since the Environmental Protection Act Code of Practice 
was introduced in 1990.  They indicate the following: 

Zones 1 & 2 Abingdon, Wantage and Faringdon 
Zone 3  Abingdon, Wantage, Faringdon, Grove and Botley 
Zone 7  All other Relevant Land across the District including parishes  

 
Cleanaway Resources & Methods 
11. Cleanaway deploy various resources in order to meet the requirements of the Specification. 

These comprise: a number of pedestrian operatives with barrows; a pedestrian-operated 
mechanical pavement sweeper; mobile crews with vans and large mechanical sweepers. 

12. These resources tend to concentrate of the Town Centre areas (Category 1 & 2 Zones) to 
achieve the standards required in those areas first thing every morning after which they disperse 
to undertake schedule cleaning task in residential and rural areas. The pedestrian operatives 
concentrate on the Category 1 & 2 Zones throughout the working day to ensure that required 
standards are maintained.  

 
Recent Council Policy on Parish Street Cleansing 
13. In order to provide an enhanced standard of cleanliness, compared to that set out for zone 7 

Relevant Land above, a number of Parish Councils employ their own staff to carry out additional 
street cleansing activities.  In the past the Council has recognised the contribution made by these 
Parish Councils to the District's general cleanliness levels by inviting the Councils to apply for 
grant aid. 

14. There is no formal Council policy on parish street cleansing or grant aid.  The Council's approach 
in recent years is set out below: 
2003/04 
Area Committees can award grants out of their community grants budget of 50% of the staff costs 
incurred by the Parish Council. 
2004/05 
Area Committees can award grants out of their community grants budget of 50% of the staff costs 
incurred by the Parish Council. 
2005/06 
Area Committees had reduced community grant funding following a £100k budget saving.  Other 
than the following two exceptions, no change to the previous approach: 

West Area Committee reduced the limit to 25% of the staff costs incurred by the 
Parish Council. 

North East Area Committee imposed a £1,000 grant limit instead of a percentage. 
2006/07 
Other than the following three exceptions, no change to the previous approach: 

West Area Committee Grants limited to 50% of the first £500 cost; 25% for the 
remainder 

North East Area Committee 50% limit up to a maximum grant of £500 

Page 17



  Page 3 of 3 

South East Area Committee 40%limit, applying an hourly wage rate of £6 
 

Grant Aid 
15. The following grant aid has been awarded by Area Committees to Parish Councils for street 

cleansing in recent years:   
 2003/04      

£ 
2004/05   £ 2005/06        

£ 
2006/07 

(part year)       
£ 

West Area Committee 5,880 6,669 3,400 4,335 
North East Area Committee 1,118 1,657 2,417 1,801 
South East Area 
Committee 

2,234 2,590 2,566 1,946 

Abingdon Area Committee 344 652 652 545 
Total 9,576 11,568 9,035 8,627 

 
16. The Council has been unusual in providing grant aid to Parish Councils for street cleansing.  

Having spoken to other Waste officers, it is clear that most district councils focus on their 
statutory duty, which directs more frequent cleansing to the areas most in need, i.e. urban 
centres.  If individual Parish Councils choose to supplement the district council’s statutory 
service with an enhanced service, they are expected to meet the cost themselves. 

 
Conclusions 
17. The Council complies with its statutory obligations. 
18. There are uniform cleanliness standards enforced across the District.  The objective is to 

maintain the highest Grade A standard across all zones.  If an area falls to Grade C or D the 
Council takes action to bring it back up to Grade A.  The main differential between Zone A 
urban centres and Zone 7 parish areas is the frequency of planned cleansing and the response 
times for reactive cleansing – which reflect practical constraints and the need to provide a cost-
effective service. 

19. The Council’s support to Parish Councils for street cleansing is unusual.  No other District 
Councils are known to do so, for example neither West Oxfordshire nor the City Council do so 
(Cherwell is being checked).   

20. Each Parish Council has the authority to make its own locally-determined street cleansing 
arrangements and set its own standards.  In accordance with the principle of local accountability 
the cost of locally determined street cleansing should fall entirely on the Parish Council. 

21. Notwithstanding the above, Area Committees have the authority to provide discretionary grants 
for any purpose, including street cleansing.  However, the spread of grant applications and 
consequently the cost of such grants do not fall equally on all Area Committees.  Therefore, if 
any Area Committee chooses to support Parish Council street cleansing it reduces its available 
funds for other grant purposes. 

 
Options 
22. Status quo - continue the present scheme whereby Area Committees have the discretion to 

award grants for street cleansing purposes out of their grants budget. 
23. No further support - The Council could focus on its statutory duties.  Clear and unambiguous 

local accountability should be restored by withdrawing all support for Parish Council street 
cleansing, allowing individual Parish Councils to determine and finance their own arrangements.  
Street cleansing would no longer be eligible for Area Committee grants.   

24. Alternatively, if the Council wishes to continue supporting Parish Council street cleansing it 
could centralise street cleansing grants so that each Area Committee’s available grant budget is 
not distorted.  Members may wish to introduce a cap on all grants.   

 
Steve Bishop 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

Page 18



Agenda Item 9

Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Agenda Item 10

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Performance Detailed Report 

April 2006 

Securing
Improvement

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Audit 2005-2006 

Agenda Item 13

Page 26



© Audit Commission 2006 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212 Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

External audit is an essential element in the process of accountability for public 
money and makes an important contribution to the stewardship of public 
resources and the corporate governance of public services. 

Audit in the public sector is underpinned by three fundamental principles: 

auditors are appointed independently from the bodies being audited; 

the scope of auditors' work is extended to cover not only the audit of financial 
statements but also value for money and the conduct of public business; and 

auditors may report aspects of their work widely to the public and other key 
stakeholders.

The duties and powers of auditors appointed by the Audit Commission are set 
out in the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Local Government Act 1999 and 
the Commission's statutory Code of Audit Practice. Under the Code of Audit 
Practice, appointed auditors are also required to comply with the current 
professional standards issued by the independent Auditing Practices Board.  

Appointed auditors act quite separately from the Commission and in meeting their 
statutory responsibilities are required to exercise their professional judgement 
independently of both the Commission and the audited body. 

Status of our reports to the Council 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the 
Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the 
audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to members 
or officers. They are prepared for the sole use of the audited body. Auditors 
accept no responsibility to: 

any member or officer in their individual capacity; or

any third party.

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0845 056 0566. 

Page 27



Securing Improvement Contents 3

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Contents

Summary Report 4

Introduction 4

Council context 4

Context for this project 4

Review approach 5

Conclusions 6

Recommendations 7

Report 10

Improved focus and prioritisation 10

Some service improvement 11

Acceptance, in principle, of strategic reorientation and restructuring 11

Commitment to move forward 12

Internal communication and morale 13

Confidence in the capacity to manage and deliver change 14

Conclusion 15

Appendix 1 – management feedback briefing 3 October 2005 16

Page 28



4 Securing Improvement Summary report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Summary report 

Introduction

1 This report summarises findings from workshops that we ran with councillors, 
assistant directors, team leaders, supervisors and staff at Vale of White Horse 
District Council in 2005. We designed these to explore the Council's recent 
improvement record, as well as any risks associated with the change programme 
that the Council set up in order to secure longer-term improvements.

Council context 

2 Following its Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) inspection and 
assessment as 'fair' in 2004, Vale of White Horse District Council began a 
programme of substantial change. It focused its improvement priorities on major 
strategic issues, on a scale that tackled some significant challenges: 

clarifying the Council’s ambition and strategic planning process; 

aligning political and management structures; 

developing an effective change management process; 

ensuring sufficient managerial and staff capacity; and 

embedding a performance management framework and culture that 
demonstrably delivers service improvement.

3 To help deliver improvements through this more strategic focus, the Council 
began a major re-structure of its senior internal management. It recognised that 
realigning its existing managerial capacity could help it deliver its strategy and 
improve value for money. Having outsourced its leisure services it also needed to 
reduce its managerial overheads. It therefore took the opportunity to restructure 
its management teams in line with its emerging corporate plan, rather than along 
its previous service-orientated lines. The aim was a better integrated approach, 
with the opportunity for a range of improvements.

4 Since our workshops the Council has taken the steps outlined in paragraph 14, 
and agreed this report and its recommendations with the Audit Commission. 

Context for this project 

5 The Council's management restructure was intended to help it achieve the 
demands of its new corporate plan, by strengthening the capacity that would be 
required to achieve its improvement priorities.

Page 29



Securing Improvement Summary report 5

Vale of White Horse District Council  

6 In 2005 the restructure led to unforeseen consequences when several new 
managerial posts were not filled. The Council had decided to change its 
managerial structure to create three strategic director posts, supported by eight 
deputy directors (reduced from fifteen previous senior manager posts). However, 
it was initially unable to appoint to three posts from within its existing managers 
and staff. It therefore agreed a number of temporary contracts while determining 
how best to achieve its desired capacity - during which time some managers left 
for other jobs.

7 This hiatus followed a period of financial uncertainty (when the Council was 
divesting some services). It has had considerable impact on some groups of staff 
(especially the strategic directors, and their remaining second tier managers), by 
diverting capacity from other intended improvements. This lack of resolution led 
to an extended transition period in 2005.

8 The Council recognised the need to extend its change management capacity, as 
a result of these developments. It appointed an interim strategic director with 
responsibilities for organisational development in the summer of 2005. It did this 
to support it during its period of transition, and to help in facilitating and 
embracing a change of culture, as well as direction. Through this appointment the 
Council has made some further progress, as outlined in paragraph 14. It is basing 
this on an organisational development approach. 

9 Our review was designed to assess the impact of all these changes, and the risks 
to the Council's improvement agenda. These risks stem from the scale and 
ambition of the Council's improvement agenda, and its capacity to achieve 
change. The Council acknowledges that realising its intentions will involve it in 
cultural, as well as structural, changes, which affect roles and relationships 
across the Council. Our work, therefore, contributes to assessing the Council's 
improvements in response to its CPA scores of '2' (ie 'weaknesses outweigh 
strengths') for ambition, capacity, performance management, service 
achievement, learning and future plans. 

Review approach 

10 We agreed with the Council to run workshops in September 2005, with groups of: 

councillors:

assistant directors; 

team leaders and supervisors; and

other staff. 

11 From these four groups we were able to collate the views and perspectives of 
nearly 50 people about the Council's achievements and risks. The groups 
identified some areas of common concern, as well as progress. This report 
analyses and presents a summary of those discussions, and makes 
recommendations.

Page 30



6 Securing Improvement Summary report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

12 We asked each group about their views of the Council's improvement record, 
structuring each workshop to explore perceptions about what had already 
improved, and areas for further improvement - including any barriers. We also 
asked councillors to indicate their assessment of the Council against some of the 
improvement characteristics identified by the Audit Commission in its 2005 review 
of all district council Comprehensive Performance Assessments.1

13 We presented our initial findings from the workshops at a management feedback 
briefing on 3 October 2005, as reported in Appendix 1. We have since compared 
these results and discussion with issues arising from our work on the Council's 
performance management, on which we reported in draft in January 2006. That, 
and the Council's continued progress, forms the basis of this report. 

14 Since our workshops took place, the Council has confirmed its structure, 
including joint appointments with South Oxfordshire District Council to extend its 
financial and legal capacity. It has appointed to the new posts of Deputy Director 
of Organisational Development and Head of Communications, which will help it 
take forward many of the concerns identified in our discussions - including the 
need to establish improved performance management. It has also confirmed 
most other appointments to its strategic and deputy director tiers, and agreed the 
outline for a managerial development programme to help it secure and identify 
further improvement capacity.

Conclusions

15 The groups' perceptions are discussed further in our detailed report (from 
paragraph 20, below), and suggest broad recognition that the Council has 
achieved:

improved focus and prioritisation; 

some service improvement; 

acceptance, in principle, of strategic reorientation and restructuring; and 

a commitment, at all levels, to continue to improve. 

16 Concerns were expressed about: 

internal communication and morale; and 

confidence in the capacity to manage and deliver change.

1
  'Characteristics of district councils in different CPA categories', table 1 in Audit Commission (2005) 

Comprehensive Performance Assessment: scores and analysis of performance for district councils in England, 
2003/04. London: Audit Commission. 

Page 31



Securing Improvement Summary report 7

Vale of White Horse District Council  

17 In summary, the Council has achieved a broad consensus over the principles of 
its restructuring, with evidence that some of its investment in a more corporate 
approach is already having an impact in areas of recognisable and tangible 
service improvement. Some new systems - such as IT, e-government, staff 
training and other resources - are supporting and helping to secure improvement. 
New performance management arrangements offer the opportunity for further 
streamlining of both focus and priority, although our workshops suggest that 
these arrangements are at an early stage - something that is confirmed in our 
separate report on the Council's performance management.2

18 However, the Council has had less success in securing the confidence of all its 
councillors, managers and staff in the more complex processes of cultural 
change. The groups recognised that specific effort will be needed to support the 
Council's transition to a more flexible and strategic organisation, capable of 
delivering a range of more stretching priorities. The scale of change in a relatively 
small district council necessarily renders this more difficult. But there are several 
areas where clearer leadership and direction could help the Council deliver its 
intentions for local residents. These include engaging more staff and managers in 
securing improvement, celebrating success and focusing on a range of 
organisational development practices in order to learn from its recent and 
continuing experience of change. 

19 Our main conclusion is that the Council still needs to ensure that it has the 
capacity to achieve the improvements identified its CPA review in 2004 and its 
value for money assessment of 2006, in order to meet the ambitions of its 
corporate and community plans. Given the extensive impact of its restructuring in 
2005, and the losses of momentum and confidence involved, it will need to focus 
on recovering lost capacity in the short-term, as well as building sustainable 
capacity for the future. 

Recommendations

2
  Audit Commission (2006) Progress review: performance management: Vale of White Horse District Council 

Recommendation

R1 Reinforce and accelerate the Council’s change programme, and take 
specific steps to recognise and respond to its cultural and organisational 
development demands, including: 

taking immediate steps to recover from the adverse impacts of change in 
2005;

being open about change, by promoting shared understanding of the 
nature of the challenges and organisational learning involved; 

assigning clear leadership responsibilities specifically for change 
management, to include councillors, directors, managers and staff; and

providing further opportunities for team understanding and team working 
to address the impact and expectations of changed priorities.

Page 32



8 Securing Improvement Summary report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Recommendations

R2 Reinforce and accelerate the Council’s change programme, and take 
specific steps to recognise and respond to its cultural and organisational 
development demands, including: 

taking immediate steps to recover from the adverse impacts of change in 
2005;

being open about change, by promoting shared understanding of the 
nature of the challenges and organisational learning involved; 

assigning clear leadership responsibilities specifically for change 
management, to include councillors, directors, managers and staff; and

providing further opportunities for team understanding and team working 
to address the impact and expectations of changed priorities.

R3 In the light of the Council's revised strategic priorities, strengthen the 
capacity to deliver the corporate plan at all levels - among councillors, 
managers and staff, and by teams as well as individuals, including by

clarifying roles and relationships between councillors and managers, to 
ensure that the recent restructure has the impact intended; 

making sure that the changes that will be needed to deliver the Council’s 
corporate priorities are clear, agreed and understood; 

progressively engaging all councillors, managers and staff in building 
capacity for change, for example though the new organisational 
development programme; 

ensuring objectives for service and organisational change are part of 
team and individual appraisal and learning systems;  

project and performance managing, and evaluating, the Council’s new 
organisational development programme;

establishing mentoring for councillors and the senior leadership team; 
and

introducing a leadership and management development programme.

R4 Strengthen existing communications to better support change and learning, 
ensuring that this makes a specific response to concerns about morale; 
including by 

developing and using internal consultation and feedback; 

establishing staff and councillor attitude surveys; and 

celebrating success.

Page 33



Securing Improvement Summary report 9

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Recommendations

R5 Review the Council's HR function, and access to specialist advisory skills, 
to ensure the capacity to support continued organisational change. 

R6 Respond fully to this report by: 

sharing and discussing it openly within the Council, with staff as well as 
with councillors; 

engaging these same groups in action planning that responds to it; and 

developing an action plan, linked with corporate priorities, that will ensure 
progress is systematic and comprehensive.

Page 34



10 Securing Improvement Detailed report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Detailed report 

Improved focus and prioritisation 

20 The Council has begun to consolidate improvement, in line with its priorities. The 
workshop groups were clear that the Council's high level priorities are beginning 
to make an impact on both service delivery and internal change. They were also 
clear that performance management is still bedding in, confirming the results of 
our separate report on this. It will be important to sustain this early momentum in 
emphasising corporate priorities, ensuring that these are clearly understood 
throughout the Council and that the Council strengthens its capacity to achieve its 
community's aims. 

21 All four groups recognised that the Council had shown some improvement, 
although not yet strongly so. Improved corporate focus was evident in positive 
comments about the Council's investment and achievements in better systems 
and training, such as IT and progress with e-government, internal service 
agreements and inter-departmental working. These reflect corporate policy 
decisions and clearer priorities, although it was also significant that service 
improvement was often directly attributed to service-level rather than corporate 
lead. However, we found broad consensus that the Council was rightly focused 
on a number of the building blocks necessary to improve future service delivery. 

22 Team leaders and supervisors, for example, cited several instances where 
resources had been committed to improvement. They noted that the Council now 
had a greater focus on performance management. They thought the Council was 
more customer focused, and working better in partnership with different sectors, 
such as business and voluntary groups. The other groups made similar 
observations, noting a positive relationship between resource prioritisation and 
better outcomes.  

23 We found further evidence that high level priorities are beginning to make an 
impact on both service delivery and internal change through our separate 
progress review of the Council's performance management arrangements. That 
work concluded overall that the Council is tackling a more corporate and strategic 
approach, but has much more to do to secure it. The Council's new corporate 
plan (published in July 2005) provides an opportunity to further consolidate the 
focus across the Council on clear and achievable priorities.  

Page 35



Securing Improvement Detailed report 11

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Some service improvement 

24 In general, the Council has not yet achieved a significant level of service 
improvement. This is unsurprising, given the level of internal change experienced 
in 2005, and because the restructuring designed to achieve that change is still in 
transition. Given this context, the improvements that have been achieved - 
including some that were recognised by all the workshop groups - are 
commendable. The findings of our separate performance management review 
focus on helping ensure that improvements happen in line with the council's 
priorities, so it will be important to continue to develop the capacity for this. This 
will help the Council achieve more significant and consistent improvements, in 
line with its agreed priorities.

25 Each group thought that the Council had been delivering some better services, 
and affirmed that the Council had achieved a range of improvements. Some 
results were seen as mixed, or the investment relatively recent, but there was a 
general recognition that services were improving - and some markedly so.

26 For example, all four groups commended improvements in environmental and 
housing services - including planning, recycling, redevelopment and
choice-based lettings - reflecting areas of Council priority. They also recognised 
the efforts made to improve customer access through the introduction of local 
service delivery points. Other service improvements were noted - covering a 
range of achievements such as leisure, tourism, council tax collection, and 
community safety. 

27 The groups' aspirations for continued service improvement tended to focus on 
achieving further with this same set of services, and on providing and contributing 
to a Council that is fully 'fit for purpose' to achieve this.

Acceptance, in principle, of strategic reorientation 
and restructuring 

28 The Council has achieved a consolidated understanding of the broad rationale for 
strategic change across the organisation. This is a significant step forward, and is 
helping it strengthen its overall capacity through a better focus on corporate 
priorities. The risk is that this is still at an early stage, and that significant 
improvements remain to be delivered. The Council still has to implement many 
aspects of its restructuring, and establish confidence through clear two-way 
communication about it. Strengthened leadership, at all levels, will make an 
important contribution to this, and will complement the Council's investment in 
clarifying its priorities and establishing a performance management system. 

29 We found that the groups generally understood, agreed and accepted the 
rationale for a greater strategic focus (on which the Council had consulted 
extensively, after its CPA assessment). Where the groups did perceive 
challenges for the Council, they were about implementation and clarity rather 
than principle.

Page 36



12 Securing Improvement Detailed report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

30 Councillors, for example, thought that the restructuring was providing more focus 
and giving a stronger steer over the Council's priorities, while also developing and 
increasing managerial capacity. Assistant directors noted the advantages of 
better working with portfolio holders, and their collective experience as a more 
focused corporate management team. Team leader and staff groups each also 
noted instances of more streamlined and corporate approaches that were 
breaking down previous departmental barriers (although they also recognised 
that there was more to do). 

31 At the time of our workshops the Council had begun to explore its assistant 
directors' understanding of and contribution to the leadership of change. This is 
an important repositioning from the Council's more traditional hierarchical 
approach. It recognises the contribution of staff and managers to meeting the 
more complex agenda of responding to a corporate, as well as service, agenda 
that reflects agreed community priorities.

32 The redirection also supports the desire expressed firmly by councillors for a 
better corporate delivery of agreed priorities, through closer service and resource 
alignment. Councillors, for example, were generally positive about the skills of 
and relationships with their appointed managers, while recognising that some of 
the systems with which to realise this potential needed to become more 
established. This included the performance management that would give 
councillors confidence in progress towards achieving priorities and give staff 
clearer responsibilities to work towards them.

Commitment to move forward 

33 The strength of commitment evident across the Council is a significant 
organisational resource. However, it is not yet being managed effectively, given 
the extent of redirection that the Council has embarked on. The Council needs to 
ensure that commitment is not dented further by poor morale, as this has both 
reputational and resource risks. The Council's capacity is not yet underpinned by 
clear roles and relationships, or by clear leadership of change at all levels. These 
factors are important to improvement. Greater attention to them will also support 
the council's capacity to better performance manage its resources and priorities.

34 All four groups showed a strong commitment to the Council's priorities, and to the 
delivery of better services for its local people, interest groups, and communities. 
Each recognised that improved systems and some different ways of working 
would be needed to deliver this, and appreciated where the Council had already 
invested in its priority areas. 

Page 37



Securing Improvement Detailed report 13

Vale of White Horse District Council  

35 Equally however, and perhaps unsurprisingly, that commitment was also resulting 
in frustration. New and higher expectations had emerged but were not yet felt to 
be met, and key roles and relationships remained in transition. Until the Council 
establishes a more stable structure - and the systems to support it - it may 
struggle to manage and meet expectations, orchestrate shared ownership, and 
engage all staff managers and councillors in a common understanding of their 
respective contributions to the challenges of the new corporate plan. These are 
important factors in change, and will require continued focus if the Council is to 
maximise the potential contribution of all its stakeholders. 

36 There was a general consensus that all groups needed to pull together to 
overcome this, to address perceived gaps between those with different 
responsibilities for the Council - such as getting the relationships, roles and 
understanding right between councillors and managers, and between the new 
senior leadership team and the Council's other managers and staff.  

Internal communication and morale 

37 The Council's internal consultation and communication have not proved effective 
during its restructuring, which has been having adverse impact on both morale 
and the ability to deliver Council priorities. Employee engagement is a weakness. 
A systematic approach to consultation and communication will help strengthen 
learning throughout the Council, and enable the Council to meet some of the 
more stretching challenges in delivering its priorities. Given the strength of feeling 
in this area, and the unfortunate delays in settling the restructure, it is important 
that the Council addresses this with urgency, as well as by building stronger 
systems for the longer term. 

38 Communication and morale surfaced as major, and related, concerns. Staff and 
team leaders, in particular, expressed a wish for clearer communication, as well 
as purposeful engagement - reflecting the level of changes they were 
experiencing, and a wish for two-way communication about it. They also 
expressed a wish to be valued, and suggested a number of ways in which 
success might be both recognised and celebrated more systematically. Job 
security is clearly a concern; but this group - and the other groups - expressed 
greater confidence that services, rather than morale, would improve. All groups 
were concerned about relationships and morale, and their impact on services. 

39 Concern about communication was also associated with a lack of clarity about 
the Council's approach to achieving change, which is discussed further below.  

Page 38



14 Securing Improvement Detailed report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Confidence in the capacity to manage and deliver 
change

40 The Council has not yet established confidence in its ability to lead and manage 
all the changes associated with its redirection. Change leadership affects the 
capacity to secure improvement, and concerns about it were particularly evident 
in the strength of feeling about the Council's restructuring - despite the broad 
agreement that some restructuring was necessary. The Council's appointment of 
an interim director to help resolve some of the tensions involved has been a 
positive step, but the investment was at a relatively early stage at the time of our 
workshops. It will be important that the capacity to lead change is sustained 
through deeper understanding and ownership throughout the organisation, as 
well as specific actions and changes in roles and relationships.  

41 In different ways, each group expressed concern about the Council's capacity to 
deliver major change effectively. Some thought that the Council's past track 
record in achieving change (for example, difficulties experienced in the recent 
initiative to review pay and grading and in establishing a fit for purpose appraisal 
system) had not helped to develop confidence. The cultural changes involved in 
the Council's level of expected (and actual) change are significant. But it was not 
clear to any group that the Council was taking specific actions to address this 
aspect of its effectiveness.

42 While some of these tensions might be expected with any change, some were 
quite marked. Some councillors, for example, expressed concern that things that 
they perceived as underlying barriers to change appeared quite deep-rooted. This 
included concern about shared corporate purpose and direction, and the 
relationships and morale needed to deliver it. It will therefore be as important for 
the Council to achieve the same degree of consensus and shared commitment 
over its approaches to its people and its management, as it is beginning to 
achieve over its purpose and priorities. 

43 A shift in roles was beginning to emerge as part of the Council's change agenda, 
having established and recruited to director and deputy director tiers with clearer 
expectations of strategic leadership. This was recognised clearly by the deputy 
and assistant director group, who had been involved in designing the Council's 
structure for delivering both a changed agenda and approach. However, they and 
other groups were not yet convinced that the Council had recognised the 
importance of a changed ethos - suggesting that recognition of the need for 
changed roles and relationships had tended to be tacit rather than explicit. It will 
be important to clarify these, including any change of emphasis between 
councillor and manager roles. 

44 These findings may not be surprising, given the extended restructuring process, 
managerial shortages, and a track record of operational HR challenges, such as 
implementing new appraisal and pay schemes. While it is to the Council's credit 
that it is now making strategically-focused changes, it will be important to sustain 
commitment to it and to agree values, roles and relationships associated with it. 

Page 39



Securing Improvement Detailed report 15

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Conclusion

45 Our main conclusion is that the Council still needs to ensure that it has the 
capacity to achieve the improvements identified its CPA review in 2004 and its 
value for money assessment of 2006, in order to meet the ambitions of its 
corporate and community plans. Given the extensive impact of its restructuring in 
2005, and the losses of momentum and confidence involved, it will need to focus 
on recovering lost capacity in the short-term, as well as building sustainable 
capacity for the future. 

Page 40



16 Securing Improvement Appendix 1 – management feedback briefing 3 
October 2005 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Appendix 1 – management feedback 
briefing 3 October 2005 

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

Vale of White Horse Council

Securing Improvement

Feedback briefing

3 October 2005

Alison Dewar

Audit Commission – Southern Region

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

What we did on 28 and 29 October:

• Four focus groups to capture snapshot of perceptions

– Councillors, front line staff, team leaders / managers, assistant 

directors

– Open, confidential discussion

– Nearly 50 people

• Broad initial views, and opening discussion

• Structured focus on changes in past 12-18 months

– What’s improved?

– What still needs to improve?

• Formed initial ‘headline’ impressions

• Feedback to management team, 3 October,  to help identify the 

issues to explore and actions to take

Page 41



Securing Improvement Appendix 1 – management feedback briefing 3 October 
2005 17

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

Headline issues

• Mixed views on extent the council has improved:

– Recognition of current restructuring

– But also concern about impact of past track record in change

• Positives are that improvement happening, with impact externally, 

and overall priorities clarifying

• Weaknesses focus on internal barriers and communication, can 

the council demonstrate capacity and values for change?

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

Things recognised as improving

• Mixed views on extent the council has changed, with best as ‘ slight overall improvement’, 

including:

– Better customer experiences through service improvements, e.g.  – waste & recycling, planning, choice-

based letting, access via local service points

– Working with businesses

– Use of and investment in ICT

– Some joined up working, e.g. leisure

• Road ’chosen’ for way ahead – clearer headline priorities and a senor management group

• More rigourous performance management beginning to draw the strands together (e.g. staff 

involvement in budget setting, BV process streamlined)

• Commitment has made these things happen.

Page 42



18 Securing Improvement Appendix 1 – management feedback briefing 3 
October 2005 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

Areas of uncertainty

• Relationships, roles, trust and recognition – formal systems / psychological ‘glue’

• Cascade of direction and priorities, and clear up/down connections with them. 

• Corporate visibility and openness

• Systems to make things happen across and within teams

– service based, still not corporate

– ‘lots of motion, no improvement’

– recognition of things done well – want a culture of learning and success

– restructuring protracted, and not built on platform of confidence

– morale, and perception will get worse:

• ‘we’ve been told we’re rubbish’, plus pay & grading effects

• Communication, communication – real, focused communication and consultation

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

The next stages?

• Discussion with management team

• More detailed analysis of existing data – and a report

• Agree feedback on report and its headlines

• Explore risk areas, engage with you in those

• Link with DoT, UoR and performance management review

Page 43



Securing Improvement Appendix 1 – management feedback briefing 3 October 
2005 19

Vale of White Horse District Council  

Vale of White Horse Council 

Securing Improvement

Contacts
Alison Dewar

tel: 07789 033 769
email: a-dewar@audit-commission.gov.uk

Lorraine McMullen 
tel: 07747 760 833
email: l-mcmullen@audit-commission.gov.uk

Page 44



Audit Summary Report 

May 2006 

Progress Review - 
Performance
Management

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Audit 2005-2006 

Agenda Item 14

Page 45



© Audit Commission 2006 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212  Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

External audit is an essential element in the process of accountability for public 
money and makes an important contribution to the stewardship of public resources 
and the corporate governance of public services. 

Audit in the public sector is underpinned by three fundamental principles: 

 auditors are appointed independently from the bodies being audited; 

 the scope of auditors' work is extended to cover not only the audit of financial 
statements but also value for money and the conduct of public business; and 

 auditors may report aspects of their work widely to the public and other key 
stakeholders.

The duties and powers of auditors appointed by the Audit Commission are set out 
in the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Commission's statutory Code of Audit Practice. Under the Code of Audit Practice, 
appointed auditors are also required to comply with the current professional 
standards issued by the independent Auditing Practices Board.

Appointed auditors act quite separately from the Commission and in meeting their 
statutory responsibilities are required to exercise their professional judgement 
independently of both the Commission and the audited body. 

Status of our reports to the Trust/Council 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the 
Audit Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the 
audited body. Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to
non-executive directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use 
of the audited body. Auditors accept no responsibility to:

 any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or 

 any third party.

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0845 0560566. 

Page 46



Progress Review - Performance Management Contents  3

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Contents
Introduction 4

Background 4

Audit approach 4

Conclusions 5

The way forward 6

Key findings 7

Embedding a performance management culture 12

Appendix 1 – Action Plan 14

Page 47



4 Progress Review - Performance Management  Audit Summary Report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Introduction

1 Government initiatives, including best value, new political arrangements, public 
service agreements and, most recently, comprehensive performance assessment 
(CPA), have been aimed at improving the performance of local government and 
raising the quality of the services it delivers. This has led to increasing emphasis 
on the need for effective performance management. 

2 Over the last three to four years, Audit Commission performance audit and 
inspection work has highlighted that many authorities still struggle to implement 
good performance management. Often authorities have performance 
management systems in place, but cannot make them work well in practice. This 
suggests that there are wider reasons for lack of success, other than the absence 
of a mechanism or framework. 

3 One of the key reasons that has been identified is a lack of understanding of how 
performance management systems can drive improvement. An effective 
performance management system will underpin, and help deliver, a council's 
corporate priorities. Senior members and officers are essential to ensuring that 
this is understood in the organisation. 

Background

4 The Council’s 2003 corporate performance assessment report scored 
performance management as 2 out of 4 - weaknesses outweigh strengths. The 
assessment found that a performance management framework was developing, 
but was not fully embedded into the Council’s service culture.  

5 The Council is committed to driving forward improvement in this area. Its CPA 
action plan identifies the following high level actions for improvement: 

 refine and simplify the Council’s vision , aims and objectives – aligning the 
council’s vision with the Vale Community Strategy; 

 using management information to manage; 

 embedding a performance management culture; and 

 more consistent application of Best Value ‘4C’s’. 

Audit approach

6 Our objective was to assess how well the Council is progressing in implementing 
improvements to its performance management arrangements and to support the 
Council in its efforts by providing a ‘health check’ on current arrangements.

7 We reviewed key strategic documents and documents that support the Council’s 
performance management systems. This was supplemented by discussions 
(interviews and focus groups) with councillors and staff from across the 
organisation.

Page 48



Progress Review - Performance Management Audit Summary Report  5

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Conclusions

8 The Council has made some positive progress in developing and improving its 
performance management framework and has achieved those improvements that 
it identified as key through CPA improvement planning. Specifically, it has : 

 aligned its aims and priorities with those of the community strategy and 
published these in the first of a new style corporate plan; 

 improved the 'culture' of performance management in the Council by raising 
its profile and ensuring that senior officers and councillors assume a stronger 
and more visible role in managing performance; 

 reviewed its best value review methodology so that the process is less 
bureaucratic and ensures a more consistent and timely approach to reviews; 
and

 commenced a review of its staff appraisal process. 

9 Despite progress, there are still some important gaps in the Council's 
performance management arrangements: 

 the Council has not yet translated its corporate aims into outcomes for 
service users or communicated its aims and objectives clearly and 
consistently through its corporate documents. This makes it is difficult for the 
Council to measure how well it is achieving its aims and objectives; 

 the thread from corporate level targets through to service and individual 
targets is inconsistent; 

 monitoring arrangements do not measure the contribution of the Council's 
key partnerships towards achieving its corporate aims and objectives; and 

 a performance management culture is not yet fully embedded across the 
whole organisation - communication and consultation with staff about 
performance issues has not been effective at all levels of the organisation 
and not all staff have a clear understanding of their role in performance 
management.

10 While the remit of this review did not include an assessment of the Council's 
capacity to deliver improved performance management, this was an issue that 
became apparent during our work. The Council appears to have very limited 
resources at its corporate core to fully develop the detail of its performance 
management framework. This presents a potential risk to how well the Council 
can progress its next phase of improvements. 

Page 49



6 Progress Review - Performance Management  Audit Summary Report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

The way forward 

11 The Council recognises that there is still considerable work to be done to ensure 
that performance management processes drive forward improvement and that it 
is fully embedded across the whole organisation. It is open to using our findings 
and recommendations to plan its next stage of improvement. In this context, key 
actions for the Council should include: 

 Developing clear outcome based objectives, targets and performance 
measures which enable it to monitor progress towards achieving corporate 
aims.

 Ensuring that key corporate documents articulate the Council's aims and 
objectives in a clear and consistent way. 

 Developing arrangements to enable the Council to monitor and evaluate the 
outcomes and effectiveness of its work with key partnerships.

 Making the links between corporate aims and objectives and actions within 
service plans more explicit. 

 Further embedding performance management across the Council by: 

- involving staff, councillors  and other stakeholders in service planning and 
target setting; 

- sharing and learning from the pockets of positive practice in involving staff 
in performance management, for example, in housing and benefits; 

- providing councillors, managers and staff with performance management 
training, particularly in relation to target setting;

- investigating 'quality circles' or similar structures to engage staff routinely 
in identifying service improvements; 

- improving the way performance issues are communicated; and  

- monitoring implementation of the new staff appraisal system to ensure 
that it is used to clarify individual contributions to the Council's objectives. 

 Ensuring that the Council has the capacity to develop and implement further 
improvements to its performance management arrangements. This could 
involve the Council investigating how similar councils in the region resource 
and implement their performance management arrangements.

12 Our key findings are set out overleaf. 

Page 50



Progress Review - Performance Management Audit Summary Report  7

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Key findings 

Clarity of vision, aims and objectives 

13 The Council has aligned its aims and priorities with those of the community 
strategy and published these in the first of a new style of corporate plan. 
However, the Council has not yet translated its aims and objectives into clear 
outcome based targets and performance measures or articulated them clearly 
and consistently through its corporate planning documents.  

14 The Council's plans are not clear about: 

 what the Council intends to achieve in terms of outcomes for service users; 

 how it will demonstrate success; or  

 how it will get from where it is now to where it wants to be. 

15 For example:

 The community strategy, agreed in February 2004, sets out nine priority 
strands for improvement, however, not all strands are supported by SMART 
(specific, measurable, attributable, realistic and time bound) plans to guide 
delivery. 

 The corporate plan sets no outcome targets for its corporate aims or priority 
actions. It lists a number of priority actions that the Council plans to 
undertake to achieve its corporate aims. However, the majority of actions are 
internally focused, for example, around developing strategies or policies or 
changes to internal administrative processes and are not linked to outcomes 
for service users. 

 The best value performance plan (BVPP) includes targets against statutory 
best value performance indicators (bvpi's). However, the Council does not 
indicate whether or how achieving bvpi targets will help deliver its priorities. 
Furthermore, it contains no local performance indicators specific to the 
Council’s priorities. 

16 Consequently, it is not clear what outcomes the Council is ultimately trying to 
achieve in the context of service improvement to the public, what its milestones 
are or how it will know when it has achieved the desired outcomes.

17 A clear corporate priority should show all three of these elements as shown in 
Table 1.

Page 51



8 Progress Review - Performance Management  Audit Summary Report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Table 1  

Statement Example Comment 

We will achieve… Facilitate the provision of 
affordable housing 

This is the aim the council 
wants to achieve. 

We will have been 
successful if…. 

By 2008, we have 
increased the number of 
affordable homes in the 
Vale by: 

 securing x private sector 
homes for rent via 
partnership with private 
landlords;

 x homes via partnership 
with RSL’s; and 

 X units of key worker 
accommodation.

These are the targets it 
has set to achieve its aim. 

To achieve this we 
will…..

 complete supplementary 
planning guidance on 
the provision of 
affordable housing; 

 return empty homes to 
use;

 Integrate the aims for 
the provision of 
affordable housing with 
planning policies and 
budgets etc….. 

These are the main 
changes the council will 
make to achieve its aim. 

18 Although it is possible to identify some or all of the above elements by reviewing 
the Council’s supporting strategies and individual service plans, these are not set 
out simply and explicitly and to establish the links can be confusing as well as 
time-consuming.

Page 52



Progress Review - Performance Management Audit Summary Report  9

Vale of White Horse District Council 

19 The clarity of the Council's vision, aims and objectives is also hindered by how 
these are communicated in its key strategic plans. We found these confused by: 

 the use of 'aims' and 'objectives' - the corporate plan refers to six 'objectives' 
that underpin the vision, not all of which are measurable and are better 
described as aims; 

 the Council's ‘overall aspiration’ of protecting and enhancing  the 
sustainability of the Vale through the economic, environmental and social 
vitality of our towns and villages’ and where this fits with its vision and 
corporate aims; and 

 inconsistent use of language between the BVPP and corporate plan - 
currently the BVPP refers to six priorities for improvement. The corporate 
plan refers to these as 'corporate aims'. 

20 This limits the effectiveness of the BVPP and the corporate plan in 
communicating the Council's overall performance context to staff, the public and 
other stakeholders. We acknowledge that the Council has recently reviewed and 
refreshed its vision, although because of the timing of this exercise, this is not 
reflected in the current corporate plan. We accept therefore, that the lack of clarity 
and inconsistency between the Council's BVPP and corporate plan may be 
rectified in subsequent years.

Cascading targets 

21 The thread from corporate objectives, through to service plans and individual 
targets is not yet consistent so it is not always clear what teams or individuals 
should focus on to meet the Council’s strategic objectives or how actions are 
contributing to achieving corporate aims. 

Service plans 

22 Actions within individual service plans generally link to the Council's corporate 
objectives where appropriate but this link is not always explicit. Service plans set 
out individual service areas ‘core objectives’ and development objectives but it is 
not always clear what corporate aim or priority the action is aimed at contributing 
to. This hinders the effectiveness of the Council's service plans in cascading high 
level objectives down to team level so that teams and individuals understand how 
their work contributes to meeting the Council's aims and objectives. Furthermore, 
not all tasks in service plans are linked to SMART targets, which hinder the extent 
to which achievements can be measured. 

Page 53



10 Progress Review - Performance Management  Audit Summary Report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Individual plans (Service and Personal Plan)

23 The Council’s current appraisal system does not yet ensure a ‘golden thread’ 
from its corporate priorities to the jobs that people do or enable effective 
monitoring of individual performance. The focus of the system has been more 
around personal development needs than performance management and 
because the Service and Personal Plan (SPP )has always been a confidential 
document between the appraiser and appraise, this has prevented the plan from 
being used as an effective performance management tool. Consequently the 
current system is not very useful in helping people: 

 understand how their work contributes to meeting the council’s objectives; 

 know what they are expected to do and to achieve for the public; or  

 manage their own and their subordinates’ performance. 

24 The Council is aware of these shortcomings and is currently at an advanced 
stage of implementing a revised appraisal system, which incorporates a number 
of positive features. For example, the Council plans to ensure that the new 
system is closely aligned with its performance management framework, promoted 
amongst managers as of key importance and closely monitored. If implemented 
as intended, the new appraisal system should address the bullet points above. 
However, as the system is not yet fully implemented we are unable to comment 
on its effectiveness. 

Using performance information to manage 

Performance monitoring

25 The Councils performance monitoring is rigorous in terms of process and tracking 
against individual projects and targets, but arrangements do not tell officers and 
councillors whether or not the Council is on track to meet its corporate objectives, 
aims/priorities. Furthermore, arrangements to monitor and evaluate key 
partnerships are undeveloped. 

26 The Council’s main corporate level monitoring is through corporate governance 
reports. This is a detailed quarterly report which is considered by the Strategic 
Management Group (SMG) and in summary, by the Executive and scrutiny. It 
includes progress against the CPA improvement plan, priority actions, current 
financial position, key staffing issues, corporate risks, best value and local 
performance indicators.  

Page 54



Progress Review - Performance Management Audit Summary Report  11

Vale of White Horse District Council 

27 The performance monitoring system has a number of good features: 

 it provides an update on the Council’s priority improvement areas; 

 it uses a simple ‘traffic light’ system to show whether or not performance 
against pi’s is on target, which is well regarded by councillors; and

 provides commentary where performance is off target and actions taken to 
deal with variances. 

28 Corporate governance reporting is supported by monthly performance meetings 
between strategic directors, assistant directors and portfolio holders. This is a 
formal process which ensures that strategic directors and key councillors are 
given the full context to any performance issues which provides added assurance 
to the SMG monitoring arrangements.

29 Service area annual and half yearly reviews are also used. This sets out details of 
notable success and efficiency improvements during the year, performance 
against target for bvpi's and local indicators.  

30 Despite the above positive features, monitoring arrangements focus on Council 
actions rather than outcomes for the community and do not explicitly show how 
performance against its priorities, CPA improvement plan or performance 
indicators have contributed towards the Council achieving its aims and objectives. 
For example, arrangements do not show: 

 what the council set out to achieve in the first place;

 what it has achieved to date; 

 whether it is on track to meet its corporate objectives, aims and priorities; 

 what, if any, remedial action it plans to take where it is not on track; and

 which pi's link to the council's objectives and priorities or differentiate 
between those that are key and those that are not. 

31 This means that the Council is not able to clearly demonstrate progress towards 
intended outcomes. 

Partnerships

32 The Council is involved in a considerable number of partnerships but this work is 
not integrated into the Council's performance management arrangements.

33 The Council and its LSP has not yet agreed joint plans and targets for delivering 
all strands of the community strategy or consolidated priorities from existing plans 
into an over-arching plan to guide delivery. This is slow progress and without 
clear outcome targets and success criteria, the Council is unable to monitor 
progress towards delivering the community strategy, or how delivery is feeding 
into the achievement of its own corporate aims and objectives. 

Page 55



12 Progress Review - Performance Management  Audit Summary Report 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

34 The Council has no formal process for routinely monitoring how the outcomes 
achieved by its partnership work are contributing to its aims and objectives. 
Furthermore, the Council does not have an agreed method for evaluating 
partnership outcomes and the effectiveness of partnership working to enable it to 
demonstrate whether a partnership is meeting its objectives or to assess the 
benefits or 'added value' that a partnership has achieved.

35 The Council has produced a briefing paper on the effectiveness of partnership 
activity, which represents some thinking around the need to manage 
partnerships. However, it is clear from this document that the Council is some 
way off developing a corporate methodology and guidance which will address the 
need for arrangements described above.

Embedding a performance management culture 

36 The ‘culture’ of performance management in the Council has improved, 
particularly at senior officer and councillor level, but it is not yet embedded at all 
levels of the organisation.  

37 Service heads and councillors are now ‘thinking’ more in terms of performance 
management and there is a consensus that performance management has a 
much higher profile in the organisation. The Council’s performance monitoring 
arrangements ensure that the SMG, senior officers and councillors all have a role 
to play in performance management and are held accountable for performance. 
This is also facilitated by the Council’s scrutiny committee that has been more 
pro-active in identifying and questioning poor performance. There are also a few 
pockets of good practice at individual service level, where regular formalised 
discussion around performance issues takes place. However, there is little 
evidence that the Council has sought to engage and involve all staff in managing 
performance, and ensure their ‘buy-in’ across all levels of the organisation.  

38 Consultation and communication with staff about key performance issues has not 
been effective and some sections of staff have had very limited involvement, if 
any, in the Council’s performance management arrangements. Our focus groups 
revealed the following weaknesses: 

 staff can not recall being consulted about the Council’s most recent priorities; 

 staff involvement in the current review of the Council’s new vision statement 
has been minimal; 

 not all staff have had the opportunity to contribute to the development of their 
respective service plans, nor have they been consulted on how best to 
improve services; and 

 corporate arrangements for cascading key performance issues, ‘Team brief’ 
are not implemented consistently and staff do not consider this to be an 
effective means by which to communicate performance issues.

39 Tellingly, few of the attendees at our focus group of front- line staff appeared to 
know how their individual or service performance targets linked to the Council’s 
corporate aims or objectives.

Page 56



Progress Review - Performance Management Audit Summary Report  13

Vale of White Horse District Council 

40 The Council has done some work to improve understanding of performance 
management. For example, it has recently published a guide to performance 
management for all staff. We also acknowledge the work the Council is doing to 
implement a new appraisal system, which when fully implemented should 
improve awareness and understanding of how the Council’s vision and objectives 
link to the work of individuals. However, without effective communication and 
opportunities for all staff to become actively involved in performance 
management, the Council is unlikely to win the necessary ‘buy in’ and culture 
change needed to make performance management work across all levels of the 
organisation.

Best value reviews 

41 The Council has agreed a new approach to conducting best value reviews. New 
arrangements provide for a flexible approach to reviews by differentiating 
between larger 'cross- cutting' reviews and 'service specific reviews'. No cross - 
cutting reviews have completed to date, but the intention is that they will involve a 
fundamental review of services, comprising larger review teams and routinely 
involve senior officers, councillors and external stakeholders. In contrast, service 
reviews are more about 'checking' and 'validating' current arrangements and to 
date have been conducted by a single officer.

42 These arrangements enable the Council to approach reviews in a way that is 
proportionate to the complexities and issues of the particular service area. This 
means that the review programme is less resource intensive and reviews to date 
have been completed over a shorter timeframe.

43 While this flexibility offers clear advantages, the Council is at risk of not facilitating 
adequate challenge through the service review approach. By not routinely 
involving senior officers, councillors and external stakeholders in the service 
review process, the Council is missing the opportunity to bring together the range 
of experiences and perspectives that are key to effective challenge. We 
understand from discussion with the Council that the service review approach 
does not automatically preclude the establishment of a wider review team, and 
the Council's approach to the external challenge element of a review will be 
considered through a risk based assessment at the scoping stage and tailored 
accordingly. However, this approach has not been explicit in reviews to date and 
the Council's best value review tool kit does not set out clear guidance. The 
Council is aware of the need to clarify its approach in this respect and intends to 
do so.

Page 57



1
4

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 R

e
v
ie

w
 -

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 

V
a

le
 o

f 
W

h
it

e
 H

o
rs

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

1
 =

 L
o

w
 

2
 =

 M
e
d

 
3
 =

 H
ig

h
 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 

D
a
te

 

R
1
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
 c

le
a
r 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
 b

a
s
e
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
, 
ta

rg
e
ts

 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 w

h
ic

h
 

e
n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

to
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 a
im

s
. 

3
 

 
 

 
 

R
2
 E

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

k
e
y
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 a
rt

ic
u
la

te
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 

a
im

s
 a

n
d
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 i
n
 a

 c
le

a
r 

a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t 

w
a
y
. 

3
 

 
 

 
 

R
3
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

to
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 

e
v
a
lu

a
te

 t
h
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
it
s
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 k

e
y
 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s
.

2
 

 
 

 
 

R
4
 M

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 l
in

k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

a
im

s
 a

n
d
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 

w
it
h
in

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

la
n
s
 m

o
re

 e
x
p
lic

it
. 

3
 

 
 

 
 

Page 58



P
ro

g
re

s
s
 R

e
v
ie

w
 -

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
  

1
5

V
a

le
 o

f 
W

h
it

e
 H

o
rs

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

1
 =

 L
o

w
 

2
 =

 M
e
d

 
3
 =

 H
ig

h
 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 

D
a
te

 

R
5
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

e
m

b
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

b
y
:

 
in

v
o
lv

in
g
 s

ta
ff
, 

c
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

  
a
n
d
 

o
th

e
r 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 i
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e
tt
in

g
; 

 
s
h
a
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 f

ro
m

 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il;

 

 
p
ro

v
id

in
g
 c

o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

, 
m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 
a
n
d
 s

ta
ff
 w

it
h
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

tr
a

in
in

g
, 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

a
rg

e
t 

s
e

tt
in

g
;

 
in

v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 '
q
u
a
lit

y
 c

ir
c
le

s
' 
o
r 

s
im

ila
r 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
s
 t

o
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 s

ta
ff

 
ro

u
ti
n
e
ly

 i
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

in
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

;

 
im

p
ro

v
in

g
 t

h
e
 w

a
y
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

is
s
u
e
s
 a

re
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

d
; 

a
n
d

 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

n
e
w

 s
ta

ff
 a

p
p
ra

is
a
l 
s
y
s
te

m
 t

o
 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

it
 i
s
 u

s
e
d
 t

o
 c

la
ri
fy

 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
. 

3
 

 
 

 
 

Page 59



1
6

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 R

e
v
ie

w
 -

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1
 –

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 

V
a

le
 o

f 
W

h
it

e
 H

o
rs

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

1
 =

 L
o

w
 

2
 =

 M
e
d

 
3
 =

 H
ig

h
 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 

D
a
te

 

R
6

 A
s
s
e

s
s
 w

h
e

th
e

r 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

d
e
q
u
a
te

 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a

t 
th

e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 c

e
n
tr

e
 t

o
 

d
e
liv

e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t.

3
 

 
 

 
 

Page 60



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\4\6\AI00003644\Housinginspection0.doc 1 28 June 2006 

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL   Report No 36/06 
      Wards Affected: - All 

 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY) 

TO THE EXECUTIVE  
7TH JULY 2006 

 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING INSPECTION 

 
 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary 
 
1.1 The Executive will be aware that the Housing Inspector carried out an inspection of the 

Council’s Affordable Housing Service during April 2006. 
 
1.2 The Council has now received the final report from the Housing Inspector and a copy is 

available on the web site. This report summarises the findings of this report, and sets out the 
key messages for the Council as it seeks to drive forward continuous improvement. 

 
1.3 The contact officer for this report is Paul Staines, Assistant Director (Housing & Community 

Safety) 01235-547621  
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 

(a) That the Executive  receive and note the findings of the Housing Inspector and  
 

(I) Request that the Assistant Director (housing and community safety) ensure that the 
recommendations of the inspector are incorporated into the service development plans 
for the housing service 

 
(II) Request that officers use the recommendations of the Inspector to drive service   

developments across the Authority as part of the Council’s drive towards an improved 
CPA rating. 

 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies  
 

(a) This report relates to the Councils vision strands A, B, C, D, E & G 
 
(b) This report relates to the Housing Strategy  
 
(c) This report complies with existing policies in respect of housing and service planning.  
 
 

4.0 Background and Supporting Information 
 
4.1 The Housing Inspection Service is a stand-alone arm of the Audit Commission that deals with 

inspecting housing services across local authorities and housing associations. 
 

4.2 The Housing Inspector last visited this Council in 2002 when it carried out a service wide 
inspection.  This year they carried out a themed inspection of the Council’s Affordable Housing 
Service, an inspection remit that is closely aligned to the scope of the housing element of a 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA). 

 
4.3 Although the inspection centred upon the Housing Service of the Council its thematic 

approach led it to inspect other areas of the Council’s work. The main areas also inspected 
were: 

• The Planning Service 

• Contact Services  

Agenda Item 15

Page 61



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\4\6\AI00003644\Housinginspection0.doc 2 28 June 2006 

• The Council’s approach to performance management, equalities and diversity 

• The Council’s approach to securing value for money  
 
5.0 Main findings 

 
5.1 The headline finding of the inspector is that the service is awarded Two Stars with uncertain 

prospects for improvement. 
 
5.2 Officers from housing are proud to advise the Executive that this rating represents the first 

time that a service inspection in this authority has received a two star or good rating from the 
Audit commission. As such it not only reflects well upon the housing service but represents a 
major step forward on the Council’s journey towards being recognised as a Good Council 
under CPA. 

 
5.3 The Inspector found much to praise in the affordable housing service, key findings were; 

• The Council has developed a significant amount of affordable housing with an 
appropriate mix of tenures and size. 

• There is a large volume of up to date research into housing needs and the condition of 
existing housing. 

• Housing applicants benefit from the first choice-based lettings system in the sub region. 

• Housing advice and the new banding system of housing allocations is being well used 
to prevent homelessness occurring. 

• The use of current housing stock and brown-field land is being optimised. 

• Face-to-face, telephone and internet access to the service is easy. 
 
5.4 However the conclusions of the Housing Inspector were tempered by their finding that 

although the service is a good one, it has some way to go to becoming an excellent service. 
This leads them to the conclusion that the service has uncertain prospects for improvement.  

 
5.5 This is an important message for the Council since the uncertainties of the Inspector are 

mainly to do with uncertainties about the Council’s progress in some key corporate areas.  
 
5.6 The remainder of this report therefore highlights those areas where the inspector believes 

corporate improvement is needed 
 

6.0 Access and Diversity 
 
6.1 In this area the Housing inspector finds much to praise when examining the work that the 

Council has done to improve the ability of our customers to access our services. For example 
the Inspector praises the Council’s web based choice based lettings scheme and the Local 
Services Points. 

 
6.2 The Inspector is more critical however of the way that the housing service engages with its 

customers and the work it does to provide services for the full range of its clients. This reflects 
his view that corporately the Council has concentrated its efforts upon developing a quality 
interface with customers but has not made such great progress in developing services for its 
full range of clients in consultation with them, for example in setting service standards across 
the Council. 

 
6.3 The report concludes that engagement and consultation with our clients is not as strategically 

driven as the Inspectors might like and although for example housing can demonstrate major 
service improvements driven by customer feedback, the most notable example being Choice 
Based Lettings it is difficult to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Inspectors that there is 
systemic consultation and customer engagement across the authority.   

 
6.4 The Executive will be aware that the Communications officer now drives the development of 

consultation mechanisms strategically and this officer will be working across the authority to 
ensure that the concerns of the inspector are addressed in Service development Plans. 

Page 62



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\4\6\AI00003644\Housinginspection0.doc 3 28 June 2006 

7.0 Value for Money 
 
7.1 The report’s conclusions represent a difference of opinion between the Council and the 

Inspector on this subject. 
 
7.2 The Executive will be aware that the Council has adopted an approach to Value for Money that 

is predicated upon a strategic service review of all the Council’s services. The review  
produced a list of services that would see the issue of value for money examined in depth. 

 
7.3 Officers believe that this approach to value for money is based upon sound best value 

principles and reflects the resources available to this Council to carry out such work.  
 
7.4 However, the fact that this approach means that not all services are subject to value for money 

appraisals at the same time means that at the time of the inspection there was, in the 
Inspector’s view little evidence of work to establish value for money within housing. Although 
officers demonstrated that work had taken place in certain areas, for example the costs of 
temporary accommodation, the Inspector was critical of the lack of the strategic approach 
across the Council.  

 
7.5 Ironically a best value review of housing services was due to take place in 2006, a review that 

would have addressed value for money as part of its remit. However this review was delayed 
so that officers could prepare for the inspection. 

 
7.6 Officers continue to believe that the approach of the Council is sound, and believe that as the 

scope of the value for money reviews across the Council widens so the criticism of the 
Inspector will become less relevant.  In the meantime the delayed best value review of housing 
services will take place in the autumn of 2006 and benchmarking work has already 
commenced to ensure that value for money is examined as part of this review. 

 
8.0 Alignment of the Council’s Budgets to its Priorities  
 
8.1 In his final recommendation to the Council, the Housing Inspector concludes that work is 

required to show that the priorities of the Council are demonstrated in its budgeting decisions. 
 
8.2 Officers believe that the Inspector’s conclusion does not demonstrate the financial realities of 

the Council, nor does it recognise the difficult decisions that the Council has taken in the last 
two budgets as it has sought to realign its budgets in the context of a shrinking financial base. 

 
8.3 Nonetheless the officers do accept that the Council needs to demonstrate to its customers and 

to the Audit Commission that the budgetary decisions of the Council are made in the context of 
its stated priorities and accept that on occasions this is not always evident. 

 
8.4 Officers will therefore be reflecting on the recommendations of the Inspector and seeking to 

ensure such clear linkages are further developed as the Council embarks upon setting its 
2007-8 budgets later this year. 

 
9.0 Conclusions 
 
9.1 This report introduces the finding of the Housing Inspection to the Executive and asks the 

Executive to receive the report and note its findings. 
 
9.2 The report contains a number of key service improvement suggestions for the Housing 

Service. These will be reflected firstly in the Affordable Housing Priority within the Council’s 
Best Value Performance Plan document and also in the individual Service Development Plans 
of Housing Services.   

 

Page 63



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\4\6\AI00003644\Housinginspection0.doc 4 28 June 2006 

9.3 The Inspection also has important messages for the Council as a whole as it seeks to improve 
its performance. This report highlights those and suggests that the Executive require officers 
to reflect these issues in the service developments across the Council. 

 
 
 

PAUL STAINES 
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNUNITY SAFETY) 

 
 
 
Background Papers: 
  
Affordable Housing; report of the Housing Inspector June 2006 

Page 64



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\2\2\AI00004221\AnnualOutturnMonitoringreport0.doc   

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL     Report No. 37/06 
          Wards Affected: 
 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER)  
TO THE EXECUTIVE 

7 JULY 2006 
 

2005/06 Annual Outturn Monitoring 
 

 
1.0 Introduction and Report Summary  
 
1.1 The report details, in accordance with the Corporate Planning Framework, the outturn position for 

2005/06, subject to audit.   
 
1.2 The Contact Officer for this report is Steve Bishop, Strategic Director (& Chief Finance Officer), 

(01235 540332). 
 
2.0 Recommendations  
 

 Members are requested to: 
 

(a) Note the overall outturn position of the Council as well as the outturn of individual service areas 
and cost centres; and, 

 
(b) Take into account the impact of the outturn position in the Integrated Service and Financial 

Planning process when setting the 2006/07 Revised Budget and 2007/08 Original Budget. 
 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies  
 
 (a) This report summarises the financial consequences of the Council's entire activities, 

which support the Council's Vision. 
 
(b) The report does not conflict with any Council Strategies.  
 
(c) The report complies with existing policies on financial management.  
 

4.0 Financial Monitoring 
 
4.1 The overall Council outturn position is summarised in section 5 below. 
 
4.2 Appendix A sets out the revenue outturn position for service areas and their component cost 

centres across the normal subjective headings. 
 
4.3 Major variances over £10,000 are explained in Appendix B.   
 
5 Overall Council Outturn Position 
 
5.1 The appendices cover the ‘normal’ service area cost centres that comprise the Council’s Revenue 

Account.  As such they do not include corporate revenue items such as property income, 
investment income and Contingency.  As a result the appendices do not reflect the true 'bottom 
line' revenue outturn position.  The following table provides the overall projected outturn, which is a 
net under-spend of £26k (0.25% of Revised Budget Requirement): 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 16

Page 65



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\2\2\AI00004221\AnnualOutturnMonitoringreport0.doc   

Variance from 
Revised Budget 1 

 £’000 
 

Service areas outturn (as appendices) (623) 
Contingency (438) 
Property Income 21 
Investment Income 100 
Reduced use of Earmarked Funds 914 
   
Council Outturn (reduced use of balances)    (26) 2 

 
 Notes 

1 Underspends and overachieved income are negative; overspends and 
underachieved income are positive 

2 The outturn is finalised, subject to external audit 
 
6 Explanation of the Outturn 
 
6.1 Service Area variances 
 

Some cost centres ended the year over-spent, whilst others under-spent.  The total of all the 
cost centre variances is a net £623k under-spend (Appendix A).  The larger variances, each 
individually over £10k in value are explained in Appendix B). 
 
The four main reasons for the larger under-spend variances, as listed in Appendix can be 
summarised as being:  
 

• Reduced supplies and services spending due to insufficient officer capacity and slippage 
on certain projects 

• Cautious spending given the Council’s known financial constraints 

• Unexpectedly improving market conditions, resulting in actual income exceeding 
conservatively estimated income budgets 

• Under-budgeting for certain Government grant income and certain costs 
 
6.2 Contingency 
 

Managed Vacancies over-performed the budgeted saving by £450k, which accounts for most of 
the under-spend on Contingency. 
 
The way in which we budget for vacant posts has now changed.  Previously vacant posts were 
managed centrally.  However, this year’s 2006/07 Original Budget for employee costs has been 
reduced in proportion to last year’s outturn managed vacancy savings.  Budget holders 
effectively start the year with 95% of the budget required to finance their full staffing 
complement for a full year.  As vacancies arise, the budget holder is expected to manage the 
vacancy in order to keep within budget. 
 

6.3 Property Income 
 

The under-achievement of the corporate property income budget was £21k, or 1.2% down on 
the revised budget. This is within acceptable tolerances.  It was due to unexpected minor voids 
and slightly lower rents than expected on some periodic rent reviews. 
 

6.4 Investment Income 
 

The under-achievement of the corporate investment income budget was £100k, or 6.9% down 
on the revised budget. Whilst the performance of the inhouse team was good, the treasury fund 
managers had a disappointing year, especially the final quarter.  All fund managers suffered 
due to interest rate and bond yield uncertainty.  It should be remembered that the fund 

Page 66



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\2\2\AI00004221\AnnualOutturnMonitoringreport0.doc   

manager's brief is to maximise returns over three years and he is confident about an upswing in 
performance in the year ahead. 
 

6.5 Earmarked Funds and Reserves 
 

The Council has a number of earmarked funds and reserves, each designated for a particular 
purpose.  Each year we plan how much money needs to be returned to certain funds in order to 
build them up for their intended use, whilst others are used in the year according to their specific 
purpose.  For 2005/06 we planned that the net usage of such funds would significantly exceed 
the contributions into the funds. 
 
At the year-end review of earmarked funds it became apparent that the Contingency Fund 
needed to be replenished in order to meet the cost of projects carried forward for completion in 
2006/07 as well as building an adequate reserve to meet as yet unforeseen costs associated 
with major procurement exercises, new statutory duties and local government reorganisation.  
The balance on the Superannuation Fund has also been maintained in order to offset the 
impact of the next triennial actuarial review.  New reserves have been created to comply with 
statute (the Building Regulations Trading Reserve) or to meet an unexpected need (the DSO 
Replacement Vehicle Reserve).  As planned a number of obsolete reserves have been closed 
down and the money returned to general fund balances.   
 

6.6 Overall Outturn and Use of Balances 
 

This has been a good year for the Council’s finances.  The interaction of the revenue under-
spend and lower use of earmarked funds is such that the Council used £26k less general fund 
balances than planned.  The Council has made better progress against the Medium Term 
Financial Plan than forecast in February and starts 2006/07 with healthier general fund and 
earmarked fund balances. 
 

 
STEVEN BISHOP 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (& CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER) 
 
 

Background Papers: Agresso download; Budget Holder variance explanations 

Page 67



C
o
u
n
c
il 

 S
u
m

m
a
ry

O
u
tt

u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

L
a

te
s

t 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
2

0
0

5
/0

6

D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c

 &
 

L
e

g
a

l

E
s

ta
te

s
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 

H
e

a
lt

h

O
rg

 D
e

v
 &

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
&

 

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
M

g
t

H
o

u
s

in
g

 &
 

C
o

m
m

 S
a

fe
ty

C
o

m
m

 &
 S

p
a

ti
a

l 

P
la

n
n

in
g

In
te

rn
a

l 
A

u
d

it
F

in
a

n
c

e
T

o
ta

l

C
ip

fa
g

rp

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

7
7

3
,6

1
0

3
1

2
,0

7
0

7
9

9
,0

3
0

1
,0

4
1

,2
7

0
1

,5
2

4
,1

7
0

9
7

9
,3

4
0

9
4

0
,8

9
0

1
,4

5
8

,3
9

0
1

3
9

,6
2

0
2

,5
2

8
,1

9
0

1
0

,4
9

6
,5

8
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e

s
2

7
,6

0
0

5
8

8
,3

1
0

5
3

,6
3

0
7

0
,7

1
0

1
4

,8
9

0
3

0
1

,5
4

0
3

4
,6

1
0

1
9

5
,0

1
0

0
2

,4
9

0
1

,2
8

8
,7

9
0

3
  
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

1
8

,0
6

0
1

3
,1

9
0

9
1

,7
0

0
7

9
,0

1
0

1
6

,8
9

0
3

3
,0

0
0

3
0

,6
7

0
7

3
,3

1
0

6
,2

6
0

3
6

,7
3

0
3

9
8

,8
2

0

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
6

6
5

,8
2

0
1

0
9

,2
0

0
1

1
9

,0
0

0
3

5
9

,7
8

0
4

9
3

,6
9

0
2

1
5

,5
3

0
4

1
8

,4
0

0
1

,1
8

0
,0

1
0

1
6

,6
7

0
7

7
5

,7
5

0
4

,3
5

3
,8

5
0

5
  
C

o
n

tr
a

c
ts

0
2

7
,0

0
0

0
3

,3
8

9
,1

9
0

1
5

,2
0

0
1

,0
2

1
,5

6
0

6
,6

2
0

1
2

3
,8

6
0

0
0

4
,5

8
3

,4
3

0

6
  
T

ra
n

s
fe

r 
p

ym
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

7
,8

3
2

,0
5

0
1

7
,8

3
2

,0
5

0

7
  
R

e
c
h

a
rg

e
s

6
2

8
,2

6
0

4
4

4
,8

6
0

2
6

2
,0

5
0

7
6

3
,8

7
0

5
6

2
,6

0
0

8
3

5
,7

2
0

3
8

6
,8

2
0

8
8

5
,2

4
0

6
4

,0
5

0
1

,2
3

0
,4

6
0

6
,0

6
3

,9
3

0

8
  
C

a
p

it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

3
9

,3
9

2
3

7
3

,0
3

4
3

9
,3

7
5

5
8

,3
3

8
1

5
4

,3
3

1
1

,4
4

9
,3

9
7

1
,0

6
6

,3
1

4
4

0
2

,6
9

9
4

,4
0

0
4

4
,8

2
0

3
,6

3
2

,1
0

0

9
  
In

c
o

m
e

(1
,1

2
7

,6
6

0
)

(1
,2

7
6

,0
7

0
)

(9
3

4
,7

3
0

)
(1

,2
4

4
,8

0
0

)
(2

,8
5

1
,3

7
0

)
(8

3
6

,4
7

0
)

(1
,1

7
1

,2
6

0
)

(1
,8

0
9

,3
1

0
)

(1
2

8
,8

0
0

)
(1

9
,6

6
4

,2
9

0
)

(3
1

,0
4

4
,7

6
0

)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
,0

2
5

,0
8

2
5

9
1

,5
9

4
4

3
0

,0
5

5
4

,5
1

7
,3

6
8

(6
9

,5
9

9
)

3
,9

9
9

,6
1

7
1

,7
1

3
,0

6
4

2
,5

0
9

,2
0

9
1

0
2

,2
0

0
2

,7
8

6
,2

0
0

1
7

,6
0

4
,7

9
0

1
7

,6
0

4
,7

9
0

A
c

tu
a

ls
 2

0
0

5
/0

6

C
ip

fa
g

rp

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

7
6

2
,8

3
1

3
3

1
,2

2
1

8
0

0
,3

0
0

1
,1

1
4

,6
4

9
1

,5
2

8
,1

7
0

9
9

0
,7

0
4

9
0

0
,5

5
0

1
,4

2
9

,1
0

8
1

7
1

,1
8

1
2

,4
8

9
,8

0
0

1
0

,5
1

8
,5

1
4

2
  
P

re
m

is
e

s
3

2
,4

9
7

5
8

8
,2

2
4

6
3

,8
5

2
7

5
,7

5
5

1
4

,0
8

9
2

7
2

,0
4

7
4

0
,4

8
7

1
8

2
,0

8
2

0
5

,0
3

9
1

,2
7

4
,0

7
2

3
  
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

1
8

,6
4

3
1

4
,0

1
6

9
4

,6
3

3
7

2
,5

0
1

1
7

,4
7

8
2

9
,4

1
4

2
8

,3
7

0
6

7
,7

0
2

5
,0

9
0

3
2

,6
3

7
3

8
0

,4
8

3

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
6

2
9

,6
7

0
9

5
,6

9
2

1
0

6
,7

1
3

2
4

1
,5

7
7

4
5

3
,2

5
9

1
7

6
,1

6
7

7
0

0
,3

5
7

1
,0

4
0

,9
0

9
1

4
,0

9
6

7
4

8
,1

3
5

4
,2

0
6

,5
7

4

5
  
C

o
n

tr
a

c
ts

0
3

0
,5

9
8

0
3

,2
8

3
,0

6
3

1
1

,3
3

7
1

,0
5

7
,9

5
5

6
,6

2
3

1
1

9
,7

4
1

0
0

4
,5

0
9

,3
1

8

6
  
T

ra
n

s
fe

r 
p

ym
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

7
,9

6
1

,9
6

9
1

7
,9

6
1

,9
6

9

7
  
R

e
c
h

a
rg

e
s

5
7

8
,3

6
1

5
6

1
,4

9
0

2
5

9
,4

9
8

7
6

1
,6

9
9

5
2

8
,8

1
7

8
0

3
,8

6
1

3
6

0
,9

6
9

8
1

0
,3

2
3

6
1

,1
2

2
1

,1
7

3
,9

9
2

5
,9

0
0

,1
3

2

8
  
C

a
p

it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

3
9

,3
9

2
3

7
3

,0
3

4
3

9
,3

7
5

5
8

,3
3

8
1

5
4

,3
3

1
1

,4
4

9
,3

9
7

1
,0

6
6

,3
1

4
4

0
2

,6
9

9
4

,4
0

0
4

4
,8

2
0

3
,6

3
2

,1
0

0

9
  
In

c
o

m
e

(1
,1

2
0

,4
4

0
)

(1
,4

0
7

,1
8

3
)

(9
8

8
,0

3
8

)
(1

,1
8

7
,3

7
0

)
(2

,6
1

4
,9

7
5

)
(9

1
1

,9
3

9
)

(1
,3

1
8

,9
3

1
)

(1
,7

5
6

,1
8

0
)

(1
3

9
,0

8
6

)
(1

9
,9

5
7

,2
8

8
)

(3
1

,4
0

1
,4

3
1

)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

9
4

0
,9

5
3

5
8

7
,0

9
2

3
7

6
,3

3
4

4
,4

2
0

,2
1

2
9

2
,5

0
6

3
,8

6
7

,6
0

6
1

,7
8

4
,7

3
9

2
,2

9
6

,3
8

4
1

1
6

,8
0

3
2

,4
9

9
,1

0
3

1
6

,9
8

1
,7

3
2

1
6

,9
8

1
,7

3
2

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e
s

 2
0

0
5

/0
6

C
ip

fa
g

rp

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

(1
0

,7
7

9
)

1
9

,1
5

1
1

,2
7

0
7

3
,3

7
9

4
,0

0
0

1
1

,3
6

4
(4

0
,3

4
0

)
(2

9
,2

8
2

)
3

1
,5

6
1

(3
8

,3
9

0
)

2
1

,9
3

4

2
  
P

re
m

is
e

s
4

,8
9

7
(8

6
)

1
0

,2
2

2
5

,0
4

5
(8

0
1

)
(2

9
,4

9
3

)
5

,8
7

7
(1

2
,9

2
8

)
0

2
,5

4
9

(1
4

,7
1

8
)

3
  
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

5
8

3
8

2
6

2
,9

3
3

(6
,5

0
9

)
5

8
8

(3
,5

8
6

)
(2

,3
0

0
)

(5
,6

0
8

)
(1

,1
7

0
)

(4
,0

9
3

)
(1

8
,3

3
7

)

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
(3

6
,1

5
0

)
(1

3
,5

0
8

)
(1

2
,2

8
7

)
(1

1
8

,2
0

3
)

(4
0

,4
3

1
)

(3
9

,3
6

3
)

2
8

1
,9

5
7

(1
3

9
,1

0
1

)
(2

,5
7

4
)

(2
7

,6
1

5
)

(1
4

7
,2

7
6

)

5
  
C

o
n

tr
a

c
ts

0
3

,5
9

8
0

(1
0

6
,1

2
7

)
(3

,8
6

3
)

3
6

,3
9

5
3

(4
,1

1
9

)
0

0
(7

4
,1

1
2

)

6
  
T

ra
n

s
fe

r 
p

ym
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

2
9

,9
1

9
1

2
9

,9
1

9

7
  
R

e
c
h

a
rg

e
s

(4
9

,8
9

9
)

1
1

6
,6

3
0

(2
,5

5
2

)
(2

,1
7

1
)

(3
3

,7
8

3
)

(3
1

,8
5

9
)

(2
5

,8
5

1
)

(7
4

,9
1

7
)

(2
,9

2
8

)
(5

6
,4

6
8

)
(1

6
3

,7
9

8
)

8
  
C

a
p

it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o

m
e

7
,2

2
0

(1
3

1
,1

1
3

)
(5

3
,3

0
8

)
5

7
,4

3
0

2
3

6
,3

9
5

(7
5

,4
6

9
)

(1
4

7
,6

7
1

)
5

3
,1

3
0

(1
0

,2
8

6
)

(2
9

2
,9

9
8

)
(3

5
6

,6
7

1
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(8
4

,1
2

9
)

(4
,5

0
2

)
(5

3
,7

2
1

)
(9

7
,1

5
6

)
1

6
2

,1
0

5
(1

3
2

,0
1

1
)

7
1

,6
7

5
(2

1
2

,8
2

5
)

1
4

,6
0

3
(2

8
7

,0
9

7
)

(6
2

3
,0

5
8

)

(6
2

3
,0

5
8

)

D
:\

m
o
d
e
rn

g
o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n
d
a
It

e
m

D
o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0
0
4
2
2
1
\A

n
n
u
a
lo

u
tt

u
rn

a
p
p
e
n
d
ix

A
0
.x

ls
  

S
u
m

m
a
ry

P
a

g
e

 1
 o

f 
1

1

Page 68



D
e

m
o

c
ra

ti
c
 &

 L
e

g
a

l
O

u
tt

u
rn

 R
e

p
o

rt
  

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 A

D
D

/A
D

(T
im

 S
a
d

le
r)

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6 L
7
0

L
8
0

L
9
0

M
1
0

M
2
0

M
3
0

M
4
0

M
7
0

M
8
0

T
0
7

T
0
8

T
1
1

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
E

le
c
ti

o
n

s

E
le

c
to

ra
l 

R
e
g

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

M
e
m

b
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

T
o

w
n

 &
 

P
a
ri

s
h

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

L
e
g

a
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

L
o

c
a
l 
L

a
n

d
 

C
h

a
rg

e
s

R
e
p

ro
g

ra
p

h
ic

s

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 

A
ll
o

w
a
n

c
e
s

M
e
m

b
e
r 

A
d

v
ic

e

P
o

li
ti

c
a
l 

G
ro

u
p

 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

ts

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

3
9
,9

4
0

4
4
,3

6
0

1
1
,5

2
0

1
1
6
,0

8
0

1
1
8
,5

5
0

4
,8

7
0

2
1
8
,9

9
0

4
5
,6

0
0

8
5
,6

3
0

1
2
,0

4
0

9
,7

6
0

6
6
,2

7
0

7
7
3
,6

1
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

5
0
0

0
2
1
,5

0
0

3
,6

0
0

1
,6

0
0

4
0
0

2
7
,6

0
0

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

7
1
0

1
,2

9
0

9
0
0

8
,1

0
0

0
4
1
0

5
,1

2
0

1
,0

4
0

1
5
0

1
4
0

2
0
0

1
8
,0

6
0

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
3
,2

4
0

6
1
,3

4
0

7
,4

6
0

5
7
,2

7
0

7
,2

1
0

2
,3

1
0

6
0
,3

9
0

2
8
,6

3
0

1
1
2
,5

7
0

3
2
2
,0

2
0

1
,7

8
0

1
,6

0
0

6
6
5
,8

2
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

4
3
,4

3
0

1
0
2
,3

9
0

1
9
,0

0
0

9
4
,7

9
0

5
7
,4

1
0

1
2
,6

4
0

1
2
1
,5

8
0

5
6
,7

7
0

6
3
,8

9
0

6
,2

6
0

6
,7

0
0

4
3
,4

0
0

6
2
8
,2

6
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

7
,9

0
0

2
,2

0
0

1
4
,8

0
0

1
4
,4

9
2

3
9
,3

9
2

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(4

,8
0
0
)

(1
,2

5
0
)

(1
5
0
)

(2
,0

5
0
)

(1
9
0
,5

9
0
)

(1
0
0
)

(4
1
8
,2

8
0
)

(3
0
0
,0

0
0
)

(2
1
0
,4

4
0
)

0
0

(1
,1

2
7
,6

6
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

8
3
,0

2
0

2
0
8
,1

3
0

3
8
,7

3
0

3
0
3
,5

9
0

(5
,2

2
0
)

2
3
,7

3
0

(1
2
,2

0
0
)

(1
5
4
,2

0
0
)

6
7
,1

8
0

3
4
0
,4

7
0

1
9
,9

8
0

1
1
1
,8

7
0

1
,0

2
5
,0

8
2

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

4
0
,2

8
7

3
7
,9

0
4

1
0
,9

0
8

1
1
3
,9

7
9

1
0
8
,0

4
1

4
,6

3
8

2
1
9
,3

8
6

4
4
,0

4
2

8
6
,0

8
4

2
7
,4

0
4

8
,2

6
2

6
1
,8

9
6

7
6
2
,8

3
1

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

1
,0

8
5

0
2
4
,1

3
9

5
,7

3
3

7
8

1
,4

6
2

3
2
,4

9
7

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

1
,1

0
2

8
5
0

9
3
7

8
,4

3
5

8
0

4
8
3

5
,2

3
4

1
,0

8
3

1
6
0

1
3

2
6
7

1
8
,6

4
3

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
5
,1

1
8

3
2
,6

7
5

2
,4

4
0

4
7
,6

6
6

3
,7

2
0

1
,6

6
8

5
5
,8

4
5

1
4
,9

1
1

1
4
1
,8

3
0

3
2
0
,3

8
6

1
,4

0
9

2
,0

0
2

6
2
9
,6

7
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

4
0
,1

3
9

9
3
,8

8
3

1
7
,9

3
3

8
7
,2

5
4

5
3
,0

4
9

1
1
,9

0
1

1
1
0
,5

0
9

5
1
,2

3
7

6
0
,5

5
6

5
,9

5
6

6
,3

8
4

3
9
,5

6
0

5
7
8
,3

6
1

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

7
,9

0
0

2
,2

0
0

1
4
,8

0
0

1
4
,4

9
2

3
9
,3

9
2

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(5

,3
3
6
)

(1
,7

8
9
)

(1
6
3
)

(2
,3

3
9
)

(1
6
7
,0

9
0
)

(7
4
)

(3
9
0
,9

7
3
)

(3
0
9
,2

1
3
)

(2
4
3
,4

0
9
)

(3
5
)

(2
0
)

(1
,1

2
0
,4

4
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

8
2
,3

9
4

1
6
3
,5

2
3

3
2
,0

5
4

2
8
7
,0

3
5

0
2
4
,3

4
9

1
(1

8
4
,2

2
3
)

6
0
,6

3
6

3
5
3
,8

7
1

1
6
,1

4
6

1
0
5
,1

6
8

9
4
0
,9

5
3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

3
4
7

(6
,4

5
6
)

(6
1
2
)

(2
,1

0
1
)

(1
0
,5

0
9
)

(2
3
2
)

3
9
6

(1
,5

5
8
)

4
5
4

1
5
,3

6
4

(1
,4

9
8
)

(4
,3

7
4
)

(1
0
,7

7
9
)

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

5
8
5

0
0

2
,6

3
9

0
2
,1

3
3

0
0

0
0

(1
,5

2
2
)

1
,0

6
2

4
,8

9
7

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

3
9
2

(4
4
0
)

3
7

3
3
5

8
0

7
3

1
1
4

0
4
3

1
0

(1
2
7
)

6
7

5
8
3

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
1
,8

7
8

(2
8
,6

6
5
)

(5
,0

2
0
)

(9
,6

0
4
)

(3
,4

9
0
)

(6
4
2
)

(4
,5

4
5
)

(1
3
,7

1
9
)

2
9
,2

6
0

(1
,6

3
4
)

(3
7
1
)

4
0
2

(3
6
,1

5
0
)

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(3
,2

9
1
)

(8
,5

0
7
)

(1
,0

6
7
)

(7
,5

3
6
)

(4
,3

6
1
)

(7
3
9
)

(1
1
,0

7
1
)

(5
,5

3
3
)

(3
,3

3
4
)

(3
0
4
)

(3
1
6
)

(3
,8

4
0
)

(4
9
,8

9
9
)

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(5

3
6
)

(5
3
9
)

(1
3
)

(2
8
9
)

2
3
,5

0
0

2
6

2
7
,3

0
7

(9
,2

1
3
)

(3
2
,9

6
9
)

(3
5
)

0
(2

0
)

7
,2

2
0

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(6
2
6
)

(4
4
,6

0
7
)

(6
,6

7
6
)

(1
6
,5

5
5
)

5
,2

2
0

6
1
9

1
2
,2

0
1

(3
0
,0

2
3
)

(6
,5

4
6
)

1
3
,4

0
1

(3
,8

3
4
)

(6
,7

0
2
)

(8
4
,1

2
9
)

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
D

e
m

L
e

g
0

.x
ls

  
D

e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 &

 L
e

g
a

l
P

a
g
e
 2

 o
f 

1
1

Page 69



E
s
ta

te
s

O
u

tt
u

rn
 R

e
p

o
rt

  
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

A
n

d
re

w
 M

o
rg

a
n

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

L
2
0

L
3
0

L
4
0

M
5
0

M
6
0

Q
1
0

T
0
2

T
0
4

T
0
6

T
1
2

T
1
3

U
0
3

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

L
a
n

d
 

D
ra

in
a
g

e

F
a
c
il
it

ie
s
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

E
s
ta

te
s
 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

T
e
c
h

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

 -
 

M
a
p

 S
e
rv

ic
e

T
e
c
h

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 -
 

E
n

e
rg

y

M
o

b
il
e
 H

o
m

e
 

P
a
rk

s

P
ro

p
 M

a
n

 -
 

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a
l 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s

P
ro

p
 M

a
n

 -
 N

o
n

 

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a
l 

B
ld

g
s

S
tw

s
 &

 

P
u

m
p

 

S
ta

ti
o

n
s
 -

 

V
a
le

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

2
8
,4

1
0

6
7
,6

2
0

1
4
0

8
6
,7

5
0

4
0
,2

5
0

0
4
2
,7

3
0

2
4
,2

8
0

2
1
,8

9
0

3
1
2
,0

7
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

2
0
0

3
4
1
,1

1
0

9
6
,8

7
0

0
5
3
,2

6
0

1
3
,1

8
0

7
6
,1

9
0

7
,5

0
0

5
8
8
,3

1
0

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

2
,6

9
0

2
,4

8
0

2
,2

0
0

1
,9

2
0

1
5
0

1
,6

0
0

1
,1

4
0

1
,0

1
0

1
3
,1

9
0

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
7
4
0

2
,5

7
0

0
2
8
,5

0
0

2
2
,9

7
0

6
,4

5
0

2
3
,2

0
0

0
7
,0

1
0

1
,1

4
0

1
6
,6

2
0

0
1
0
9
,2

0
0

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

0
1
3
,0

0
0

2
,5

2
0

1
1
,4

8
0

2
7
,0

0
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

1
0
,0

0
0

1
1
,3

9
0

2
2
,4

3
0

1
6
,7

0
0

1
1
7
,0

0
0

0
4
,4

0
0

0
2
7
,1

7
0

2
7
,0

9
0

2
0
3
,5

6
0

5
,1

2
0

4
4
4
,8

6
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

2
0
,7

4
9

2
2
1
,6

0
0

4
,7

0
0

0
6
,4

0
0

5
9
,5

8
5

5
2
,7

0
0

7
,3

0
0

3
7
3
,0

3
4

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(4

1
,7

3
0
)

(9
8
,5

0
0
)

(7
1
7
,4

1
0
)

(1
7
0
)

(1
1
,2

8
0
)

(2
7
,6

0
0
)

(3
0
1
,7

0
0
)

(1
4
0
)

(7
0
,0

4
0
)

(7
,5

0
0
)

(1
,2

7
6
,0

7
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
1
0

(1
4
,4

4
0
)

4
6
,2

4
0

(1
,7

5
0
)

2
8
6
,0

6
0

(4
,6

8
0
)

0
0

(1
6
3
,5

3
0
)

1
2
5
,4

7
0

3
3
1
,3

1
0

1
3
,6

2
0

5
9
1
,5

9
4

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

3
4
,9

1
6

7
8
,6

7
5

1
4
2

7
9
,9

2
7

3
9
,5

8
3

1
0
,2

9
1

4
2
,1

6
6

2
4
,1

2
0

2
1
,4

0
2

3
3
1
,2

2
1

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
3
4
9
,9

2
7

8
8
,7

6
0

0
5
5
,1

2
3

1
3
,9

4
9

7
3
,9

6
3

6
,5

0
3

5
8
8
,2

2
4

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

2
,6

1
8

2
,5

1
7

1
,9

6
7

1
,7

0
1

2
,4

2
7

1
,3

7
5

5
0
8

9
0
4

1
4
,0

1
6

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
7
6
0

2
,7

3
1

1
6

2
0
,5

1
2

2
4
,9

6
6

6
,7

6
9

1
5
,4

2
3

0
7
,9

6
9

2
4
8

1
6
,2

9
9

0
9
5
,6

9
2

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

5
,8

9
5

1
2
,3

4
5

6
4

1
2
,2

9
4

3
0
,5

9
8

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

1
3
,8

8
6

1
5
,1

8
8

3
0
,1

2
9

1
5
,0

7
6

2
1
4
,6

3
4

0
4
,1

7
4

5
,7

7
7

2
5
,1

1
6

2
0
,8

4
2

1
9
6
,7

2
4

1
9
,9

4
4

5
6
1
,4

9
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

2
0
,7

4
9

2
2
1
,6

0
0

4
,7

0
0

0
6
,4

0
0

5
9
,5

8
5

5
2
,7

0
0

7
,3

0
0

3
7
3
,0

3
4

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(5

2
,1

8
0
)

(9
9
,1

1
2
)

(7
0
1
,3

5
3
)

(1
,0

0
3
)

(1
9
,4

8
6
)

(1
9
,5

9
7
)

(3
2
1
,1

8
0
)

(5
,3

3
8
)

(1
8
0
,0

4
3
)

(7
,8

9
1
)

(1
,4

0
7
,1

8
3
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(0
)

(0
)

5
6
,9

3
1

0
3
7
3
,4

0
4

0
0

5
,7

7
7

(1
8
3
,0

3
1
)

1
1
3
,9

1
4

1
9
4
,2

4
2

2
5
,8

5
5

5
8
7
,0

9
2

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

6
,5

0
6

1
1
,0

5
5

2
(6

,8
2
3
)

(6
6
7
)

1
0
,2

9
1

0
0

(5
6
4
)

(1
6
0
)

(4
8
8
)

0
1
9
,1

5
1

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
0

(2
0
0
)

8
,8

1
7

(8
,1

1
0
)

0
0

0
1
,8

6
3

7
6
9

(2
,2

2
7
)

(9
9
7
)

(8
6
)

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

(7
2
)

3
7

0
(2

3
3
)

(2
1
9
)

2
,2

7
7

0
0

(2
2
5
)

(6
3
2
)

(1
0
6
)

0
8
2
6

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
2
0

1
6
1

1
6

(7
,9

8
8
)

1
,9

9
6

3
1
9

(7
,7

7
7
)

0
9
5
9

(8
9
2
)

(3
2
1
)

0
(1

3
,5

0
8
)

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

0
0

5
,8

9
5

(6
5
5
)

(2
,4

5
6
)

0
0

0
0

0
8
1
4

0
3
,5

9
8

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

3
,8

8
6

3
,7

9
8

7
,6

9
9

(1
,6

2
4
)

9
7
,6

3
4

0
(2

2
6
)

5
,7

7
7

(2
,0

5
4
)

(6
,2

4
8
)

(6
,8

3
7
)

1
4
,8

2
4

1
1
6
,6

3
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(1

0
,4

5
0
)

(6
1
2
)

0
1
6
,0

5
7

(8
3
3
)

(8
,2

0
6
)

8
,0

0
3

0
(1

9
,4

8
0
)

(5
,1

9
8
)

(1
1
0
,0

0
3
)

(3
9
1
)

(1
3
1
,1

1
3
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(1
1
0
)

1
4
,4

4
0

1
3
,4

1
2

7
,5

5
0

8
7
,3

4
4

4
,6

8
0

0
5
,7

7
7

(1
9
,5

0
1
)

(1
2
,3

6
1
)

(1
1
9
,1

6
8
)

1
3
,4

3
5

(4
,5

0
2
)

D
:\
m

o
d

e
rn

g
o

v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
E

s
ta

te
s
0

.x
ls

  
E

s
ta

te
s

P
a
g
e
 3

 o
f 

1
1

Page 70



C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
O

u
tt

u
rn

 R
e

p
o

rt
  

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 A

D
D

/A
D

B
il
l 
F

a
rr

a
r

L
a

te
s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0

0
5

/0
6

B
0

0
T

0
1

T
0

3
T

5
5

T
9

3
U

0
4

U
0

5
U

0
6

U
0

8
U

0
9

U
1

1
U

1
3

U
1

4
U

1
5

U
1

6
U

1
7

U
2

1
U

2
2

U
2

3
U

2
4

U
2

6
G

ra
n

d
 T

o
ta

l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
B

u
il
d

in
g

 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

E
m

e
rg

e
n

c
y

 

P
la

n
n

in
g

T
e

c
h

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 -
 

A
d

d
re

s
s

 

M
a

n
g

m
t

A
c

c
e

s
s

 

O
ff

ic
e

r

D
ir

e
c

t 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 

O
th

e
r

S
tw

s
 &

 

P
u

m
p

 

S
ta

ti
o

n
s

 -
 

S
O

D
C

S
tw

s
 &

 

P
u

m
p

 

S
ta

ti
o

n
s

 -
 

P
ri

v
a

te

S
tw

s
 &

 P
u

m
p

 

S
ta

ti
o

n
s

 -
 

U
n

a
ll
o

c
a

te
d

M
a

in
ta

in
in

g
 C

a
r 

P
a

rk
s

E
m

p
ty

in
g

 

S
e

p
ti

c
 T

a
n

k
s

 -
 

V
a

le

E
m

p
ty

in
g

 

S
e

p
ti

c
 T

a
n

k
s

 

- 
S

O
D

C

S
e

w
e

r 

B
lo

c
k

a
g

e
s

 -
 

V
a

le
 P

ri
v

a
te

S
e

w
e

r 

B
lo

c
k

a
g

e
s

 -
 

V
H

A

S
e

w
e

r 

B
lo

c
k

a
g

e
s

 -
 

S
O

D
C

S
e

w
e

r 

B
lo

c
k

a
g

e
s

 -
 

S
O

D
C

 P
ri

v
a

te

S
e

w
e

r 

B
lo

c
k

a
g

e
s

 -
 

U
n

a
ll
o

c
a

te
d

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
- 

A
E

A

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
- 

D
id

c
o

t 

P
o

w
e

r 

S
ta

ti
o

n

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
- 

M
in

o
r 

W
o

rk
s

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
- 

C
C

T
V

 

S
e

w
e

rs

C
o

n
tr

a
c

t 
- 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

 S
e

tu
p

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

4
3

5
,6

5
0

1
8

,6
1

0
0

3
4

4
,7

7
0

7
9

9
,0

3
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

2
0

0
0

2
3

,1
8

0
1

5
0

1
0

0
1

4
,0

0
0

1
6

,0
0

0
5

3
,6

3
0

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

3
3

,2
9

0
1

,4
9

0
0

5
6

,9
2

0
9

1
,7

0
0

4
  

S
u

p
p

lie
s

8
9

,5
8

0
3

,3
2

0
1

2
,0

0
0

0
1

3
,1

0
0

1
,0

0
0

1
1

9
,0

0
0

7
  

R
e

c
h

a
rg

e
s

1
5

2
,5

2
0

1
2

,1
5

0
4

,8
5

0
0

9
2

,5
3

0
0

0
2

6
2

,0
5

0

8
  

C
a

p
it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

1
0

,1
6

0
2

9
,2

1
5

3
9

,3
7

5

9
  

In
c
o

m
e

(5
4

6
,6

4
0

)
(6

0
0

)
(1

,0
0

0
)

(3
7

,0
0

0
)

(2
5

,7
0

0
)

(6
,0

0
0

)
(5

0
,0

0
0

)
(6

2
,2

0
0

)
(7

9
,2

4
0

)
(1

6
,9

5
0

)
(2

9
,3

5
0

)
(4

,1
0

0
)

(8
,8

0
0

)
(1

,8
6

0
)

(4
,0

0
0

)
(1

,0
0

0
)

(5
5

,2
9

0
)

(5
,0

0
0

)
(9

3
4

,7
3

0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
7

4
,7

6
0

3
5

,5
7

0
1

6
,2

5
0

0
5

5
8

,7
1

0
(3

5
,8

5
0

)
(2

5
,7

0
0

)
(5

,9
0

0
)

(5
0

,0
0

0
)

(4
8

,2
0

0
)

(6
3

,2
4

0
)

(1
6

,9
5

0
)

(2
9

,3
5

0
)

(4
,1

0
0

)
(8

,8
0

0
)

(1
,8

6
0

)
(4

,0
0

0
)

(1
,0

0
0

)
(5

5
,2

9
0

)
(5

,0
0

0
)

0
4

3
0

,0
5

5

A
c

tu
a

ls
 2

0
0

5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

4
2

2
,9

3
1

1
9

,0
0

3
0

3
5

8
,3

6
7

8
0

0
,3

0
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

4
,5

9
3

0
2

2
,3

6
6

2
,6

9
5

1
,3

3
1

1
7

,8
7

4
1

4
,9

9
4

6
3

,8
5

2

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

3
1

,1
9

1
1

,3
0

1
0

6
2

,1
4

2
9

4
,6

3
3

4
  

S
u

p
p

lie
s

6
2

,8
5

9
4

,8
9

9
7

,0
4

0
0

3
1

,9
1

5
0

1
0

6
,7

1
3

7
  

R
e

c
h

a
rg

e
s

1
4

3
,0

9
5

1
1

,2
4

4
1

3
,9

1
1

0
8

7
,4

9
7

0
3

,7
5

1
2

5
9

,4
9

8

8
  

C
a

p
it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

1
0

,1
6

0
2

9
,2

1
5

3
9

,3
7

5

9
  

In
c
o

m
e

(5
3

3
,5

5
5

)
(1

7
5

)
(1

)
(3

,3
4

7
)

(2
4

,8
0

5
)

0
(5

7
,1

2
4

)
(5

1
,8

2
3

)
(6

7
,4

0
2

)
(1

1
,2

7
0

)
(4

4
,4

7
2

)
(1

,6
2

5
)

(8
,8

8
5

)
6

3
(8

5
3

)
(1

,2
4

9
)

(1
8

1
,5

1
7

)
0

(9
8

8
,0

3
8

)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
4

1
,2

7
4

3
6

,4
4

7
2

0
,7

7
7

0
5

9
1

,5
0

1
(6

5
2

)
(2

4
,8

0
5

)
1

,3
3

1
(5

7
,1

2
4

)
(3

3
,9

5
0

)
(5

2
,4

0
8

)
(1

1
,2

7
0

)
(4

4
,4

7
2

)
(1

,6
2

5
)

(8
,8

8
5

)
6

3
(8

5
3

)
(1

,2
4

9
)

(1
8

1
,5

1
7

)
0

3
,7

5
1

3
7

6
,3

3
4

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e
s
 2

0
0

5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

(1
2

,7
1

9
)

3
9

3
0

0
1

3
,5

9
7

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
,2

7
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

4
,3

9
3

0
0

0
(8

1
4

)
2

,5
4

5
0

1
,2

3
1

0
3

,8
7

4
(1

,0
0

6
)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

,2
2

2

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

(2
,0

9
9

)
(1

8
9

)
0

0
5

,2
2

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

,9
3

3

4
  

S
u

p
p

lie
s

(2
6

,7
2

1
)

1
,5

7
9

(4
,9

6
0

)
0

1
8

,8
1

5
(1

,0
0

0
)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(1

2
,2

8
7

)

7
  

R
e

c
h

a
rg

e
s

(9
,4

2
5

)
(9

0
6

)
9

,0
6

1
0

(5
,0

3
3

)
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

3
,7

5
1

(2
,5

5
2

)

8
  

C
a

p
it
a

l 
c
h

g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

9
  

In
c
o

m
e

1
3

,0
8

5
0

4
2

5
0

9
9

9
3

3
,6

5
3

8
9

5
6

,0
0

0
(7

,1
2

4
)

1
0

,3
7

7
1

1
,8

3
8

5
,6

8
0

(1
5

,1
2

2
)

2
,4

7
5

(8
5

)
1

,9
2

3
3

,1
4

7
(2

4
9

)
(1

2
6

,2
2

7
)

5
,0

0
0

0
(5

3
,3

0
8

)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(3
3

,4
8

6
)

8
7

7
4

,5
2

7
0

3
2

,7
8

6
3

5
,1

9
8

8
9

5
7

,2
3

1
(7

,1
2

4
)

1
4

,2
5

0
1

0
,8

3
2

5
,6

8
0

(1
5

,1
2

2
)

2
,4

7
5

(8
5

)
1

,9
2

3
3

,1
4

7
(2

4
9

)
(1

2
6

,2
2

7
)

5
,0

0
0

3
,7

5
1

(5
3

,7
2

1
)

D
:\
m

o
d

e
rn

g
o

v\
D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a
It
e
m

D
o

c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a
lo

u
tt
u

rn
a
p

p
e
n

d
ix

A
C

o
m

S
e
r0

.x
ls

  
C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
a

g
e

 4
 o

f 
1

1

Page 71



E
n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h

O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

D
a
v

id
 S

te
v

e
n

s

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

C
0
0

T
0
5

T
1
4

T
1
6

T
1
7

T
1
8

T
1
9

T
2
1

T
2
2

T
2
3

T
2
4

T
2
5

T
2
6

T
2
7

T
2
8

T
2
9

T
3
1

T
3
2

T
7
8

T
7
9

T
8
1

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l 

H
e
a
lt

h

T
a
x
i 

L
ic

e
n

s
in

g

G
e
n

e
ra

l 

L
ic

e
n

s
in

g

W
a
te

r 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

G
e
n

e
ra

l 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

W
a
s
te

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

F
o

o
d

 S
a
fe

ty
L

ic
e
n

s
in

g

A
n

im
a
l 
C

o
n

tr
o

l 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

H
e
a
lt

h
 &

 

S
a
fe

ty

T
e
rr

e
s
tr

ia
l 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

A
ir

 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t
N

o
is

e

P
u

b
li
c
 

C
o

n
v
e
n

ie
n

c
e
s

R
e
c
y
c
li
n

g

R
e
fu

s
e
 

c
o

ll
e
c
ti

o
n

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

W
a
s
te

 

M
in

im
is

a
ti

o
n

P
e
s
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 

W
a
rd

e
n

D
o

g
 W

a
s
te

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

1
2
9
,9

0
0

2
9
,5

8
0

7
,3

3
0

2
6
,6

2
0

2
6
,4

0
0

5
,9

9
0

1
1
8
,9

6
0

1
0
1
,2

8
0

7
7
,4

2
0

7
7
,0

3
0

4
9
,7

8
0

4
7
,0

3
0

6
7
,7

4
0

1
8
,0

2
0

8
3
,7

2
0

8
0
,5

5
0

5
8
,2

5
0

2
0
,1

9
0

1
5
,4

8
0

1
,0

4
1
,2

7
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
1
0
0

3
3
0

2
0
0

6
9
,5

8
0

2
0
0

1
0
0

2
0
0

7
0
,7

1
0

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p

o
rt

3
,0

1
0

1
5
,1

4
0

5
5
0

1
,4

1
0

1
,2

1
0

3
3
0

8
,8

3
0

4
,4

3
0

5
,7

1
0

5
,1

2
0

3
,0

7
0

2
,8

0
0

5
,1

2
0

8
1
0

4
,7

3
0

9
,8

1
0

2
,9

5
0

1
,0

0
0

2
,9

8
0

7
9
,0

1
0

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
2
2
,7

4
0

8
,1

7
0

4
8
0

3
,1

6
0

2
,2

8
0

1
,6

0
0

7
,1

2
0

6
,0

4
0

1
4
,5

2
0

5
,0

9
0

4
,1

3
0

3
8
,1

1
0

7
,8

3
0

1
,3

6
0

4
7
,5

0
0

1
2
5
,5

7
0

1
9
,3

7
0

2
3
,1

3
0

1
,0

0
0

1
5
,5

8
0

5
,0

0
0

3
5
9
,7

8
0

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

8
3
,3

0
0

1
,0

9
3
,4

2
0

1
,3

0
4
,3

4
0

8
9
4
,1

3
0

0
1
4
,0

0
0

3
,3

8
9
,1

9
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

8
6
,7

9
0

3
3
,6

0
0

1
2
,1

0
0

1
6
,5

3
0

1
6
,8

9
0

7
8
,5

8
0

5
6
,1

6
0

4
0
,1

9
0

3
9
,4

5
0

2
8
,1

5
0

3
3
,0

6
0

4
6
,2

7
0

1
4
,5

4
0

9
0
,2

0
0

9
3
,6

1
0

3
1
,6

4
0

1
5
,1

5
0

1
0
,3

5
0

1
4
,4

4
0

6
,1

7
0

7
6
3
,8

7
0

8
  
C

a
p

it
a
l 
c
h
g

s
1
0
,6

6
0

1
5
,4

0
0

3
0
,6

2
8

0
1
,6

5
0

5
8
,3

3
8

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(2

4
2
,0

0
0
)

(5
8
,1

9
0
)

(3
,5

0
0
)

(1
8
0
)

(2
8
0
)

(1
,1

5
0
)

(1
0
6
,9

8
0
)

0
(7

9
0
)

(3
0
0
)

(2
0
,1

5
0
)

(1
5
0
)

(2
,0

9
0
)

(5
6
2
,7

0
0
)

(1
6
1
,5

4
0
)

(3
5
,5

4
0
)

(3
6
,2

6
0
)

(2
,0

0
0
)

(1
1
,0

0
0
)

(1
,2

4
4
,8

0
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
1
,1

0
0

2
8
,3

0
0

1
6
,9

6
0

4
7
,5

4
0

4
6
,5

0
0

8
,0

2
0

2
1
2
,6

7
0

6
0
,9

3
0

1
3
7
,8

4
0

1
2
6
,1

0
0

8
4
,8

3
0

1
0
0
,8

5
0

1
2
6
,8

1
0

2
0
0
,6

2
0

7
8
7
,7

0
0

1
,4

5
2
,3

4
0

9
7
0
,9

0
0

5
9
,6

7
0

(2
1
,5

6
0
)

4
8
,1

3
0

1
4
,1

7
0

4
,5

1
7
,3

6
8

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

1
4
5
,9

3
6

3
0
,2

5
9

1
0
,8

1
2

2
6
,9

4
8

2
6
,6

9
4

6
,0

2
2

1
3
9
,0

0
8

1
3
7
,6

2
5

7
3
,4

9
7

7
2
,8

7
2

5
4
,9

6
5

5
4
,7

8
5

7
9
,5

6
3

1
8
,4

1
3

7
9
,2

6
2

7
2
,9

3
4

4
8
,9

2
0

2
0
,6

6
8

1
5
,4

6
6

1
,1

1
4
,6

4
9

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
0

9
3

0
7
5
,6

6
3

0
0

0
7
5
,7

5
5

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p

o
rt

3
,4

8
5

1
6
,6

1
3

5
7
1

1
,2

2
7

1
,0

3
4

3
4
0

8
,3

5
3

4
,8

2
3

5
,9

3
8

4
,2

3
8

3
,0

6
5

2
,2

8
9

3
,9

2
1

6
4
5

4
,7

6
3

5
,3

8
9

2
,6

7
6

1
,4

3
9

1
,6

9
2

7
2
,5

0
1

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
2
4
,0

3
9

9
,0

8
0

4
1
5

2
,4

6
5

1
,1

4
8

6
0

4
,5

6
7

1
0
,1

5
4

1
2
,4

7
9

4
,8

9
1

4
,5

1
8

3
3
,6

9
8

5
,1

0
7

3
8
4

4
0
,1

3
0

2
7
,5

0
3

2
0
,8

1
1

2
1
,4

6
7

(0
)

1
4
,7

2
0

3
,9

4
3

2
4
1
,5

7
7

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

8
9
,5

4
0

9
8
4
,9

6
5

1
,3

0
9
,5

9
3

8
8
5
,3

4
7

0
1
3
,6

1
8

3
,2

8
3
,0

6
3

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

8
2
,7

5
1

3
0
,8

4
9

1
1
,2

8
4

1
6
,7

9
0

1
7
,1

3
2

7
9
,2

3
9

5
7
,0

0
8

4
1
,3

6
1

4
0
,5

8
4

2
8
,8

2
3

3
3
,4

9
3

4
6
,9

7
1

1
4
,5

6
3

9
1
,2

7
7

9
1
,9

2
1

3
2
,1

3
6

1
5
,0

5
7

1
0
,1

8
3

1
4
,3

7
4

5
,9

0
3

7
6
1
,6

9
9

8
  
C

a
p

it
a
l 
c
h
g

s
1
0
,6

6
0

1
5
,4

0
0

3
0
,6

2
8

0
1
,6

5
0

5
8
,3

3
8

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(2

6
6
,8

7
1
)

(6
2
,0

9
9
)

(3
,6

4
8
)

(9
0
)

(4
2
7
)

(1
,5

7
0
)

(1
3
1
,7

7
3
)

0
(4

5
6
)

(1
8
1
)

(2
0
,3

2
4
)

(1
8
1
)

(1
,7

6
1
)

(4
9
6
,0

8
8
)

(1
1
2
,4

8
7
)

(4
0
,2

0
9
)

(3
5
,0

0
2
)

(1
,6

0
9
)

(1
2
,5

9
3
)

(1
,1

8
7
,3

7
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

0
2
4
,7

0
2

1
9
,4

3
3

4
7
,3

4
0

4
5
,5

8
1

6
,4

2
1

2
2
9
,6

8
9

7
7
,8

3
7

1
3
3
,2

7
5

1
2
2
,1

2
8

9
1
,1

9
0

1
0
3
,9

4
1

1
3
5
,3

8
1

2
1
2
,8

4
7

7
3
4
,9

3
7

1
,3

9
4
,8

5
3

9
4
9
,6

8
1

5
8
,6

3
1

(2
4
,8

2
0
)

4
6
,2

9
4

1
0
,8

7
0

4
,4

2
0
,2

1
2

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p

lo
ye

e
s

1
6
,0

3
6

6
7
9

3
,4

8
2

3
2
8

2
9
4

3
2

2
0
,0

4
8

3
6
,3

4
5

(3
,9

2
3
)

(4
,1

5
8
)

5
,1

8
5

7
,7

5
5

1
1
,8

2
3

3
9
3

(4
,4

5
8
)

(7
,6

1
6
)

(9
,3

3
0
)

4
7
8

0
(1

4
)

0
7
3
,3

7
9

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
0

0
0

0
(1

0
0
)

(2
3
7
)

0
0

(2
0
0
)

0
0

0
6
,0

8
3

(2
0
0
)

0
(1

0
0
)

(2
0
0
)

0
0

0
5
,0

4
5

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p

o
rt

4
7
5

1
,4

7
3

2
1

(1
8
3
)

(1
7
6
)

1
0

(4
7
7
)

3
9
3

2
2
8

(8
8
2
)

(5
)

(5
1
1
)

(1
,1

9
9
)

(1
6
5
)

3
3

(4
,4

2
1
)

(2
7
4
)

4
3
9

0
(1

,2
8
8
)

0
(6

,5
0
9
)

4
  
S

u
p

p
lie

s
1
,2

9
9

9
1
0

(6
5
)

(6
9
5
)

(1
,1

3
2
)

(1
,5

4
0
)

(2
,5

5
3
)

4
,1

1
4

(2
,0

4
1
)

(1
9
9
)

3
8
8

(4
,4

1
2
)

(2
,7

2
3
)

(9
7
6
)

(7
,3

7
0
)

(9
8
,0

6
7
)

1
,4

4
1

(1
,6

6
3
)

(1
,0

0
0
)

(8
6
0
)

(1
,0

5
7
)

(1
1
8
,2

0
3
)

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6
,2

4
0

(1
0
8
,4

5
5
)

5
,2

5
3

(8
,7

8
3
)

0
0

0
(3

8
2
)

(1
0
6
,1

2
7
)

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(4
,0

3
9
)

(2
,7

5
1
)

(8
1
6
)

2
6
0

2
4
2

0
6
5
9

8
4
8

1
,1

7
1

1
,1

3
4

6
7
3

4
3
3

7
0
1

2
3

1
,0

7
7

(1
,6

8
9
)

4
9
6

(9
3
)

(1
6
7
)

(6
6
)

(2
6
7
)

(2
,1

7
1
)

8
  
C

a
p

it
a
l 
c
h
g

s
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(2

4
,8

7
1
)

(3
,9

0
9
)

(1
4
8
)

9
0

(1
4
7
)

0
(4

2
0
)

(2
4
,7

9
3
)

0
3
3
4

1
1
9

(1
7
4
)

(3
1
)

3
2
9

6
6
,6

1
2

4
9
,0

5
3

(4
,6

6
9
)

0
1
,2

5
8

3
9
1

(1
,5

9
3
)

5
7
,4

3
0

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(1
1
,1

0
0
)

(3
,5

9
8
)

2
,4

7
3

(2
0
0
)

(9
1
9
)

(1
,5

9
9
)

1
7
,0

1
9

1
6
,9

0
7

(4
,5

6
5
)

(3
,9

7
2
)

6
,3

6
0

3
,0

9
1

8
,5

7
1

1
1
,9

2
7

(5
2
,7

6
1
)

(5
7
,4

8
7
)

(2
1
,2

1
9
)

(1
,0

3
9
)

9
0

(1
,8

3
6
)

(3
,3

0
0
)

(9
7
,1

5
6
)

D
:\

m
o
d
e
rn

g
o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m

D
o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0
0
4
2
2
1
\A

n
n
u
a
lo

u
tt

u
rn

a
p
p
e
n
d
ix

A
E

n
v
H

e
a
0
.x

ls
  

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h

P
a
g

e
 5

 o
f 

1
1

Page 72



O
rg

 D
e
v
 &

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

H
e
le

n
 B

is
h
o
p

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

F
0
0

G
0
0

K
1
0

K
2
0

K
3
0

K
4
0

K
7
0

K
9
0

L
1
0

N
7
0

T
0
9

T
3
5

T
8
6

T
8
7

T
9
8

T
9
9

U
0
1

U
0
2

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
IC

T

S
 &

 C
 

A
d

m
in

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

T
ra

in
in

g
 &

 

D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

R
e
c
ru

it
m

e
n

t 
&

 

S
e
le

c
ti

o
n

W
e
lf

a
re

P
o

li
c
y
 

D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
 

R
e
la

ti
o

n
s

H
e
a
lt

h
 &

 

S
a
fe

ty

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

C
iv

ic
 

D
u

ti
e
s

F
a
ri

n
g

d
o

n
 

C
a
s
h

 O
ff

ic
e

W
a
n

ta
g

e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

P
o

in
t

A
b

in
g

d
o

n
 

L
o

c
a
l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

P
o

in
t

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

D
u

ty
 

O
ff

ic
e
rs

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
o

s
ta

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

4
6
4
,3

0
0

1
2
0

7
5
,2

3
0

9
4
,8

7
0

2
8
,3

7
0

3
6
0

2
5
0

6
4
,3

6
0

4
5
,1

5
0

8
0
,8

2
0

2
4
,1

6
0

2
5
,5

2
0

1
1
3
,7

7
0

3
5
9
,4

6
0

2
5
,5

0
0

1
5
,9

3
0

8
5
,7

8
0

2
0
,2

2
0

1
,5

2
4
,1

7
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

4
5
0

1
0
0

5
0
0

2
,5

0
0

1
1
,3

4
0

1
4
,8

9
0

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

3
,8

4
0

4
5
0

4
5
0

6
0
0

0
0

4
5
0

3
,5

4
0

1
5
0

0
2
0
0

1
,5

9
0

3
,9

0
0

1
,1

2
0

1
5
0

1
5
0

3
0
0

1
6
,8

9
0

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
2
6
8
,5

5
0

1
0
,0

9
0

1
1
,8

1
0

5
,6

0
0

2
8
0

5
9
0

2
8
,8

5
0

1
3
,6

4
0

1
5
,9

9
0

6
,1

9
0

9
,8

3
0

2
,9

5
0

1
1
,6

8
0

3
3
,3

3
0

9
,7

9
0

8
3
0

2
3
,0

6
0

4
0
,6

3
0

4
9
3
,6

9
0

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

3
,2

0
0

3
,4

0
0

8
,6

0
0

1
5
,2

0
0

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

9
9
,6

6
0

4
,4

3
0

1
8
,4

7
0

2
7
,6

8
0

8
,4

4
0

1
0
,6

7
0

6
,1

2
0

2
5
,1

7
0

1
1
,0

0
0

4
8
,3

3
0

1
2
,0

2
0

1
0
,2

6
0

3
9
,5

2
0

1
6
5
,4

3
0

1
6
,3

3
0

4
5
,1

8
0

1
3
,8

9
0

5
6
2
,6

0
0

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

6
5
,4

5
1

1
,7

0
0

1
5
,0

0
0

7
2
,1

8
0

1
5
4
,3

3
1

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(9

2
0
,7

8
0
)

(1
4
,9

7
0
)

(2
2
1
,2

4
0
)

(1
5
7
,0

7
0
)

(3
7
,6

9
0
)

(1
0
3
,6

2
0
)

(7
5
,9

5
0
)

(1
3
6
,7

1
0
)

(4
2
,3

0
0
)

(1
9
6
,4

2
0
)

(6
6
3
,3

0
0
)

(5
0
,1

2
0
)

0
(1

5
6
,1

6
0
)

(7
5
,0

4
0
)

(2
,8

5
1
,3

7
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(1
8
,9

8
0
)

1
2
0

(1
1
5
,2

8
0
)

(2
8
,4

7
0
)

0
1
1
,6

2
0

3
5
,3

2
0

0
2
3
0

4
8
0

4
8
,5

1
0

(1
7
0
)

(2
2
0
)

(7
,0

0
0
)

2
,6

2
0

1
6
,9

1
0

(1
,9

9
0
)

0
(6

9
,5

9
9
)

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

4
6
4
,0

0
5

1
1
7

7
5
,4

9
1

8
7
,4

2
9

2
9
,9

6
0

0
0

6
9
,0

0
2

4
7
,7

3
0

9
1
,7

5
5

2
6
,1

9
0

2
3
,0

3
5

1
1
8
,1

3
8

3
5
5
,9

2
0

2
5
,3

1
7

1
7
,7

6
7

6
9
,3

1
8

2
6
,9

9
6

1
,5

2
8
,1

7
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

4
1
0

2
0
4

0
2
,4

8
1

1
0
,9

9
5

1
4
,0

8
9

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

3
,3

3
5

4
3
5

4
3
6

1
,0

9
5

0
0

4
3
2

3
,4

1
6

1
8
3

1
1

3
4
2

1
,5

6
9

4
,3

5
3

1
,1

4
3

1
4
2

1
4
2

4
4
5

1
7
,4

7
8

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
2
6
6
,2

6
3

1
1
,8

4
5

9
,7

6
0

5
,5

2
7

4
2
3

2
9
0

7
,9

0
3

1
6
,4

2
9

9
,1

1
2

5
,9

0
4

9
,4

0
4

8
9
3

1
1
,3

8
8

2
9
,0

1
2

6
,1

5
7

1
,2

0
4

1
9
,6

8
8

4
2
,0

5
7

4
5
3
,2

5
9

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

3
,1

2
9

3
,4

3
5

4
,7

7
4

1
1
,3

3
7

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

9
2
,3

0
4

4
,2

0
1

1
7
,5

1
9

2
5
,7

0
0

7
,9

4
3

9
,9

0
9

5
,8

5
7

2
3
,7

2
4

1
0
,1

6
3

4
5
,9

5
8

1
1
,1

5
6

9
,4

3
4

3
6
,2

1
6

1
5
5
,0

6
2

1
6
,4

0
1

4
3
,4

8
6

1
3
,7

8
4

5
2
8
,8

1
7

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

6
5
,4

5
1

1
,7

0
0

1
5
,0

0
0

7
2
,1

8
0

1
5
4
,3

3
1

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(8

9
1
,3

5
8
)

(1
6
,5

7
3
)

(1
0
3
,2

0
5
)

(1
1
9
,0

9
1
)

(3
9
,4

2
1
)

(1
0
9
,5

8
8
)

(7
0
,4

2
1
)

(1
4
5
,5

0
0
)

(3
6
,8

3
3
)

(1
9
6
,7

3
9
)

(6
2
1
,3

0
2
)

(4
9
,0

1
8
)

(1
2
)

(1
3
2
,6

3
4
)

(8
3
,2

8
1
)

(2
,6

1
4
,9

7
5
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(0
)

(0
)

0
1

(0
)

1
0
,1

9
9

1
3
,9

6
4

0
0

(0
)

4
9
,2

4
2

(0
)

1
(0

)
0

1
9
,1

0
1

(0
)

0
9
2
,5

0
6

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

(2
9
6
)

(3
)

2
6
1

(7
,4

4
1
)

1
,5

9
0

(3
6
0
)

(2
5
0
)

4
,6

4
2

2
,5

8
0

1
0
,9

3
5

2
,0

3
0

(2
,4

8
5
)

4
,3

6
8

(3
,5

4
0
)

(1
8
3
)

1
,8

3
7

(1
6
,4

6
2
)

6
,7

7
6

4
,0

0
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

0
(4

0
)

0
0

0
0

1
0
4

0
(5

0
0
)

0
(1

9
)

0
(3

4
5
)

0
0

0
0

0
(8

0
1
)

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

(5
0
5
)

0
(1

5
)

(1
4
)

4
9
5

0
0

(1
8
)

(1
2
4
)

3
3

1
1

1
4
2

(2
1
)

4
5
3

2
3

(8
)

(8
)

1
4
5

5
8
8

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
(2

,2
8
7
)

1
,7

5
5

(2
,0

5
0
)

(7
3
)

1
4
3

(3
0
0
)

(2
0
,9

4
7
)

2
,7

8
9

(6
,8

7
8
)

(2
8
6
)

(4
2
6
)

(2
,0

5
7
)

(2
9
3
)

(4
,3

1
8
)

(3
,6

3
3
)

3
7
4

(3
,3

7
2
)

1
,4

2
7

(4
0
,4

3
1
)

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(7

1
)

3
5

(3
,8

2
6
)

0
0

0
0

(3
,8

6
3
)

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(7
,3

5
6
)

(2
2
9
)

(9
5
1
)

(1
,9

8
0
)

(4
9
7
)

(7
6
1
)

(2
6
3
)

(1
,4

4
6
)

(8
3
7
)

(2
,3

7
2
)

(8
6
4
)

(8
2
6
)

(3
,3

0
4
)

(1
0
,3

6
8
)

7
1

0
(1

,6
9
4
)

(1
0
6
)

(3
3
,7

8
3
)

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
2
9
,4

2
2

(1
,6

0
3
)

1
1
8
,0

3
5

3
7
,9

7
9

(1
,7

3
1
)

0
0

(5
,9

6
8
)

5
,5

2
9

(8
,7

9
0
)

0
5
,4

6
7

(3
1
9
)

4
1
,9

9
8

1
,1

0
2

(1
2
)

2
3
,5

2
6

(8
,2

4
1
)

2
3
6
,3

9
5

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
8
,9

7
9

(1
2
0
)

1
1
5
,2

8
0

2
8
,4

7
1

(0
)

(1
,4

2
1
)

(2
1
,3

5
6
)

0
(2

3
0
)

(4
8
0
)

7
3
2

1
7
0

1
2
1

2
0
,4

0
0

(2
,6

2
0
)

2
,1

9
1

1
,9

9
0

0
1
6
2
,1

0
5

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
O

rg
D

e
v
0

.x
ls

  
O

rg
 D

e
v
 &

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

P
a
g
e
 6

 o
f 

1
1

Page 73



P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
&

 C
o
n
tr

a
c
t 
M

g
t

O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

H
y
w

e
l 

G
ri

ff
it

h
s

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

L
5
0

P
1
0

P
2
0

P
3
1

P
3
2

P
4
0

P
5
0

P
6
0

P
7
0

P
8
0

P
9
1

Q
9
0

T
4
4

T
6
1

T
6
4

T
6
5

T
6
6

T
6
7

T
7
2

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
H

ig
h

w
a
y
s
 

A
g

e
n

c
y

S
p

o
rt

 &
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti

o
n

 

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

L
a
n

d
s
c
a
p

e
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

W
a
n

ta
g

e
 

C
li
e
n

t

F
a
ri

n
g

d
o

n
 

C
li
e
n

t
G

u
il
d

h
a
ll

W
a
n

ta
g

e
 

C
iv

ic
 H

a
ll

L
e
is

u
re

 &
 A

rt
s
 

A
d

m
in

S
p

o
rt

s
 

D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

A
rt

s
 

D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
T

il
s
le

y
 C

li
e
n

t

F
it

z
h

a
rr

is
 

C
o

m
m

o
n

 

R
o

o
m

H
e
a
lt

h
 

D
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

A
b

in
g

d
o

n
 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

P
o

o
l

G
ro

u
n

d
s
 

M
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e
 

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t

H
o

rt
ic

u
lt

u
ra

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

P
a
rk

s
 &

 

O
p

e
n

 S
p

a
c
e
s

B
ri

d
g

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

A
rt

s
 

C
e
n

tr
e

W
H

 T
e
n

n
is

 &
 

L
C

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

7
1
,5

0
0

1
2
4
,7

7
0

1
4
0
,9

7
0

1
8
5
,8

6
0

3
,6

3
0

1
1
7
,0

6
0

5
4
,1

0
0

2
,5

5
0

3
6
,1

0
0

1
4
9
,9

2
0

6
8
,6

5
0

1
6
,5

7
0

7
,6

6
0

9
7
9
,3

4
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

0
1
9
,5

4
0

1
2
,2

4
0

1
1
0
,4

2
0

6
5
,3

1
0

5
0

3
,5

0
0

0
7
,7

1
0

1
,0

5
0

2
0
0

3
,2

9
0

1
2
,6

8
0

5
1
,5

4
0

6
,2

8
0

7
,7

3
0

3
0
1
,5

4
0

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

1
,7

3
0

5
,9

1
0

5
0

6
0
0

2
5
0

7
,2

5
0

1
,7

1
0

2
,8

3
0

1
0
,4

1
0

2
,2

6
0

0
0

3
3
,0

0
0

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
1
0
0

2
,1

3
0

1
4
,0

0
0

0
0

3
5
,1

4
0

2
3
,9

9
0

2
4
,3

7
0

2
3
,4

5
0

1
8
,1

8
0

0
7
2
0

2
,0

6
0

0
9
,0

3
0

6
,3

3
0

5
4
,2

8
0

1
,7

5
0

0
2
1
5
,5

3
0

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

2
7
,7

6
0

6
,0

0
0

2
0
3
,3

4
0

1
7
1
,0

1
0

4
2
0

8
4
0

2
7
2
,3

5
0

1
0
,6

9
0

0
3
1
9
,0

3
0

1
0
,1

2
0

1
,0

2
1
,5

6
0

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

2
3
,8

0
0

2
1
,9

4
0

5
3
,3

9
0

2
3
,2

4
0

1
9
,8

9
0

7
8
,5

2
0

9
0
,7

2
0

2
8
,5

3
0

4
6
,0

6
0

2
6
,6

8
0

3
9
,7

7
0

1
0
,8

4
0

7
,8

8
0

2
3
,8

9
0

4
7
,7

2
0

2
5
9
,2

4
0

1
1
,6

0
0

2
2
,0

1
0

8
3
5
,7

2
0

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
2
1
4
,3

5
0

7
7
,4

5
0

1
1
9
,7

0
0

1
0
2
,5

0
0

1
9
2
,4

0
0

3
,0

0
0

2
6
,9

0
0

1
1
8
,7

9
7

0
5
9
4
,3

0
0

1
,4

4
9
,3

9
7

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(2

6
,2

0
0
)

(1
0
3
,0

8
0
)

0
0

(1
5
3
,0

3
0
)

(6
3
,5

4
0
)

(5
5
,3

4
0
)

(1
4
,5

0
0
)

(4
,7

7
0
)

0
(3

,7
7
0
)

(2
5
0
)

(1
6
,0

0
0
)

(1
9
2
,4

8
0
)

(1
3
5
,7

2
0
)

(5
2
,5

1
0
)

(1
5
,2

8
0
)

0
(8

3
6
,4

7
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

2
5
,4

6
0

2
2
0

1
9
8
,0

7
0

4
5
7
,6

7
0

2
7
9
,6

9
0

3
3
0
,9

9
0

4
0
5
,8

8
0

1
,4

9
0

1
8
2
,8

2
0

9
5
,9

0
0

5
1
1
,2

3
0

3
,6

5
0

5
1
,7

8
0

3
1
,9

6
0

7
7
0

1
,9

2
0

7
6
9
,8

5
0

1
2
,0

1
0

6
2
9
,6

6
0

3
,9

9
9
,6

1
7

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

7
0
,2

3
2

1
1
8
,4

3
0

1
5
7
,0

1
4

1
9
5
,5

6
9

1
0
,8

4
8

1
1
3
,0

6
0

5
1
,7

2
8

2
,2

1
9

3
6
,0

7
7

1
4
7
,6

5
8

6
8
,4

5
7

1
2
,0

3
0

7
,3

8
2

9
9
0
,7

0
4

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

6
8

1
7
,1

5
5

(8
,1

4
4
)

1
0
5
,0

7
9

7
0
,4

2
5

3
4

2
0
9

3
4

2
9
9

1
,4

3
0

1
1
7

5
,6

0
0

1
5
,0

2
3

4
9
,2

4
7

5
,2

9
3

1
0
,1

7
8

2
7
2
,0

4
7

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

1
,8

1
2

5
,2

5
8

1
7

5
7
4

6
4

5
,9

9
6

1
,5

6
4

2
,7

4
0

9
,7

7
9

1
,6

1
1

0
0

2
9
,4

1
4

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
0

1
,9

9
6

1
1
,8

6
6

6
9

(1
0
8
)

3
0
,1

0
0

2
2
,6

7
2

1
1
,7

8
8

1
9
,7

5
7

1
4
,2

0
4

(3
6
)

5
1
0

1
,4

7
6

1
,2

7
5

8
,1

2
8

4
,7

5
7

4
5
,0

7
2

1
,0

1
8

1
,6

2
2

1
7
6
,1

6
7

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

4
6
,6

8
1

5
,4

4
8

2
0
9
,0

8
3

1
9
3
,9

3
5

1
4
4

9
2
6

2
7
5
,6

4
0

2
,4

4
8

0
3
1
8
,7

2
3

4
,9

2
7

1
,0

5
7
,9

5
5

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

2
2
,5

7
3

1
9
,9

8
9

4
9
,7

0
8

2
2
,5

0
8

1
9
,2

1
9

7
3
,0

2
7

8
3
,6

1
8

2
7
,7

0
9

4
1
,8

9
1

2
4
,4

9
6

3
8
,3

1
8

1
0
,0

7
8

7
,5

2
7

2
1
,3

5
9

4
6
,2

0
7

2
6
3
,8

1
2

1
0
,7

5
8

2
1
,0

6
6

8
0
3
,8

6
1

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
2
1
4
,3

5
0

7
7
,4

5
0

1
1
9
,7

0
0

1
0
2
,5

0
0

1
9
2
,4

0
0

3
,0

0
0

2
6
,9

0
0

1
1
8
,7

9
7

0
5
9
4
,3

0
0

1
,4

4
9
,3

9
7

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(4

0
,6

7
8
)

(9
9
,4

7
6
)

(5
9
,6

1
4
)

(8
,7

6
8
)

(1
5
6
,1

0
9
)

(6
8
,2

3
4
)

(5
0
,4

4
3
)

(1
7
,5

5
0
)

(3
,6

6
2
)

(3
1
,3

6
2
)

(4
,9

3
3
)

(2
4
9
)

(7
2
5
)

(1
8
6
,9

2
4
)

(1
3
6
,0

5
5
)

(4
1
,5

6
1
)

(1
1
,0

8
7
)

5
,4

9
0

(9
1
1
,9

3
9
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

2
8
,6

4
4

0
1
8
5
,2

6
2

4
0
3
,5

5
1

2
7
3
,5

8
4

3
2
8
,9

7
1

4
0
8
,0

4
9

0
1
6
3
,3

6
4

8
8
,3

6
4

4
7
5
,2

6
0

2
,2

2
5

5
0
,2

3
9

4
3
,0

2
6

1
(0

)
7
6
6
,1

2
0

1
3
,3

6
4

6
3
7
,5

8
3

3
,8

6
7
,6

0
6

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

0
(1

,2
6
8
)

(6
,3

4
0
)

0
0

1
6
,0

4
4

9
,7

0
9

7
,2

1
8

(4
,0

0
0
)

(2
,3

7
2
)

0
(3

3
1
)

(2
3
)

0
(2

,2
6
2
)

(1
9
3
)

(4
,5

4
0
)

(2
7
8
)

0
1
1
,3

6
4

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

6
8

0
0

(2
,3

8
5
)

(2
0
,3

8
4
)

(5
,3

4
1
)

5
,1

1
5

(1
6
)

(3
,2

9
1
)

3
4

(7
,4

1
1
)

3
8
0

(8
3
)

2
,3

1
0

0
2
,3

4
3

(2
,2

9
3
)

(9
8
7
)

2
,4

4
8

(2
9
,4

9
3
)

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

0
8
2

(6
5
2
)

0
0

(3
3
)

(2
6
)

(1
8
6
)

(1
,2

5
4
)

(1
4
6
)

0
0

(9
0
)

0
(6

3
1
)

(6
4
9
)

0
0

0
(3

,5
8
6
)

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
(1

0
0
)

(1
3
4
)

(2
,1

3
4
)

6
9

(1
0
8
)

(5
,0

4
0
)

(1
,3

1
8
)

(1
2
,5

8
2
)

(3
,6

9
3
)

(3
,9

7
6
)

(3
6
)

(2
1
1
)

(5
8
4
)

1
,2

7
5

(9
0
2
)

(1
,5

7
3
)

(9
,2

0
8
)

(7
3
2
)

1
,6

2
2

(3
9
,3

6
3
)

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

1
8
,9

2
1

(5
5
2
)

0
5
,7

4
3

2
2
,9

2
5

(2
7
6
)

8
6

0
0

0
3
,2

9
0

0
0

(8
,2

4
2
)

0
0

(3
0
7
)

0
(5

,1
9
3
)

3
6
,3

9
5

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(1
,2

2
7
)

(1
,9

5
1
)

(3
,6

8
2
)

(7
3
2
)

(6
7
2
)

(5
,4

9
4
)

(7
,1

0
3
)

(8
2
1
)

(4
,1

6
9
)

(2
,1

8
4
)

(1
,4

5
2
)

0
(7

6
2
)

(3
5
3
)

(2
,5

3
1
)

(1
,5

1
4
)

4
,5

7
2

(8
4
2
)

(9
4
4
)

(3
1
,8

5
9
)

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(1

4
,4

7
8
)

3
,6

0
4

0
(5

9
,6

1
4
)

(8
,7

6
8
)

(3
,0

7
9
)

(4
,6

9
4
)

4
,8

9
7

(3
,0

5
0
)

1
,1

0
8

(3
1
,3

6
2
)

(1
,1

6
3
)

1
1
5
,2

7
5

5
,5

5
6

(3
3
5
)

1
0
,9

4
9

4
,1

9
3

5
,4

9
0

(7
5
,4

6
9
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

3
,1

8
4

(2
2
0
)

(1
2
,8

0
8
)

(5
6
,9

1
9
)

(7
,0

0
6
)

(3
,2

1
9
)

1
,7

6
9

(1
,4

9
0
)

(1
9
,4

5
6
)

(7
,5

3
6
)

(3
6
,9

7
0
)

(1
,3

2
5
)

(1
,5

4
1
)

1
0
,2

6
6

(7
6
9
)

(1
,9

2
0
)

(8
2
7
)

1
,3

5
4

3
,4

2
3

(1
3
2
,0

1
1
)

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
P

ro
C

o
n

0
.x

ls
  

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
&

 C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

M
g

t
P

a
g
e
 7

 o
f 

1
1

Page 74



H
o

u
s
in

g
 &

 C
o

m
m

 S
a

fe
ty

O
u

tt
u

rn
 R

e
p

o
rt

  
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

P
a
u

l 
S

ta
in

e
s

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

T
4
3

T
4
5

T
4
6

T
4
7

T
4
8

T
5
2

T
5
3

T
5
4

T
5
7

T
5
8

T
7
1

U
2
9

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
C

C
T

V

H
o

u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

H
o

m
e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s

E
n

a
b

li
n

g
R

e
g

u
la

ti
o

n

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty
H

E
C

A

H
o

u
s
in

g
 

R
e
g

is
te

r

M
e
d

ia
ti

o
n

 

S
e
rv

ic
e

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

 

W
a
rd

e
n

s

H
o

u
s
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

T
e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 

A
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti

o
n

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

1
7
2
,8

1
0

3
2
,7

5
0

2
9
2
,6

6
0

5
0
,1

0
0

6
8
,3

8
0

5
7
,6

5
0

5
7
,7

5
0

1
4
3
,8

6
0

0
3
0
,0

0
0

3
4
,9

3
0

9
4
0
,8

9
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

1
0
0

4
,0

2
0

1
,2

5
0

2
0
0

(1
,7

6
0
)

3
0
,8

0
0

3
4
,6

1
0

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

2
,2

5
0

1
,1

9
0

8
,7

6
0

2
,6

9
0

3
,1

8
0

4
,1

0
0

1
,9

4
0

4
,3

0
0

8
8
0

1
,3

8
0

3
0
,6

7
0

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
4
1
,7

9
0

1
5
,6

2
0

7
0
,8

8
0

9
,2

2
0

2
,6

2
0

2
4
,9

7
0

2
0
,8

3
0

3
7
,9

0
0

2
,1

6
0

7
6
0

5
,4

7
0

1
8
6
,1

8
0

4
1
8
,4

0
0

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

6
,6

2
0

6
,6

2
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

5
0
,1

7
0

4
8
,7

3
0

6
6
,2

4
0

3
0
,9

6
0

2
7
,1

2
0

3
6
,1

6
0

1
7
,8

9
0

4
2
,3

2
0

6
,0

6
0

0
1
0
,1

1
0

5
1
,0

6
0

3
8
6
,8

2
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

8
1
,5

0
0

0
8
0
8
,7

1
4

1
9
,4

0
0

1
5
6
,7

0
0

1
,0

6
6
,3

1
4

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(1

4
7
,8

1
0
)

(5
0
)

(2
2
,0

5
0
)

(7
3
6
,1

5
0
)

(5
0
)

0
(5

0
)

(5
0
)

(5
0
)

(2
6
5
,0

0
0
)

(1
,1

7
1
,2

6
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

2
0
0
,8

1
0

9
8
,2

4
0

4
2
0
,5

1
0

2
6
0
,7

0
0

1
0
1
,2

5
0

1
2
4
,1

3
0

9
8
,3

6
0

2
4
7
,9

3
0

8
,2

2
0

2
9
,8

8
0

5
8
,4

6
0

1
5
1
,0

4
0

1
,7

1
3
,0

6
4

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

1
6
5
,8

9
3

3
1
,6

0
9

2
7
3
,3

6
5

5
4
,4

9
6

7
0
,3

5
7

8
5
,8

5
1

5
7
,9

6
2

1
2
7
,1

9
4

0
0

3
3
,8

2
3

9
0
0
,5

5
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

1
,1

6
5

4
,8

9
3

1
,5

7
9

6
0

0
3
2
,7

8
9

4
0
,4

8
7

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

1
,7

7
6

1
,1

1
6

7
,9

2
6

2
,0

3
5

2
,5

3
3

5
,6

1
2

2
,1

4
3

3
,9

7
7

0
1
,2

5
2

2
8
,3

7
0

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
7
2
,8

5
4

1
2
,7

9
4

4
8
,2

6
8

8
,5

4
1

3
,0

4
0

1
0
3
,2

1
5

1
4
,1

0
2

4
4
,5

1
5

2
,1

6
0

0
5
6
6

3
9
0
,3

0
2

7
0
0
,3

5
7

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

6
,6

2
3

6
,6

2
3

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

4
5
,2

5
6

4
6
,3

6
0

6
1
,6

8
0

2
9
,9

4
0

2
5
,5

3
5

3
3
,6

2
4

1
6
,4

5
0

3
9
,2

1
8

5
,8

0
0

0
9
,4

2
4

4
7
,6

8
2

3
6
0
,9

6
9

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

8
1
,5

0
0

0
8
0
8
,7

1
4

1
9
,4

0
0

1
5
6
,7

0
0

1
,0

6
6
,3

1
4

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(1

5
4
,2

9
4
)

(1
2
0
)

(1
8
,4

9
7
)

(7
1
7
,2

8
6
)

(1
0
4
)

(1
3
5
,1

9
9
)

(1
0
4
)

(1
0
4
)

(1
0
4
)

(2
9
3
,1

1
9
)

(1
,3

1
8
,9

3
1
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

2
1
4
,1

5
1

9
1
,7

6
0

3
7
7
,6

3
6

1
8
6
,4

3
9

1
0
1
,3

6
2

9
4
,6

8
1

9
0
,5

5
3

2
3
4
,2

5
9

7
,9

6
0

0
5
1
,5

8
3

3
3
4
,3

5
4

1
,7

8
4
,7

3
9

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s

(6
,9

1
7
)

(1
,1

4
1
)

(1
9
,2

9
5
)

4
,3

9
6

1
,9

7
7

2
8
,2

0
1

2
1
2

(1
6
,6

6
6
)

0
(3

0
,0

0
0
)

(1
,1

0
7
)

0
(4

0
,3

4
0
)

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

1
,0

6
5

0
8
7
3

0
0

3
2
9

0
(1

4
0
)

0
1
,7

6
0

0
1
,9

8
9

5
,8

7
7

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

(4
7
4
)

(7
4
)

(8
3
4
)

(6
5
5
)

(6
4
7
)

1
,5

1
2

2
0
3

(3
2
3
)

0
(8

8
0
)

(1
2
8
)

0
(2

,3
0
0
)

4
  
S

u
p
p
lie

s
3
1
,0

6
4

(2
,8

2
6
)

(2
2
,6

1
2
)

(6
7
9
)

4
2
0

7
8
,2

4
5

(6
,7

2
8
)

6
,6

1
5

0
(7

6
0
)

(4
,9

0
4
)

2
0
4
,1

2
2

2
8
1
,9

5
7

5
  
C

o
n
tr

a
c
ts

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

3
0

3

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(4
,9

1
4
)

(2
,3

7
0
)

(4
,5

6
0
)

(1
,0

2
0
)

(1
,5

8
5
)

(2
,5

3
6
)

(1
,4

4
0
)

(3
,1

0
2
)

(2
6
0
)

0
(6

8
6
)

(3
,3

7
8
)

(2
5
,8

5
1
)

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(6

,4
8
4
)

(7
0
)

3
,5

5
3

1
8
,8

6
4

(5
4
)

(1
3
5
,1

9
9
)

(5
4
)

(5
4
)

0
0

(5
4
)

(2
8
,1

1
9
)

(1
4
7
,6

7
1
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
3
,3

4
1

(6
,4

8
0
)

(4
2
,8

7
4
)

2
0
,9

0
5

1
1
2

(2
9
,4

4
9
)

(7
,8

0
7
)

(1
3
,6

7
1
)

(2
6
0
)

(2
9
,8

8
0
)

(6
,8

7
7
)

1
7
4
,6

1
4

7
1
,6

7
5

D
:\
m

o
d

e
rn

g
o

v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
H

o
u

C
o

m
0

.x
ls

  
H

o
u

s
in

g
 &

 C
o

m
m

 S
a

fe
ty

P
a
g
e
 8

 o
f 

1
1

Page 75



C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y 

&
 S

p
a
ti
a
l 
P

la
n
n
in

g
O

u
tt

u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

R
o

d
g

e
r 

H
o

o
d

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

A
0

0
K

6
0

M
9

0
N

1
0

N
2

0
T

1
5

T
3

3
T

5
9

T
6

9
T

7
4

T
7

5
T

8
8

T
8

9
T

9
1

U
2

8
G

ra
n

d
 T

o
ta

l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
o

li
c

y

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 A
d

m
in

C
a

r 
P

a
rk

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

C
a

r 
P

a
rk

 

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

F
u

n
d

in
g

 

O
ff

ic
e

rs

Y
o

u
th

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

G
ra

n
ts

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 G

ra
n

ts

A
b

in
g

d
o

n
 

T
IC

F
a

ri
n

g
d

o
n

 

T
IC

E
x

c
e

s
s

 C
h

a
rg

e
s

 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

P
la

n
n

in
g

 

D
e

li
v
e

ry
 

G
ra

n
t

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

8
9
,6

7
0

3
0
0

3
7
7
,0

3
0

6
7
0
,4

8
0

0
1
6
,6

3
0

4
1
,3

5
0

9
,2

4
0

2
4
,3

0
0

4
9
,5

1
0

1
3
5
,1

6
0

4
4
,7

2
0

1
,4

5
8
,3

9
0

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

2
5
0

1
,1

5
0

2
2
,5

0
0

2
,5

0
0

1
5
1
,2

7
0

6
0
0

6
0
0

7
,1

0
0

9
,0

4
0

1
9
5
,0

1
0

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

2
,1

3
0

2
5
,1

7
0

2
2
,4

6
0

0
7
0
0

2
,2

1
0

2
,9

8
0

2
5
0

1
,9

9
0

1
2
,9

2
0

2
,5

0
0

7
3
,3

1
0

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
1
7
4
,2

2
0

1
3
1
,0

4
0

3
4
0
,2

5
0

1
1
8
,3

9
0

0
1
4
,1

6
0

4
7
,2

9
0

2
,1

9
0

5
,5

5
0

1
1
5
,7

8
0

1
1
6
,5

7
0

0
9
,5

7
0

1
0
5
,0

0
0

1
,1

8
0
,0

1
0

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

5
1
,5

0
0

7
,0

0
0

4
1
,3

6
0

2
4
,0

0
0

1
2
3
,8

6
0

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

6
3
,7

4
0

9
,8

1
0

9
5
,4

0
0

4
2
5
,2

6
0

0
7
,2

7
0

1
6
7
,3

9
0

1
9
,6

1
0

1
1
,0

2
0

2
3
,7

7
0

6
,1

3
0

5
5
,8

4
0

8
8
5
,2

4
0

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
1
3
7
,6

9
6

2
5
,9

8
0

0
2
2
4
,4

0
0

1
4
,6

2
3

4
0
2
,6

9
9

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(1

1
,0

0
0
)

(6
,5

9
0
)

(5
6
5
,9

8
0
)

0
(2

,0
0
0
)

(8
2
3
,6

2
0
)

(5
,2

0
0
)

(4
0
0
)

(2
4
2
,5

2
0
)

(1
5
2
,0

0
0
)

(1
,8

0
9
,3

1
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

3
7
0
,5

1
0

1
4
2
,3

0
0

1
,0

1
7
,9

8
0

6
9
9
,0

9
0

0
3
6
,7

6
0

(1
5
4
,1

5
0
)

3
4
,0

2
0

4
1
,7

2
0

2
0
2
,9

2
0

1
2
2
,7

0
0

1
,9

0
0

8
,6

4
0

(5
,0

3
0
)

2
2
0

2
,5

0
9
,2

0
9

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

8
6
,4

1
1

0
3
8
2
,7

1
4

6
4
1
,3

1
7

0
1
6
,7

4
1

4
5
,5

5
2

8
,3

9
4

2
4
,2

9
0

5
4
,9

9
9

1
1
9
,7

1
5

4
8
,9

7
6

1
,4

2
9
,1

0
8

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

8
3

3
4
9

2
2
,3

7
9

1
,2

3
7

1
5
1
,9

2
2

1
,4

5
1

0
7
7
1

3
,8

9
2

1
8
2
,0

8
2

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

2
,0

9
6

2
2
,7

2
3

2
2
,7

5
7

0
2
,2

8
3

1
,7

7
9

1
,0

9
6

1
7
4

1
,9

8
3

1
1
,4

6
2

1
,3

4
8

6
7
,7

0
2

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
1
4
6
,7

7
7

1
2
3
,9

4
3

3
4
4
,8

4
0

1
1
8
,2

1
6

0
1
3
,9

7
6

4
2
,8

9
9

2
,5

1
9

4
,6

4
1

1
0
5
,4

2
1

1
1
7
,6

1
3

9
0

9
,0

0
5

1
0
,9

7
1

1
,0

4
0
,9

0
9

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

5
1
,4

6
5

5
,8

4
5

4
0
,7

7
8

2
1
,6

5
4

1
1
9
,7

4
1

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

6
0
,6

4
1

9
,1

9
3

8
9
,4

5
2

3
9
8
,8

7
9

0
6
,8

8
0

1
3
8
,2

2
4

1
8
,3

0
2

1
0
,2

4
9

2
1
,7

5
1

5
,8

6
8

5
0
,8

8
4

8
1
0
,3

2
3

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
1
3
7
,6

9
6

2
5
,9

8
0

0
2
2
4
,4

0
0

1
4
,6

2
3

4
0
2
,6

9
9

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
(9

,9
2
6
)

(6
,3

6
7
)

(6
2
6
,4

2
7
)

0
(2

,0
2
3
)

(8
3
7
,4

1
2
)

0
(9

)
(2

1
2
,7

2
0
)

(6
1
,2

9
5
)

(1
,7

5
6
,1

8
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

3
3
7
,5

4
6

1
3
3
,4

8
5

9
9
9
,2

8
1

5
8
1
,9

5
8

0
3
7
,8

5
6

(1
9
1
,8

5
8
)

3
0
,3

1
1

4
0
,8

0
4

1
9
8
,7

7
7

1
2
3
,4

8
1

7
7
1

3
,9

7
2

(0
)

0
2
,2

9
6
,3

8
4

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  

E
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

(3
,2

5
9
)

(3
0
0
)

5
,6

8
4

(2
9
,1

6
3
)

0
1
1
1

4
,2

0
2

(8
4
6
)

(1
0
)

5
,4

8
9

0
0

0
(1

5
,4

4
5
)

4
,2

5
6

(2
9
,2

8
2
)

2
  

P
re

m
is

e
s

(1
6
7
)

(8
0
1
)

(1
2
1
)

(1
,2

6
3
)

0
0

6
5
2

0
8
5
1

(6
0
0
)

0
(6

,3
2
9
)

(5
,1

4
8
)

0
0

(1
2
,9

2
8
)

3
  

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

(3
4
)

0
(2

,4
4
7
)

2
9
7

0
1
,5

8
3

(4
3
1
)

(1
,8

8
4
)

(7
6
)

(7
)

0
0

0
(1

,4
5
8
)

(1
,1

5
2
)

(5
,6

0
8
)

4
  

S
u
p
p
lie

s
(2

7
,4

4
3
)

(7
,0

9
7
)

4
,5

9
0

(1
7
4
)

0
(1

8
4
)

(4
,3

9
1
)

3
2
9

(9
0
9
)

(1
0
,3

5
9
)

1
,0

4
3

0
9
0

(5
6
5
)

(9
4
,0

2
9
)

(1
3
9
,1

0
1
)

5
  

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

(3
5
)

0
(1

,1
5
5
)

0
0

0
(5

8
2
)

0
0

0
0

0
0

(2
,3

4
7
)

0
(4

,1
1
9
)

7
  

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

(3
,0

9
9
)

(6
1
7
)

(5
,9

4
8
)

(2
6
,3

8
1
)

0
(3

9
0
)

(2
9
,1

6
6
)

(1
,3

0
8
)

(7
7
1
)

(2
,0

1
9
)

(2
6
2
)

0
0

(4
,9

5
6
)

0
(7

4
,9

1
7
)

8
  

C
a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

9
  

In
c
o
m

e
1
,0

7
4

0
2
2
3

(6
0
,4

4
7
)

0
(2

3
)

(1
3
,7

9
2
)

0
0

0
0

5
,2

0
0

3
9
1

2
9
,8

0
0

9
0
,7

0
5

5
3
,1

3
0

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(3
2
,9

6
4
)

(8
,8

1
5
)

8
2
5

(1
1
7
,1

3
2
)

0
1
,0

9
6

(4
3
,5

0
8
)

(3
,7

0
9
)

(9
1
6
)

(7
,4

9
6
)

7
8
1

(1
,1

2
9
)

(4
,6

6
8
)

5
,0

3
0

(2
2
0
)

(2
1
2
,8

2
5
)

D
:\

m
o
d
e
rn

g
o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m

D
o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0
0
4
2
2
1
\A

n
n
u
a
lo

u
tt

u
rn

a
p
p
e
n
d
ix

A
P

la
n
n
in

g
0
.x

ls
  

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y 

&
 S

p
a
ti
a
l 
P

la
n
n
in

g
P

a
g
e
 9

 o
f 

1
1

Page 76



Internal Audit Outturn Report  Appendix A

DD/AD Sam Turner

Latest Budget 2005/06

E00 K50 Grand Total

Cipfagrp Internal Audit

Performance 

Management

1  Employees 82,600 57,020 139,620

2  Premises 0 0

3  Transport 5,120 1,140 6,260

4  Supplies 4,810 11,860 16,670

7  Recharges 33,010 31,040 64,050

8  Capital chgs 4,400 4,400

9  Income (128,800) (128,800)

Grand Total (3,260) 105,460 102,200

Actuals 2005/06

1  Employees 99,643 71,538 171,181

2  Premises 0 0

3  Transport 3,270 1,821 5,090

4  Supplies 4,632 9,464 14,096

7  Recharges 31,542 29,580 61,122

8  Capital chgs 4,400 4,400

9  Income (139,086) (139,086)

Grand Total 0 116,803 116,803

Variances 2005/06

1  Employees 17,043 14,518 31,561

2  Premises 0 0 0

3  Transport (1,850) 681 (1,170)

4  Supplies (178) (2,396) (2,574)

7  Recharges (1,468) (1,460) (2,928)

8  Capital chgs 0 0 0

9  Income (10,286) 0 (10,286)

Grand Total 3,260 11,343 14,603

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\2\2\AI00004221\AnnualoutturnappendixAIntAud0.xls  Internal Audit Page 10 of 11
Page 77



F
in

a
n
c
e

O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

 A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

D
D

/A
D

S
te

v
e
 B

is
h

o
p

L
a
te

s
t 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

2
0
0
5
/0

6

D
0
0

N
5
0

N
6
0

N
9
0

T
3
4

T
3
6

T
3
7

T
3
8

T
3
9

T
4
1

T
4
9

T
5
1

T
5
6

T
7
3

T
7
6

T
7
7

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

C
ip

fa
g

rp
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

C
o

re

U
n

a
p

p
o

rt
io

n
e
d

 

O
v
e
rh

e
a
d

s
A

c
c
o

u
n

ta
n

c
y

R
e
n

t 

A
c
c
o

u
n

ti
n

g
C

o
u

n
c
il

 T
a
x

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

R
a
te

s
P

a
y
ro

ll
C

re
d

it
o

rs

S
u

n
d

ry
 

D
e
b

to
rs

B
e
n

e
fi

ts
 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

M
o

rt
g

a
g

e
s

B
e
n

e
fi

t 
F

ra
u

d

A
s
s
is

te
d

 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

P
a
y
m

e
n

t 
O

f 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 B

e
n

e
fi

t

P
a
y
m

e
n

t 
O

f 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 T
a
x
 

B
e
n

e
fi

t

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

5
0
,9

8
0

5
5
1
,4

6
0

3
4
2
,1

0
0

3
2
1
,7

0
0

1
0
,2

6
0

2
8
2
,1

2
0

1
4
4
,2

9
0

5
3
,9

6
0

1
7
,0

3
0

3
6
,3

6
0

5
0
5
,5

5
0

1
2
,9

3
0

1
4
0
,7

9
0

5
8
,6

6
0

2
,5

2
8
,1

9
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

1
,1

0
0

1
,3

9
0

0
2
,4

9
0

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

1
,1

4
0

7
,3

9
0

9
,0

2
0

0
1
,9

8
0

2
,4

7
0

0
0

0
9
,8

5
0

0
4
,7

0
0

1
8
0

3
6
,7

3
0

4
  
S

u
p
p
li
e
s

4
3
,8

8
0

1
7
8
,6

8
0

0
2
9
,7

1
0

1
,0

0
0

1
1
2
,0

8
0

1
7
,6

0
0

1
2
,0

0
0

9
,8

6
0

7
,7

3
0

1
0
9
,1

9
0

3
,3

6
0

1
9
,0

1
0

2
3
1
,6

5
0

7
7
5
,7

5
0

6
  
T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
p
y
m

ts
1
3
,7

9
5
,0

0
0

4
,0

3
7
,0

5
0

1
7
,8

3
2
,0

5
0

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

3
7
,0

2
0

1
4
0
,9

2
0

1
0
7
,3

3
0

6
,2

1
0

4
2
7
,7

0
0

6
4
,1

1
0

3
2
,0

4
0

4
3
,0

6
0

3
7
,9

4
0

2
4
2
,7

5
0

8
,8

0
0

4
6
,1

4
0

3
0
,4

0
0

6
,0

4
0

1
,2

3
0
,4

6
0

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

6
,0

0
0

3
6
,9

0
0

6
0

5
0
0

1
3
0

3
0
0

2
5
0

6
8
0

4
4
,8

2
0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(1

3
6
,2

2
0
)

(3
7
,6

5
0
)

(5
2
0
,4

8
0
)

(1
7
,5

3
0
)

(1
1
2
,8

2
0
)

(2
0
3
,0

9
0
)

(1
0
0
,7

1
0
)

(7
5
,6

5
0
)

(8
1
,8

5
0
)

(5
8
3
,3

7
0
)

(9
,8

0
0
)

(1
2
9
,4

0
0
)

0
(1

3
,5

4
8
,9

1
0
)

(4
,1

0
6
,8

1
0
)

(1
9
,6

6
4
,2

9
0
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(3
,2

0
0
)

8
4
1
,9

0
0

3
4
8
,1

0
0

(1
5
,8

2
0
)

0
7
1
1
,5

6
0

2
5
,5

1
0

(2
,4

1
0
)

(5
,7

0
0
)

4
3
0

2
8
4
,6

5
0

1
6
,6

8
0

8
1
,2

4
0

3
2
0
,8

9
0

2
5
2
,1

3
0

(6
9
,7

6
0
)

2
,7

8
6
,2

0
0

A
c
tu

a
ls

 2
0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

5
8
,1

6
3

5
3
8
,5

9
7

3
3
8
,2

4
2

3
1
7
,5

1
1

9
,5

7
2

2
9
2
,8

0
8

1
5
2
,4

5
8

4
9
,4

9
8

2
2
,0

7
0

3
6
,1

2
3

4
7
4
,4

2
9

1
4
,2

2
8

1
4
5
,2

9
5

4
0
,8

0
4

2
,4

8
9
,8

0
0

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

3
,6

4
7

1
,3

9
2

0
5
,0

3
9

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

1
,1

5
5

5
,1

0
1

8
,4

3
9

0
2
,3

5
4

1
,6

5
3

0
0

0
9
,1

9
8

1
2
3

4
,3

3
1

2
8
2

3
2
,6

3
7

4
  
S

u
p
p
li
e
s

3
6
,0

3
2

1
8
5
,1

2
6

1
8

2
8
,7

7
7

3
3
9

1
0
9
,1

1
3

1
6
,7

2
9

9
,0

8
9

5
,9

2
5

9
,8

4
7

1
0
1
,3

5
6

1
,7

6
6

2
5
,4

2
0

2
1
8
,5

9
8

7
4
8
,1

3
5

6
  
T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
p
y
m

ts
1
3
,9

0
0
,4

9
5

4
,0

6
1
,4

7
4

1
7
,9

6
1
,9

6
9

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

3
7
,4

3
8

1
3
5
,7

7
9

1
0
3
,1

0
4

5
,7

6
8

4
0
3
,9

5
1

6
2
,2

9
7

3
1
,4

5
5

4
3
,5

1
4

3
7
,3

6
5

2
2
7
,6

3
3

8
,2

7
1

4
3
,0

4
8

2
8
,5

9
2

5
,7

7
7

1
,1

7
3
,9

9
2

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

6
,0

0
0

3
6
,9

0
0

6
0

5
0
0

1
3
0

3
0
0

2
5
0

6
8
0

4
4
,8

2
0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
(1

3
2
,7

8
9
)

(3
2
,9

2
9
)

(4
9
4
,7

3
2
)

(1
5
,7

3
9
)

(1
0
7
,5

9
6
)

(1
9
3
,7

1
3
)

(9
0
,3

4
2
)

(7
1
,5

0
9
)

(8
3
,5

8
4
)

(5
8
4
,5

3
9
)

(3
6
,6

0
9
)

(3
6
2
,6

6
0
)

(7
3
)

(1
3
,6

6
5
,3

5
4
)

(4
,0

8
5
,1

2
1
)

(1
9
,9

5
7
,2

8
8
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(0
)

8
3
5
,3

2
0

3
4
4
,2

6
0

(0
)

1
7
0
1
,1

3
0

3
9
,5

5
5

1
0

1
2
2
8
,7

5
8

(1
0
,8

2
9
)

(1
4
4
,5

6
6
)

2
8
8
,2

0
3

2
4
0
,9

1
8

(2
3
,6

4
7
)

2
,4

9
9
,1

0
3

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6

1
  
E

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

7
,1

8
3

(1
2
,8

6
3
)

(3
,8

5
8
)

(4
,1

8
9
)

(6
8
8
)

1
0
,6

8
8

8
,1

6
8

(4
,4

6
2
)

5
,0

4
0

(2
3
7
)

(3
1
,1

2
1
)

1
,2

9
8

4
,5

0
5

(1
7
,8

5
6
)

0
0

(3
8
,3

9
0
)

2
  
P

re
m

is
e
s

0
2
,5

4
7

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
0

0
0

2
,5

4
9

3
  
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

1
5

(2
,2

8
9
)

0
(5

8
1
)

0
3
7
4

(8
1
7
)

0
0

0
(6

5
2
)

1
2
3

(3
6
9
)

1
0
2

0
0

(4
,0

9
3
)

4
  
S

u
p
p
li
e
s

(7
,8

4
8
)

6
,4

4
6

1
8

(9
3
3
)

(6
6
1
)

(2
,9

6
7
)

(8
7
1
)

(2
,9

1
1
)

(3
,9

3
5
)

2
,1

1
7

(7
,8

3
4
)

(1
,5

9
4
)

6
,4

1
0

(1
3
,0

5
2
)

0
0

(2
7
,6

1
5
)

6
  
T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
p
y
m

ts
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1
0
5
,4

9
5

2
4
,4

2
4

1
2
9
,9

1
9

7
  
R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

4
1
8

(5
,1

4
1
)

0
(4

,2
2
6
)

(4
4
2
)

(2
3
,7

4
9
)

(1
,8

1
3
)

(5
8
5
)

4
5
4

(5
7
5
)

(1
5
,1

1
7
)

(5
2
9
)

(3
,0

9
2
)

(1
,8

0
8
)

(2
6
3
)

0
(5

6
,4

6
8
)

8
  
C

a
p
it
a
l 
c
h
g
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

9
  
In

c
o
m

e
3
,4

3
1

4
,7

2
1

0
2
5
,7

4
8

1
,7

9
1

5
,2

2
4

9
,3

7
7

1
0
,3

6
8

4
,1

4
1

(1
,7

3
4
)

(1
,1

6
9
)

(2
6
,8

0
9
)

(2
3
3
,2

6
0
)

(7
3
)

(1
1
6
,4

4
4
)

2
1
,6

8
9

(2
9
2
,9

9
8
)

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

3
,2

0
0

(6
,5

8
0
)

(3
,8

4
0
)

1
5
,8

2
0

1
(1

0
,4

3
0
)

1
4
,0

4
5

2
,4

1
1

5
,7

0
0

(4
2
9
)

(5
5
,8

9
2
)

(2
7
,5

0
9
)

(2
2
5
,8

0
6
)

(3
2
,6

8
7
)

(1
1
,2

1
2
)

4
6
,1

1
3

(2
8
7
,0

9
7
)

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

A
F

in
a

n
c
e

0
.x

ls
  

F
in

a
n

c
e

P
a
g
e
 1

1
 o

f 
1
1

Page 78



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s
 o

v
e
r 

£
1
0
,0

0
0

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

A
0
0

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

4
4
5
1

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 g
ra

n
ts

8
9
,1

7
0

0
8
9
,1

7
0

6
7
,0

5
0

(2
2
,1

2
0
)

T
. 
W

a
rr

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
0
0

B
u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

4
1
,1

0
0

5
,0

0
0

4
6
,1

0
0

3
1
,5

5
6

(1
4
,5

4
4
)

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

B
u
ild

in
g
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 f

o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

(5
4
5
,0

0
0
)

(5
4
5
,0

0
0
)

(5
3
3
,1

1
5
)

1
1
,8

8
5

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
h
e
 9

2
0
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
..
.

K
7
0

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

3
2
,1

0
0

(5
,0

0
0
)

2
7
,1

0
0

7
,8

9
5

(1
9
,2

0
5
)

N
. 
M

a
li
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

L
5
0

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 A

g
e
n
c
y

9
9
0
7

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 -

 O
x
fo

rd
s
h
ir

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il

(2
3
,5

0
0
)

(2
,7

0
0
)

(2
6
,2

0
0
)

(4
0
,6

7
8
)

(1
4
,4

7
8
)

I.
 M

a
tt

e
n

L
5
0

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 A

g
e
n
c
y

5
5
0
2

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 G

ro
u
n
d
s
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

3
7
,6

6
0

(9
,9

0
0
)

2
7
,7

6
0

4
6
,3

6
3

1
8
,6

0
3

I.
 M

a
tt

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

L
8
0

E
le

c
to

ra
l 
R

e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
0
,9

5
0

5
,0

0
0

1
5
,9

5
0

3
,1

1
0

(1
2
,8

4
1
)

M
. 
B

e
v
ie

re

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

M
7
0

L
o
c
a
l 
L
a
n
d
 C

h
a
rg

e
s

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
6
,0

2
0

0
1
6
,0

2
0

2
,3

8
5

(1
3
,6

3
5
)

S
. 
C

o
m

m
in

s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

M
8
0

R
e
p
ro

g
ra

p
h
ic

s
4

4
1
4

P
ri

n
ti
n
g

5
2
,0

0
0

0
5
2
,0

0
0

7
2
,3

3
5

2
0
,3

3
5

J
.H

o
w

a
rd

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 o

n
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
G

ra
n
ts

 a
n
d
 E

x
y
e
rn

a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

a
y
m

e
n
ts

T
h
e
 4

2
4
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
is

 p
re

d
o
m

in
a
n
tl
y
 f

o
r 

th
e
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
e
n
g
in

e
e
rs

, 
e
tc

 a
n
d
 i
s
 d

e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
u
p
o
n
 m

a
rk

e
t 
tr

e
n
d
s
, 
le

g
is

la
ti
o
n
, 
e
tc

. 
a
n
d
 c

a
n
 

fl
u
c
tu

a
te

 -
 t
h
e
 u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

s
 a

 c
a
re

fu
l 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 u

s
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 o

ff
s
e
ts

 o
th

e
r 

a
re

a
s
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

.

T
h
e
 m

o
n
e
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
is

 f
o
r 

th
e
 c

o
n
d
u
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 P

a
ri

s
h
 B

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 r
e
v
ie

w
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 s

e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 E

le
c
to

ra
l 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 f

o
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
a
l.
 T

h
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 M

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

d
id

 a
ll 

th
e
 w

o
rk

 o
n
 t
h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 p

a
s
s
e
d
 i
t 
to

 m
e
 f

o
r 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 w

h
e
n
 h

e
 l
e
ft

. 
M

y
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 i
s
 

th
a
t 
h
e
 w

a
s
 u

n
a
b
le

 t
o
 o

ff
e
r 

th
is

 a
s
 a

 s
a
v
in

g
 t
h
is

 y
e
a
r 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
, 
u
n
ti
l 
th

e
 E

C
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
, 
w

e
 m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 u

s
e
 t
h
e
 m

o
n
e
y
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

e
n
q
u
ir

ie
s
. 
I 
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 h

e
a
r 

fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 E

C
 b

e
fo

re
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
in

g
 a

ll 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
. 
O

n
c
e
 t
h
is

 h
a
s
 h

a
p
p
e
n
e
d
, 
w

e
 m

a
y
 

u
s
e
 a

 s
m

a
ll 

a
m

o
u
n
t 
to

 h
a
v
e
 n

e
w

 m
a
p
s
 m

a
d
e
 u

p
 b

u
t 
a
p
a
rt

 f
ro

m
 t
h
a
t 
it
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 o

ff
e
re

d
 u

p
 a

s
 a

 s
a
v
in

g
.

F
e
w

e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e

x
e
rc

is
e
s
 t
h
a
n
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 w

e
re

 u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
, 
re

s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 a

n
d
 s

u
rv

e
y
 s

a
v
in

g
s
.

T
h
is

 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
e
y
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 
s
ta

g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 U

n
if
o
rm

 s
y
s
te

m
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
 u

n
s
p
e
n
t.
 T

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
d
 a

s
 s

o
o
n
 a

s
 t
h
o
s
e
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 a

re
 

re
s
o
lv

e
d
.

T
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

w
e
 w

e
re

 i
n
 n

e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 O

x
fo

rd
s
h
ir

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

re
g
a
rd

in
g
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
o
f 

g
ra

s
s
 c

u
tt
in

g
 i
n
 U

rb
a
n
 a

re
a
s
 w

h
ic

h
 w

e
 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
ir

 b
e
h
a
lf
. 
In

 t
h
e
 p

a
s
t 
w

e
 h

a
v
e
 a

lw
a
y
s
 s

u
b
s
id

is
e
d
 s

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 c

u
ts

 t
o
 m

a
in

ta
in

 a
 c

e
rt

a
in

 s
ta

n
d
a
rd

. 
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 

a
g
re

e
d
 t
o
 r

e
im

b
u
rs

e
 t
h
e
 f

u
ll 

c
o
s
ts

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 w
h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 o

f 
£
1
4
,4

7
8
. 
T

h
e
 t
h
ir

d
 p

a
rt

y
 p

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

a
c
tu

a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 s

h
o
u
ld

, 
th

e
re

fo
re

, 
c
o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
, 
h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 a
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
 o

f 
ju

s
t 
o
v
e
r 

£
4
k
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir

d
 p

a
rt

y
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
5
 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 2

0
0
5
/0

6
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r.

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 1

 o
f 

6

Page 79



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

M
8
0

R
e
p
ro

g
ra

p
h
ic

s
4

4
1
8

S
ta

ti
o
n
e
ry

 -
 O

th
e
r 

S
ta

ti
o
n
e
ry

4
5
,0

0
0

0
4
5
,0

0
0

5
5
,5

7
0

1
0
,5

7
0

J
.H

o
w

a
rd

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

N
1
0

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
C

o
n
tr

o
l

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(4
4
0
,0

0
0
)

(1
2
2
,4

0
0
)

(5
6
2
,4

0
0
)

(6
1
2
,1

9
9
)

(4
9
,7

9
9
)

R
. 
H

o
o

d

N
1
0

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
C

o
n
tr

o
l

4
4
2
3

A
d
v
e
rt

is
in

g
1
7
,4

0
0

0
1
7
,4

0
0

3
0
,7

6
6

1
3
,3

6
6

R
. 
H

o
o

d

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

N
5
0

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
re

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
1
6
,3

6
0

2
9
,5

0
0

1
4
5
,8

6
0

1
3
8
,4

2
2

(7
,4

3
8
)

N
. 
D

a
v
ie

s

N
5
0

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
re

9
9
5
5

In
te

re
s
t

(1
3
,0

0
0
)

0
(1

3
,0

0
0
)

2
,3

4
5

1
5
,3

4
5

N
. 
D

a
v
ie

s

N
5
0

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
re

4
4
3
8

B
a
n
k
 C

h
a
rg

e
s

0
0

0
1
2
,8

2
0

1
2
,8

2
0

N
. 
D

a
v
ie

s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

P
3
1

W
a
n
ta

g
e
 c

lie
n
t

9
9
3
5

L
e
is

u
re

 f
e
e
s
 &

 c
h
a
rg

e
s

0
0

0
(4

1
,5

8
0
)

(4
1
,5

8
0
)

C
. 
W

e
b

b

9
9
4
8

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
ts

 -
 O

C
C

0
0

0
(1

8
,0

3
4
)

(1
8
,0

3
4
)

C
. 
W

e
b

b

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

P
3
2

F
a
ri

n
g
d
o
n
 C

lie
n
t

2
2
0
3

R
e
p
a
ir

s
 &

 m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s

0
1
0
,1

2
0

1
0
,1

2
0

(1
1
,7

0
8
)

(2
1
,8

2
8
)

C
. 
W

e
b

b

F
a
ri

n
g
d
o
n
 C

lie
n
t

5
5
0
6

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 G

e
n
e
ra

l
0

1
7
0
,1

6
0

1
7
0
,1

6
0

1
9
2
,3

9
6

2
2
,2

3
6

C
. 
W

e
b

b

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

P
9
1

T
ils

le
y
 C

lie
n
t

5
5
0
2

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 G

ro
u
n
d
s
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e0

1
5
,9

0
0

1
5
,9

0
0

2
7
,3

3
0

1
1
,4

3
0

C
. 
W

e
b

b

P
9
1

T
ils

le
y
 C

lie
n
t

9
9
3
5

L
e
is

u
re

 f
e
e
s
 &

 c
h
a
rg

e
s

0
0

0
(3

0
,0

1
2
)

(3
0
,0

1
2
)

C
. 
W

e
b

b

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
0
6

M
o
b
ile

 H
o
m

e
 P

a
rk

s
9

9
2
8

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
(3

5
,0

0
0
)

(4
8
,6

4
0
)

(8
3
,6

4
0
)

(9
6
,5

4
5
)

(1
2
,9

0
5
)

L
. 
R

o
d

w
a
y

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
o
th

 b
u
d
g
e
ts

 d
e
m

a
n
d
 d

ri
v
e
n
 b

y
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
ts

.

9
2
0
:G

re
a
te

r 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
, 
p
a
y
in

g
 h

ig
h
e
r 

fe
e
s
 u

n
d
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
w

 G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
fe

e
 r

e
g
im

e
. 
4
2
3
: 
G

re
a
te

r 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
q
u
ir

in
g
 f

o
rm

a
l 
a
d
v
e
rt

is
e
m

e
n
t 
th

a
n
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
. 

4
2
4
: 
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 o
n
 t
h
is

 c
o
d
e
 c

o
v
e
rs

 a
 w

id
e
 v

a
ri

e
ty

 o
f 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 a
n
d
 i
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
lw

a
y
s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 e

x
a
c
tl
y
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
 w

h
a
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
d
 

in
 a

n
y
 y

e
a
r.

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
9
5
5
: 
T

h
e
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 r

e
la

te
s
 t
o
 

in
te

re
s
t 
o
n
 a

 l
o
a
n
 t
h
e
 V

a
le

 m
a
d
e
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

in
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 o

ld
 m

o
rt

u
a
ry

. 
T

h
e
 i
n
te

re
s
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 d

e
c
re

a
s
e
d
 e

v
e
ry

 y
e
a
r 

b
u
t 

u
n
fo

rt
u
n
a
te

ly
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 f

ig
u
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

re
d
it
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a

c
c
o
u
n
ts

 s
in

c
e
 1

9
9
9
/2

0
0
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
3
8
: 
B

a
n
k
 

c
h
a
rg

e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 l
e
ft

 i
n
 a

 c
o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
 u

n
a
p
p
o
rt

io
n
e
d
. 
In

 2
0
0
6
-0

7
 t
h
e
y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

o
d
e
d
 t
o
 N

6
0
 -

 u
n
a
p
p
o
rt

io
n
e
d
 o

v
e
rh

e
a
d
s
. 
A

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 t
o
 

b
e
 c

re
a
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e
m

. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2
0
3
: 
 A

c
c
ru

a
l 
(£

1
3
,8

2
4
) 

fr
o
m

 2
0
0
4
/0

5
 n

o
t 
c
le

a
re

d
.

5
0
6
: 
 A

 l
a
te

 i
n
v
o
ic

e
 (

J
u
n
e
 0

5
) 

fo
r 

0
4
/0

5
 w

a
s
 p

o
s
te

d
 i
n
 0

5
/0

6
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v

a
lu

e
 o

f 
£
1
4
k
. 
T

h
is

 r
e
la

te
d
 t
o
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 o

ld
 T

6
3
 c

o
d
e
 

a
n
d
 w

a
s
 n

o
t 
b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 f

o
r 

in
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

ly
 s

e
t 
u
p
 C

lie
n
t 
C

o
d
e
s
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 i
s
 n

o
t 
re

q
u
ir

e
d
.

In
c
o
m

e
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

fo
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d
 p

ri
o
r 

to
 t
h
e
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o
f 

le
is

u
re

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
 t
o
 a

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
in

 2
0
0
4
/0

5
, 
n
o
t 
p
o
s
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
a
t 
y
e
a
r.

5
0
2
: 
 H

is
to

ri
c
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
fo

r 
th

is
 e

le
m

e
n
t 
is

 c
ir

c
a
 £

2
8
k
. 
In

 2
0
0
4
/0

5
 t
h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
w

a
s
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 e

rr
o
r 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
e
x
te

rn
a
lis

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 t
o
 £

2
8
k
. 
T

h
is

 n
e
e
d
 w

a
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
4
/0

5

9
3
5
: 
 I
n
c
o
m

e
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

fo
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d
 p

ri
o
r 

to
 t
h
e
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o
f 

le
is

u
re

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
 t
o
 a

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
in

 2
0
0
4
/0

5
, 
n
o
t 
p
o
s
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
a
t 
y
e
a
r.

O
v
e
ra

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
. 
B

u
d
g
e
t 
fl
u
c
tu

a
te

s
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
ra

n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
a
l 
v
a
lu

e
 o

f 
a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n
ts

. 
T

h
is

 v
a
ri

a
n
c
e
 w

a
s
 n

o
te

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

re
g
u
la

r 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
. 
A

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
w

a
s
 m

a
d
e
 f

o
r 

£
4
8
,6

4
0
. 
A

 c
o
u
p
le

 o
f 

tr
a
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 c

re
a
te

d
 t
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 2

 o
f 

6

Page 80



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

T
1
3

P
ro

p
 M

a
n
 -

 N
o
n
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
B

ld
g
s

9
9
4
1

R
e
n
ts

 -
 O

th
e
r 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
(2

,1
0
0
)

0
(2

,1
0
0
)

(4
0
,6

9
2
)

(3
8
,5

9
2
)

A
. 
M

o
rg

a
n

T
1
3

P
ro

p
 M

a
n
 -

 N
o
n
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
B

ld
g
s

9
9
7
0

S
e
rv

ic
e
 C

h
a
rg

e
s

0
(6

3
,5

3
0
)

(6
3
,5

3
0
)

(1
1
6
,4

4
4
)

(5
2
,9

1
4
)

A
. 
M

o
rg

a
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
2
1

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
9

9
6
8

L
ic

e
n
c
e
 F

e
e
s

(1
4
0
,7

1
0
)

3
4
,0

0
0

(1
0
6
,7

1
0
)

(1
3
1
,4

6
2
)

(2
4
,7

5
2
)

R
. 
P

a
d

d
o

c
k

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
2
8

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
9

9
4
8

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
ts

 -
 O

x
fo

rd
s
h
ir

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il

(4
0
2
,2

0
0
)

5
5
,4

0
0

(3
4
6
,8

0
0
)

(3
5
4
,2

1
2
)

(7
,4

1
2
)

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

T
2
8

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
5

5
0
5

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 R

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 C

o
n
tr

a
c
t

1
,0

8
3
,4

2
0

1
0
,0

0
0

1
,0

9
3
,4

2
0

9
8
4
,9

6
5

(1
0
8
,4

5
5
)

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

T
2
8

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
9

9
2
1

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

U
s
e
 O

f 
F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s

(1
6
0
,0

0
0
)

(3
9
,0

0
0
)

(1
9
9
,0

0
0
)

(1
2
2
,6

2
5
)

7
6
,3

7
5

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
2
9

R
e
fu

s
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n

9
9
1
8

S
a
le

s
(2

7
,5

0
0
)

0
(2

7
,5

0
0
)

(4
0
,1

9
2
)

(1
2
,6

9
2
)

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

T
2
9

R
e
fu

s
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
0
5
,0

9
0

0
1
0
5
,0

9
0

1
8
,2

7
5

(8
6
,8

1
5
)

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

T
2
9

R
e
fu

s
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n

9
9
4
8

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
ts

 -
 O

x
fo

rd
s
h
ir

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il

(7
1
,0

0
0
)

0
(7

1
,0

0
0
)

(4
,9

6
0
)

6
6
,0

4
0

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

re
g
u
la

r 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
. 
A

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
w

a
s
 m

a
d
e
 f

o
r 

£
4
8
,6

4
0
. 
A

 c
o
u
p
le

 o
f 

tr
a
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 c

re
a
te

d
 t
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
w

n
. 
  

T
1
3
 9

4
1
: 
In

c
o
m

e
 w

a
s
 m

is
c
o
d
e
d
/m

is
p
o
s
te

d
  
to

 t
h
is

 b
u
d
g
e
t.
 T

h
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 £

8
,0

0
0
 o

f 
in

c
o
m

e
 w

h
ic

h
 w

a
s
 m

is
p
o
s
te

d
 t
o
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

c
o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
. 
T

h
is

 

w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 p

e
ri

o
d
ic

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
. 
In

 O
c
to

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

a
ft

e
r 

e
a
c
h
 m

o
n
th

 t
h
e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
e
rr

o
rs

 o
c
c
u
rr

in
g
 o

n
 t
h
is

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
w

a
s
 

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
 a

n
d
 c

o
rr

e
c
te

d
 a

s
 t
h
e
y
 o

c
c
u
rr

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
n
th

ly
 l
ia

is
o
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 F

in
a
n
c
e
. 
 A

n
 e

x
a
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
llo

w
s
 t
h
is

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 t
o
 

b
e
 m

o
re

 a
c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 p
re

d
ic

te
d
 t
h
is

 y
e
a
r.

 A
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
w

a
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o

f 
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 e

ff
e
c
t 
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

s
a
v
in

g
s
. 
T

h
e
re

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
 r

e
 o

c
c
u
rr

e
n
c
e
 n

e
x
t 
y
e
a
r 

s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
o
d
in

g
. 
  
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 
a
d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
o
v
e
r 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
, 
a
s
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

T
E

N
s
, 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
lic

e
n
c
e
 d

e
ta

ils
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
e
rs

o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 p

re
m

is
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

u
n
d
e
re

s
te

rm
a
te

d
 a

s
 t
h
is

 i
s
 t
h
e
 f

ir
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

o
f 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
.

T
1
3
 9

7
0
: 
T

w
o
 a

c
c
ru

a
l 
e
n
tr

ie
s
 f

o
r 

£
4
9
,0

0
0
 &

 £
6
6
,0

0
0
 r

e
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 w
e
re

 m
a
d
e
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
A

p
ri

l.
 T

h
is

 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 a

n
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

 o
f 

lik
e
ly

 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
. 
R

e
p
e
ti
ti
o
n
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
c
h
a
rg

e
 c

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
v
a
ri

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

h
ic

h
 

o
c
c
u
r 

w
h
e
n
 m

a
jo

r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 a
n
d
 h

e
n
c
e
 r

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 o
c
c
u
rs

. 
  
  
  
 

9
4
9
: 
1
 m

o
n
th

's
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 o

v
e
ra

c
c
ru

e
d
. 
A

c
tu

a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 f

o
r 

y
e
a
r 

£
3
5
4
,2

1
0
 g

iv
in

g
 a

 v
a
ri

a
n
c
e
 o

f 
£
7
,4

1
0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
0
5
: 
U

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
a
te

 s
ta

rt
 o

f 
v
a
ri

o
u
s
 r

e
c
y
c
lin

g
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
. 
T

h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
in

c
lu

d
e
d
 £

1
6
7
K

 f
o
r 

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 r
e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

ro
w

n
 B

in
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 w

h
o
le

 y
e
a
r.

 A
t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 o
n
ly

 £
7
8
k
 h

a
d
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
p
e
n
d
e
d
 o

n
 B

ro
w

n
 B

in
s
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
9
2
1
: 

T
h
e
 o

ri
g
in

a
l 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
o
f 

£
1
6
0
K

 w
a
s
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 

a
n
 S

B
C

F
, 
w

h
ic

h
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
h
e
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 t
o
 £

1
1
6
k
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c

h
a
rg

e
s
 t
o
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

. 
T

h
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 2

n
d
 p

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 B

ro
w

n
 B

in
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 w

a
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
o
 b

ri
n
g
 i
n
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
2
9
k
 o

f 
in

c
o
m

e
. 
D

e
la

y
s
 i
n
 b

in
 

d
e
liv

e
ri

e
s
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
h
is

 t
o
 £

6
-7

K
. 
T

h
e
re

fo
re

 b
y
 m

y
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

, 
th

e
 u

n
d
e
r 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 o
f 

in
c
o
m

e
 i
s
 £

2
3
k
 n

o
t 
£
7
6
K

. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
1
8
: 
T

h
is

 r
e
la

te
s
 t
o
 g

re
e
n
 s

a
c
k
 i
n
c
o
m

e
. 
T

h
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 s

o
m

e
 m

is
-c

o
d
e
d
 b

u
lk

y
 w

a
s
te

 m
o
n
ie

s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
ra

n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
 6

4
0
6
4
6
 t
o
ta

lli
n
g
 

£
9
,6

2
8
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 

th
e
 o

v
e
r 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 f

a
ll 

in
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 n

o
t 
h
a
p
p
e
n
in

g
 a

ft
e
r 

th
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 b

ro
w

n
 b

in
 s

c
h
e
m

e
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 3

 o
f 

6

Page 81



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

T
3
1

S
tr

e
e
t 
C

le
a
n
s
in

g
5

5
0
6

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 G

e
n
e
ra

l
1
1
5
,9

0
0

0
1
1
5
,9

0
0

9
3
,3

3
3

(2
2
,5

6
7
)

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

T
3
1

S
tr

e
e
t 
C

le
a
n
s
in

g
5

5
0
3

T
h
ir

d
 P

a
rt

y
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 -
 W

a
s
te

 C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

7
7
8
,2

3
0

0
7
7
8
,2

3
0

7
8
7
,0

4
1

8
,8

1
1

A
. 
W

in
d

u
s
t

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
3
3

C
a
r 

p
a
rk

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

9
9
3
2

P
a
rk

in
g
 F

e
e
s

(7
0
7
,0

2
0
)

1
5
,5

0
0

(6
9
1
,5

2
0
)

(6
7
5
,6

8
4
)

1
5
,8

3
6

B
. 
M

iz
e
n

T
3
3

C
a
r 

p
a
rk

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

9
9
3
3

S
e
a
s
o
n
 t
ic

k
e
ts

(8
4
,4

0
0
)

(1
0
,0

0
0
)

(9
4
,4

0
0
)

(1
1
7
,1

8
7
)

(2
2
,7

8
7
)

B
. 
M

iz
e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
4
3

C
C

T
V

4
4
0
3

R
e
p
a
ir

s
 &

 M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f 
F

u
rn

it
u
re

, 
T

o
o
ls

 &
 E

q
u
ip

m
1
4
,5

0
0

(2
,0

0
0
)

1
2
,5

0
0

3
4
,8

6
1

2
2
,3

6
1

B
. 
J
o

n
e
s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
4
6

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

2
1
,5

0
0

1
2
,0

0
0

3
3
,5

0
0

1
3
,9

8
1

(1
9
,5

1
9
)

P
.S

ta
in

e
s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
4
7

E
n
a
b
lin

g
9

9
0
1

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
G

ra
n
ts

(7
1
6
,1

0
0
)

(2
0
,0

0
0
)

(7
3
6
,1

0
0
)

(7
1
7
,1

8
2
)

1
8
,9

1
8

I.
 F

o
rs

te
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
5
1

M
o
rt

g
a
g
e
s

9
9
4
6

C
a
p
it
a
lis

e
d
 s

a
la

ri
e
s

0
0

0
(2

7
,4

1
7
)

(2
7
,4

1
7
)

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
5
2

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
4

4
6
1

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
 g

ra
n
ts

0
0

0
7
6
,0

1
3

7
6
,0

1
3

B
. 
J
o

n
e
s

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
9

9
0
1

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
G

ra
n
ts

0
0

0
(1

3
5
,1

9
9
)

(1
3
5
,1

9
9
)

B
. 
J
o

n
e
s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
h
e
 d

e
a
d
lin

e
 f

o
r 

a
c
c
ru

in
g
 a

n
 i
n
v
o
ic

e
 o

n
 t
h
is

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
w

a
s
 m

is
s
e
d
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a

b
s
e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
h
o
ld

e
r 

o
n
 s

ic
k
 l
e
a
v
e
. 
It
 w

a
s
 d

e
c
id

e
d
 t
h
a
t 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
 b

o
tt
o
m

 l
in

e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 c

o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
 w

a
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
o
le

ra
n
c
e
 n

o
 a

c
ti
o
n
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 

L
o
o
k
in

g
 a

t 
A

g
re

s
s
o
, 
th

e
re

 i
s
 £

7
,2

1
5
 c

o
d
e
d
 t
o
 5

0
3
 w

h
e
n
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 5

0
6
. 
In

 a
d
d
it
io

n
 t
h
e
 a

c
c
ru

a
l 
a
m

o
u
n
t 
o
f 

£
1
3
7
,7

6
0
 i
n
 5

0
3
 m

a
y
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

o
v
e
rs

ta
te

d
 b

y
 a

p
p
ro

x
. 
£
6
,0

0
0
 w

h
ic

h
 r

e
d
u
c
e
s
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 i
n
 5

0
3
 t
o
 £

2
,8

0
0
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 i
n
 5

0
6
 i
s
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 £

1
5
,3

5
1
. 
A

ls
o
, 
I 
h
a
v
e
 

n
o
ti
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
£
2
,3

0
0
 (

d
o
g
 w

a
s
te

) 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
d
e
d
 t
o
 5

0
6
 w

h
e
n
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

o
d
e
d
 t
o
 T

8
1
. 
A

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
p
a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

£
7
,2

1
5
 m

is
s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 5
0
6

B
u
d
g
e
t 
s
e
t 
to

o
 h

ig
h
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
ri

s
e
s
 o

f 
p
a
rt

 s
u
b
s
id

y
 f

o
r 

D
F

G
 a

n
d
 P

R
C

 h
o
u
s
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 s

u
b
s
id

y
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
p
f 

P
R

C
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 i
s
 f

a
lli

n
g
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 

p
h
a
s
e
d
 o

u
t.
 T

h
e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n

o
t 
re

fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 a

 B
C

F
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
t 
fo

r 
fu

tu
re

 y
e
a
rs

.

£
9
,6

2
8
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 

th
e
 o

v
e
r 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 f

a
ll 

in
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 n

o
t 
h
a
p
p
e
n
in

g
 a

ft
e
r 

th
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 b

ro
w

n
 b

in
 s

c
h
e
m

e
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

4
2
4
 &

 9
4
8
 a

re
 l
in

k
e
d
 a

s
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 r

e
la

te
s
 t
o
 r

e
im

b
u
rs

m
e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 O

C
C

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

is
p
o
s
a
l 
o
f 

a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v

e
h
ic

le
s
. 
A

 S
B

C
F

 w
a
s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 i
n
 e

a
rl

y
 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

to
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c

o
s
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e
 V

a
le

 a
lo

n
g
 w

it
h
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f

ro
m

 O
C

C
. 
T

h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 

th
e
 S

B
C

F
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 T

2
9
 4

2
4
 b

y
 £

8
3
k
 a

n
d
 T

2
9
 9

4
8
 b

y
 £

5
9
K

P
a
rk

in
g
 F

e
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
, 
It
 i
s
 n

o
w

 b
e
n
e
fi
c
ia

l 
to

 p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 a

 s
e
a
s
o
n
 t
ic

k
e
t.

T
h
is

 i
s
 g

ra
n
t 
re

c
e
iv

e
d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 O

D
P

M
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 b
e
e
n
 u

n
b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 f

o
r.

T
h
is

 i
s
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
o
o
l 
re

c
e
ip

ts
 a

c
q
u
ir

e
d
 o

v
e
r 

2
 y

e
a
rs

. 
T

h
e
 d

e
b
it
 i
s
 t
o
 c

a
p
it
a
 r

e
c
e
ip

ts
 t
o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 a

m
o
u
n
t 
p
a
y
a
b
le

 t
o
 t
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t.

T
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 4

6
1
 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 u

n
b
u
d
g
e
te

d
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

, 
to

 b
e
 m

e
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
ra

n
t 
c
re

d
it
e
d
 t
o
 9

0
1
T

5
2
.

T
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
9
0
1
 i
s
 a

n
 o

v
e
r-

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 o
f 

g
ra

n
t 
in

c
o
m

e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
- 

th
is

 a
p
p
e
a
rs

 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
 V

a
le

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
o
n
 T

5
2
 f

o
r 

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 4

 o
f 

6

Page 82



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

T
5
6

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
F

ra
u
d

9
9
0
1

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
G

ra
n
ts

(7
9
,9

5
0
)

0
(7

9
,9

5
0
)

(2
4
5
,7

4
4
)

(1
6
5
,7

9
4
)

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

T
5
6

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
F

ra
u
d

9
9
0
4

O
v
e
rp

a
y
m

e
n
t 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 B

e
n
e
fi
t

(1
7
,0

4
0
)

(3
2
,4

1
0
)

(4
9
,4

5
0
)

(1
1
5
,5

0
8
)

(6
6
,0

5
8
)

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
6
1

A
b
in

g
d
o
n
 o

u
td

o
o
r 

p
o
o
l

9
9
4
9

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
ts

 -
 T

o
w

n
 c

o
u
n
c
ils

(1
4
,0

0
0
)

0
(1

4
,0

0
0
)

0
1
4
,0

0
0

C
. 
W

e
b

b

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
6
6

P
a
rk

s
 &

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
s

9
9
2
1

F
e
e
s
 f

o
r 

u
s
e
 o

f 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s

(1
6
,5

2
0
)

0
(1

6
,5

2
0
)

(6
,2

8
0
)

1
0
,2

4
0

I.
 M

a
tt

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
7
3

A
s
s
is

te
d
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

4
4
2
2

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 T
ra

v
e
l

6
7
1
,4

8
0

(4
7
1
,0

0
0
)

2
0
0
,4

8
0

1
8
4
,1

8
1

(1
6
,2

9
9
)

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
7
4

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 G

ra
n
ts

4
4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

5
8
,8

7
0

0
5
8
,8

7
0

5
0
,3

0
0

(8
,5

7
0
)

L
. 
E

d
w

a
rd

s

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
7
6

P
a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

H
s
g
 B

e
n
e
fi
t

9
9
0
1

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
ra

n
ts

 (
n
e
t)

4
1
1
,7

9
0

(1
5
9
,6

6
0
)

2
5
2
,1

3
0

2
4
0
,9

1
8

(1
1
,2

1
2
)

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
7
7

P
a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

C
T

a
x
 B

e
n
e
fi
t

6
6
0
3

N
o
n
 H

R
A

 r
e
n
t 
re

b
a
te

s
3
,9

5
7
,0

5
0

8
0
,0

0
0

4
,0

3
7
,0

5
0

4
,0

6
1
,4

7
4

2
4
,4

2
4

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

T
7
7

P
a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

C
T

a
x
 B

e
n
e
fi
t

9
9
0
1

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
ra

n
ts

(3
,9

4
6
,8

1
0
)

(1
6
0
,0

0
0
)

(4
,1

0
6
,8

1
0
)

(4
,0

8
5
,1

2
1
)

2
1
,6

8
9

H
. 
B

o
w

e
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
9
3

D
ir

e
c
t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 O

th
e
r

4
4
0
9

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

3
,0

0
0

(1
,0

0
0
)

2
,0

0
0

1
9
,4

3
4

1
7
,4

3
4

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
0
2

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s4

4
2
4

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
4
,9

1
0

0
1
4
,9

1
0

2
8
,8

6
4

1
3
,9

5
4

N
. 
M

a
li
n

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

T
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
c
tu

a
lly

 n
o
t 
k
n
o
w

in
g
 w

h
a
t 
th

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
w

o
u
ld

 r
e
a
lly

 b
e
 a

s
 2

0
0
5
/0

6
 w

a
s
 t
h
e
 f

ir
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

tr
a
v
e
l 
to

k
e
n
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
v
o
k
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 

V
a
le

 c
e
a
s
e
d
 p

ro
v
id

in
g
 t
h
e
s
e
 c

o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 h
a
d
 t
o
 c

la
im

 b
u
s
 p

a
s
s
e
s
 i
n
s
te

a
d
 s

o
 t
h
e
 u

s
a
g
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e
 b

u
s
 c

o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 

w
e
re

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
, 
h
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
.

N
o
 t
o
w

n
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
o
l's

 c
lo

s
u
re

 i
n
 2

0
0
5
/0

6
.

R
e
v
is

e
d
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 B

e
n
e
fi
t 
c
a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 s

lig
h
tl
y
 o

u
t 
(0

.8
%

),
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 a

 m
in

o
r 

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

R
e
v
is

e
d
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B

e
n
e
fi
t 
c
a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 s

lig
h
tl
y
 o

u
t 
(0

.6
%

),
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 a

 m
in

o
r 

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d

(S
e
e
 U

1
4
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
lo

w
)

In
c
o
rr

e
c
tl
y
 c

h
a
rg

e
d
 f

o
r 

e
d
it
io

n
 o

f 
W

a
s
te

 V
ie

w
s
 w

h
ic

h
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 c

o
m

e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 E

n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 b

u
d
g
e
t.

T
h
e
 v

a
ri

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
9
0
1
 i
s
 a

n
 o

v
e
r-

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 o
f 

g
ra

n
t 
in

c
o
m

e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
- 

th
is

 a
p
p
e
a
rs

 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
 V

a
le

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
o
n
 T

5
2
 f

o
r 

th
e
 G

O
S

E
 g

ra
n
t 
in

c
o
m

e
 o

r 
th

e
 m

a
tc

h
in

g
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

.

It
 a

p
p
e
a
rs

 w
e
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 s

u
b
s
id

y
 f

o
r 

fi
n
d
in

g
 m

o
re

 o
v
e
rp

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 (
W

IB
S

) 
th

a
n
 b

u
d
g
e
te

d
 f

o
r.

 W
it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

s
 t
o
 9

0
4
 r

e
la

te
s
 t
o
 f

ra
u
d
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

s
 

w
e
 r

e
c
ru

it
e
d
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

fr
a
u
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

I 
w

o
u
ld

 e
x
p
e
c
t 
th

e
 w

o
rk

 i
n
 t
h
is

 a
re

a
 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 
w

o
u
ld

 a
p
p
e
a
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
w

a
s
 

n
o
t 
a
d
ju

s
te

d
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
th

is
. 
I 
h
a
v
e
 a

s
k
e
d
 T

h
e
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 M
a
n
a
g
e
r/

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
F

ra
u
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

fo
r 

th
e
ir

 t
h
o
u
g
h
ts

 o
n
 t
h
is

 a
n
d
 w

ill
 g

e
t 
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 y

o
u
.

W
a
n
ta

g
e
 P

it
c
h
 a

n
d
 P

u
tt
 h

a
s
 a

 s
h
o
rt

 s
e
a
s
o
n
 d

u
e
 t
o
 s

ta
ff

in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

T
h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
£
5
8
,8

7
0
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ts

 t
h
e
 c

o
s
ts

 t
o
 t
h
is

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

o
f 

g
ra

n
ti
n
g
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N

o
n
-D

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 R

a
te

 r
e
lie

f 
to

 c
h
a
ri

ti
e
s
, 
c
e
rt

a
in

 n
o
n
 

p
ro

fi
t 
m

a
k
in

g
 b

o
d
ie

s
 a

n
d
 s

o
m

e
 c

lu
b
s
. 
In

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 t
h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
b
it
e
d
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
a
n
y
 i
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
h
o
ld

e
r 

a
n
d
 H

o
w

a
rd

 

a
n
d
 I
 a

s
s
u
m

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 t
h
e
 c

a
s
e
 i
n
 2

0
0
5
/2

0
0
6
. 
P

le
a
s
e
 l
e
t 
m

e
 k

n
o
w

 i
f 

a
n
 i
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
d
.

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 5

 o
f 

6

Page 83



O
u
tt
u
rn

 R
e
p
o
rt

  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B

C
o

s
tc

C
o

s
tc

 (
T

)

C
ip

fa

g
rp

A
c
c
o

u
n

t
A

c
c
o

u
n

t 
(T

)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

ts

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
c
tu

a
ls

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

B
u

d
g

e
t 

H
o

ld
e
r

U
0
4

S
tw

s
 &

 P
u
m

p
 S

ta
ti
o
n
s
 -

 S
O

D
C

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(3
7
,0

0
0
)

0
(3

7
,0

0
0
)

(3
,3

4
7
)

3
3
,6

5
3

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
0
5

S
tw

s
 &

 P
u
m

p
 S

ta
ti
o
n
s
 -

 P
ri

v
a
te

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(2
5
,7

0
0
)

0
(2

5
,7

0
0
)

(9
,7

1
8
)

1
5
,9

8
2

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
0
9

E
m

p
ty

in
g
 S

e
p
ti
c
 T

a
n
k
s
 -

 V
a
le

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(5
2
,0

0
0
)

(1
0
,2

0
0
)

(6
2
,2

0
0
)

(5
1
,8

2
3
)

1
0
,3

7
7

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
1
1

E
m

p
ty

in
g
 S

e
p
ti
c
 T

a
n
k
s
 -

 S
O

D
C

9
9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(6
4
,7

4
0
)

(1
4
,5

0
0
)

(7
9
,2

4
0
)

(6
7
,4

0
2
)

1
1
,8

3
8

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
1
4

S
e
w

e
r 

B
lo

c
k
a
g
e
s
 -

 V
H

A
9

9
2
0

F
e
e
s
 F

o
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(2
8
,7

5
0
)

(6
0
0
)

(2
9
,3

5
0
)

(4
2
,9

4
9
)

(1
3
,5

9
9
)

B
. 
F

a
rr

a
r

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

U
2
9

T
e
m

p
. 
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

4
4
2
5

A
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 c

o
s
ts

0
1
8
0
,0

0
0

1
8
0
,0

0
0

3
8
9
,9

8
6

2
0
9
,9

8
6

P
.S

ta
in

e
s

9
9
4
1

R
e
n
ts

 -
 o

th
e
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
0

(2
6
5
,0

0
0
)

(2
6
5
,0

0
0
)

(2
9
3
,1

1
9
)

(2
8
,1

1
9
)

R
e
a
s
o

n
 F

o
r 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

(3
4
2
,6

6
9
)

L
a
te

 c
la

im
 f

o
r 

tw
o
 y

e
a
rs

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 c

o
s
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

ro
m

 l
a
n
d
lo

rd
. 
 F

u
ll 

c
o
s
t 
a
c
c
ru

e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
5
/0

6
.

T
o
 t
h
is

 e
ff

e
c
t 
v
a
ri

a
n
c
e
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

a
id

 c
o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
s
 a

b
o
v
e
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 i
n
 i
s
o
la

ti
o
n
 b

u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

re
a
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 w

h
o
le

 D
ir

e
c
t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
s
ta

te
m

e
n
t.
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 D

u
ri

n
g
 2

0
0
6
-

0
7
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
 s

h
a
ll 

b
e
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 e

a
c
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 m

o
re

 a
c
c
u
ra

te
 f

ig
u
re

s
 f

o
r 

in
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

.

(S
e
e
 U

1
4
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
lo

w
)

(S
e
e
 U

1
4
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
lo

w
)

(S
e
e
 U

1
4
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
lo

w
)

C
o
s
t 
c
e
n
tr

e
s
 T

9
3
,U

0
4
,U

0
5
,U

0
9
,U

1
1
 a

n
d
 U

1
4
 a

re
 a

ll 
w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 D

ir
e
c
t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 r

a
n
g
e
 o

f 
w

o
rk

. 
T

h
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 A

re
a
 w

a
s
 t
ra

n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t
o
 B

u
ild

in
g
 

C
o
n
tr

o
l 
u
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 M

e
d
iu

m
 T

e
rm

 F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
P

la
n
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

D
u
ri

n
g
 2

0
0
5
-0

6
, 
D

ir
e
c
t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 o

n
 a

 m
a
jo

r 
o
v
e
rh

a
u
l 
in

 i
ts

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t.
 M

a
n
y
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 y
e
t 
to

 

ta
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f

u
tu

re
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 i
n
s
u
ff

ic
ie

n
t 
ti
m

e
 a

n
d
 s

c
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

im
p
lif

y
 t
h
e
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 s

y
s
te

m
 o

f 
re

c
h
a
rg

in
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
x
is

te
d
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

A
s
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
w

a
s
 e

x
p
e
c
ti
n
g
 a

 d
e
fi
c
it
 o

f 
£
1
4
5
K

 i
n
 J

a
n
 2

0
0
6
 a

 s
a
v
in

g
 o

f 
£
5
0
K

 w
a
s
 o

ff
e
re

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
y
e
a
r 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

. 
It
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

n
o
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 f

in
a
l 
d
e
fi
c
it
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 o

n
ly

 a
 £

7
7
K

 d
e
fi
c
it
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 A

d
d
re

s
s
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t)

 r
e
p
re

s
e
n
ti
n
g
 a

n
 u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
 (

o
r 

s
a
v
in

g
) 

o
f 

o
v
e
r 

£
6
8
K

. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

(S
e
e
 U

1
4
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
lo

w
)

D
:\

m
o

d
e

rn
g

o
v
\D

a
ta

\A
g

e
n

d
a

It
e

m
D

o
c
s
\1

\2
\2

\A
I0

0
0

0
4

2
2

1
\A

n
n

u
a

lo
u

tt
u

rn
a

p
p

e
n

d
ix

B
0

.x
ls

  
v
a

ri
a

n
c
e

s
P

a
g

e
 6

 o
f 

6

Page 84



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL  Report No. 30/06 
Wards affected: Craven, Faringdon & The 
Coxwells, Shrivenham, and Stanford 

 
REPORT OF THE  DEPUTY DIRECTOR (PLANNING AND COMMUNITY STRATEGY) 

TO THE STRATEGIC AND LOCAL PLANNING ADVISORY GROUP 26 JUNE 2006  
AND TO THE EXECUTIVE ON 7 JULY 2006 

 
The Draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West 2006 - 2026 

 
 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary 
 
1.1 The draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West, (the South West Plan) has been 

published for consultation purposes. The document looks ahead to 2026, and will supersede the 
current Regional Planning Guidance for the South West (RPG10). Although the Vale is not in the 
South West, the Vale’s western boundary is co-terminous with part of the south west’s regional 
boundary. Although in the area covered by the South West Plan, the town of Swindon is just ‘over 
the border’ and therefore policies in the South West Plan relating to the Borough and its 
surrounding area are of particular significance to this Council.  

 
1.2 The documents published for consultation include; the draft Regional Spatial Strategy itself, an 

Implementation Plan; a Strategic Sustainability Assessment; and a Pre-Submission Consultation 
Statement.   

 
1.3 These documents are currently held in the Planning Strategy team. Please contact Nick 

Burroughs or Katie Barrett if you wish to inspect them.   
 
1.4 The consultation period runs from 6 June to 30 August 2006.   
 
1.5 In summary, Swindon is identified in the South West Plan as one of 21 ‘Strategically Significant 

Cities and Towns’.  Relevant policies are included to, among other things; realise and develop the 
role of Swindon as a service and employment centre providing a high quality lifestyle for residents 
within and adjoining the town (SR1), ensure that social, cultural and educational requirements for 
the Swindon sub-region are provided for (SR7), maximise economic opportunities within the 
Swindon travel to work area (SR8), make the best use of land for development by the provision of 
a strategic urban extension on the eastern side of Swindon to the north and south of the A420 
(SR9).   

 
1.6 This report summarises key elements of the proposed strategy and outlines suggested 

responses to the South West Regional Assembly.   
 
1.7 The Contact Officer for this report is Nick Burroughs, Planning Strategy team, tel. 01235 520202 

extn 496. 
 
2.0 Recommendations  
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Strategic and Local Plan Advisory Group recommends the Executive 

to make representations on the South West Plan set out as comments in bold in Section 4 of this 
report.  

 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 
 
3.1 This report complies with the Council’s vision and aims. The South West Plan does not cover the 

Vale but could affect it and it will be important to keep the strategy under review because of the 
proximity of the major growth area of Swindon and its potential impact on the Vale’s western 
parishes.  

Agenda Item 19

Page 85



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

 
 
4.0 The Main Features of the draft  Plan with the Officer’s comments 
 

General 
 

4.1 The draft Spatial Strategy for the South West, (the South West Plan), looks ahead to 2026. It has 
been prepared by the South West Regional Assembly. It is one of the new kind of strategy 
documents, both spatial and functional, responding to the Government’s challenge to build 
sustainable development. It will supersede the Regional Planning Guidance for the South West 
(RPG10) which looked ahead to 2016.   

 
The Spatial Strategy 
 

4.2 Although the Vale is not in the South West region, the Vale’s western boundary is co-terminous 
with Swindon Borough, which is covered by the South West Plan. Swindon is identified in the 
South West Plan as one of 21 ‘Strategically Significant Cities and Towns’ (SSCTs).  Paragraph 
3.1.3 sets out and Map 3.1 shows the ‘Spatial Strategy Statement’ which explains that the 
emphasis of the strategy will vary to include realising the economic and other potential of the 
SSCTs particularly in the north (eg. Swindon)  and centre of the region. Paragraph 3.3.3 explains 
that relevant strategies for the SSCTs are included in Section 4 and will among other things, seek 
to make the best use of land for development by the provision of urban extensions.  
 

4.3 Comment. The South West  Plan’s strategy to realise the economic and other potentials in the 
north of the region, and particularly with regard to Swindon, is noted and should be supported in 
principle, given the importance of Swindon as a major source of employment and services for 
residents in the western part of the Vale.   
 
Sub-region - Swindon 
 

4.4 In Section 4, paragraph 4.2.2 emphasises the economic potential of Swindon – “another potential 
national growth centre, although…potential water supply and waste treatment issues will need to 
be taken into account”. Paragraph 4.2.1 notes that the realisation of this potential will require, 
among other things, “the provision of sufficient housing linked with job growth at the named 
places” and should be complemented by allowing balanced development elsewhere to ensure 
the service role of the market towns is maintained.  Policy SR1 confirms this approach.  
 

4.5 Comment. See para 4.3 above. The reference to allowing balanced development elsewhere to 
ensure the service role of market towns is maintained should be welcomed as this is consistent 
with this Council’s approach in the Local Plan 2011, particularly in relation to Faringdon. 

 
Policy SR7 
 

4.6 Paragraph 4.2.26 introduces and policy SR7 covers the role of Swindon in providing a high 
quality lifestyle for residents within and adjoining the town. 

 
4.7 Comment.  Policy SR7 is noted and should be supported for the reasons given in paragraph 4.3. 

 
Policies SR8 & SR9 
 

4.8 Paragraph 4.2.27 introduces and Policies SR8 and SR9 cover development at Swindon and 
specifically include a strategic urban extension on the eastern side of the town to the north and 
south of the A420. This expansion area is shown diagrammatically as ‘Area of Search G’ in Inset 
Diagram 4.2, (see Appendix A to this report).  The policies and the Inset diagram indicate that this 
strategic eastern extension is for about 12,000 dwellings at a proposed rate of development of 
600 dwellings per year. Policies SR8 and SR9 also set out the scales of development for the 
Swindon area. These are summarised in the table below. 

Page 86



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

 
4.9 These figures have been informed by the technical work carried out by the strategic authorities 

and the views of a Joint Strategy Group involving representatives from Swindon and its 
surrounding authorities, including the Vale and Oxfordshire County Council.  It would not be 
practical to go over this technical work in any detail in this report. However, it may be helpful if 
some of the main ‘numbers’ and their contexts are considered further. 

 

Swindon  
 

SW Plan 
Proposed Dwellings  
nos. built per annum 

SW Plan 
Proposed Dwellings 
Total nos. 2006 - 26  

Urban area 950 19,000 

Eastern Area 600 12,000 

Small scale 
urban extensions 

100 2,000 

Rest of Borough 50 1,000 

Urban extension into  
North Wilts 

50 1,000 

   

Total Swindon Area 1750 35,000 

 
4.10 The South West Plan proposes that an average of 1,750 dwellings per year be built within and 

adjoining the urban area of Swindon up to 2026, to provide some 35,000 dwellings in total over 
the 20 year period. Reference to the table also shows the sub totals of dwellings that are 
proposed within and adjoining the Swindon area. Further comment on these sub totals is made in 
para 4.20 below.   

 
4.11 As part of the preparatory work for the spatial strategy and on the Regional Assembly’s behalf, 

the Swindon Joint Strategy Group undertook a sub-regional study for Swindon. After careful 
consideration the Joint Strategy Group’s recommendations included a growth figure of 16,000 
dwellings for the period 2016 to 2026. Taking into account the housing provision proposed for 
Swindon in the Structure Plan 2016, this recommended figure of 16,000 dwellings equated to a 
total figure of 32,000 dwellings over the period 2006 to 2026.   

 
4.12 The draft South West Plan appears, therefore, to have effectively increased the housing provision 

form 32,000 to 35,000 – an increase of just over 10% - without any real justification or 
explanation. This is in the context of the Joint Strategy Group’s extensive and detailed work in 
assessing and evaluating a number of growth options, and the serious concerns which emerged 
as part of that  work relating in particular to service and infrastructure requirements and provision, 
eg water supply, highway improvements and the availability of sewage treatment capacity. It 
should be noted that some of these matters have been identified as potential issues in the South 
West Plan ( referred to in para 4.4 above) although this appears to have not been reflected in the 
proposed higher level of growth the Assembly is consulting on.   

 
4.13 The proposed level of growth of 35,000 dwellings to 2026 is the total which derives from the 

dwellings’ provision in policy SR8. The policy notes that “investment will be made in key 
infrastructure to enable the achievement of the development”.  The draft Strategy has already 
identified that there are potential water supply and waste treatment issues (see para 4.4 above). 
These issues are considered to be so important that this reference in the policy should be 
strengthened to make the development proposed dependent on the key infrastructure being 
provided (rather than the rather weak statement that investment will be made to enable the 
achievement of development).   

 
4.14 Comment. The Vale Council objects to policy SR8 on the basis that (i) the proposed scale of 

development at Swindon is excessive having regard to the serious concerns that exist in relation 
to infrastructure provision to support growth as proposed and, (ii) the policy should be 
strengthened to make the development proposed dependent on the key infrastructure being 

Page 87



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

provided and that its provision should be timely in order to co-ordinate new development with the 
infrastructure it demands.   

 
4.15 Reference to para 4.8 above and the table in para 4.9 shows proposed dwelling build rates for the 

Swindon area in the period to 2026. For the borough as a whole, the rate is 1,750 dwellings per 
annum. Reference to the adopted Structure Plan 2016 (Section 3, see Appendix B) shows that 
between 1978 – 2003, the average build rate in the Borough was 1,100 dpa, having dropped to 
some 800 dpa in the latter period 1996 – 2003 and that from 2003 a build rate of over 1,500 dpa 
“will need to be sustained” (to achieve Structure Plan requirements 2016).   

 
4.16 Additionally, the table shows a build rate for the proposed eastern area of 600 dwellings per 

annum. It is interesting to note that the Panel Report into the Structure Plan 2016 ( see Appendix 
C) referred at para 3.29 to housing completions in the Swindon Area. A companion table set out 
average completions on strategic and other major sites, such as the Western Development Area 
(WDA), the Northern Development Area (NDA) and the Southern Development Area (SDA).  The 
Panel concluded in para 3.29 that the table demonstrates that it would be reasonable to assume 
an output from a new major source of development of about 400dpa. Assuming that any 
development on the eastern area realistically commences in, say, 2010 then this would represent 
a required build rate of around 750 dpa for the remainder of the period to achieve the outcome 
now desired by the Spatial Strategy.   

 
4.17 The South West Plan’s build rate of 1,750 dpa for the Swindon area and a build rate of 600dpa – 

possibly rising to 750 dpa -  for the eastern area would appear to be very optimistic when 
compared to historical rates and yet these forecast rates have been included in policy SR8  
without any real justification or explanation. If the actual build rate for the eastern area falls short 
of the forecast rate then this could have significant implications for the draft strategy. Over the 
plan period, the eastern area housing shortfall could amount to some 4000 dwellings ( the 
difference between rates of 600 and 400 dpa over 20 years). This is a third ( and could be more) 
of the eastern area total of 12000 dwellings and such a shortfall could adversely affect the 
integrity and proper planning of the strategic eastern expansion. Moreover, as the strategy will 
become part of the development plan any shortfall in the delivery of housing numbers may 
encourage developers to make planning applications on sites not supported by the development 
plan but where the argument to allow would be to ‘make up’ for housing numbers not coming 
forward on the eastern area. Such a situation would not result in the proper planning of the area.   

 
4.18 Comment. The Vale Council objects to policies SR8 and SR9 on the basis that the figure of 

12000 dwellings proposed for the eastern urban extension is unrealistic and unlikely to be 
achieved and therefore runs the risk of damaging the strategy and leading to planning by appeal.  

 
4.19 Reference to paragraphs 4.11 and 4.12 above explains that the Joint Strategy Group had 

recommended a growth figure which the Assembly has effectively increased by 3000 dwellings. A 
reduction in the eastern area total by 3000 to 9000 dwellings would mathematically produce a 
build rate over the plan period of 450 dwellings per annum. This is much more realistic, see para 
4.16 above, as the reasonable build rate from a new major source of development.   

 
4.20 The table at para 4.8 above also sets out sub totals for dwelling provision figures within and 

adjoining Swindon listing, for example, smaller scale urban expansions within the borough and 
adjacent to the urban area in North Wiltshire District Council. No further detail is given on what 
these various areas might comprise. However, your officers consider that the potential for growth 
in the form of urban extensions around the town may be greater than the 3,000 dwellings total set 
out in the table (2000  plus 1000 dws). Such growth could face local opposition and would need 
further assessment but might not necessarily perform less favourably when compared with the 
strategic growth to the east. Should the potential for these smaller scale urban extensions be 
greater than described in the strategy, then there could be a further reciprocal reduction in the 
total proposed for the eastern area. For example, if this potential was of the order of an additional 
1000 dwellings, then the eastern area total in the period to 2026 would be cumulatively reduced 
to an additional 8000 dwellings. This would mathematically produce a build rate over the plan 

Page 88



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

period of 400 dpa which, as described in para 4.16 above, is the rate the Structure Plan Panel 
considered could reasonably be expected.   

 
4.21 Comment. The Vale Council objects to policy SR8 on the basis that  the required provision of the 

additional dwellings in and around the Swindon area in the period to 2026  does not reflect a 
distribution of development which is consistent with the likely development potential of sites on 
the periphery of the town.   
 
Inset Diagram 4.2 Swindon 
 

4.22 This diagram (see appendix A) shows the area of search for the location of the eastern expansion 
of Swindon for 12,000 dwellings. This area is south and north of the A420. To the north the area 
is between the A420 and the A361. This area, however, is already taken up by what are listed in 
the Swindon Borough Local Plan Table 3 as key employment areas; South Marston Airfield (138 
ha) which includes the Honda factory, South Marston Park industrial estate (93 ha), Keypoint (24 
ha) which the borough plan protects as a rail freight distribution complex and also the village of 
South Marston. In this context and at a rough calculation only approximately half this northern 
search area is undeveloped land.  Development in this area would also seem to be undesirable 
as it is likely to lead to coalescence with the settlement of South Marston and be located in close 
proximity to these major employment areas.  While the area and timescale of the proposed 
eastern area would not rule out development to the north of the A420, diagram 4.2 would seem to 
be misleading in that it suggests that the whole of this area is an area of search. Moreover, this 
area, east of the A419 and north of the A420, was considered with other sites in Swindon’s 
Council’s Principal Urban Area Study. This study assessed areas adjacent to the Swindon built-
up area as good, fair or poor, and concluded, among other things, that the performance of this 
area was ‘poor’.   

 
4.23 Comment. The Vale Council objects to policy SR8 and Inset diagram 4.2 Swindon on the basis 

that the area of search shown on inset diagram 4.2 for the location of 12,000 dwellings is 
misleading because only half the area of search to the north of the A420 could be considered to 
be realistically available for major housing development.   
 
Employment 
 

4.24 The strategy notes at para 4.2.25  that jobs in the Swindon ‘travel to work area’ (TTWA) are 
projected to increase by about 26,000 to 32,000 jobs. However, while para 8.3.1 states that ‘a 
ready supply of …..  sites … in suitable locations is fundamental to the continued economic 
performance of the region’ and para 8.3.4 explains that an ODPM  note provides guidance on the 
translation of forecasts to land requirements, the strategy clarifies in policies E1 and E2 that at 
towns like Swindon (an SSCT) local development documents (LDDs)  will provide sufficient sites 
to accommodate the numbers of jobs identified for each SSCT. The land requirement implications 
of an additional 6000 jobs would seem to be something on which the regional strategy should 
provide guidance if the strategy’s aim of balancing the provision of jobs with housing (para. 
4.2.25) is to be achieved.   

 
4.25 Comment.  The Vale Council objects to policy E2 on the basis that there should be more policy 

guidance to assist the strategy’s aim of balancing housing and jobs.   
 
Surrounding Settlements 
 

4.26 Paragraph 4.2.30 notes that surrounding settlements ( not named) play  important roles in relation 
to Swindon and as smaller scale balanced, sustainable communities, and other named 
settlements perform a largely dormitory function to Swindon. Faringdon is not named presumably 
because it lies outside the region. Paragraph 4.2.25 explains that realising realising Swindon’s 
economic potential and balancing the provision of housing and jobs will be critical in creating 
more sustainable development and travel patterns, reducing the overall levels of in-commuting 
from rural communities, including from the Vale in the South East Region.   

Page 89



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

 
Comment  Noted.  
 
Strategic Gaps 
 

4.27 Para 4.2.30 requires Swindon Borough to work with neighbouring local authorities to identify 
strategic gaps in their local development documents, to ensure that settlements surrounding the 
town do not coalesce with Swindon’s built up areas, ie this issue is addressed in the text and not 
in a policy. It also seems to relate to neighbouring towns like  Highworth and Wroughton rather 
than neighbouring villages. The point is made that this is an issue that will be progressed through 
the appropriate local development document. However, given the scale of the eastern area, and 
the implications such a large development may have on its immediate area, officers believe this is 
an issue which should be covered by a specific policy in the strategy.   

 
4.28 It is noted, for example, that policy SR16 dealing with an urban extension at Exeter not only 

seeks a high quality of life through standards of design but that the urban extension should 
protect and maintain environmental assets, maximise the landscape setting and avoid areas 
susceptible to flooding. These are all issues which apply to the eastern area. In fact the River Ray 
floodplain, which lies in the eastern area, is specifically mentioned as a characteristic of the area 
likely to be significantly affected by the strategy, see para 4.45 below.  All these policy matters 
should be mentioned accordingly.   

 
4.29 Comment. The Vale Council objects to the omission of a policy context for the Swindon area 

which specifically addresses the identification of strategic gaps and requires the strategic eastern 
development to protect and maintain environmental assets, maximise the landscape setting and 
avoid areas susceptible to flooding.   
 
Key Infrastructure   
 

4.30 The strategy recognises at paragraph 3.6.7 that the delivery of key infrastructure is a pressing 
concern across the region. Paragraph 4.2.31 lists key infrastructure for Swindon and this includes 
a new reservoir (Upper Thames Reservoir) in the South East Region.  Additionally paragraph 
3.6.7 comments that in some cases the scale of development ‘implies a step change in delivery 
rates’ and that the development industry must play a full role in insuring that supporting 
infrastructure is in phase with development. Development Policy D expects co-operation between 
bodies across administrative boundaries to ensure development contributes to the cost of 
necessary infrastructure and the establishment of forward funding mechanisms.  
 

4.31 Comment.  The Vale Council objects to the reference in para 4.2.31 to a new reservoir on the 
basis that Thames Water has yet to formally bring forward a reservoir proposal and that such a 
reservoir proposal has yet to be shown to be justified on technical, economic, environmental and 
planning grounds. This reference to the Upper Thames reservoir is therefore premature and 
potentially misleading.   

 
4.32 The strategy shows the proposed 12,000 dwellings to the east of the A419 in a diagrammatic 

fashion. The detail of this housing will properly be developed through the appropriate local 
development document. However, local circumstances suggest that the vehicular access to this 
site will be from the A420 and that this will significantly increase the number of vehicles using the 
A420. While the A420 may technically be able to carry this additional traffic or be suitably 
improved if necessary, this is a matter of local concern and an acknowledgement that this is an 
issue that should be addressed would be welcome.   

 
4.33 Comment.  The Regional Assembly should be informed that the highway improvements that will 

be required to access and serve the eastern development area should be listed as an issue of 
key infrastructure in para 4.2.31 including an acknowledgement of the implications for the existing 
A420 within the Vale.   
 

Page 90



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

Housing Market Areas 
 

4.34 Section 4.5 addresses housing distribution to housing market areas. Map 4.2 shows indicatively 
the location and extent of the sub-regional housing markets.  The sub-regional housing market 
centred on Swindon appears to extend eastwards over the regional border into the south east 
region. Policy HD2 comments that local planning authorities will carry out joint working in 
assessing housing needs in housing market areas that transcend authorities’ boundaries.  
Reference to the draft SE Plan shows in Map H6 the Swindon sub-regional housing market 
extending into the Vale and para 1.9.2 notes that housing markets do not fit neatly into local 
authority boundaries.   
 
Comment.  Noted 
 
Transport 
 

4.35 Section 5.3 of the Spatial Strategy is sub-titled ‘Strategic Transport Links to the South West’.  In 
summary, paragraph 5.3.3 notes that if the economic potential of the region is to be realised it will 
be essential to ensure the strategic links between the region and the rest of the UK ( and wider 
markets) are improved. The inter-regional road network is then described. The M4 is listed as the 
route to London, ie into the south east region. The A417/A419 is listed as the route to the West 
Midlands. Paragraph 5.5.2 looks at regionally significant road routes. These are the major 
transport routes connecting the major urban areas within the region and the primary arteries for  
long distance inter-regional traffic. No mention is made of the A420 from Swindon to Oxford in 
either category.   

 
4.36 Reference to the draft South East Plan (Section D4, para. 1.16) (see Appendix B to this report) 

notes that in order that the full potential of regional hubs ( eg. Oxford ) might be realised, they 
must be supported by a network of regional spokes, policy T3 and map T2 refer.  Reference to 
map T2 shows diagrammatically that there is a regional spoke from Oxford towards Swindon. The 
road from Oxford to Swindon is the A420. As described in para 4.33 above, the A420 is not 
identified as having any particular planning policy status. There would therefore appear to be no 
‘matching’ designation for that section of the A420 road in the South West Plan.  

 
4.37 Additionally, the South East Plan shows diagrammatically in map T2 that from Oxford an 

international and inter-regional corridor leads north easterly past Milton Keynes and into the 
adjoining region.  The South West Plan seeks to ensure that the strategic links between the 
region and the rest of the UK ( and wider markets) are improved (see para 4.33 above). The 
logical route from the Swindon area into the Milton Keynes/South Midlands growth area ( see 
Section B, Map B2) is along the A420 to Oxford. Policy TR4 requires the trunk road network to be 
managed to ensure it performs its strategic function.  

 
4.38 This would appear to suggest a lack of consistency in the planning approach between the two 

regions. However, the difference in policy approach to the role of the A420 may reflect the 
differences in attitude that the regional bodies take to these matters but for the benefit of the 
general public this inconsistency in the planning approach between the two regions should be 
explained and clarified.  

 
4.39 Comment. The Regional Assembly should be informed that for reasons of clarity and 

comprehension, the strategy’s regional transport network should be consistent with the adjoining 
south east region, and therefore include appropriate references to the A420.   
 
Implementation Plan 
 

4.40 The Implementation Plan explains at para 1.1.1 that it provides the coordination and targeted 
focus that is required to ensure that the draft regional spatial strategy is translated into action. The 
basic format of the document is a summary of the key actions against delivery strategies and 
mechanisms, sources of funding, key infrastructure and timescales for delivery.  To the extent 

Page 91



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\9\8\AI00003895\SLAGSWPlandraftV2June060.docLast printed 28/06/2006 1:32 PM 

that it sets these matters out, it should assist the coordination and timely delivery of the desired 
outcomes of the strategy. 

 
4.41 In the section on Policies SR7 to SR9 at Swindon, the key infrastructure required includes “a new 

reservoir (Upper Thames reservoir) in the South East Region”. This matter has already been 
addressed at paras 4.31 and 4.32 above.   
 
Strategic Sustainability Assessment 
 

4.42 The purpose of the Strategic Sustainability Assessment, summarised in para 2, is to assist the 
preparation of the draft strategy by identifying the key sustainability issues facing the region and, 
in short, to increase the positive effects and reduce the negative. This is a useful exercise to carry 
out but examination of the Strategic Sustainability Assessment  seems to indicate a relatively 
superficial assessment of the various issues.   

 
4.43 Section 4 looks at the sustainability issues in more detail and table 4.1 lists the sustainability 

characteristics that are likely to be significantly affected by implementation of the strategy. Point 6 
in the Swindon section of the table refers to flood risk and states that the River Ray and tributaries 
flood plain lies in the eastern development area. Section 10, which deals with sub regional 
strategy statements, reiterates that at Swindon flood risk issues arise across the favoured 
development areas and attention will need to be given to this issue and, in a box below, that there 
will be pressure on Swindon’s waste water treatment systems, as well as water resources. 
 

4.44 Comment. The Regional Assembly should be informed that waste water treatment  and water 
resources would seem to be such significant issues that the Strategic Sustainability Assessment 
should cover them in greater detail than the relatively superficial way that is set out in section 10 
as described above.   

 
Pre-submission Consultation Statement 
 

4.45 The pre-submission Consultation Statement explains how stakeholder and public involvement 
was secured in the preparation of the strategy.   

 
 

Rodger Hood 
Assistant Director (Planning and Community Strategy) 

  
TIM SADLER 

Strategic Director 
 

Appendices; 
 Appendix A  Spatial Strategy for the South West, Inset Diagram 4.2. 
  Appendix B Adopted Structure Plan 2016, section 3 extract only. 
 Appendix C Report of the Panel, Structure Plan 2016, extract only. 
 Appendix D Spatial Strategy for the South East, section B, map B2. 
 
Glossary: 
 RPG10  Planning Policy Guidance Note 10. 
 RSS  Regional Spatial Strategy 
 SSCTs  Strategically Significant Cities and Towns 
 SWRA  South West Regional Assembly  
 
Background Papers: 
 South West Regional Spatial Strategy April 2006   

Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL   Report No 38/06 
         Wards affected: All       
 

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY DIRECTOR (PLANNING & COMMUNITY STRATEGY) 
TO THE EXECUTIVE 

7 July 2006 
 

Planning Delivery Grant – Position Statement & Proposals for Deployment of Remaining Grant 
 
 
1.0 Introduction and Report Summary 
 
1.1 On 5 May the Executive was advised of the details of the 2006/7 Planning Delivery Grant (PDG) 

awarded to the Council, by the then Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) as announced 
on 30 March.  A further report was promised to bring forward spending proposals following 
discussion with the Executive’s Planning Portfolio Holder.  These discussions have now taken 
place and this report provides a brief overview of the current PDG position and puts forward 
proposals which would commit the remaining uncommitted grant.  Delegated authority is sought 
for the Deputy Director (Planning & Community Strategy) in consultation with the Planning 
Portfolio Holder, to take forward and implement the proposals. 

 
1.2 The Contact Officer for this report is Rodger Hood (Deputy Director, Planning & Community 

Strategy) (01235 540340). 
 
2.0 Recommendations  
 
2.1 The Executive is recommended to: 
 
 (i) consider and endorse the proposals for planning delivery grant spending as set out in this 

report: 
 (ii) delegate authority to the Deputy Director (Planning & Community Strategy) in consultation 

with the Planning Portfolio holder to take forward and implement the proposals ensuring 
that spending remains within the available budget. 

 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 
 
3.1 This report is consistent with the Council’s vision and, in particular, supports the aim of providing 

and supporting high quality services which are effective, efficient and responsive to the needs of 
people within the Vale. 

 
4.0 Background 
 
4.1 The Planning Delivery Grant (PDG) system has been in place since 2003/4.  PDG funding, 

although not ring fenced, is allocated on the basis that it should be used to drive up performance 
in the planning service.  It is seen by Government as “an important additional resource to enable 
and incentivise the delivery of improved planning services”.  It is a performance reward payment, 
increasingly focussed on the achievement of development control and plan making targets, in 
particular the annual BVPI targets for, planning application processing, electronic delivery of the 
service, and meeting Local Development Framework milestones. 

 
4.2 The Council has received the following PDG awards since 2003/4 
 
 2003/04 £128,821 
 2004/05 £388,447 
 2005/06 £73,260 
 
 The majority of grant awarded has been used to support and improve the planning service, in line 

Agenda Item 20

Page 102



with the Government’s PDG objectives.  Grant has been (or is being) used to fund a range of 
performance related proposals including, 

 
 - The employment of 2 planning technicians in the Development Control teams. 
 - Employment of a second enforcement monitoring officer (temporary post). 
 - Replacement PC’s for all planning officers. 
 - Electronic capture and storage of planning application files. 
 - Market premia payments for key planning personnel. 
 - Introduction of voicemail for development control officers. 
 - Employment of agency staff to provide cover in the planning applications technical  
  support team. 
 - Commencement of the Council’s programme of Conservation Area appraisals. 
 - Reintroduction of the Council’s Design Award Scheme. 
 
4.3 As reported to the Executive in May, the ODPM announced the 2006/7 PDG awards to Planning 

Authorities on 30th March.  In total £135m was made available to support planning services 
nationally, and the Vale Council’s award was as follows: 

 
 £  67,248 for development control performance 
 £  14,652 for on line planning capabilities 
 £124,093 for housing considerations 
 £  52,525 for plan making performance 
 £       252 upward adjustment 
 £258,770 Award total 
 
 To encourage “investment” in longer term improvements to planning services the Government is 

tying a minimum of 25% of the 2006/7 grant award to capital expenditure.  In the Vale’s case this 
amounts to just over £64k. 

 
4.4 A balance of £63k remains uncommitted from earlier PDG awards and proposals which were to 

have been brought forward to commit this sum have been reconsidered in the light of the 
additional and more substantial funding now available following the 2006/7 award.  In total 
£322,470 of PDG funding is available for improvement related projects, of which a minimum of 
£64,692 is required to be spent on capital. 

 
5.0 Proposals for future use of Planning Delivery Grant 
 
5.1 Discussions have been held with the Development Control Manager and Section Heads within 

the Planning Service to identify the most effective and practical options for deployment of the 
remaining PDG, again with the primary aim of making investment which will help to maintain or 
improve service performance and thereby increase the Council’s chances of earning future grant 
award.  (In December 2005 Government announced that PDG funding would be guaranteed for 
one more year, with £120m to be distributed in 2007/8.  The Department of Communities and 
Local Government are examining a number of options for future resources for planning as part of 
a Comprehensive Spending Review in 2007, and are researching the effects of PDG on local 
authority performance).  The proposals set out below have been discussed with and endorsed in 
principle by, the Executive’s Planning Portfolio Holder. In some instances, costings will need to be 
firmed up, but before this more detailed work is undertaken it was thought prudent to secure 
Executive approval in principle before taking the proposals forward.  Executive Members will note 
the strong emphasis on proposals which will help to maintain staffing levels in the Service as this 
is seen as the single most critical factor in maintaining and improving planning performance, 
given that the Service is now fully e-enabled and opportunities for further technical improvements 
are now more limited. 

 
5.2 Revenue Spending proposals: 
 

• Establishment of a staffing contingency fund to ensure that the Service’s staffing levels can be 

Page 103



maintained and the impacts of staff turnover and absences on performance are minimised: 
 

At its meeting on 2nd June the Executive acknowledged that maintenance of full staffing levels 
in the Planning Service and, in particular in the Development Control Service Area, is 
fundamental to good performance.  The Deputy Director was requested to being forward 
proposals to help achieve this as part of the report on future use of PDG.  Executive Members 
will be aware that in 2006/7 the Council’s Managed Vacancy system is no longer operating 
and, in its place, Deputy and Assistant Directors have been asked to manage their staffing 
levels within a budget which equates to 95% of the previous year’s salary budget.  The 
Planning Service will not be able to sustain or improve performance unless full staffing levels 
can be maintained throughout the year.  The Executive will also recall that the Vale has been 
designated as a Standards Authority in 2006/7 and will be required to meet Government 
targets for handling Major and Minor applications by March 2007. 
 
It is suggested that £100k of PDG be set aside in a contingency fund which can be drawn on 
as needed, to bring in private sector support (consultants) or agency staff to provide full cover 
for planning officers or key technical support staff in both the Development Control and 
Development Policy Service Areas.  The fund would be used to provide additional resources 
to cover periods where performance is threatened by staff turnover and/or loss of key 
personnel through long term sickness.  If demand on the fund in 2006/7 is limited the balance 
would be rolled forward to future years and could be “topped up” from any future PDG award if 
its use proves to be effective. 
 
Cost = £100,000 
 

• Enforcement Monitoring Officer – Extension of contract for a further 2 years:  
 

In 2004 the Executive agreed to use PDG to provide additional support to the Planning 
Enforcement Team by the appointment of a second enforcement monitoring officer.  The post 
was created and filled on the basis of a 3 year fixed term contract entirely funded by PDG.  
The contract is due to end in 2008. 
 
Enforcement is a critical part of the planning process and the Council’s ability to enforce 
against breaches of planning control has been the subject of concern on a number of 
occasions over recent years.  The enforcement workload has also grown, particularly as a 
result of the introduction of the high hedges legislation.  To enable the service’s performance 
to be maintained at its current level for longer it is suggested that the monitoring officer 
contract be extended for a further 2 years. 
 
Cost = £55,000 
 

• Market Premia Payments to planning officer posts: 
 

At its meeting on 22 June the Personnel, Regulatory & Appeals Committee resolved to 
continue market premia payments to certain planning officer posts to ensure salaries remain 
competitive and potential staff retention and recruitment difficulties are eased.  Previous 
market premia payments were met from PDG and it is suggested that the new payments 
(which are effective from 1 July) are similarly PDG funded. 
 
Cost = £34,000 
 

• Production of a new Vale Design Guide 
 

The Council has in place a number of advisory design guides which are used to support the 
development control process and promote good design in new developments across the 
District.  These include the “New Residential Areas Design Guide”, “Shop Fronts & 
Advertisements”, “House Conversions to Flats”, and “The House Extensions Design Guide”.  

Page 104



Resource limitations and the need to prioritise work to adopt the Local Plan 2011, has meant 
that of these, only the House Extensions Design Guide has been reviewed, updated and 
progressed as Supplementary Planning Guidance to accompany the new local plan. 
 
In March 2006 Council resolved to retain the remaining guides as development control advice 
once the local plan is adopted, acknowledging that they would carry less weight (as they no 
longer retain the status of supplementary planning guidance) and would need to be replaced 
in due course as supplementary planning documents under the new Local Development 
Framework system. 
 
Planning Policy Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development (PPS1) published in 2005 
stresses the need for Local Authorities to promote high quality, inclusive design in the layout of 
new developments and individual buildings and urges Councils to reject design which fails to 
take opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area.  PPS1 
suggests that it is entirely “proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness 
particularly where this is supported by clear plan policies or supplementary planning 
documents on design.” 
 
Having regard to the existing budget for preparation of the Council’s new Local Development 
Framework, it is unlikely that priority could be given to the preparation of updated design 
guidance as a supplementary planning document.  It is therefore suggested that a brief be 
drawn up and tenders invited from suitable consultants, for the production of a new 
comprehensive Vale Design Guide for the Vale, updating and consolidating into a single 
document relevant existing Vale guidance. 
 
Initial cost estimate = £25-30,000 

 
• Funding of a tree preservation order review 

 
 The arboricultural officer has recently completed a cursory survey of the Council’s 300 plus 

tree preservation orders (TPOs) and found a number of serious issues that need to be 
addressed.  The circumstances relating to many of the older orders appear to have changed 
dramatically.  Areas around the trees have been developed, some of the trees themselves 
may have gone or, due to the passage of time, they no longer warrant protection.  Some of the 
maps attached to the original orders no longer bear comparison with a modern map making 
tree identification difficult, and errors have also been found in the drafting of a number of the 
earlier orders, all of which will make TPO enforcement increasingly difficult and, in some cases 
impossible. 

 
 The arboricultural officer is of the view that a full re-survey of TPOs is necessary, however, 

given the existing pressures on his time he is unable to address the problem.  To complete the 
survey it is proposed that a temporary member of staff (or consultant) be appointed. 

 
 Cost = £8K 
 
5.3       Capital spending proposals: 
 

• Electronic capture of planning applications records currently held as microfiche 
 
 At present, all planning application file records before the year 2000 are held as microfiche.  

This amounts to approximately 100,000 individual microfiche documents.  The system for 
retrieving and viewing the microfiche is inefficient and slow, and where paper copies of plans 
held on microfiche are requested by customers or needed by staff, these need to be sent to an 
external company for printing, which is both costly and time consuming.  The digital capture of 
the microfiche will overcome these problems and ensure that all planning application records 
are held electronically and can be accessed by planning officers, technical support staff, LSP 
staff and customers in the LSP, at their desks.  This will improve service efficiency and better 

Page 105



meet the needs of customers.  An initial indicative cost for the project has been sought from a 
major supplier but clearly alternative quotes will be required. 

 
 Initial cost estimate = To be advised, but likely to be of the order of £50-60K 
 

• Purchase of new digital cameras (5 no) for Committee presentation and site visit recording 
purposes 

 
 The development control, enforcement and conservation teams currently record site details for 

Committee presentation and application processing purposes, using digital cameras 
purchased some 3 years ago.  The cameras are in daily shared use, which can cause 
availability problems, particularly when repairs are needed.  Some staff are using their own 
personal cameras to overcome the problem.  Purchase of additional cameras would resolve 
these difficulties and provide a safeguard against availability problems caused by faults and 
repairs, which are increasingly likely given the age of the existing cameras and the level of 
usage. 

 
 Cost = £1,750 
 

• Purchase of new database for managing the Local Development Framework consultation 
process: 

 
Having approved the Council’s Local Development Scheme and its Statement of Community 
Involvement the Executive will be aware of the complex, multi-document nature of the Local 
Development Framework system and will be familiar with the extensive consultation required 
throughout the new plan making process.  An essential tool for managing the process is an 
effective data base which can retain consultee records (including details of their response to 
various consultation documents) and can generate the forms and letters the Council is 
required to produce at each stage of the process.  The database is invaluable in sorting and 
categorising responses by, for example, policy reference, geographical location and 
respondent type, saving considerable officer time and ensuring accurate records are kept and 
updated, that consultees are not overlooked, and that the necessary information for reports 
can be generated quickly. There are a number of products on the market and development 
policy staff are currently investigating alternatives, including the latest CAP’s Solutions 
product.  Full staff training in use of the database will be part of the purchase price. 
 
Initial cost estimate = £11K 

 
• Purchase of a system to provide an electronic link between the Local Plan 2011 proposals 

map and local plan policies, using a postcode or street search facility.   
 

As part of the BVPI 205 “Quality of Service Checklist” for Planning, Councils are assessed on 
whether they “provide the capability for an electronic planning service”.  Authorities score 
points according to the level they achieve against a “Pendleton Report Survey” which 
assesses them against 21 different criteria.  Following completion of the Planning-on-the-Web 
project, this Council now scores well against the Pendleton criteria system, however, an area 
where it has still to improve is in providing the facility to link the Local Plan proposals map to 
the relevant policies and designations in the Local Plan written statement.  To meet the 
Pendleton test users must be able to access a list of relevant Local Plan policies and 
designations for an individual site by clicking on that area on the electronically held version of 
the Proposals Map or by locating it via an address or postcode search i.e. the process must be 
interactive. 

 
There are alternative systems on the market to achieve this, however, to minimise the 
purchase cost it is recommended that we use the system produced by Lovell Johns, the 
Company responsible for the production of the Local Plan proposals map, as they hold the 
original artwork and documentation in electronic format.  (An alternative supplier would need 

Page 106



to acquire access to, or recreate this material at significant additional cost).  The cost of the 
system can vary depending on the degree of functionality required.  The estimate below would 
allow purchase of a system which would enable the Council to comply with the basic 
Pendleton requirements. 
 
Initial cost estimate = £10,000 

 
• Transfer of English Heritage Listed building data into the Planning Service’s “Uniform” system 

 
The Council’s statutory list of buildings of special architectural or historic interest (2,500 
entries) is currently held in paper format.  This includes building descriptions and map 
locations.  English Heritage have reproduced this information in electronic form which could be 
transferred directly into the Council’s Planning application “Uniform” system.  This would 
enable officers and technical support staff to interrogate the information at their desks, 
improving service efficiency and allowing customer inquiries to be dealt with more speedily.  
The transfer would require acquisition of the necessary licence key, staff training and a one-off 
data transfer. 
 
Cost = £2,850 
 

• Update the Ordnance Survey map base held in the Service’s “Uniform” system 
 

The mapping element of the Councils planning application administration system (Uniform) is 
based on Ordnance Survey (OS) data, which is subject to periodic update.  
Consultation/neighbour notification and planning application plotting are dependant on 
accurate and up to date mapping records.  The OS record in Uniform has not been updated 
for 2 years and since the departure of the Council’s Data Project Manager there is no in-house 
expertise to carry out the update.  CAPS Solution, the Uniform system supplier, have been 
contacted and can offer this service, together with software and staff training which would 
enable future up dates to be completed in house. 
 
Cost = £4,280 
 

6.0 Summary 
 
6.1 The above proposals, if approved, would commit around &317K of the available PDG funding, 

with some £90K being spent on capital projects.  As indicated, costings for a number of the 
projects will need to be firmed up once delegated authority to proceed has been given.  The 
establishment of the staffing contingency fund (£100K) and the under spend against the total 
available PDG (£5K) will provide a degree of flexibility within the overall budget to adjust spending 
with the necessary Executive or Portfolio holder approval. 

 
 

RODGER HOOD 
Deputy Director (Planning & community Strategy) 

 
TIM SADLER 

Strategic Director 
 

 
 
Background Papers:   

Page 107



VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL  Report No. 39/06 
 Wards Affected – ALL 
  

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH)  
TO THE EXECUTIVE  

7TH JULY 2006 
 

Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy  
 
 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary  
 
1.1 This report recommends the adoption of a Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy 

to guide the Council’s enforcement work on envirocrimes. This will be a working document 
subject to consultation and finalization in September 2006. In pursuit of this, the report 
recommends the adoption of a charging regime for Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and other 
actions to allow their implementation from September 2006 onwards. It also indicates the 
offences for priority action. 

 
1.2 The report also recommends consolidation of already agreed envirocrimes policies into a 

consolidated Environmental Health Enforcement Policy for consultation and finalization in 
September 2006 

 
1.3 The contact officer for this report is David Stevens, Assistant Director (Environmental Health) 

telephone 01235 540378 
 
2.0 Recommendations  
 

(a) that Members approve the draft Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 
(b)  that Members recommend to Council the Charging Scheme for FPNs as attached at 

Appendix 3 
 

(c) that Members note the level of existing support for a Local Environmental Quality 
Enforcement Strategy outlined in Appendix 2 and agree that the proposed route for 
consultation and engagement should be to: 

 
(i) apply the draft Strategy as an interim strategy pending consultation  

 
(i)  address the outcome of public consultation over July and August 2006 

 
(ii)  finalise the Strategy in September 2006 

 
(d) that Members approve the approach to enforcement policy changes, namely to 

 
(i) consolidate previously agreed FPN criteria and Fly-Tipping prosecution 

presumption into the Environmental Health Enforcement Policy  
 

(ii)  consult on the consolidated Environmental Health Enforcement  Policy  
 

(iii)  bring the Environmental Health Enforcement Policy to September Council  
 

 (e) that Members note the proposed implementation and priorities for FPNs from 
September 2006 after a period of public awareness raising 

 
(f) that Members note that with existing resources it will be possible to provide a low level 

reactive response to incidents but not to extend this to patrolling or surveillance 

Agenda Item 21

Page 108



activities and that both the level of activity and related resource needs will be kept under 
review 

 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 
 

This report supports the Council’s overall aim of seeking the economic, environmental and 
social sustainability of the Vale, protecting and enhancing the vitality of our towns and villages. 
In particular this report helps to create a cleaner, greener, safer and healthier community and 
environment 

  
4.0 Background  
 
4.1 The Local Environmental Quality and thereby perception of quality of life of a neighbourhood, 

is significantly affected by the presence, absence or level of environmental crime or 
“envirocrimes” (a term identified by Government) in that neighbourhood. Envirocrimes may be 
taken to include activities which create or add to litter, graffiti, fly-posting, nuisance and 
abandoned vehicles, unauthorized distribution of literature on designated land, dog control, 
waste (including fly-tipping) and noise from dwellings and licensed premises. A 
comprehensive range of enforcement powers and duties are now available to the Council, 
particularly under the recent Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005. 

 
4.2 In order to ensure take effective action about local environmental quality, Defra recommends 

that authorities adopt a Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy in order to promote 
better enforcement in their area. A draft Local Environmental Quality Strategy is attached as 
Appendix 1.  

 
4.3 In pursuit of such a Strategy, various matters outlined in this report, need to be addressed.   

By gaining authorization for implementation of an initial enforcement phase, the Council would 
be able to take enforcement action on the whole range of envirocrimes, whilst concentrating 
on the priority issues.  To achieve this, the following points are recommended for agreement. 

 
5.0 Enforcement Policy Issues 

 
5.1 Members have already agreed criteria for the use of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and a 

presumption for prosecution in fly tipping cases. These together with the overall principles of 
good enforcement practice recommended by the Enforcement Concordat may be brought 
together in a consolidated Environmental Health Enforcement Policy currently being 
developed for reporting following consultation to the November 2006 Council.  
 

5.2 Issuing FPNs to Juveniles. 
In law, a fixed penalty notice can be issued to anyone over the age of 10 years. However, 
recent Defra guidance recommends adoption of special procedures for issuing notices to 
young offenders (I.e. those below age 18 years).This will ensure authorities act in accordance 
with their duty under the Children Act 2004 which requires them to discharge their functions 
having regard to the need to safeguard and uphold the welfare of children. 

 
5.3 It is therefore recommended that, in the initial phase of envirocrimes enforcement, FPNs are 

not issued to juveniles. Procedures and protocols will need to be developed in conjunction with 
the police and Youth Offending Teams, and will be incorporated into the Environmental Health 
Enforcement Policy. 

 
6.0 Setting Fixed Penalty Levels 
 
6.1 In respect of FPNs for envirocrimes, the Council has to decide what penalty levels to set for 

those where local discretion is allowed. It also has to decide what, if any, discount will be 
made available for early payment of the various FPNs and what the early payment discount 
period shall be. 

 

Page 109



6.2 Members are requested to recommend to full Council the levels of fixed penalties proposed in 
Appendix 3.  
 

6.3 Whilst it is not the intention to proceed on the use of all the different FPNs initially, it is sensible 
to set all the penalties at this stage. 

 
6.4 Income from the receipt of FPNs will be not be significant. The Council is allowed to keep such 

receipts which have to be spent on the specified functions. Such income will therefore be used 
to offset enforcement costs. 

 
7.0 Prioritisation 

There are 13 envirocrimes offences now covered by FPNs, and prosecution is available for 
various other offences. The following are the recommended priorities for enforcement action. 

 
7.1 Fly tipping 

This illegal depositing of waste is a considerable and growing problem for the Vale and 
nationally. Enforcement on fly tipping already forms part of the work of the Environmental 
Protection Team, and this work will continue. No fixed penalty notice is available, but the 
Government has increased the penalty to a maximum fine of £50,000 and possible 
imprisonment. 

 
7.2 Litter 

Litter is a universal problem and is a highly visible and public envirocrimes. A significant 
proportion of the street cleaning budget is spent essentially on picking or sweeping up litter. 
Use of the new fixed penalty notice with locally set penalty level and early payment discount is 
recommended. 

 
7.3 Dog fouling 

A fixed penalty notice of £50 for failure to clear up dog faeces is already currently available 
under the provisions of the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996. In 1997 the Council made an 
order designating, subject to certain statutory exceptions, all land to which the public have 
access. Many warning notices have been posted around the Vale. No new orders can be 
made under this Act. 
 

7.4 The Council and Town and Parish Councils can declare Dog Control Orders under the new 
legislation, which can include making it an offence of failure to clear up dog faeces. The new 
fixed penalty notice with locally set penalty level and early payment discount could then be 
used.  
 

7.5 In terms of choice of legislation, it is suggested the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 provisions 
are used for enforcement for the time being, as they are already in force. They have been 
publicised over the years, reducing the need for more publicity. 
 

7.6 The introduction of the new Dog Control Orders could then take a lower priority, allowing 
plenty of time for research and consultation as to any need for them 

 
7.7 Graffiti and fly posting 

These are universal problems and are highly visible and public envirocrimes. Enforcement on 
fly posting already forms part of the work of the Planning Enforcement team and this work will 
continue. Careful interpretation of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
Regulations 1992 is required before any particular advertisement can be classed as an illegal 
Fly Poster (as there is no formal/legal definition of ‘fly-posting’) thus enabling prosecution 
under Section 224(3) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Use of the new fixed 
penalty notice with locally set penalty level and early payment discount is recommended. 

 
7.8 Failure of business to produce authority (waste transfer notes) 

It is part of the existing requirements of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 section 34 legal 
“Duty of Care” in respect of waste for businesses to obtain and keep written transfer notes 

Page 110



when they transfer their waste to another party. This legislation has been in force for many 
years, contravention leading to prosecution. Lack of such transfer notes will often be an 
indication that the waste has entered the unregulated waste chain and is likely to be disposed 
of irregularly or fly-tipped. 
 

7.9 Obtaining sufficient evidence to prosecute for fly-tipping is extremely difficult and complex in 
most cases. However, checking whether or not a business has transfer notes is more simple 
and straightforward. By enforcing this aspect of the Duty of Care, it is likely that the amount of 
waste entering the unregulated waste chain will decrease, thus reducing fly-tipping of such 
waste.  
 

7.10 Use of the new fixed penalty notice with locally set penalty level and early payment discount is 
recommended. Attention will be focused on businesses implicated in fly tipping cases, those 
considered high risk for not having suitable arrangements, or those businesses causing 
problems from  litter and rubbish because of inadequate waste storage and management 
arrangements. 

 
7.11 Householder Duty of Care 

Householders have been exempt from the Environmental Protection Act 1990 section 34 legal 
Duty of Care. However, new regulations now require householders to take reasonable 
measures to ensure waste from their property is passed on to an authorised person. Much 
small-scale local fly tipping unfortunately is carried out by some irresponsible householders. 
Also waste from home improvements, gardening and driveway construction is also found in fly 
tips from unscrupulous traders. Householders should check such traders are registered waste 
carriers. Attention will be focused on those householders implicated in fly tipping. 

 
8.0 Community Engagement 
 

The Defra guidance on envirocrimes recommends that it is good practice to consult on, and 
promote to, the public the contents of a local environmental quality enforcement strategy, 
particularly if FPNs have not been previously used, or used widely.  

 
8.1 However, public concern about envirocrimes has existed for some time, and has been shown 

to be a priority. Therefore there is no need to go out to yet further consultation at this stage to 
demonstrate this concern or support for moving forwards. Appendix 2 provides supporting 
information 

 
8.2 Details of the draft environmental enforcement strategy and information on envirocrimes will 

be published on the Council’s website, with the facility for feedback. Some questions on local 
environmental quality enforcement have been included in a forthcoming consultation with the 
Vale Voice Panel 

 
8.3 It is intended to take account of feedback on the draft strategy and finalise it during the 

September 2006 reporting cycle. 
 
8.4 As FPNs have not previously been used, a publicity campaign should be undertaken to further 

raise public awareness on envirocrimes, the impending expansion of enforcement activities 
(particularly FPNs) and to seek continuing feedback. However, this should be fairly “short and 
sharp” to again avoid undue delay. The aim will be to inform those who live, work and visit the 
Vale what constitutes an offence and what penalties can be expected. 

 
8.5 The Assistant Director, Environmental Health, in discussion with the Head of Communications 

will devise a public awareness campaign. It will be carried out over the summer so use of 
FPNs can start in September 2006. 

 
9.0 Resources 
 

Page 111



The authority to use FPNs relating to envirocrimes has already been delegated by the 
Executive. All Officers in the Environmental Health Service and the Planning Enforcement 
Team (with regard to Fly Posting and Nuisance Parking) will be authorised to serve them in 
addition to their existing duties. However, the focus will be the Environmental Protection 
Team, who are already dealing with fly tipping enforcement, with the main enforcement officer 
being the Environment Warden. 

 
9.1 Within these existing resources it will be possible to provide a low level reactive response to 

incidents but not to extend this to patrolling or surveillance activities. 
 
9.2 At this low level, it is considered that the necessary work involved in administration of FPNs, 

and prosecution in cases of non- payment, can also be carried out within existing resources. 
 
9.3 If the level of activity for enforcement, community engagement were to be extended it would be 

necessary to fortify staff resources.  It is therefore proposed that both the level of activity and 
related resource needs are kept under review 

 
 
 

DAVID STEVENS  
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH)  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 
Appendix 1 
 

DRAFT LOCAL ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY 
 
Scope 
 
This Strategy covers all areas of enforcement work affecting Local Environmental Quality (LEQ), 
which includes the topics of litter and waste, graffiti, fly-posting, nuisance and abandoned vehicles, 
unauthorized distribution of literature on designated land, dog control, waste (including fly-tipping) and 
noise from dwellings and licensed premises. 
  
The principles and policies for taking effective enforcement action will be set out in a series of linked 
Enforcement Policies, which will cover general principles and more detailed requirements as 
necessary. 
 
This strategy links to other strategies and polices including those covering community safety, 
licensing, planning control, food safety, health and safety and pollution control. 
 
Aim 
 
This Strategy aims to achieve improvements in Local Environmental Quality through effective 
regulation and enforcement. 
 
Objectives 
 
To use all available powers and duties in an appropriate manner. 
 
To ensure that the principles of the national Enforcement Concordat are applied to regulation and 
enforcement. 
 
To work effectively with other service providers and regulators to maximize effectiveness and 
efficiency and avoid duplication. 
 
To provide clear guidance to the community on the Council’s powers and duties, and in what 
circumstances they will be used. 
 
To obtain community support for this Enforcement Strategy  
 
To work with the community to achieve implementation of this Enforcement Strategy 
 
Achieving the Objectives 
 
The Council will ensure it has the ability to take enforcement action on any offence falling within the 
remit of this Strategy. However, this will be subject to:- 
 
Allocation of Resources 
 
Resources, including capacity to prosecute for offences and non-payment of FPNs served on behalf 
of the Council by its own officers and other agencies, will be matched to the enforcement outcomes 
set by the Council. These enforcement outcomes include:- 
 

• The ability to take enforcement action on any detected offence, including service of 
FPNs, in accordance with the Enforcement Policy principles. 

• The ability to take timely prosecution where appropriate for offences or non-
payment of FPNs. 

• The contribution enforcement actions make to the overall vision and aims of the 
Council. 

Page 113



Prioritization 
 

� Attention and resources may be focused on priority areas for enforcement 
 
Balance 
 
A balance will be maintained between education, awareness raising, managing public expectation 
and enforcement.  Similarly there will be a balance maintained across the various areas of 
enforcement e.g. between resources devoted to FPNs and time spent on prosecutions.  Both these 
will be pursued in the interest of good enforcement practice and high quality, efficient service delivery 
 
Choice of legislation 
 
For many offences, there may be a range of different pieces of legislation which could be used to take 
enforcement action. Consideration will be given to the most appropriate choice for any particular case. 
In addition, it may be decided that generically certain pieces of legislation will not be used, e.g. where 
the Council has discretion, because other legislation is considered more appropriate and useful, or to 
allow proper assessment of the impact and benefits of new legislation and experience of its use 
elsewhere. 
 
The Enforcement Strategy and associated enforcement policies will be publicized, along with details 
of legislation and an explanation of why the Council intends to use its powers. The Council will consult 
with other enforcement agencies, with stakeholders and with the general public. Working protocols 
will be established with other enforcement agencies. 
 
General 
 
All Enforcement Officers will be given adequate and appropriate training. Standardized policies and 
procedures will be developed to achieve consistency in enforcement, coupled with compliance with 
relevant legislation e.g. on human rights, surveillance and interviewing of suspects 
 

Page 114



Appendix 2 
Local Environmental Quality Enforcement Strategy 
Existing Support for more formal action on Environmental Crime  
 
The National Picture  
 
Local Environmental Quality has been a major theme for the Government over the past few years. 
They have consulted widely, it is now a priority subject for Defra, and much new legislation has been 
produced on “envirocrime” (i.e. those offences which affect local environmental quality), culminating in 
sweeping new powers (particularly use of FPNs) with the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment 
Act 2005 and much associated detailed guidance.  
 
It should be noted that there are close links with the anti-social behaviour theme, which is also a 
Government priority and resulted in legislation such as the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
Envirocrimes can be considered as acts of anti-social behaviour. Anti-social behaviour enforcement 
measures, such as Anti Social Behaviour Orders, have been used around the country in respect of 
persistent envirocrime offenders. 
 
Vale of White Horse Community Safety Strategy 
 
Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Police, the Police Authority, Local Authorities (County, 
District, Town and Parish Councils), Fire and Rescue Services and Primary Care Health Trusts have 
a statutory responsibility to work together to tackle crime and disorder. Other public sector and 
voluntary organisations are required to cooperate with the statutory authorities.  
 
The statutory partners have to conduct an audit of crime and disorder, consult the public on the 
findings of the audit, and produce a strategy for tackling the issues identified. 
 
The input from the statutory partners therefore represents a considerable body of opinion from those 
organisations that have the protection and well-being of the public as a core responsibility. 
 
A comprehensive audit was carried out in 2004, with the volume and quality of data far exceeding that 
of previous audits. Key issues from the audit formed the basis of a consultation exercise. 
 
Analysis of the audit data revealed environmental crime as one of the key issues, to quote:- 
 
“Environmental crime This includes litter, graffiti, nuisance dogs, nuisance vehicles, fly-tipping, fly 
posting, nuisance neighbours and abandoned shopping trolleys. It scored highly in the survey, and 
the emergence of new legislation and new empowerments for local authorities will almost certainly 
see it assume a high profile over the strategy period.” 
 
Subsequently environmental crime showed as a high concern in the public consultation exercise. As a 
consequence, environmental crime formed one of the 5 themes under which the Strategy is 
presented:- 
 
“Environmental Crime A significant local concern which is assuming more importance nationally and 
upon which the district council will lead.” 
 
The target for the Environmental Crime Action Group, set up to progress work on this theme, most 
relevant to enforcement includes “Reduce the number of reported fly tipping incidents…….” 
 
Reflecting the comments under the National Picture, Anti-Social Behaviour is also a significant local 
concern, and a theme of the Community Safety Strategy. There are close links between the 2 themes 
and their respective Action Groups. 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Existing Service Area activity 
 
The Council receives many complaints, service requests and comments from the public and other 
organisations about envirocrime, and already takes enforcement action on many issues. To quote 
some examples:- 
 
The Planning Enforcement Service  
 

• This Team has always dealt with contraventions of advertising regulations, including fly 
posting on non-highway land  

• Use of land and premises without proper planning permission, or dereliction of land, can give 
rise to envirocrime issues, such as pollution, offensive accumulations of materials, fly tipping  

 
Services responsible for land and premises 

• All such services are affected by envirocrime, such as litter, graffiti, Fly posting, fly tipping, and 
dog fouling. These generate complaints about the appearance of Council land and property. 

 
The Environmental Health Service 

• The Waste Management Team is responsible for the cleanliness of the public highways and 
various relevant land. Most of the rubbish they deal with results from litter and fly tipping, and 
considerable numbers of complaints and service requests are received on these issues. Dog 
fouling is another major topic of complaint about street cleaning. 

• They a receive complaints about early presentation of domestic waste for collection, which 
results in litter and reduction in amenity. 

• They deal with abandoned vehicles, which often have associated problems of rubbish and oil 
pollution, as well as representing a safety hazard. 

• The Environmental Protection Team has always dealt with a variety of complaints and 
requests for service on environmental quality issues. It has broadened its role into 
environmental crime enforcement, and consequently now receives many complaints on 
envirocrime. It has concentrated efforts to date on fly tipping enforcement and its successful  
prosecutions and formal cautions have received favourable comment. Public interest has been 
high, resulting in 2 television appearances by team members to talk about fly tipping. 

• Dog fouling enforcement and stray dog control attract lots of complaints and service requests. 

• The concern over fly tipping led the Council to adopt a policy of prosecuting offenders 
wherever practicable, because of the seriousness of the issue. 

. 
Local media Interest 
 

• The local media reflect the interest and concern of the local community on envirocrime. As 
well as some topics reaching television, the national and local press, community newsletters 
etc. have all run articles on various aspects and incidents of envirocrime. 

Page 116



Appendix 3 
 
FPNS FOR ENVIROCRIMES – SERVICE OF NOTICES, SETTING LOCAL PENALTY LEVELS 
AND DISCOUNTS FOR EARLY PAYMENT 
 
Background 
 
There are 13 offences listed in Table 1. For 5 of these, the amount of fixed penalty has been set by 
the Government. For 8 offences the various Acts enable the Council to use its local discretion and 
specify the amount of a fixed penalty. If the Council does not make use of this power, the Acts provide 
that a standard default amount applies. These offences are highlighted in grey in Table1. Where the 
Council does decide to set its own fixed penalty amounts, these must fall within certain ranges which 
are also indicated below. 
 
In addition, for all the offences listed (with the exception of noise from licensed premises) the Council 
may offer a discount for early payment of a FPN. The amount below which the discounted penalty 
must not fall is also shown in the table. 
 
Setting the penalty levels 
 
 Defra guidance offers the following advice on setting penalty levels:- 
 
‘In determining the level for a fixed penalty, local authorities will need to take into account the  
deterrent effect of different levels and also peoples’ readiness to pay and the levels of fines imposed 
locally for the relevant offence in magistrates courts. Fixed penalties that are too high for local 
conditions, and lead to substantial non-payment rates, will be counter-productive as will penalties that 
are higher than the likely fine in the event of non-payment’  
 
However, the offences listed have generally not been pursued in the Courts in Oxfordshire, so local 
information on levels of fines is not available. Similarly there is no information on people’s readiness 
to pay. 
 
The Defra guidance strongly recommends consulting the police when setting penalty levels. This has 
been done, and a response received suggesting use of the default penalty levels. There was also 
support for consistency across Oxfordshire. It had been suggested that neighbouring authorities of 
similar nature set similar penalty levels for consistency. However, it can be argued this goes against 
the principle in the legislation of allowing local discretion. To date, no information has been received 
from the other Oxfordshire authorities as to any penalty levels they have set or are considering 
setting. 
 
The Council’s Community Safety Team have also been asked for their views. In the absence of 
available information on these topics, they have also suggested use of the default penalty levels. 
 
In drawing up the relevant legislation, the Government has consulted widely over the past few years, 
and has drawn on a wealth of research and expert opinion. It can therefore be argued that, in the 
absence of local information to the contrary, the default levels they set are fair and reasonable. It is 
therefore suggested the default penalties be adopted. 
 
The use of FPNs will develop nationally over the next few years following the implementation of the 
clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005. It would therefore be sensible for the Council to 
review the penalty levels after a reasonable time, and 3 years is suggested. 
 
 
Setting early payment discounts. 
 
There is a standard period for payment of fixed penalties, set in the legislation at14 days. Once a 
fixed penalty notice has been issued, an authority cannot prosecute for the alleged offence if the fixed 
penalty is paid within this period. For this reason, the period during which a discount for early payment 

Page 117



is offered must be less than 14 days and, to avoid confusion, Defra recommend that it should not be 
more than 10 days and it is suggested this period be adopted.  
 
It is considered important to offer a reasonably large early payment discount for a fixed penalty notice. 
This will encourage prompt payment and help achieve high payment rates. The Government has set 
the amounts below which the fixed penalty levels may not fall. Again, in the absence of local 
information to the contrary, these offer reasonably large discounts so it is suggested these are 
adopted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 T
a
b

le
 1

 
 O

ff
e
n

c
e
s
 f

o
r 

w
h

ic
h

 f
ix

e
d

 p
e
n

a
lt

ie
s
 a

re
 a

v
a
il

a
b

le
 

 T
h
e
 t

a
b
le

 b
e
lo

w
 l

is
ts

 t
h
e
 f

ix
e
d
 p

e
n
a
lt
y
 n

o
ti
c
e
 i

s
s
u
in

g
 p

o
w

e
rs

 c
o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
fr

a
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
. 

T
h
e
 s

h
a
d
e
d
 r

o
w

s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
t 

th
o
s
e
 F

P
N

s
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
e
 l

o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 m
a
y
 u

s
e
 i

t’
s
 d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
 t

o
 s

e
t 

it
s
 o

w
n
 p

e
n
a
lt
y
 l

e
v
e
ls

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ie

d
 r

a
n
g

e
. 

If
 t

h
e
 l

o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 

s
e
t 

it
s
 o

w
n
 p

e
n
a
lt
y
 l

e
v
e

ls
, 

th
e
 

d
e
fa

u
lt
 p

e
n
a
lt
y
 w

h
ic

h
 a

p
p
lie

s
 i
s
 s

h
o
w

n
. 

 T
h
e
 l

o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 m
a
y
 a

ls
o
 s

e
t 

a
n
 e

a
rl

y
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

d
is

c
o
u
n
t 

fo
r 

a
ll 

th
e
 f

ix
e
d
 p

e
n
a
lt
ie

s
 l

is
te

d
, 

u
n
le

s
s
 o

th
e
rw

is
e
 i

n
d

ic
a
te

d
. 

T
h
e
 a

m
o
u
n
ts

 b
e
lo

w
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 

d
is

c
o
u
n
te

d
 p

e
n
a
lt
ie

s
 m

a
y
 n

o
t 
fa

ll 
a
re

:-
 

 

•
 

F
o
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 w

it
h
 a

 d
e
fa

u
lt
 r

a
te

 o
f 

£
7
5
, 

£
5
0
. 

 

•
 

F
o
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 w

it
h
 a

 d
e
fa

u
lt
 r

a
te

 o
f 

£
1
0
0
, 

£
6
0
. 

 

•
 

F
o
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 w

it
h
 a

 d
e
fa

u
lt
 r

a
te

 o
f 

£
2
0
0
, 

£
1
2
0
. 

 

•
 

F
o
r 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 w

it
h
 a

 d
e
fa

u
lt
 r

a
te

 o
f 

£
3
0
0
, 

£
1
8
0
. 

 S
e
c
ti

o
n

 &
 

i L
e
g

is
la

ti
o

n
  

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
o

f 
O

ff
e
n

c
e
  

P
e
n

a
lt

y
 

A
m

o
u

n
t 

fo
r 

fi
x
e
d

 p
e
n

a
lt

y
 

n
o

ti
c
e
 s

e
t 

in
 

le
g

is
la

ti
o

n
 

A
m

o
u

n
t 

b
e
lo

w
 

w
h

ic
h

 
d

is
c
o

u
n

te
d

 
p

e
n

a
lt

y
 m

a
y
 n

o
t 

fa
ll
 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e
d

 
V

O
W

H
D

C
 l

o
c
a
l 

p
e
n

a
lt

y
 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e
d

 
D

is
c
o

u
n

te
d

 l
e
v
e
l 

fo
r 

e
a
rl

y
 

p
a

y
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
fi

x
e
d

 p
e
n

a
lt

y
 n

o
ti

c
e
 

s
. 

6
(1

) 
C

le
a
n
 

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

A
c
t 

2
0
0
5
 

N
u
is

a
n
c
e
 

p
a
rk

in
g

 
 

A
m

o
u
n
t 
fi
x
e
d
 a

t 
£
1
0
0
. 

 

£
6
0
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
£
6
0
 

s
. 

2
A

(1
) 

R
e
fu

s
e
 

D
is

p
o
s
a
l 

(A
m

e
n
it
y
) 

A
c
t 

1
9
7
8
 

A
b
a
n
d
o
n
in

g
 a

 
v
e
h
ic

le
 

 

A
m

o
u
n
t 
fi
x
e
d
 a

t 
£
2
0
0
 

 

£
1
2
0
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
£
1
2
0
 

s
. 

8
8
(1

) 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
0
 

 

L
it
te

r 
 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
  

(£
5
0
-

£
8
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

7
5
 

 

£
5
0
 

£
7
5
 

£
5
0
 

Page 119



 s
. 

9
4
A

(2
) 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
0
 

 

S
tr

e
e
t 
lit

te
r 

c
o
n
tr

o
l 
n
o
ti
c
e
s
 

a
n
d
 l
it
te

r 
c
le

a
ri
n
g

 
n
o
ti
c
e
s
 

 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

7
5
-

£
1
1
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

1
0
0
 

£
6
0
 

£
1
0
0
 

£
6
0
 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

 3
A

, 
p
a
ra

.7
(2

) 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
0
 

 

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

lit
e
ra

tu
re

 o
n
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 

la
n
d
 

 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

5
0
-

£
8
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

7
5
 

 

£
5
0
 

£
7
5
 

£
5
0
 

s
. 

4
3
 A

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
B

e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

A
c
t 

2
0
0
3
 

 

G
ra

ff
it
i 
a
n
d
 f

ly
-

p
o
s
ti
n
g

 
 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

5
0
-

£
8
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

7
5
 

 

£
5
0
 

£
7
5
 

£
5
0
 

s
. 

5
B

(2
) 

C
o
n
tr

o
l 
o
f 

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 

(A
m

e
n
d
m

e
n
t)

 A
c
t 

1
9
8
9
) 

F
a
ilu

re
 t

o
 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 
(w

a
s
te

 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
n
o
te

s
) 

A
m

o
u
n
t 
fi
x
e
d
 a

t 
£
3
0
0
 

 

£
1
8
0
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
£
1
8
0
 

s
. 

3
4
A

(2
) 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
0
 

F
a
ilu

re
 t

o
 

fu
rn

is
h
 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 

(w
a
s
te

 
c
a
rr

ie
r’
s
 

lic
e
n
c
e
) 

A
m

o
u
n
t 
fi
x
e
d
 a

t 
£
3
0
0
 

£
1
8
0
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
£
1
8
0
 

s
. 

4
7
Z

A
(2

) 
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
0
 

 

O
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 

w
a
s
te

 
re

c
e
p
ta

c
le

s
 

 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

7
5
-

£
1
1
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

1
0
0
 

£
6
0
 

£
1
0
0
 

£
6
0
 

Page 120



 s
. 

5
9
(2

) 
C

le
a
n
 

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

A
c
t 

2
0
0
5
 

 

O
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 

u
n
d
e
r 

D
o
g

 
C

o
n
tr

o
l 
O

rd
e
rs

 
 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

5
0
-

£
8
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

7
5
 

 

£
5
0
 

£
7
5
 

£
5
0
 

s
. 

7
3
(2

) 
C

le
a
n
 

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

A
c
t 

2
0
0
5
 

 

F
a
ilu

re
 t

o
 

n
o
m

in
a
te

 k
e
y
 

h
o
ld

e
r 

(w
it
h
in

 a
n
 

a
la

rm
 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re

a
) 

o
r 

to
 

n
o
ti
fy

 l
o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 i
n
 

w
ri
ti
n
g

 o
f 

n
o
m

in
a
te

d
 k

e
y
 

h
o
ld

e
r’
s
 

d
e
ta

ils
 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

5
0
-

£
8
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

7
5
 

 

£
5
0
 

£
7
5
 

£
5
0
 

s
. 

8
 N

o
is

e
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
6
 

 
N

o
is

e
 f

ro
m

 
d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
 

 

C
a
n
 b

e
 s

e
t 

a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le

v
e

l 
(b

e
tw

e
e
n
 £

7
5
-

£
1
1
0
).

 
D

e
fa

u
lt
 £

1
0
0
 

 

£
6
0
 

£
1
0
0
 

£
6
0
 

s
. 

8
 N

o
is

e
 A

c
t 
1
9
9
6
 

 
N

o
is

e
 f

ro
m

 
lic

e
n
s
e
d
 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 

 

A
m

o
u
n
t 
fi
x
e
d
 a

t 
£
5
0
0
 

 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

  
(N

O
T

E
 N

O
 

D
IS

C
O

U
N

T
 

A
V

A
IL

A
B

L
E

 O
N

 
T

H
IS

 
P

A
R

T
IC

U
L

A
R

 
P

E
N

A
L

T
Y

 F
O

R
 

E
A

R
L

Y
 

P
A

Y
M

E
N

T
) 

 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
N

o
t 

a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 

   
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

Page 121



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\TreePolicyReport0.doc   
Produced by Democratic Services CMN/07.02.03 

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL  Report No. 40/06 
 Wards Affected – All  
  

REPORT OF THE LANDSCAPE OFFICER (ARBORICULTURE) 
TO THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

7 JULY 2006 
 

Vale of  White Horse Tree Policy 
 
 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary  
 
1.1 The Government recognizes the value of trees and the need to plan for a more sustainable future 

so it encourages Local Authorities to produce long term plans for the care of its trees. This policy 
document is our response to this encouragement and it sets out a series of actions that will help 
maintain and increase the number of trees within the Vale. 

 
1.3 The contact officer for this report is George Reade, Landscape Officer (Arboriculture) 01235 

520202 x 504.   
 
2.0 Recommendations  
 

2.1      that the Council adopts the policy document. 
 

3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 
 
 This report relates to the Council’s Vision in that it supports objectives A, D and G. 
 
4.0 Background Information. 
 
4.1       This is the first time the District Council has set out its plans for trees throughout the Vale and it is 

important for a number of reasons.  
 

• Firstly, it shows the Council's long term commitment to maintaining and improving its tree stock 
by itemising what works it will and will not carry out and what it will sanction other tree owners 
doing. It also underlines the importance of tree planting and woodland maintenance. Tree 
protection, through the law and by advice, is outlined along with the need to retain and maintain 
trees in relation to development. 

 

• Secondly, by having a document such as this there is the ability to achieve a continuity of 
approach in the way we handle trees. Most of the policies are long term and, if approved, it 
means these aims can be carried on into the future. 
 

• Thirdly, the public has an understanding of the Council's aims and reasons for tree work or a 
refusal to carry out requested work. It is hoped that, in time, a pro active way of working will be 
more efficient than the current ad hoc system. 

 
4.2 This document shows that the Council regards trees as an asset that adds to the local community       

and to the environment, an asset that should be protected and encouraged to grow.  
 
 

Steve Bishop 
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR 

 
Background Papers:  
1.   Report 138/00   A Tree Strategy for the Vale of White Horse District Council 
2.  DeTR report 1993 

Agenda Item 22

Page 122



An Overview on the Vale of White Horse District Council's Policy for Trees 
 
This area suffered greatly at the hands of Dutch elm disease in the early 1970’s, some say we lost 
over one million trees.  This policy document outlines ways we can retain and maintain our existing 
trees and increase the number of flourishing new trees through out the Vale. 
 
Trees by their very nature contribute significantly to the environment and their protection and 
promotion is a significant contributor to the Council’s “Clean, Green, Safe and Healthy” policy.  As 
well as their role in removing CO² from the atmosphere trees improve the environment visually and 
historically and can have a significant economic value in some areas. 
 
This document is supported by a series of local and national environmental policies. 
 
There are a number of landowners throughout the Vale who own and manage trees.  Besides the 
District Council there is Oxfordshire County Council Highways department, Town and Parish 
Councils, Vale Housing and the Forestry Commission, but the greatest number of trees are in private 
ownership. 
 
Objectives 
 
The objectives of this document are for trees within the Council’s ownership to: 
 

1. Have an active and defendable inspection programme; 
 
2. Have a set of maintenance standards conforming to British Standard 3998 and its revisions; 
 
3. Have clear criteria for the maintenance of trees; 
 
4. Have a reasonable approach, in conjunction with the Council’s Insurers, on how to deal with 

trees in relation to buildings; 
 
5. Have a willingness to plant more trees as new opportunities arise. 

 
For trees in the ownership of others: 
 

1. Advise the public and local organisations and interest groups about maintaining and 
protecting their own trees; 

 
2. Use the current law to protect trees; 
 
3. Protect trees in relation to development according to British Standard 5837-2005; 
 
4. Foster and increase community involvement in planting, monitoring and protecting the Vale’s 

trees; 
 
5. Encourage the planting of new and replacement trees and woodlands. 

 
The Rural Landscape of the Vale 
 
The topography and the geology divides the Vale into four landscape zones. 
 

1. The North Vale Area – this includes the river Thames and the edge of the Thames Valley; 
 
2. The Lowland Clay Vale – the pastoral central strip drained, mainly, by the river Ock; 
 
3. The Lower Chalk – the land at the base of the Berkshire Downs; 
 
4. The Middle and Upper Chalk – the Berkshire Downs and the Ridgeway. 

Page 123



 
 
Management of Trees in Council Ownership 
 
The Council has a duty to inspect and maintain its trees to ensure public safety and a duty of care to 
know the location and condition of the trees for which it is responsible.  
 

1. All Council trees will be inspected on a regular basis; 
 
2. The frequency of inspections will be linked to the potential risk of the trees to buildings and 

people; 
 
3. The computer inventory will be updated with inspection information; 
 
4. A regular review of the system of tree inspection and how it is implemented will be carried 

out. 
 
In 2002/03 we had a full survey of Council trees which showed the distribution, age range, condition 
and species range and identified a programme of remedial works starting with the removal of dead 
and dying trees. 
 

1. Council trees will be maintained in accordance with the specification British Standard 3998 
Tree Works; 

 
2. The recycling of arisings following maintenance work shall be encouraged. 

 
Further maintenance of our trees will be carried out with certain criteria in mind. 
 

1. Trees within the Council’s ownership will be managed to promote public safety; 
 
2. Formative pruning of young trees will be encouraged; 
 
3. Nuisance such as leaf fall, TV reception or light obstruction etc will not normally provide a 

reason to fell a tree. 
 
Where our trees have the potential to directly or indirectly damage buildings we will assess possible 
causes of action. 
 

1. All related building damage claims will be investigated and all relevant information from the 
Claimant will be required; 

 
2. During all future inspections trees within 10m of a structure will be recorded; 
 
3. Trees recorded within these criteria will be assessed as to their future potential. 

 
Tree Planting 
 
The Council recognises that trees are important to our well being and to the environment so it would 
like to plant more trees on its own land and encourage planting throughout the Vale especially native 
species. 
 

1. For every tree removed by the Council it should look to replace it with at least one tree, more 
if possible, if not in the same place then in the same locality; 

 
2. The Council should replace older trees it owns with new planting to ensure succession; 
 
3. A wide range of species should be planted to prevent over dependence on one species; 
 

Page 124



4. Planting sites should be chosen with regard to possible nuisance or tree roots and building 
claims in the future; 

 
5. Grants and incentives should be provided at the Council’s Area Grant Committees discretion 

to encourage other organisations and private individuals to continue tree planting. 
 
Woodlands 
 
Woodlands are an important element in the landscape of the Vale so their upkeep and increase 
should be encouraged. 
 

1. Woodlands within the Council’s ownership should be managed with recreation, ecology, 
access, education and landscape values as goals; 

 
2. Private woodland owners should be encouraged to manage their woods along similar lines; 
 
3. The amount of woodland cover, both private and Council owned, should be increased; 
 
4. Ancient woodlands should be protected and maintained to ensure their continuance. 

 
Tree Protection 
 
There are two ways that trees in the Vale can be protected. 
 
Firstly there are the legal means at the Council’s disposal.  Tree Preservation Orders allow the 
Council a degree of control over a tree deemed worthy enough to be protected by such an order.  It 
means that only appropriate works can be carried out and felled trees can be replaced where 
necessary.  Conservation Areas also give trees a degree of protection.  Any tree greater than 7cm 
diameter at 1.5m from the ground is protected if it is within a Conservation Area and cannot be 
worked on without prior written permission of the Council. 
 
We can also protect certain hedges using the Hedgerow Regulations.   
 
Secondly we can protect trees by giving advice.  Many people either telephone or write requesting 
information regarding the status of a protected tree or how best to deal with a tree on their land that 
needs attention.  We are happy to give them the information or advice that will help them retain their 
trees. 
 

1. Using current planning legislation the Council will protect those trees it feels are threatened or 
that it values; 

 
2. Applications to carry out work to protected trees will be evaluated carefully before permission 

is given; 
 
3. There will be an ongoing review programme of the current T.P.O’s to ensure they are current; 
 
4. The Council will continue to provide advice on trees to private landowners when it is 

requested. 
 
Trees and Development 
 
Any development that impacts on trees should be guided by British Standard 5837-2005 Trees in 
Relation to Construction. 
 
Before any decision is made regarding the trees on a development site we will need a tree and site 
survey, a site layout, a pre-construction and construction agenda and finally details of post-
construction and landscaping. 
 

Page 125



1. The retention of existing trees will be encouraged on new development sites; 
 
2. All tree protection measures agreed with the Council will be fully implemented and monitored; 
 
3. Developers will be encouraged to carry out new tree planting within current sites and beyond. 
 

Community Involvement 
 
The Council currently works in partnership with the Oxfordshire Woodland Project and the Great 
Western Community Forest and links directly with the Forestry Commission. 
 

1. The Council should also look at a Tree Warden Scheme to see if it would be appropriate for 
our use. 

 
2. Notification of nearby residents regarding significant tree works will be encouraged. 

 
By adopting this policy for trees the Council will be helping to safeguard a valuable ecological 
resource for the future and give the Council some rigid guidelines by which to manage this resource. 
 
This policy should be reviewed at least every five years. 

Page 126



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc 

22/06/06 

 - 1 - 

Executive Summary of the Vale of White Horse District Council Tree Policy 
 

In 1992 the Earth Summit Conference recommended that through Agenda 21 Local 
Authorities should work with communities to achieve local action plans and a comprehensive 
tree policy would be an important part of this. 
 
Our policy will help to protect and care for trees in the Vale.  It was compiled by first finding 
out what the District Council has in terms of tree stock.  A full survey was carried out in 
2002/03 and from that we could help decide what we want to do with this resource and how it 
can be improved. 
 
The document contains: 
 

1. A description of the treescape and landscape of the Vale; 
 
2. An explanation of the parameters through which we manage our trees; 
 
3. Our policy for tree planting and how we encourage others to plant trees; 
 
4. The methods by which we protect trees through the legal and planning processes; 
 
5. Our link with other organisations that help increase community involvement. 

 
We have drawn together a range of actions that will help improve our existing trees and help 
increase the number of trees on both Council land and land within private ownership. 
 
The policy also looks at what we do and how we do it.  This document will enable us to justify 
our actions and decisions and give us a measurable standard to judge the quality of our tree 
work.  We will be able to identify areas of low tree cover and target these areas for new 
planting as well as help correct problems such as age imbalance (large numbers of over 
mature trees) where they occur. 
 
By continuing to survey and monitor our trees we will be able to tell if the objectives of the 
policy are working. 
 
This is not a “one off” document it will evolve and need to be revised on a regular basis to 
improve and expand its scope. 

 

Page 127



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 2 - 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

VALE OF WHITE HORSE 
  

POLICY FOR TREES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 3 - 

 

Contents 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
 
2.0 The Rural Landscape of the Vale 
 
 
3.0 Management of Trees in Council Ownership and Jurisdiction 
 
 
4.0 Tree Planting 
 
 
5.0 Woodlands 
 
 
6.0 Tree Protection 
 
 
7.0 Trees and Development 
 
 
8.0 Community Involvement 
 
 
9.0 Monitoring the Policy 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 - Arboricultural Maintenance 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 4 - 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Imagine turning the clock back 40 years to the mid 1960’s and standing on the White 

Horse Hill looking out over the Vale.  The amount of extra trees you would see, in 
comparison to today, would astound you. 

 
Now turn the clock back 3000 years to the time when the White Horse was actually 
carved into the hillside. You would be looking at a mainly wooded landscape for as far 
as the eye could see. 

 
So where have all the trees gone? 

 
Agriculture and the spread of population have accounted for the disappearance of the 
original Bronze Age woodland and Dutch Elm Disease in the early 1970’s, meant the 
loss of thousands of mature trees (nearly 20 million elms were lost throughout the 
country at this time). 

 
This created a major change in the landscape. So what can we do to try and redress 
the situation? 

 
The aim of this document is to outline ways we can retain and maintain our 
existing trees and increase and help new trees flourish throughout the Vale for 
the future. 

 
1.2 The policies upon which this document is based are both local and national. From the 

Council’s Vision the document will help to: 
 

a). Improve the level of public service by making the management of trees more 
effective and efficient; 

 
b).   Increase public involvement by including a new district-wide parish tree warden 

scheme and increase public awareness of trees; 
 

c). Protect the local environment through the legal and physical protection of trees 
and improve it by encouraging more tree planting and maintaining existing trees 
to the correct standards; 

 
d). Support the regional economy as trees enhance the environment where people 

live and work and so help to attract inward investment; 
 

e). Improve the quality of life of all members of the community by creating a 
healthier and more attractive environment. 

 
1.3 The document also complies with the Council’s environmental policy in that it will help: 
 

a). Minimise waste management; 
 

b). Protect and enhance the natural environment and open spaces; 
 

c). Protect and enhance the character of the built environment; 
 

d). Improve healthy living and working conditions for all; 

Page 130



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 5 - 

 
e). Seek to reduce air, water, land and noise pollution and minimise light pollution 

in new developments; 
 

f). Raise environmental awareness. 
 
1.4 On a national level the Government recognises the value of trees and the need to 

plan for a more sustainable future, particularly in an urban context, so it encourages 
Local Authorities to produce long term plans for the care of their trees, and through 
various bodies, e.g. the Forestry Authority, it seeks to encourage tree planting. 

 
1.5 As a landowner and a Local Authority the Council has duties, both moral and legal, 

that effect the management of its own trees and those belonging to private individuals 

 
The trees through the Vale are owned and cared for by a number of different 
organisations. 

 
 Vale of White Horse District Council 
 
 The Council looks after around nine thousand trees throughout the Vale in a variety of 

situations.  Many are trees in urban areas such as parks, open spaces and streets, 
but it also owns areas of woodland in various stages of development. 

 
 Oxfordshire County Council Highways 
 

The trees along most of the important highway routes and many roads and streets in 
the urban areas are the responsibility of O.C.C Highways. 

 
 Abingdon, Faringdon and Wantage Town Councils 
 

These three Town Councils look after trees within their boundaries.  Abingdon is the 
largest of the three with between 500 and 600 trees in its care.  Faringdon and 
Wantage do not have this many but they do look after the more significant trees in the 
two towns. 
 

 Vale Housing Association 
 

All trees within the gardens of their properties and open spaces within their ownership 
are the responsibility of Vale Housing Association. 

 
 Parish Councils 
 

There are 68 Parishes within the Vale with varying numbers of trees to look after.  
Some of the smaller Parishes have none, where others such as Shrivenham or 
Steventon look after a number of significant trees. 

 
Private Ownership 

 
Some individuals own one tree while others own thousands, but put together this is 
the biggest tree ownership sector in the Vale. 
 
Forestry Commission 
 

Page 131



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 6 - 

There are a number of large Forestry Commission plantations within the Vale some of 
which are currently undergoing strategic evaluation. 

 
1.6 Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning 

(Trees) Regulations 1999, the Council has a duty to protect trees that it feels may be 
under threat. This is done by administering Tree Preservation Orders and the 
Conservation Area Legislation. 

 
1.7 The Council has a duty to maintain its own trees to best current management and 

maintenance standards and encourage private individuals to do the same. It also has 
a duty to expand and nurture a diverse tree population for the public and for the 
benefit of wildlife throughout the Vale. 

 
1.8 This document looks in detail at how the Council will manage and value its trees.  It 

will lead to changes in how it views and uses this valuable resource and in how it will 
seek to promote tree importance and awareness amongst the general public, other 
Local Authorities and interest groups.  This document will be reviewed every five 
years.  
 

1.9 The document sets out a programme of policies and actions as a framework for the 
Council’s future arboricultural work. 

 
The objectives are: 
 
a). For trees in its ownership to: 
 

• Have an active and defendable inspection programme; 
 

• Have a set of maintenance standards conforming to British Standard 3998 
Tree Work; 

 

• Have clear criteria for the maintenance of trees; 
 

• Have a reasonable approach in conjunction with the Council’s insurers on 
how to deal with trees in relation to buildings; 

 

• Have a willingness to plant more trees as new opportunities arise. 
 
b). For trees in the ownership of others: 
 

• Advise the public and local organisations and interest groups about 
maintaining and protecting their own trees; 

 

• Use the current law to protect trees within its jurisdiction; 
 

• Protect trees in relation to development according to British Standard 5837-
2005; 

 

• Foster and increase community involvement in planting, monitoring and 
protecting the Vale’s trees; 

 

• Encourage the planting of new and replacement trees and woodlands. 
 

Page 132



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 7 - 

2.0 The Rural Landscape of the Vale 
 
2.1 An important element of any tree document like this should be an understanding of 

the character of the landscape within which this document will apply. The topography 
and geology of the Vale leads to four distinct landscape zones. 

 
2.2 The North Vale Area 
 

The water meadows of the upper Thames are in Oxford’s clay and alluvial valleys, 
along with the East West ridge of high ground formed by Corallion limestone.  This 
runs from Wytham to Buscot and constitutes a distinct northern landscape zone.  Most 
of the Vale’s existing woodland, including much ancient woodland, is found in this 
zone. 
 
In the river valley, moisture loving trees such as willow and poplar are common, where 
as the much drier limestone ridge is more suitable for conifers. 
 
Country houses in parkland enjoy magnificent views of the Thames Valley, as they are 
situated along the ridge, and the limestone of which it is formed is commonly used as 
a building material. 

 
2.3 The Lowland Clay Vale 
 

This is the pastoral central strip of the Vale which was formed by a swathe of Gault 
and Kimmeridge clay. Hedges and woodlands are common, with oak and ash being 
the dominant species.  Willows line the streams that drain the River Ock.   
 
This area was most affected by Dutch Elm disease with the dead suckers of the 
original elm trees still common in hedgerows. 

 
2.4 The Lower Chalk and Upper Greensand 
 

Between the clay vale and the upper chalk lays a narrow band of fertile soil with a 
string of settlements which follow the spring line and old track ways such as the 
Portway. 

 
2.5 The Middle and Upper Chalk 
 

This zone is formed by the upper slopes of the Berkshire Downs.  Large open arable 
fields or an area of grassland broken only by hedges and clumps of beech trees is 
typical.  The Ridgeway follows the top of the scarp. 

 
3.0 Management of Trees in Council Ownership and Jurisdiction 
 
3.1 The Council has a duty to inspect and maintain its trees to ensure it meets all legal 

obligations and maintains public safety. 
 

The Council also has a duty of care to know the location and condition of the trees for 
which it is responsible.   
 
During 2002/2003 the Council carried out a survey of its trees for the first time from 
which the following conclusions can be drawn. 

 

Page 133



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 8 - 

3.2 Distribution 
 

Of the approximate 9,000 Council owned trees surveyed 61% are located in 
Abingdon.  The other 39% are spread across various towns and villages within the 
Vale; Wantage has the next largest concentration at 16% of the total. 

 
3.3 Age 
 

The age range distribution is relatively healthy with nearly 75% of the trees being no 
older than semi mature (between 20-30 years old). 

 
This is probably due to extensive planting schemes that accompanied the housing 
developments in the Vale from the middle to late seventies, and the Council’s 
continuing willingness to plant trees.  

  
3.4 Condition 
 

The condition survey reflects the age survey in that the majority of younger trees are 
in relatively good health. 

 
 Over 90% of the Vale’s trees are in either good or reasonable condition. 
 
3.5 Species 
 

The range of species is typical of most urban areas.  Norway maple and sycamore are 
particularly prevalent with cherry, thorn and whitebeam also commonly found.  It would 
be worth increasing this species range with any future plantings. 

 
It is important to maintain a healthy age structure and species range to ensure the 
Vale would still have a healthy tree population should something equivalent to the 
storm of 1987 occur again; or a particular species of tree is affected in the way that 
Dutch Elm Disease ravaged this area. 
 

3.6 Inspections 
 

The majority of the Council’s trees have been inspected during 2002-2003 and as 
resources allow it should inspect its trees on a regular cycle, every 5 years at least.  In 
more “high use” public areas the inspection cycle should be more frequent.  In future 
inspections any tree within 10m of a structure should be recorded for risk assessment 
provision. 

 
For details of the inspection process – see Appendix 1 Arboricultural Maintenance. 
 
Actions 

 
1. All Council trees will be inspected on a regular basis; 
 
2. The frequency of inspections will be linked to the potential risk of the trees; 
 
3. The computer inventory will be updated with inspection information; 
 
4. A regular review of the system of tree inspection and how it is implemented will 

be carried out. 

Page 134



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 9 - 

 
3.7 Maintenance 
 

All Council trees will be maintained in accordance with the agreed specification – see 
Appendix 1. 

 
All works will be carried out in line with BS3998 Tree Works and any subsequent 
amendments.  All staff carrying out these works will wear the appropriate safety 
clothing and be adequately trained in up-to-date techniques in working and safety. 
 
The magnitude of crown reductions will normally be no greater than 30%.  Heavy 
crown reduction of trees leads to excessive re-growth and consequent poor growth 
habit. 

 
The exception to this is pollarding.  This is an ancient method of management 
involving removal of all branchwood to leave a bare trunk that was widespread 
throughout rural parts of the Vale, carried out mainly on willows.  Originally practised 
to produce fodder and fencing materials it has fallen into decline with the result that 
the old pollards are breaking up due to the excessive size of the re-growth. 
 
The Council is keen for pollarding to continue so that the old willows can survive and 
to this end offer grant aid for this practise to carry on. 
 
As part of taking an environmental and responsible approach to tree work the Council 
will seek to send as little material as possible to landfill.  All branchwood below 
200mm should be chipped with the resulting material either used by the contractor or 
collected for bio energy use.  Any trees to be felled should have their potential timber 
value assessed with the resulting work maximising this value. 
 
Actions 

 
1. Council trees will be maintained in accordance with the specification (Appendix 

1) and British Standard 3998 Tree Works; 
 

2. The recycling of arrisings following maintenance work shall be encouraged. 
 
3.8 Safety 
 

The Council should manage its trees with the safety of the public in mind.   Following 
the inspection programme a list of works has been generated.  This has been put into 
priority, firstly on the grounds of safety.  Those trees that present a significant risk to 
the public e.g. dead or poor condition trees are being dealt with.  Remaining trees will 
be assessed as to their risk factor and dealt with accordingly.  This assessment must 
be carried out by a person trained in arboricultural matters.  Unless there is a very 
good reason removal of trees will be resisted. 

 
3.9 Good Husbandry 
 

Works to trees, mainly those not yet mature, that will prolong their life and create a 
good structure should be carried out.  This will include removal of low branches, 
crossing branches, double leaders and any diseased material. 

 
3.10 Nuisance 

Page 135



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 10 - 

 
Throughout the Vale, but mainly in urban areas, the Council has trees impacting on 
residents and their properties.  Pruning work will not normally be carried out to 
alleviate seasonal occurrences unless an acute problem is identified.  The main 
nuisances associated with such trees are blocking of light, leaf fall and T.V reception. 

 
 Light Obstruction 
 

To determine how much of a shading problem a tree presents its amenity value 
is compared with its shading potential and a decision is based on the outcome.  
It is usually very difficult to prune a tree to give lasting increases in light levels 
to a property, although crown lifting can help in certain situations, therefore, the 
Council will resist this course of action.   
 
Quite often the amount of pruning required would damage the tree or destroy 
its amenity value.  However, where trees are blocking street lights etc and 
jeopardising public safety the Council will consider carrying out work that will 
help solve the problem and retain the tree.  In extreme cases removal of the 
tree and replacement with a less troublesome species or finding a nearby 
replacement planting site would be considered. 

 
 Leaf Fall 
 

The Council is not legally responsible for fallen leaves; they are described as 
seasonal embarrassments.  Pruning of existing trees is not a solution to this 
occurrence and care should be taken in future species selection to try and 
diminish it.  The same criteria apply to trees with associated aphid problems or 
trees that produce large amounts of fruit. 

 
 T.V Reception 
 

The Council will not carry out major works to trees, or remove them, to improve 
T.V reception.  Careful positioning of aerials and satellite dishes at the time of 
installation is advised with the thought of how trees may grow in the future 
taken into account. 

 
  Actions 
 

1. Trees within the Councils ownership will be managed to promote public 
safety; 

 
2.  Formative pruning of young trees will be encouraged; 

 
3.  Nuisance such as leaf fall, T.V reception or light obstruction etc   
     will not normally provide a reason to fell a tree. 

 
3.11 The last 15 years has seen a huge rise in the number of claims of direct and indirect 

damage to properties that have involved trees.  Direct damage is that caused by the 
physical presence of roots which is usually restricted to walls and paths and is 
relatively minor – but there are exceptions.  Indirect damage is that caused by the 
extraction of water by plant roots from soils and the subsequent soil shrinkage 
caused.  This is by far the largest problem of the two. 

 

Page 136



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 11 - 

3.12 The Council has been fortunate in not being hit by an avalanche of such claims but 
neighbouring authorities have not been so lucky.  The Council should take adequate 
steps in dealing with any claims should they arise by assembling the relevant 
information: 

 
 a). Tree species; 
 
 b). Age of tree; 
 
 c). Condition survey and past pruning history; 
 
 d). Tree root survey; 
 
 e). Dimensions (height, crown spread, trunk diameter); 
 
 f). Distance from tree to building; 
 
 g). Amenity value of tree; 
 
 h). Recommendations for tree management; 
 
 i). Age of property; 
 
 j). Depth of foundations; 
 
 k). Extension history; 
 
 l). Drainage construction and condition; 
 
 m). Spatial arrangements and amplitude of damage; 
 

n). Monitoring results to determine movement cycles in relation to tree growth and 
time of year; 

 
 and by following a recognised tree damage assessment protocol. 
 
3.13 Why the Council has not received large numbers of claims could be down to a variety 

of factors. 
 
 The three main population centres are situated on what is not considered to be highly 

shrinkable clay soils.  Faringdon is on sand and limestone Corrallian Beds.  Wantage 
is mainly on greensand and Abingdon is a mixture of glacial drift, alluvium and, in the 
case of Peachcroft Estate, Kimmeridge clay.  This estate is the largest area of dense 
population on shrinkable clay in the Vale with a high proportion of trees close to 
buildings. 

 
 Actions 
 

1. All related building damage claims will be investigated and all relevant 
information from the Claimant will be required; 

 
2. During all future inspections trees within 10m of a structure will be recorded; 
 

Page 137



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 12 - 

3. Trees recorded within these criteria will be assessed as to their future potential. 
 
4.0 Tree Planting 
 
4.1 Trees are an important resource and are essential to our health and well being so the 

District Council would like to plant more trees on land within its control and to 
encourage the planting of trees throughout the Vale. 

 
4.2 It aims to maintain and extend its current tree cover and introduce new and varied 

planting. Careful consideration as to the siting of these new trees will be necessary in 
order to attempt to avoid nuisance problems such as honeydew and fruit.  Honeydew, 
the sugary substance excreted by aphids, can at certain times of the year make hard 
surfaces close to trees sticky and dirty.  Trees that produce large qualities of fruit such 
as horse chestnut or certain varieties of ornamental crab apple cause problems when 
the fruit falls to the ground. 

 
4.3 The Council will encourage other organisations and private landowners to plant trees. 
 
4.4 Parish Councils will be offered advice on the best sites and species of tree to plant 

and those Parish Councils that currently do not plant many trees will be encouraged to 
do so. 
 
Actions 

 
1. For every tree removed the Council should look to replace it with at least one 

tree, more if possible, if not in the same place then in the same locality; 
 

2. The Council should replace older trees with new planting to ensure succession; 
 

3. A wide range of species should be planted to prevent over dependence on one 
species; 

 
4. Planting sites should be chosen with regard to possible nuisance or tree roots 

and building claims in the future. 
 

5.0 Woodlands 
 
5.1 Woodlands provide an important element within the landscape of the Vale.  The 

Council supports and works in partnership with the Oxfordshire Woodland Project to 
arrange the proper management of small woodlands throughout Oxfordshire (and the 
Vale). 

 
5.2 The Council owns a small number of woodlands in various stages of development, 

Besselsleigh being our one large area of mature woodland (10 ha).  However, most of 
the woodlands within the Vale are in private hands or are owned by such 
organisations as the Woodland Trust. 

 
5.3 Woodlands require regular maintenance to ensure they develop healthily and provide 

a varied habitat for wildlife and a safe environment for the public. 
 

a). Woodlands should be checked periodically to ensure safety and good 
development; 

 

Page 138



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 13 - 

b). With developing woodland, trees should be thinned to allow development of 
long term species; 

 
c). When trees reach maturity some should be removed to allow room for 

succession; 
 

d). Some older trees, as long as they are safe, should be left for their wildlife value; 
 

e). When woodlands are established weeds and grass should be controlled 
around whips by chemical spray or mulch mats (See Appendix 1); 

 
f). Paths that promote public access should be maintained on a regular basis. 

 
5.4 Along with the developing woodlands there are a number of ancient woodlands 

situated throughout the Vale.  These are sites that have been continually wooded 
since 1600 AD, and have a high ecological value.  Should these woods disappear it is 
unlikely they could ever be recreated. 

 
 Actions 
 

1. Woodlands within the Council’s ownership should be managed with recreation, 
ecology, access, education and landscape values as goals; 

 
2. Private woodland owners should be encouraged to manage their woods along 

similar lines via the Oxfordshire Woodland Project; 
 

3. The amount of woodland cover, both private and Council owned, should be 
increased; 

 
4. Ancient woodlands should be protected and maintained to ensure their 

continuance. 
 

6.0 Tree Protection 
 
 There are two ways trees in the Vale can be protected.  One is through the Council 

using the legal means at its disposal, the other is by giving advice to tree owners. 
 
6.1 Legal Means of Protection  
 
 As a general rule the Council does not impose legal protection on its trees.  It is 

deemed to be a responsible tree owner and, as such, will follow the best current 
practice. 

 
6.2 Tree Preservation Orders (T.P.O) 
 
 The Council has a duty to protect trees that it decides are of a public amenity value 

that may be under threat by use of a Tree Preservation Order through the powers of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning (Trees) 
Regulations 1999.  These powers will be used following the guidelines of the D.E.T.R 
publication Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide to the Law and Good Practise. 

 
 Currently the Council administers in the region of 300 Tree Preservations Orders but 

this is rising all the time. 

Page 139



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 14 - 

 
 A Tree Preservation Order takes away none of the responsibility of the owner towards 

their tree but it does give the Local Authority a degree of control about what happens 
to it.  Only trees that fulfil the criteria in the Council’s checklist (see Appendix 3) will be 
considered for protection unless they are of exceptional amenity or historic value. 

 
 A Tree Preservation order allows the Council to make sure only appropriate work is 

carried out to the tree, and that felled trees are replaced where necessary.  
Applications must be made in writing to the Council in order to carry out works to 
protected trees, and applicants are encouraged to consult with a tree surgeon or 
arrange a pre-application site meeting or discussion with the Arboricultural Officer 
before applying.  There is an 8 week period between receiving the application and 
works being able to be carried out. 

 
 Poor quality applications will be discouraged and where it is claimed that a protected 

tree is dangerous then, if a visit from the Arboricultural Officer cannot be arranged, a 
thorough arboricultural report must be submitted. 

 
 Applications to fell protected trees to allow for development will be resisted.  

Alternative construction methods such as “no-dig” drive construction or pile 
foundations should be considered and if these are not suitable then a new design 
should be found. 

 
 For those people who have trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order, the Council 

operates a grant scheme that enables up to 40% of the cost of works to a protected 
tree to be claimed back as long a the works are carried out in line with British 
Standard 3998. 

 
 The Council has a duty to review and rationalise its Tree Preservation Orders.  Orders 

should be checked to make sure the information contained in them is correct and up 
to date.  Are the trees correctly plotted on the plans and are they the correct species?  
Are the trees still there? 

 
Also the Council will review: 
 
1. Tree Preservation Orders with woodland classification made  
 pre- 1988; 

 
 2. Tree Preservation orders made pre-1975; 
 
 3. Area Tree Preservation Orders; 
 
 4. Multiple orders on the same tree; 
 
 and consider whether to revoke these orders and re-serve them should they no longer 

be relevant. 
 
6.3 Trees in Conservation Areas 
 

Trees that are sited within a Conservation Area are protected under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  Anyone wishing to carry out works to a tree in such an 
area must give the Council 6 week’s prior notice.  During this time the Council can 
consider whether the tree is worthy of a Tree Preservation Order. 

Page 140



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 15 - 

 
Any tree greater than 7cm diameter at 1.5m from the ground is protected within a 
Conservation Area. 
 
There is still an amount of unauthorised tree work going on within Conservation Areas 
so we must continue to inform residents of their responsibilities in order to try and 
prevent this. 

 
6.4 Hedgerow Regulations 

 
Any person wishing to remove a hedgerow should first issue the Council with a 
Hedgerow Removal Notice.  If a hedgerow meets certain criteria concerning its 
historical aspect, its number of woody species and its associated features then it can 
be classed as important and so protected by the above regulations.  This means that 
the hedge can not be removed without prior permission of the Local Authority and an 
unlimited fine can result if it is. 

 
6.5 Felling Licence 
 

Felling licences are operated by the Forestry Authority.  In a calendar quarter 
landowners can fell up to 5 cubic metres of timber on their property without a licence.  
Any more than this may require permission. 

 
 
 
6.6 Protecting Trees through Advice 
 

The other way the Council can help protect trees, especially those on private land, is 
through the giving of advice. 

 
Many people either telephone or write requesting information regarding the status of 
protection of their trees and a representative of the Council is happy to attend sites for 
pre-application advice.  These are beneficial for both parties.  Detailed reports, as 
sometimes requested, are not usually possible but general advice on the type or 
species of tree to plant or the extent and nature of tree surgery can be provided. 

 
Actions 
 
1. Using current planning legislation the Council will protect those trees it feels are 

threatened or that it values; 
 
2. Applications to carry out work to protected trees will be evaluated carefully 

before permission is given; 
 
3. There will be an ongoing review programme of the current T.P.O’s to ensure 

they are up to date; 
 
4. The Council will continue to provide advice on trees to private landowners when 

it is requested. 
 
7.0 Trees and Development 
 
7.1 The Vale of White Horse District Council Local Plan states: 

Page 141



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 16 - 

 
Existing landscape features, trees, hedgerows and ponds can make an 
important contribution to the character and biodiversity of an area and it is 
essential that new development does not lead to the loss of, or pose a future 
threat to, such features.  The location and siting of new developments, and in 
particular buildings, should seek to retain important landscape features and 
integrate them into the design of the development.  The provision of new 
landscape features can often be an essential prerequisite for creating an 
attractive development which complements and enhances its surroundings.  It 
can also enhance the quality of life of local people and contribute to local 
biodiversity through the conservation and creation of new wildlife habitats.  For 
these reasons the Council will seek a high standard of landscaping associated 
with development proposals. 

 
When designing a scheme careful consideration should be given to the 
functional and aesthetic aspects of landscaping.  A survey of existing features 
will often be required from the applicant.  Such surveys will be expected to 
include site contours, accurate positions of trees and shrubs, their condition, 
height, stem diameter, extent of canopy, species and details of other aspects of 
the sites ecology.  The Council considers it particularly important to maintain 
mature trees and conditions will be attached to planning permissions to protect 
existing trees during and after site works.  Where appropriate regard will be 
paid to the impact of landscaping on important views.  Care should be taken to 
ensure that new planting will not impair visibility at access points or obstruct 
footpaths and cycle ways. 

 
7.2 Any development that impacts on trees should be guided by British Standards 

5837:1991 Trees in Relation to Construction (and its subsequent revisions) as well as 
the Councils Supplementary Planning Guidance currently in preparation.  Following is 
a brief summary of this. 

 
7.3 Pre-Application 
 
 Discussions, if necessary a meeting, are encouraged at this stage. 
 
 Site Survey 
 
 Should show all existing features and levels. 
 
 Tree Survey 
 

• Species 

• Dimensions 

• Vigour 

• Age 

• Amenity Value 

• Indicate Retention/Removal 
 
Site Layout 
 
When laying out the development at its initial stages there should be adequate 
provision for retaining existing trees and hedgerows and replacement planting 
following agreed tree removal.  Exclusion zones around trees should be identified.  

Page 142



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 17 - 

Predictions of the mature height and spread of trees, and their impact on the design 
should be made e.g. are the gardens big enough, will the trees affect the sunlight in 
the future, will the trees need to be continually pruned.  Access and service routes 
should be designed so as not to impact on trees.  Planting of new trees should be 
considered in order to maximise their future benefits and minimise future problems 
e.g. shading and root problems.  Choice of species and planting position should be 
made with care.  Trees on adjacent sites should be considered. 
 
Planning Permission 
 
All tree details should be submitted with completed application. 
 
Pre-Construction 
 
All agreed tree removal and surgery should be carried out at this point.  Protective 
fences should be installed and agreed on site with the Arboricultural Officer. 

 
Construction 
 
Care should be taken through this phase that no fences are moved and there are no 
machinery mishaps regarding trees. 
 
Post Construction and Landscaping 
 
Once the protective fences have been removed, care should be taken that no 
trenching or soil dumping takes place within the formerly protected area.  Driving 
vehicles and storage of such items as fuels and other toxic substances should also be 
avoided.  Fires should be no closer than 20m to retained trees. 

 
Actions 
 
1. The retention of existing trees will be encouraged on new development sites; 
 
2. All tree protection measures agreed with the Council will be fully implemented 

and monitored; 
 
3. Developers will be encouraged to carry out new tree planting within current 

sites and beyond. 
 
8.0 Community Involvement 
 

Within the Vale there are 65 Parish Councils and 3 Town Councils most of which the 
District Council deals with on a variety of tree based enquiries. 

 
8.1 Tree Wardens 
 

It would be beneficial to the District Council and to Parish Councils to establish a Tree 
Warden Scheme.  Tree Wardens are volunteers, appointed by the Parish Council, 
who gather information about their local trees, get involved in local tree matters and 
encourage local practical projects to do with trees and woods.  Tree Wardens need 
not be experts but they need to be enthusiastic.  Gathering information and doing 
surveys, liaising with the community, informing the District Council of threats to local 
trees and working with schools etc are just some of the tasks of this post. 

Page 143



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 18 - 

 
The Tree Council/National Grid Scheme is the best model to use at present.  This 
scheme provides a ready made framework to use and also allows for training days 
and gives national and regional support in the form of 13 years experience with 
around 7,000 wardens already in place. 

 
8.2 Partnership Working 
 

The Council also has links with the public through other organisations it is in 
partnership with. 

 
8.2a Oxfordshire Woodland Project 
 

The Oxfordshire Woodland Project was jointly set up in 1991 by the 4 District Councils 
and the Oxfordshire County Council to provide advice to woodland owners.  Small 
woodlands are an important element within landscapes and many were not being 
maintained.  The Woodland Project Office provides advice to landowners.  In 1999 the 
Vale purchased Besselsleigh Wood ancient woodland for public benefit.  The 
Woodland Project Office provides management advice on the wood and organises 
events to promote the wood. 

 
8.2b Great Western Community Forest 
 

The Western end of the Vale comes into the area covered by the Great Western 
Community Forest. The Council works in partnership with the Forest Team at 
Watchfield on projects such as Folly Park at Faringdon and schemes in the 
Shrivenham area.  The Community Forest also offers improved grant aid for tree 
planting and advice on stewardship both within and beyond its current boundaries. 

 
The Council also links with the Forestry Authority directly on new planting and felling 
proposals and indirectly through the Berks, Bucks and Oxon Woodland Forum. 

 
 Actions 
 

1. The Council will investigate with the Parish Councils the feasibility of a Tree 
Warden Scheme, and should support be forthcoming implement such a 
scheme; 

 
2. Notification of nearby residents regarding significant tree works will be 

encouraged; 
 

3. The Council will continue to support and work with our partners, the Oxfordshire 
Woodland project and the Great Western Community Forest. 

 
9.0 Monitoring the Policy Document 
 

This is the first policy document regarding the Vale’s trees and, as such, it will develop 
over the next few years. 
 
It should be reviewed every 5 years to account for changes in law and practice but at 
this initial stage a one year review would be beneficial. 
 
 

Page 144



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 19 - 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 20 - 

 
Glossary of Terms 

 
 
 

Ancient Woodland  Woods in existence since at least 1600 A.D. 
 
 
 
 
Suckers (elm)  Prolific re-growth from root systems of large elm  
   trees killed by Dutch Elm Disease in the 1970’s. 
 
 
 
Pollarding   Cyclical removal of re-growth leaving a bare   
   trunk usually between 2m and 4m high. 
 
 
 
Crown Reduction  Process of reducing the area of the branch   
   structure of a tree usually between 10% and    
 30%. 
 
 
Aphids   Greenfly and blackfly. 
 
 
 
Glacial Drift   Material left by melting glaciers which is now   
  part of the soil structure. 
 
 
Alluvium   Material laid down by rivers which is now part   
  of the soil structure. 
 
 
Whip    A small tree usually 1 to 3 years old. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Documents Used in Compiling the Policy 
 

Page 146



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 21 - 

 
 
 
 1. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
 
 2. Town and Country Planning (Trees) Regulations 1999 
 
 
 3. Hedgerow Regulations 1997 
 
 
 4. The Forestry Act 1967 and subsequent revisions 
 
 
 5. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
 
 
 6. New Road and Streetworks Act 1991 
 
 
 7. Common Law and How it Relates to Trees 
 
 
 8. British Standard 3998 Tree Work 
 
 
 9. British Standard 5837 Trees in Relation to Construction 
 
 
 10. NJUG 10 Guidelines for Utilities 
 
 
 11. Numerous other Local Authority Tree Strategies especially those  produced 

by Aylesbury Vale District Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 22 - 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 

ARBORICULTURAL MAINTENANCE 
 
 
1. General Requirements 
 
 
 
2. Routine Maintenance 
 
 
 
3. Tree Pruning 
 
 
 
4. Tree Felling/Thinning 
 
 
 
5. Non-Routine Tree Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 23 - 

 
ARBORICULTURAL MAINTENANCE 
 
 
1.0 General Requirements 
 
1.1 British Standards 
 

Unless otherwise stated all works shall be carried out to a minimum of British 
Standards 3998:1998 and subsequent amendments together with all applicable 
Arboricultural Industry Safety Guides and E.C Member Standards. 

 
1.2 Tree Climbers Safety Equipment 
 

All safety equipment shall be in accordance with Health and Safety Executive (H.S.E) 
leaflet 401. 
 
Any person who climbs a tree shall at all times use: 
 

a). A safety harness as recommended by the H.S.E consisting of either a sit 
harness with leg straps (half harness), or a harness with shoulder straps (full 
harness). 

 
b). Climbing rope with a minimum diameter of 12mm conforming to BS4928.  

Slings and straps shall be of the same construction and minimum diameter for 
climbing ropes and any karabiners must have a minimum rating of 23kN with 
an approved locking gate that requires at least 3 distinct movements to open it. 

 
c). As recommended by the H.S.E the following rescue items must be within easy 

reach: 
 
 1.   First Aid Kit conforming to H.S.E leaflet INDG214 
 2.  A climbers harness and rope as defined above 

3. Other items of equipment as may be necessary for the    individual to 
climb safely e.g. karabiners and straps.  

 
All equipment should be inspected by the climber before use and should be inspected 
by a responsible person at least once a month with the inspection being recorded in a 
suitable book. 

 
1.3 Chainsaw Operators Safety Clothing 
 

a). As recommended by the H.S.E all persons using a chainsaw off the ground 
MUST wear:  

 
1. Chainsaw protective trousers or leggings which should have all round 

protection to reduce the risk of cutting injuries complying with EN381.5; 
 
2. A suitable helmet conforming to BS5240 with ear and eye protection 

complying with EN352; 
 
3. Safety boots incorporating chainsaw protection to the upper foot 

complying with EN345. 

Page 149



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 24 - 

 
The operator may also wear a chainsaw protective jacket and chainsaw gloves 
complying with EN381-7. 
 
b). Ground staff using chainsaws MUST wear: 
 

1. Chainsaw protective trousers or leggings which should have all round 
protection to reduce the risk of cutting injuries complying with EN381-5; 

 
2. A suitable helmet conforming to BS5240 incorporating ear and eye 

protection complying with EN397, 1731,352; 
 
3. Safety boots incorporating chainsaw protection to the upper foot 

complying with EN345-1; 
 
4. Chainsaw protective gloves complying with EN381-7. 

 
 Ground staff may also wear a chainsaw protective jacket. 
 
 c). Ground staff using wood chipping machinery MUST wear: 
 

1. Heavy work gloves and suitable clothing without loose or flapping 
impediments 

 
2. A suitable helmet conforming to BS5240 incorporating eye and ear 

protection complying with EN397, 1731,352. 
 
  3. Safety boots conforming to EN345-1. 
  

Additional high visibility clothing shall be worn when working on or close to public 
highways. 

 
1.4 Training 
 

All tree climbers shall undertake a ‘tree climbing/working within trees’ training 
course that is recognised by the Health and Safety Executive (leaflet 805). 

  
 a). Chainsaw Training 
 

No person shall use a chainsaw unless they hold a valid certificate.  Under no 
circumstances shall a person use a chainsaw unless a competent person is 
within sight of such an operator. 

  
 b). Rescue Techniques 
 

It is recommended that training in the rescuing of tree climbers who have 
sustained injury or have become ill whilst working in a tree, is carried out at 
least on an annual basis. 

 
1.5 Warning Signs and Safety Zones 
 

Prior to any works taking place, an adequate safety zone shall be established around 
the working area, cordoned off on the ground and policed by the Contractor to ensure 

Page 150



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 25 - 

no unauthorised entry.  This zone shall include all equipment which may be hazardous 
to the public e.g. wood chippers, etc. 
 
All signing of highway works must conform to the Code of Practice as outlined in the 
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991.  It is the Contractors responsibility to erect 
and maintain appropriate warning signs and barriers and to ensure the safety of both 
staff and the general public whilst working adjacent to highways. 

 
1.6 Machinery and Equipment 
 
 a). Climbing Irons 
 

The use of climbing irons will not be permitted on a tree except when the tree is 
being completely felled. 

 
 b).  Sterilisation of Equipment 
 

All tools shall be sterilised with an approved sterilant after contact with 
diseased areas of trees and shrubs, or where disease is suspected, to prevent 
the spread of infection 

 
 c). Wound Treatment 
 

Wound sealants shall not be used without the prior approval of the Supervising 
Officer. 

 
 d). Winching Works 
 
  See H.S.E Leaflet 310 
 

It is permissible to use existing trees as anchor points for winching equipment 
provided that the tree to be used has been deemed suitable by the Supervising 
Officer.  Where such a tree is used, it will be protected against damage by the 
placing of protective materials around the trunk so that the winch cable can not 
harm the tree. 

 
1.7 Disposal of Timber/Wood Chipped Materials 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for the disposal of all timber and wood chipped 
material unless specified by the Supervising Officer.  All arisings shall be removed 
immediately and the area left clean and tidy before the contractor leaves the site.  If 
ground conditions are such that an unacceptable amount of damage will occur to the 
site the arisings shall be removed as soon as the ground conditions improve.  The 
contractor shall be responsible for informing the Supervising Officer of any delay and 
for all subsequent re-instatement works. 
 

1.8 Nomenclature/Location 
 

a). Trees shall be described by the current nomenclature e.g. Fagus sylvatica.  
The location will be indicated by one of the following: a plan, a grid reference or 
a number affixed to the trunk of the tree.  Trees may also be defined as being 
situated in streets and roads, their location described as being outside or 
opposite a particular house or on an area adjacent to a definable structure. 

Page 151



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 26 - 

 
b). Tree categories shall be defined as follows: 

 
Street Tree: Defined as a tree which is planted immediately adjacent to 

a minor highway, cycle path or footpath 
 
  Highway Tree: Defined as a tree which is planted immediately   
   adjacent to a major highway or bus route 
 

Estate Tree: Defined as a tree which is planted in a public open space 
within an estate 

 
Park Tree: Defined as a tree which is planted within parks, country 

parks and open space etc away from highways and 
footpaths. 

 
2.0 Routine Maintenance 
 
2.1 Tree Inspections 
 

On request the Contractor shall carry out a ground based visual inspection of 
specified trees from a schedule supplied by the Supervising Officer.  The Contractor 
shall inspect for any signs of damage, disease or defective growth to the trunk or 
branches of the tree as well as for the following conditions: 

 

• Signs of root movement 

• Trip hazards (e.g. surface roots) 

• Loose or peeling bark 

• Dead wood 

• Distance from wall or building 

• Epicormic growth 

• Mower damage 

• Crown clearance 

• Stake and tie/guard 

• Tree details 
 

The inspection shall be recorded on the schedule or on a hand-held computer in a 
form compatible with the Arbortrack Tree Management System. All records shall be 
returned to the Supervising Officer on a monthly basis during the inspection period. 

 
2.2 Sapling Trees 
 

On request the Contractor shall carry out the following works to specified sapling 
trees. 

 
a). Inspect any tree stakes, guards, ties and blocks for firmness, refirming, 

straightening, adjusting or replacing if required, to prevent damage to the tree.  
Any litter present within the guard shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
b). Inspect the tree for any signs of damage, disease or effective growth and carry 

out a formative prune on the tree to produce a balanced crown, removing all 
crowded or crossed branches as well as any dead or diseased wood and any 
epicormic growth without tearing or leaving snags.  The amount of crown 

Page 152



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 27 - 

removed must not exceed 10% and all arisings shall be removed to the 
Contractor’s tip.  Any badly damaged, dead or dying trees shall be reported to 
the Supervising Officer for replacement. 

 
c). On an instruction from the Supervising Officer, the Contractor shall completely 

remove a failed or vandalised tree up to Advanced Nursery Stock size, 
including any stakes or protective guard before reinstating the root hole area 
with top soil and grass seed, the final surface after consolidation being level 
with the surrounding area.  All arisings shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip.  

 
d). On an instruction from the Supervising Officer, the Contractor shall remove any 

stakes, ties and guard supporting the tree, taking care not to damage the roots, 
trunk or branches of the tree, filling and firming the hole left by the stake.  All 
arisings shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
e). On an instruction from the Supervising Officer, the Contractor shall supply and 

re-stake/tie the tree. 
 
2.3 Street Trees 
 

a). Specified trees shall be inspected by the Contractor during July for epicormic 
growth and any material growing from the base of the tree and up to a height of 
2 metres from ground level, shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
b). During July, the Contractor shall maintain a clearance of 3 metres under 

specified trees overhanging pavements, highways and other hard surfaces, the 
clearance being measured from the ground when the tree is in full leaf.  All 
arisings shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
2.4 Highways Tree 
 

a). Specified trees shall be inspected by the Contractor during July for epicormic 
growth and any material growing from the base of the tree and up to a height of 
6 metres from ground level, shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
b). During July, the Contractor shall maintain a clearance of 6 metres under 

specified trees overhanging pavements, highways and other hard surface 
areas, the clearance being measured from the ground when the tree is in full 
leaf.  All arisings shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
2.5 Estate Trees 
 

Specified trees shall be inspected by the Contractor during July for epicormic growth 
and any material growing from the base of the tree and up to a height of 2 metres 
from ground level, shall be removed to the Contractor’s tip. 

 
2.6 Tree Grilles 
 

In January, the Contractor shall lift the tree grille; loosen the shingle or soil to a depth 
of 150mm beneath the grille, supplying and applying as necessary, additional shingle 
or soil approved by the Supervising Officer.  Before levelling and replacing the grille.  
On completion, the grille shall lie flat and level with the surrounding surface, ensuring 
that the grille is adjusted so that the trunk of the tree is not constricted and that the 

Page 153



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 28 - 

surrounding area is left in a tidy condition.  If the tree trunk size is such that it cannot 
be replaced without causing damage to the tree, the Contractor shall remove the tree 
grille to store and inform the Supervising Officer.  All arisings shall be removed to the 
Contractor’s tip. 

 
3.0 Tree Pruning 
 

Unless otherwise specified, pruning shall be carried out from November to March 
inclusive with the exception of certain ornamental species which shall be pruned after 
flowering during the summer months and other species with special requirements e.g. 
walnuts. 
 
Where branches are removed they shall be cut back to the branch collar or in the 
absence of a collar cut back as far as possible without exaggerating the size of the 
wound.  The final cut shall be smooth, in one plane and without tearing the bark or 
inner tissue.  Where branches are reduced, they shall be cut back to positions just 
above a good growing point or back to the main branch.  All arisings to be removed 
from site for disposal in accordance with Clause 1.7. 
 
During pruning operations, the Contractor shall carry out a visual inspection of the tree 
and report any defects or abnormalities to the Supervising Officer on an approved 
inspection form. 

 
 Pruning operations shall be specified as follows: 
 
3.1 Crown Reduction 
 
 a). Light Reduction (10%) 
 

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter, all stumps 
and reduce crown overall by 10%. 

 
 b). Medium Reduction (20%) 
   

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter, all stumps 
and reduce crown overall by 20% 

 
 c). Heavy Reduction (30%) 
 

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter,  
all stumps and reduce crown overall by 30% 

 
3.2 Crown Reduction (side only) 
 
 a). Light Reduction (side only – 10%) 
 

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter, all stumps 
but with the sides only being reduced by 10%.  The overall height of the tree 
shall not be reduced. 
 

 b). Medium Reduction (side only – 20%) 
 

Page 154



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 29 - 

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter, all stumps 
but with the sides only being reduced by 20%.   The overall height of the tree 
shall not be reduced. 
 

 c). Heavy Reduction (side only – 30%) 
 

Remove all dead and diseased wood in excess of 15mm diameter, all stumps 
but with the sides only being reduced by 30%.  The overall height of the tree 
shall not be reduced. 

 
3.3 Crown Lifting 
 
 a). Park/Street Trees 
 

The crown of the tree shall be lifted by the removal of primary and secondary 
limbs up to a height of 3 metres above ground level, this being measured at the 
branch tip from the ground when the tree is in full leaf. 

 
 b). Highway Trees 
 

The crown of the tree shall be lifted by the removal of primary and secondary 
limbs up to a height of 6 metres above ground level, this being measured at the 
branch tip from the ground when the tree is in full leaf. 

 
3.4 Removal of Deadwood 
 
 a). Deadwood 
 

Remove dead, diseased and dying branch wood and broken stumps larger 
than 15mm diameter throughout the crown of the tree.  All final cuts shall, 
where possible, be made into living wood. 

 b). Major Deadwood 
 

Remove dead, diseased and dying branch wood and broken stumps of 40mm 
branch diameter and above, only throughout the crown of the tree.  All final cuts 
shall, where possible, be made into living wood. 
 

3.5 Crown Thinning 
 

The crown of the tree shall be thinned by removing up to 20% of secondary and small 
live branch growth throughout the crown to produce an even density of foliage around 
a well spaced and balanced crown.  Chaffing, weak and damaged branches shall be 
removed. 

 
3.6 Pollarding 
 

a). Remove all branch growth back to a point at the junction between the trunk and 
the base of the crown.  Remove all epicormic growth. 

 
b). Where a tree has been previously pollarded, remove all branch growth back to 

the original pollard points.  Remove all epicormic growth. 
 

3.7 Bark Wounds 

Page 155



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 30 - 

 
Specific bark damage shall be repaired by paring back to undamaged tissue leaving 
an oval shaped wound of consistent outline to a maximum size of 500cm². 

 
4.0 Tree Felling/Thinning 
 
4.1  Felling 
 

Where possible, all specified trees shall be clear felled.  If this is not possible and 
unless otherwise instructed by the Supervising Officer, the Contractor shall use their 
discretion as to the exact method of felling to be used and the direction in which the 
tree is to be felled. 
 
Unless otherwise stated by the Supervising Officer, all trees shall be felled so as to 
obtain the maximum economic timber value which shall be used to offset the cost of 
the work as agreed with the Supervising Officer prior to commencement of work. 
 
The tree shall be felled as close to the ground as possible and that all cuts are made 
to ensure no splitting of the timber occurs.  All felled timber shall be trimmed out so 
that all branch stumps are flushed off, leaving the bole/trunk in all respects ready for 
sale or transportation.  All buttresses shall be flushed off to leave a round stem base 
and the hinge portion of the trunk shall be flushed off to leave the trunk base in one 
plane.  The hinge portion remaining on the stump shall also be flushed off and the 
stump edges rounded off so as to prevent any sharp edges.  All arisings to be remove 
from site for disposal in accordance with Clause 1.7.  
 
The following treatment of the stumps resulting from the felling works described above 
shall be completed as soon as practical after each felling operation unless otherwise 
specified by the Supervising Officer. 

 
a). Stumps from trees growing in grass which are less than 350mm in diameter 

shall be ground out to a depth of 150mm and the ground immediately re-
instated to an acceptable standard for mowing. 

  
b). Where specified by the Supervising Officer, stumps shall be killed by cutting a 

groove in the sapwood around the diameter of the stump and applying a 
suitable approved brushwood killer such as ammonium sulphamate (Amcide).  
Within school grounds and certain other specified sites, the treated stump shall 
be immediately covered with black polythene and secured in place. 

 
Note! The appropriate treatment of the stump resulting from a tree felling operation 
shall be considered an integral part of that operation and payment for this work shall 
not be made until both operations are completed to the satisfaction of the Supervising 
Officer.  Similarly, any other grounds maintenance operations which can not be 
completed as a result of incomplete tree felling works may result in further financial 
penalties. 
 
4.2 Thinning/Coppicing 
 

The Contractor shall fell individual trees within the woodland as identified by the 
Supervising Officer, taking care not to damage any of the surrounding trees.  Thinning 
works shall be carried out throughout the year to an agreed programme whilst 
coppicing works shall only take place between November and February. All woodland 

Page 156



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 31 - 

works shall be in accordance with good forestry practices (Forestry Commission 
Bulletin No 14). 

 
a). Fell Only 
 

Trees shall be cut unless otherwise specified between 50mm and 75mm above 
ground level so as to avoid cutting into any roots systems.  Coppiced stumps 
shall be left with the hinge portion flushed off and the trunk base in one angled 
plane.  The tree shall then be trimmed out removing all side growth; the 
resulting brush wood may be left in the immediate vicinity but clear of cut 
stumps.  The resulting trunk shall remain laid on the ground within the 
woodland, clear of cut stumps topped of at minimum diameter off 40mm. 

 
b). Fell and Clear 
  

Trees shall be cut unless otherwise specified between 50mm and 75mm above 
ground level so as to avoid cutting into any root systems.  Coppiced stumps 
shall be left with the hinge portion flushed off and the trunk base in one angled 
plane.  All suitable brushwood shall be chipped and spread evenly as a thin 
layer within the woodland area and all cordwood and other arisings to be 
removed from the site for disposal in accordance with Clause 1.7. 

 
5.0 Non-Routine Tree Works 
 
5.1 Cabling 
 

All cable shall conform to the appropriate British Standard and shall be of either 
flexible steel or multi-stranded steel.  Splices may be of either wrap type or by the use 
of steel “bulldog” clips.  Thimbles of ether stainless or galvanised steel must be used 
to secure cables to bolts.  The size of cable shall be of sufficient strength to ensure 
security of the branches to which it is attached.  Cable less than 8mm diameter will not 
be acceptable on mature trees.  Stainless or galvanised steel bolts shall be used to 
attach the cable to the branch.  Screw eyes shall not be used except with prior 
consent of the Supervising Officer. 

 
The bolt shall be fitted with a secure eye on the cable end and a nut and thread on the 
opposite end.  There shall be an oval shaped steel washer fitted between the securing 
nut and the branch being cabled, a segment of bark matching the size of the oval 
washer shall be removed prior to the washer being fitted.  Steel oval washers shall be 
made from 6mm metal plates, the short axis being at last 2.5 times the bolt diameter.  
Spacers shall be fitted to ensure that bolts remain in line with cables. The surplus 
portion of the bolt shall be cut off approximately 12mm from the securing nut and 
peened over to prevent the nut unscrewing.  On completion the nut washer spacer 
and splice shall be sealed with an approved waterproofing compound to prevent rust.  
The Contractor shall ensure that only one cable is attached to one pair of bolts.  The 
Contractor shall ensure that at least two “bulldog” clips per splice are fitted. 
 
Cables shall be fitted so that there is neither slackness in the cable nor undue tension.  
When the works are being carried out on trees that are in leaf, due allowances shall 
be made to ensure slackness does not occur when the tree loses its leaf.  

 
5.2 Propping 
 

Page 157



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\8\5\AI00004584\ExecSummaryofTreepolicy0.doc          
22/06/06 
 
 - 32 - 

The Contractor shall supply and install wooden or metal props as specified by the 
Supervising Officer to support limbs or trunks from below.  Props shall be supported at 
ground level by a foundation sufficient in strength to take the weight of the limb-trunk 
being propped.  The size, type and position of the prop shall be specified in each case 
by the Supervising Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 

  

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL    Report No. 41/06 
         Wards Affected:  All 
 

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY DIRECTOR (COMMERCIAL SERVICES) 
TO THE EXECUTIVE 

7 July 2006 

 

The Viability of the Direct Services Organisation 

 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary 

1.1 This report relates to the Direct Services Organisation (DSO) performance and financial review 
and its viability as a Council service. 

1.2 It also relates to Address Management which has been integrated into the DSO administration. 

1.3 The Contact Officer for this report is Bill Farrar, Deputy Director (Commercial Services), Tel: 
01235 540202 ext 356 

2.0 Recommendation 

The Executive is recommended to: 

2.1 Recognise the high performance of the DSO during the past 12 months and its continuing 
improvement. 

2.2 Endorse the continuation of the DSO subject to its ongoing financial viability and achievement 
of its Business Plan. 

3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 

This report: 

3.1 relates to the entire Vision Statement, in particular 

(a) creating a cleaner, greener, safer and healthier environment and 

(b) the Medium Term Financial Plan 

3.2 relates to the Best Value Performance Plan and Corporate Plan and 

3.3 complies with the Corporate Timetable 

4.0 Background and Supporting Information 

4.0 As a part of the Council’s Priorities and Medium Term Plan in 2005, members decided to allow 
time to evaluate the viability of the DSO. The service was placed under the control of the 
Assistant Director (Building Control) in order that a proper review could take place. 

4.1 The DSO’s work consisted of a wide range of useful services to the Council and external 
customers, eg. 

° sewer treatment works, sewer blockages and emptying septic tanks 

° minor building works and repairs and maintenance of car parks and public 
conveniences 

° emergency call-outs, flood prevention, committee set-ups and internal office moves 

4.2 Address Management, which is the generic term for the statutory duties relating to street and 
property naming and numbering, (as well as road closures), was also given to the AD (BC). In 
order to manage both aspects, Address Management was linked to the DSO which enabled 
them both to share admin resources with additional support from Building Control. 

Agenda Item 23

Page 159



 

  

 

4.3 In October 2005, the AD (BC) submitted an interim report to the Executive and Directors, 
which provided optimistic early indications as to the future of the service. 

4.4 In March 2006, the AD (BC) was appointed as the Deputy Director (Commercial Services) with 
a portfolio including DSO and Address Management. 

4.5 Over the 12-month period, the Deputy Director worked closely with the DSO introducing 
significant improvements, such as:  

• Increased income through generating more business and setting relevant operative 
rates 

• Prompt recharging and termination of DS recharging back to itself 

• Better financial control with simplified accounting and reporting systems 

• Reduced expenditure through better procurement and operational and admin 
efficiencies 

• A overall commercial approach 

4.6 The DSO has risen well to the challenge and shows all the signs of being a strong successful 
business-like unit that has real potential to develop. 

4.7 It provides excellent minor building and drainage services to various external bodies and 
generates substantial income. It also provides similar services to many Council departments 
and is always on hand to deal with emergencies. 

4.8 The professional and committed attitude of the workforce adds confidence in this well-
organised and efficient unit, which is a credit to the Council. The high demand for its services 
and the quantity of compliments illustrate the popularity of the section. 

4.9 It should be noted that a large part of the DSO’s success is due to the management skills of 
the DSO Team Leader and Technical Admin Officer. Both of these posts require redesignation 
and evaluation as soon as possible. 

4.10 There is much on the reorganising agenda (e.g., vehicles, property, contracts, etc.) and given 
the time and support, if the DSO continues in its momentum, it should prove to be a worthwhile 
asset. 

5.0 Future Actions and Timescales 

5.1 The most significant issue is that of Finance. At the beginning of the year 2005-06 there was 
considerable concern with regard to the DSO costs to the Council. Because of the confused 
financial reporting it is unclear as to the actual original situation and accuracy of the income 
and expenditure budgets 

5.2 The first analysis, after 6 months, suggested a deficit of £150k net of Address Management 
costs. 

5.3 A reduction to £120k deficit was later identified with a further saving of £50k offered at the time 
of the Council Budget (predicting a £70k final deficit). The actual out-turn of £47k final deficit 
was beyond any expectation 

5.4 It is important, however, to keep the overall situation in perspective. Although the target is to 
continue to reduce cost it should be noted that it may be difficult to maintain the same rate of 
improvement and some allowance must be made for unexpected contingencies, e.g. 
replacement vehicles, the state of the national economy, etc. 

5.5 Assuming a steady plan of improvement is applied it is hoped that the deficit may reduce by 
25% to £35k during 2006-07 and £20k in 2007-08. A 5-year Business Plan is being prepared 
in which there is a real expectation to financially break even in 2008-09 

Page 160



 

  

6.0 Considerations and Options 

6.1 The DSO provides the community with a cost effective quality service which could enhance 
and support the Council through its e-working and procurement of contracts. 

6.2 The scope for business development is demonstrated by the recent return of the Vale public 
conveniences cleaning contract - this addition to the DSO portfolio should produce an effective 
saving to the Council as well as providing more control and improved standards. 

6.3 The DSO is continuing to explore with other Authorities ways of making services better and 
more cost effective through possible partnering and joint working. 

6.4 Alternatives 

 The option of ceasing the DSO function would have two significant   
 effects: 

i. Council Work (eg. office moves, committee set-ups, minor works, etc) 

- the Council would need to commission external services (ie. either private 
companies or other local authority direct services) to perform these task 

- there is a risk that these costs would be greater than that recharged by DSO and 
more difficult to acquire within short deadlines 

ii.  Community Work (ie. services purchased privately by householders and private 
businesses) 

- there is no legal obligation for the Council to provide such services. However, an 
adverse perception may develop with the public especially as many customers 
have relied on these services for many years. 

- as much of the DSO work is not financially worthwhile to private contractors this 
could result in reductions in local standards, which, in turn, may damage the 
amenities of the Vale 

6.5 Appendix A 

 This report is obviously a concise summary of the DSO situation.  Appendix A provides a more 
detailed account of the DSO work and its finances over the past 2 years. 

BILL FARRAR 
DEPUTY DIRECTOR (COMMERCIAL SERVICES) 

Page 161



 
 

Viability of DSO – June 2006 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

APPENDIX A 

A Report on the Performance and Prospects of the  

Direct Service Organisation 

1 June 2006 

 

Introduction 

The Vale has for many years operated its works unit called the Direct Service Organisation (DSO). Following 
the Council’s Priorities and Medium Term Plan in 2005, members decided to allow time for a review of the 
viability of the service. 

On 1 April 2005, the DSO, (previously with Technical Services), joined Building Control under the 
management of the then Assistant Director (Building Control) with an objective to assess and improve the 
workings and finances of the service. The Executive required a full report at the end of the first year 
preceded by an “early indications” report after 6 months. 

Having analysed the DSO finances and its performances over a 12-month period this report is intended to 
provide a reliable assessment of its likely viability for the future. 

Background 

The DSO’s work consisted of a range of useful building- and drainage-related services to the Council, SODC 
and various parish Councils, other organisations and local residents: 

° Sewer treatment works and pumping stations - repairs & maintenance 

° Sewer blockages clearances 

° Septic tanks and cesspools emptying 

° Car parks - repairs & maintenance 

° Public conveniences - repairs & maintenance 

° Emergency call-outs 

° Flood prevention and recovery 

° CCTV drainage surveys 

° Minor building and civil engineering work 

° Street naming and house numbering and road closures 

° Committee venues set-ups 

° Office moves 

 

Improvements and Actions 

As in any successful business it was essential first to: 

- determine whether there was a demand for the services on offer 

- decide on the standard or quality of the service 

- ensure the resources were available, and 

- ensure the financial situation was sound and robust 

In March 2006, as a part of the Senior Management Restructuring, the AD (Building Control) was appointed 
to the new post of Deputy Director (Commercial Services), and the DSO was confirmed as a part of that 
Service Area. 

Page 162



 
 

Viability of DSO – June 2006 

During the 12-month period, the Deputy Director having worked closely with the DSO, with support from 
Building Control, has introduced some significant improvements: 

1. Rate Changes 

� Operative rates were increased by approx. 30% to more realistic and competitive levels. 

� Final invoices for jobs without fixed prices are now based on actual costs. 

2. Recharging Scheme 

� The unusual and convoluted practice of recharging DSO costs back to itself was terminated. 

� Priority has been given to promptly recharging internal and external customers. 

� Invoices for SODC “Housing Act Works” jobs are now issued to SODC rather than to their 
householders. 

3. Financial Control 

� Financial control has been improved with simplified accounting. 

� A closer working relationship is being developed with Financial Services (e.g. debt recovery). 

� A commercial approach was introduced with respect to job estimating. 

4. Business Issues 

� A business enterprise approach has been introduced generally 

� Admin processes and customer approach have been improved. 

� Staff are now consulted and involved in most aspects of the business. 

� The “Housing Act Works” contract was further extended by SODC “for the foreseeable future”. 

� “Preferred Contractor” status has been achieved with several parish Council clients 

 

General Observations 

1. Address Management 

Street and property naming and numbering, as well as road closures, are statutory duties, which are 
delivered, to a high standard by DSO admin. Future recovery of costs is proposed by introducing 
Charges as per Service Prioritisation Plan no.24 approved in the 2006 Council Budget. 

2. Sewer Treatment Works and Pumping Stations 

This service deals with the repair and maintenance of units which serve houses in the Vale and SODC 
that are either privately owned, belonging to Housing Associations or subject to Housing Act 
agreements. It provides substantial revenue that is expected to continue to produce a working surplus. 

3. Emptying Septic Tanks 

This is a competitive service to mainly private householders in the Vale and SODC. The Vale acquired 
SODC sewage related work when that Council ceased providing such services 6 years ago. This 
arrangement works well producing a current financial surplus with real potential for developing the 
business further on an established client base. 

4. Car Park Maintenance 

This is a successful partnership with the Car Parks service where the work carried out is by staff 

Page 163



 
 

Viability of DSO – June 2006 

dedicated to these premises. Car parks satisfy a social need in a cost effective way. Therefore, the DSO 
not only meets the specification of its internal partner, by ensuring the premises are kept safe and clean 
for the public who use them, but it also recharges at a competitive rate. 

5. Clearance of Sewer Blockages 

This work attracts customers including Housing Associations, public bodies, private companies and 
private householders. Sewer problems must be resolved quickly to avoid public health problems. This 
priority can inhibit the production of a surplus for each job. The current Charges are under review and 
will be re-set to ensure economic viability within an aggressively competitive private sector market. 

6. Contract and Minor Works 

The DSO completes many jobs for domestic and commercial external customers. There is potential for 
growth and surplus generation. The Council also benefits from the control and flexibility it has through 
having its own work performed by its in-house unit. It is able to complete tasks to a high standard and on 
time. A significant amount of work is also commissioned by various Council services. 

For example 

° flood prevention 

° office moves 

° property alterations 

° committee room set-ups 

° emergencies, etc. 

The DSO contributes to the Council Objectives with respect to: 

° creating a cleaner, greener, safer and healthier environment 

° the Medium Term Financial Plan 

 

Specific Observations 

1. The DSO has clearly risen well to the challenge posed over the past 12 months and shows all the signs 
of a strong business for the future. 

2. It is currently preparing a 5-year Business Plan to achieve Break Even (ie. for income to cover direct 
costs, excluding internal recharges) by the end of 2008-09 or before. 

3. The DSO should prove to be a direct service group that could support the Council and enhance its 
reputation. 

4. Whilst charges will be set at competitive rates in order to achieve success and market share the 
additional benefit to the Council will be to provide its community with a cost effective quality service. 

5. Charges have already been increased for 2006 in order to come into line with “going business rates”. 

6. Purchase cards, e-payments, e-communication and procurement of new contracts, (such as cleaning of 
Public Conveniences), should continue to improve the quality of service and viability 

7. The progress made in the last year with no loss in momentum suggests an optimistic future 

 

The Financial Aspect and Final Out-turn 

The Deputy Director found the management and methodology of DSO finances complicated and confused. 
Although it became obvious that there was a need to reduce the 19 cost centres it was agreed to leave this 
change until the DSO future was confirmed. A number of simple issues were addressed, e.g.: 

° Income has increased by generating more business and increasing charging rates 

° Expenditure has reduced through better procurement and operational and admin efficiencies 

Page 164



 
 

Viability of DSO – June 2006 

° Accounting and reporting systems are simplified 

° Appendix A shows the comparison between 2004-05 and 2005-06 cost centres and accounts (excluding 
Support Services Recharges and Depreciation) which is summarised below: 

 

2004-05 2005-06 Improvement  

£168k deficit £77k deficit £97k Including Address Management 

£140k deficit £47k deficit £94k Excluding Address Management 

 

° Appendix B refers to the DSO Accounts for 2005-06 

After 6 months the expected final net deficit was expected to be in the region of £150k. After 9 months 
the indication was that of a further reduction to a £120k deficit. 

Although a saving of £50k was offered to the Council budget at that stage the final actual net deficit of 
£47k was beyond any expectation. 

It is important, however, to keep the overall situation in perspective. Although the target is to continue 
the reduction in cost it should be noted that it will be difficult to maintain the same rate of improvement. 
Some allowance must be made for unexpected contingencies, e.g. replacement vehicles, the state of 
the national economy. 

Assuming a steady plan of improvement is applied it is hoped that the deficit may reduce by 25% to 
£35k during 2006-07; £20k in 2007-08 and breaking even in 2008-09. 

 

Future Developments 

There is scope for further development, for example: 

1. Cleaning Contract for Vale Public Conveniences 

The DSO is reversing the trend of externalising local authority services by taking back, as from 6 June 
2006, the cleaning contract of the Vale’s public conveniences. This addition to the DSO portfolio should 
produce an effective saving and provide the Council with more control and improved standards. 

2. Partnering and Joint-working 

The DSO is continuing to explore, with other Authorities, ways of making services better and more cost 
effective. There are areas of common interest with SODC, Oxford City, WODC and Swindon BC. 

3. Housing Associations 

The DSO will continue to develop its relationships with bodies within and outside of the Vale. 

 

Conclusions and Summary 

° After a full year it would appear that the DSO has all the signs of being a successful business-like unit 
that has real potential to develop. 

° It provides excellent minor building and drainage services to the various external bodies generating 
substantial income. It also provides similar services to many Council departments and is always on hand 
to deal with emergencies. 

° The professional and committed attitude of the workforce also gives further confidence that the unit is 

Page 165



 
 

Viability of DSO – June 2006 

well organised and efficient and a credit to the Council. 

° The high market share and quantity of compliments, both internally and externally, illustrate the 
popularity of the section. 

° It should be noted that a large part of the DSO’s success is due to the management skills of the DSO 
Team Leader and Technical Admin Officer. Both of these posts require redesignation and evaluation as 
soon as possible. 

° There is much on the reorganising agenda (e.g., vehicles, property, contracts, etc.) and given the time 
and support, if the DSO continues in its present momentum, it should prove to be a worthwhile asset. 

° The most significant issue is that of Finance. At the beginning of the year 2005-06 there was 
considerable concern with regard to the DSO costs to the Council. Because of the confused financial 
reporting it is unclear as to the actual original situation and accuracy of the income and expenditure 
budgets. 

The greatest achievement is the massive net financial saving compared with the previous year. 

The original hope was to 

(a) simply reduce the overall cost to the Council 

(b) contribute towards the Council Priorities in the MTFP and 

(c) determine whether the DSO was a “viable” service and worth keeping. 

 

 

Recommendations 

The Executive is recommended to: 

1. Recognise the high performance of the DSO during the past 12 months and its continuing improvement 

2. Endorse the continuing provision of the DSO subject to its ongoing financial viability and achievement of 
its Business Plan 

 

 

 

Page 166



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\6\AI00004616\GamblingActreport0.doc   
Produced by Democratic Services CMN/07.02.03 

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL  Report No. 35/06 
 Wards Affected – all 
  

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH) 
TO THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Gambling Act 2005 – Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 

 
 

1.0 Introduction and Report Summary  
 
1.1 The Gambling Bill was introduced into Parliament on 18th October 2004. Following consideration 

by the House of Commons and the House of Lords, it received Royal Assent on 7th April 2005, 
and became the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 will modernise gambling legislation, which is currently regulated by 

the Gaming Board, local magistrates and local authorities. The existing three Acts, the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act 1963; the Gaming Act 1968; and the Lotteries and Amusements Act 
1976 will be consolidated into a single Act. These will all be repealed in September 2007.  
Further information can be found in Appendix A 

 
1.3 The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the scope of the Gambling Act.  It also sets 

out a programme to develop a draft statement of policy, to consult upon its contents and to 
publish a final statement in line with legal requirements. 

 
1.3 The contact officer for this report is Nicola Dearling, Principal Licensing Officer, telephone (01235 

540304).   
 
2.0 Recommendations  

 

Members are requested  
 

(a)  to note the scope and likely implications of the Gambling Act 2005 and the proposals 
for drafting, consultation and finalisation. 

 
(b) to consider the draft Statement of Gambling Policy and make recommendations to 

Council as appropriate. 
 

(c) to  consider the results of the consultation in due course and make further 
recommendations to Council for the final Statement. 

 
3.0 Relationship with the Council’s Vision, Strategies and Policies 
 

This report supports the Council’s overall aim of seeking the economic, environmental and 
social sustainability of the Vale, protecting and enhancing the vitality of our towns and villages. 
In particular this report helps to create a cleaner, greener, safer and healthier environment 
 

4.0 Background Information 
 
 
4.1 The Gambling Act 2005 will modernise gambling legislation, which is currently regulated by 

the Gaming Board, local magistrates and local authorities. The existing three Acts, the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act 1963; the Gaming Act 1968; and the Lotteries and Amusements Act 
1976 will be consolidated into a single Act. These will all be repealed in September 2007.   
4.2 As part of the changeover, the Council is required to prepare and publish a "Statement 

of Gambling Policy" every three years. This policy statement details how the Council 
will carry out its function as a licensing authority under the terms of the Act with a view 
to promoting the following three licensing objectives: 

Agenda Item 24

Page 167



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\6\AI00004616\GamblingActreport0.doc   
Produced by Democratic Services CMN/07.02.03 

 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being      associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime, 

 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 
 

• Protecting   children   and   other vulnerable   persons  from   being   harmed   or 
exploited by gambling. 

 
 

4.3 The Statement of Gambling Policy must be published before the Council can carry out 
any function in respect of individual applications made under the authority of the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
Current expectations from the Gambling Commission are that, the new Act will be 
brought fully into effect on 1 September 2007. They will invite applications for 
Operating licences from 1 January 2007 and licensing authorities will begin to accept 
applications for Premises licences from 31st January 2007. We therefore must have our 
Statement of Gambling Policy in place by December 2006. 

 
 5 Consultation Programme 
 

5.1 Before determining policy for any three-year period, licensing authorities are required 
to consult the Police, one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying out gambling businesses in the authority's area; and one 
or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons who 
are likely to be affected by the exercise of functions under the Act. The Draft Statement 
of Gambling Policy, which has been produced in compliance with DCMS regulations, 
Gambling Commission and LACORS guidance is attached to this report as (Appendix 
B.)  The policy has been produced by the Oxford Licensing Group, which has resulted 
in a generic policy across Oxfordshire, with slight amendments to cover local needs. 

 
5.2 The statutory guidance was released on 28th April 2006, giving local authorities 

approximately 32 weeks to draft a policy, carry out a wide consultation, obtain final full 
Council approval and publish the policy. Consequently, the timescale for obtaining final 
approval is tight, bearing in mind the length of time required to carry out the 
consultation process, review comments and the availability of Council meeting dates. 

 
5.3 The Gambling Commission has issued guidance on the consultation process 

recommending a 12 week consultation period, and local authorities are encouraged to 
follow it. It is intended to carry out the consultation process over approximately the 
maximum time period available in order to complete the process and obtain approval of 
the full Council by the end of this calendar year. 

 
5.4 The planned public consultation exercise, which will run from the 4th August to the 27th 

October 2006, will include the following elements: 
 

• Area consultation meetings involving presentations, displays and question times, 
utilizing Area Forums wherever possible 

 

• Mail shots to local gambling businesses and key partners 
 

• Mail shots to residents groups and trade organizations 
 

• Mail shots to organisations including faith groups, voluntary groups working with 
children and young people, groups working with problem gamblers, medical 
practices, primary care trusts, advocacy groups such as the CRB and Trade 
Unions 

Page 168



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\6\AI00004616\GamblingActreport0.doc   
Produced by Democratic Services CMN/07.02.03 

 

• Mail shots to Responsible Authorities under the Act 
 

• Mail shots to Town & Parish Councils 
 

• Access to the consultation through the Council Web Site 
 

5.5 At the end of the consultation period, the final Policy Statement will be submitted for 
consideration at a further Licensing Committee and then onto Full Council on 13th 
December 2006 

 
  

7 Financial & Resources Implications 
 
7.1 It is for Members to decide the full extent of the consultation it is to carry out. The Secretary of 

State advises that licensing authorities should have regard to cost and time. The program set 
out in section 5 is considered to be feasible within exisiting resources. 

 
7.2 Government guidance indicates that fee levels (yet to be released to licensing authorities) will 

provide full cost recovery of all licensing functions including the preparation and publication of 
a Statement of Gambling Policy. Where authorities exceed these requirements, they will have 
to absorb those costs. 

 
7.3 Financial implications of the Act relate to staff resources for administration, enforcement, 

consultation and community engagement. 
 
7.4 As the Government has not released the fee levels, it is not possible to asses fully the financial 

burden on the licensing budget. 
 
7.5 The net cost in 2006/07 will be managed as far as possible within the overall licensing budget.  

 
7.6  The budgetary position will be kept under review and a report will be presented to Executive  

as the information becomes clearer. 
 
7.6 The new licensing duties will be carried out by the Licensing Team located in Environmental 

Health.  We do not expect the workload to be as extensive on resources, unlike the Licensing 
Act 2003.  The extra duties will be consumed into the day to day workload of the unit. 

 
8 Legal Implications 
 
8.1 The Council cannot undertake its role as a licensing authority until it has approved and 

published its Statement of Gambling Policy. The policy must be reviewed every three years. 
However, it can be reviewed more often if appropriate. 

 
8.2  The licensing function is to be carried out by  the Council's Licensing Committee, however the 

policy must be approved by Council.  
 
 
 

David Stevens 
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH) 

 
 
 
 

Page 169



GREEN 
TRAVEL PLAN

June 2006

“It’s not about feeling bad about using a car; 
it is about feeling good when you do not”

Agenda Item 25

Page 170



FOREWORD

The Vale of White Horse District Council's new

Green Travel Plan, for Council staff and elected

Members, offers a range of incentives for them to

use the car less, in favour of more environmentally

friendly modes of transport.

With the help of the new Green Travel Plan the Council

is in a better position to lead by example and encourage

residents, who live and work in the Vale, to try travel-

ling by means other than the car. The more people who

do this the better it will be  not only for decreasing air

pollution and helping to combat global warming, but

also for reducing traffic congestion on our streets and

roads and improving our fitness and health.

Green Travel Plan measures which are already in place,

and those which we are still formulating, support one of

the Vale's key Corporate Aims: to create a cleaner,

greener, safer, and healthier community and environment,

as well as the Council's Vision Statement.

Councillor Bob Johnston

Executive Member, Portfolio Holder 

for the Vale Green Travel Plan.

4. Aims and Objectives

5. Targets and Outcomes

6. Policy Measures

7. Future Measures

1. Introduction

2. Policy Context

3. Development of 
the Vale Green 
Travel Plan

CONTENTS

Page 171



LOCATION
This Green Travel Plan will

embrace both Staff and Elected

Members of the Vale of White

Horse District Council, who are

based at The Abbey House,

Abingdon, Oxfordshire. However,

some of its aims, policies and

proposals will be relevant to

Council activities carried out

throughout the District.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SUPPORT AND
COMMITMENT
The Council's Senior Management

Team fully supports the Council's

Green Travel Plan and recognises

its importance not only in relation

to the Council's Aims and

Objectives but also in the context

of wider county, regional and

national policies relating to sus-

tainable transport and greener

travel. The Senior Managers will

therefore encourage and posi-

tively promote "travelling

thoughtfully" throughout their

individual service areas.

MANAGEMENT OF 
THE PLAN
The Deputy Director (Planning

and Community Strategy) is the

officer responsible for the man-

agement and development of this

Green Travel Plan. The role of

coordinating the operation of the

plan will fall to the Section Head

(Transportation). Monitoring the

plan will be the responsibility of

the Executive Member and

Portfolio Holder for the Green

Travel plan, who will regularly

report on the plans progress to

the Executive.

T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND
Travel Plans are one of the corner

stones in Central Government

transport policy, which instead of

promoting road building as a

way of increasing road capacity,

seeks to manage increasing traffic

congestion by reducing the

dependency on travel by car and

encouraging alternatives such as

walking, cycling and car sharing.

For many years the volume of

traffic has been rising inexorably

as the frequency and length of

individual journeys has increased.

Current annual traffic growth in

Oxfordshire is about 2.8%.

Similarly, car ownership for

households in the Vale continues

to grow faster than the national

averages, and if these trends

continue they will have signifi-

cant impacts on our environment

in terms of congestion and pol-

lution.

Many local employers, both large

and small, now have Green

Travel Plans; and some of the

major local organisations, for

instance Oxfordshire County

Council, Milton Park, Harwell

International Business Centre and

Sophos, are leading by example.

The Vale as Planning Authority,

when granting planning permis-

sions for significant new com-

mercial developments, often

requires developers to provide a

Travel Plan for their employees.

It is therefore not surprising that

the Council is committed to put-

ting its own house in order

through the development of its

own travel plan.

1

Page 172



Protecting and improving our

environment and improving the

quality of life for all members of

our community is fundamental to

the Council's Vision and Aims,

and these are underpinned by a

Corporate Aim: to create a cleaner,

greener, safer and healthier

community and environment.

The Government's Transport

White paper "A New Deal for

Transport: Better for Everyone",

in July 1998, set out the

Government's aims for transport

into the 21st century. One of the

key aims was to encourage travel

awareness amongst employers

and individuals. The White Paper

introduced the Local Transport

plan (LTP) process, which gave

local highway authorities respon-

sibility for developing integrated,

long-term transport plans at a

local level. 

T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

POLICY CONTEXT

The Oxfordshire County

Council's first LTP (2001-

2006) included two specific

aims which were designed to

encourage greener travel:

! Dependence on travel by

private car is reduced by

increasing the choices 

available to meet transport

needs;

! An increasing proportion of

trips made on foot, by 

bicycle and by public 

transport.

The County Council's second

LTP (2006-2011) continues

to support greener travel and

contains a strategy aimed at

influencing travel behaviour.

The strategy includes,

amongst others:

! Encouraging further intro-

duction and promotion of

travel plans;

! Better provision of informa-

tion for all sustainable

modes of travel to assist in

encouraging more sustain-

able travel choices;

! Parking controls and pricing

mechanisms;

! Encouraging car sharing

through travel plans and car

clubs.

2 

The Vale Council at its meeting

27 November 2002 adopted the

framework "Towards a Transport

Strategy" and in doing so com-

mitted itself to the preparation of

a Green Travel Plan. The Council

has declared its specific intention

to seek to reduce the need to

travel in the Vale, and in doing

so it adopted a travelling

thoughtfully policy statement

which says: 

"It's not about feeling bad about

using a car; it is about feeling

good when you do not".

In February 2004 the Council

adopted its Sustainable Transport

Strategy which contains a specific

objective to produce a Travel

Plan for Council employees and

elected members.

The Council's Local Plan 2011

has an overall aim of finding "an

acceptable balance between

maintaining a thriving economy,

enabling social progress which

meets the needs of everyone and

protecting the environment and

character of the area for future

generations." It contains the

specific aim of reducing the need

to travel and the harmful effects

of traffic on people and the envi-

ronment.

Page 173



The main findings were:

! 33% of the Vale staff live in

Abingdon.

! Walking and cycling are

principally confined to 

people living in Abingdon.

! Most staff living outside of

Abingdon, choose to drive

to work.

! In total 76% of staff travel

to work by car.

! Other modes of travel are

extremely low, particularly

the number who travel by

public transport (2%).

! A large number of people

said YES to requiring a car

for work, then confirmed

that their use was only

occasional.

! Speed, flexibility and relia-

bility were the main reasons

given for choosing to drive.

! Generally, the school drop

off trip does not appear to

be a big issue.

! In relation to public trans-

port, 78 staff live close to a

bus route which has a 30

minute (or less) service 

frequency.

In September 2003 work started

on researching and developing a

Green Travel Plan for Vale staff

and elected Members. A Travel

Survey was conducted which

sought to establish:

! Where people live and how

they travel to work, and

how often

! The extent of school

drop-off journeys

! The existence of car 

sharing and lifts

! The reasons why people

choose to drive

! The extent of business

travel

The survey was supported by

82% of staff and the results were

published in July 2004.

T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

DEVELOPMENT OF THE VALE GREEN TRAVEL PLAN

In February 2004, the Aims and

Objectives for the Vale Green

Travel Plan were adopted,

following formal consultation

with the Staff Consultation

Advisory Group. These are set

out in section 4 of this Plan.

In February 2005 staff and elected

Members were consulted on a

draft Green Travel Plan. Whilst

the plan set out a wide range of

measures to encourage and

persuade staff to think about the

way in which they travel to, from

and at work, staff reaction to the

plan was largely negative.

The Council recognised the

concerns raised by staff and as a

result, produced a revised plan

which contained those measures

which would be less contentious

to staff and which would be rela-

tively easy to implement. In

doing so the Council signalled its

commitment to green travel, and

to providing a platform for

implementation of more difficult

measures, should these be

needed in the future.

In December 2005 unions at the

Vale reaffirmed their commitment

to green travel and confirmed

their support for the revised

plan.

The measures contained in the

first phase of the revised Vale

Green Travel Plan were agreed by

the Council's Executive in

February 2006, and form the

basis of the current document.

All those involved in its develop-

ment hope that the time taken to

consult and seek agreement on

its content has resulted in a plan

which is deliverable and which

focuses on outcomes rather than

processes.

3 

Page 174



AIMS:

To encourage staff and Members

of the Council to:

! travel in a more sustainable way;

and

! reduce the number of journeys

they make to, from and at work,

and, therefore help protect the

environment and the quality of

life in the Vale, and provide an

example to others.

OBJECTIVES:

a) In seeking to encourage staff

and Members to,"travel in a

more sustainable way"

! to increase walking and cycling

by, for example, providing better

cycle parking facilities, giving

interest free loans to assist the

purchase of cycles, providing

shower facilities, etc.

! to increase the use of public

transport by, for example, giving

subsidised bus passes, providing

better route and timetable 

information, etc.

! to reduce unnecessary journeys

made by private car, in particular

single occupancy journeys by, for

example, promoting car sharing,

extending control over staff and

Member parking, etc.

b) In seeking to "reduce the

number of journeys they make

to and from work"

! to increase the opportunity for

home working by, for example,

developing electronic home/work

links, etc.

! to encourage linked trips by, for

example, better planning of out-

of-office business appointments,

etc.

! to reduce the need to travel by,

for example, developing video

conferencing, etc.

T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES4 

Page 175



T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

TARGETS AND OUTCOMES

The production and implementa-

tion of this first stage of the

Vale's Green Travel Plan is in

itself a significant achievement;

however this is the beginning not

the end of the process. The Plan

is a statement of the Council's

intent. It sets out the measures

in phase one, both those imple-

mented and those still being

developed. However, the Council

recognises that the Plan must

evolve, and a phase two contain-

ing further initiatives will be

brought forward in due course.

The Council acknowledges that

winning the minds staff and

elected Members to produce

major changes in the way that

people travel, model shift, will

take time. Accordingly only one

target has been set for the first

year of the Plan, which focuses

on reducing the percentage of

staff commuting to work alone

by car.

The base line data is derived

from the staff travel survey

undertaken in February 2005. It

is intended that a further travel

survey will be undertaken in the

summer of 2007.

5 

Indicator Description Baseline Target % Change

Reference

LPI  TR1 Staff commuting 185 176 5%

alone by car (from 81% (based on 

of staff) 81% return)

Page 176



T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

POLICY MEASURES6 

This section of the plan looks at

the measures already being

implemented and those agreed

for implementation in the near

future. The focus of these meas-

ures is to provide incentives to

encourage walking, cycling and

using public transport.

Furthermore, a measure will be

introduced to encourage car

sharing in order to reduce the

number of staff travelling to

work alone by car.

GENERAL:
TRAVEL PLAN INTRANET SITE

An intranet site will provide

access to all the latest Travel

Plan information. This will be the

main source of information for

staff and elected Members, and

the site will be regularly up-

dated to advise people of news

and progress. Details of all travel

plan measures will be provided

by links from this site.

MANAGING YOUR BUSINESS

JOURNEYS

A good practice guide will be

produced which demonstrates to

staff and Members practical ways

in which they can "travel

thoughtfully" by better planning

of their business journeys, eg.

car sharing where they are trav-

elling to the same destination,

linking a number of visits into

one journey, etc. Managers will

be encouraged to promote good

practice through their team

briefings.

WALKING:
Almost all journeys start and fin-

ish with a walk. Walking is clearly

a vital element to any travel plan

and although walking could

never be a substitute for other

modes of transport on some

journeys, for journeys less than a

mile it is often the most efficient,

cheapest and healthiest way to

go. The Vale, Abingdon Town

and Oxfordshire County Councils

have all worked to enhance the

footpath network in the

Abingdon area, to make walking

a safer and more convenient

means of travel. 

WALKING MAPS

Maps showing walking routes in

Abingdon and to the adjacent

villages will be available on the

web site.

PUBLIC TRANSPORT:
Abingdon is well served by a

range of good bus services, par-

ticularly the Oxford to Abingdon

express route which has a 10

minute service throughout the

day. This premium route will be

further enhanced as the County

Council rolls out its programme

of real time information at bus

stops. The Green Travel Plan

contains a number of measures

to encourage bus travel.

BUS TIMETABLES

Details of current published bus

timetables, in a simplified form

concentrating on the routes that

are most useful to staff and

members when travelling to and

from Abingdon, will be available

on the web site.

SUBSIDISED BUS PASSES

The Council will give a 20%

subsidy to staff on home to work

(return) bus passes. 

ABINGDON/OXFORD BUSINESS

TRAVEl

It is now a requirement that all

staff and members use public

transport for business journeys

to and from central Oxford.

Page 177



T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

POLICY MEASURES

CYCLE MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

The cycle mileage allowance for

local business journeys has been

increased from 12p per mile, to

£1-00 per mile (this equates to

82.4p per mile after tax).

USE OF COUNCIL BICYCLES

Staff will be encouraged to use

the Council's own bicycles. These

will be available to staff when

making local journeys.

CYCLE PARKING

New secure cycle parking will be

provided adjacent to Abbey

House.

STAFF SHOWERS

Showers have been provided

adjacent to the Staff Room in

Abbey House.

STAFF LOCKERS

Lockers will be provided within

Abbey House to compliment the

staff showers, allowing staff to

safely store their clothes and

cycling equipment.

CAR SHARING:
Stand by the road side at peak

commuting times in the morning

and evening and you soon

observe the overwhelming fact

that most cars are only occupied

by a driver only. It is clear that

one of the best ways to reduce

the number of cars on our roads

is to promote car sharing. It is

encouraging that the promotion

of a car share club was well sup-

ported during consultation with

staff on the draft Green Travel

Plan.

CAR SHARE CLUB

The provision of an interactive

web site enabling staff to

advertise directly their car sharing

needs and availability.

Participants will be asked to sign

up to the Car Share Club which

would require them to car sharing

for a minimum number of times

per month. Members of the Car

Share Club will receive preferen-

tial parking space, closer to

Abbey House, and will be guar-

anteed a free lift home in cir-

cumstances such as, a home

emergency or a late request from

their senior manager to work

late.

6 

CYCLING:
Cycling has the potential to be

one of the most healthy and

accessible forms of physical

activity as it can often be inte-

grated into daily life. Regular

cycling has been found to lead to

significant improvements in

people's health. The benefits of

cycling do not stop at improve-

ments to physical health; it is

also beneficial to wider public

health through reduced adverse

impacts associated with motor

traffic. These include improving

air quality and reducing noise

pollution. In 1996, the

Government adopted a National

Cycle Strategy, with the ambitious

target of quadrupling cycle trips

by 2012. As with walking, the

local Councils, together with

other groups such as SUSTRANS,

have worked to enhance the

cycle route network in this area.

CYCLING MAPS

Maps showing cycling routes in

Abingdon as well as to Oxford

and the adjacent villages will be

available on the web site.

CYCLE PURCHASE LOANS

The Council has signed up to a

national cycle loan scheme which

enables staff and Members to

lease a new bicycle from the

Vale. The cost of the new cycle

will be exempt from Income Tax,

National Insurance and VAT and

after the lease period the cycle is

purchased from the Council for a

nominal sum.

Page 178



T H E G R E E N T R A V E L P L A N  -  J u n e  2 0 0 6

FUTURE MEASURES

The Council's aspiration is to

have a Travel Plan which reflects

best practice, encourages staff

and elected Members to think

carefully about how they travel

and to embrace the philosophy

of greener travel. Those measures

which the Council has committed

itself to implement (phase 1) will

need to be carefully monitored

and adapted. 

The Council will wish to consider

including further measures in the

plan, such as those listed below.

Clearly, the success of phase 1

and the improvement targets set

for future years will play an

important role in determining the

need for and the pace at which

these additional measures are

brought forward.

! Review of staff and Member

parking.

! Introducing Member parking

charges.

! Introducing staff parking

charges.

! Removing free parking for

staff and Members.

This list is by no means definitive.

It does not imply that all of these

measures will be put in place,

nor does it exclude measures not

mentioned. Particular emphasis

will be placed on the cost effec-

tiveness of new measures in

terms of meeting the aims and

objectives of the Green Travel

Plan.

Suggestions for measures not

mentioned in the Green Travel

Plan will be welcomed and given

appropriate consideration.

7 

Page 179



Agenda Item 28

Page 180

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 29

Page 181

By virtue of paragraph(s) 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 9 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted


